Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1298 Cell Biology and Translational Medicine

Kursad Turksen Editor

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine, Volume 10

Stem Cells in Tissue Regeneration



Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine

Volume 1298

Series Editor Kursad Turksen More information about this subseries at http://www.springer.com/series/15838

Kursad Turksen Editor

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine, Volume 10

Stem Cells in Tissue Regeneration



Editor Kursad Turksen (Retired) Ottawa Hospital Research Institute Ottawa, ON, Canada

ISSN 0065-2598ISSN 2214-8019(electronic)Advances in Experimental Medicine and BiologyISSN 2522-090XISSN 2522-0918(electronic)Cell Biology and Translational MedicineISBN 978-3-030-60011-2ISBN 978-3-030-60012-9(eBook)https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-60012-9ISBN 978-3-030-60012-9(eBook)

 ${\rm (}{\rm \bigcirc}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use. The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in

this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

In this next volume in the Cell Biology and Translational Medicine series, we continue to explore the potential utility of stem cells in regenerative medicine. Chapters in this volume cover advances and challenges in applications of particular stem cell populations in a variety of diseases and conditions, and certain governance and policy issues and options.

I remain very grateful to Gonzalo Cordova, the Associate Editor of the series and acknowledge his continuous support.

I would also like to acknowledge and thank Sara Germans-Huisman, Assistant Editor, for her outstanding efforts in helping to get this volume to the production stages.

A special thank you goes to Rathika Ramkumar and Anand Venkatachalam for their outstanding efforts in the production of this volume.

Finally, sincere thanks to the contributors not only for their support of the series, but also for their insight and effort to capture both the advances and remaining obstacles in their areas of research. I trust readers will find their contributions as interesting and helpful as I have.

Ottawa, ON, Canada

Kursad Turksen

Contents

Apelin Receptor Signaling During Mesoderm DevelopmentDerya Sağraç, Hatice Burcu Şişli, and Ayşegül Doğan	1
Epidermal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine Simona Martinotti, Katia Marconato, Gregorio Bonsignore, and Elia Ranzato	17
The Cellular and Molecular Patterns Involved in the Neural Differentiation of Adipose-Derived Stem Cells	23
Biomatrices for Heart Regeneration and Cardiac Tissue Modelling <i>In Vitro</i>	43
Dentin-Pulp Tissue Regeneration Approaches in Dentistry:An Overview and Current TrendsSoner Sismanoglu and Pinar Ercal	79
Stem Cell Culture Under Simulated Microgravity Muge Anil-Inevi, Oyku Sarigil, Melike Kizilkaya, Gulistan Mese, H. Cumhur Tekin, and Engin Ozcivici	105
Smart Polymeric Systems: A Biomedical Viewpoint Afsaneh Adibfar, Samaneh Hosseini, and Mohamadreza Baghaban Eslaminejad	133
Acute Lung Injury: Disease Modelling and the Therapeutic Potential of Stem Cells	149
COVID-19 and Mesenchymal Stem Cell Treatment; Mystery or Not Tunc Akkoc	167
PCDH19 Pathogenic Variants in Males: Expandingthe Phenotypic SpectrumKristy L. Kolc, Rikke S. Møller, Lynette G. Sadleir,Ingrid E. Scheffer, Raman Kumar, and Jozef Gecz	177
Index	189



Apelin Receptor Signaling During Mesoderm Development

Derya Sağraç, Hatice Burcu Şişli, and Ayşegül Doğan

Abstract

The Apelin receptor (Aplnr) is a G-protein coupled receptor which has a wide body distribution and various physiological roles including homeostasis, angiogenesis, cardiovascular and neuroendocrine function. Apelin and Elabela are two peptide components of the Aplnr signaling and are cleaved to give different isoforms which are active in different tissues and organisms.

Aplnr signaling is related to several pathologies including obesity, heart disases and cancer in the adult body. However, the developmental role in mammalian embryogenesis is crucial for migration of early cardiac progenitors and cardiac function. Aplnr and peptide components have a role in proliferation, differentiation and movement of endodermal precursors. Although expression of Aplnr signaling is observed in endodermal lineages, the main function is the control of mesoderm cell movement and cardiac development. Mutant of the Aplnr signaling components results in the malformations, defects and lethality mainly due to the deformed heart function. This developmental role share similarity with the cardiovascular functions in the adult body.

Determination of Aplnr signaling and underlying mechanisms during mammalian development might enable understanding of regulatory molecular mechanisms which not only control embryonic development process but also control tissue function and disease pathology in the adult body.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Apelin \, \cdot \, Apelin \, receptor \, \cdot \, Development \, \cdot \\ Elabela \, \cdot \, Mesoderm \end{array}$

Abbreviations

ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic Hormone
Aplnr	Apelin Receptor
AVP	Arginine Vasopressin Hormone
bFGF	Basic Fibroblast Growth Factor
BMP-4	Bone Morphogenic Protein-4
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CNS	Central Nervous System
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
Ela	Elabela
EMT	Epithelial to Mesenchymal
	Transition
eNOS	Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
FOXF-1	Forkhead Box F-1
GATA-4	GATA Binding Protein-4

D. Sağraç, H. B. Şişli, and A. Doğan (🖂)

Department of Genetics and Bioengineering, Faculty of Engineering, Yeditepe University, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: aysegul.dogan@yeditepe.edu.tr

HAND-1	Heart- and Neural Crest Derivatives-
	Expressed Protein-1
hESCs	Human Embryonic Stem Cells
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HUVEC	Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial
	Cells
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IRX-3	Iroquois-class Homeodomain Pro-
	tein-3
KO	Knock Out
MEOX-1	Mesenchyme Homeobox-1
mESCs	Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
MYH-6	Myosin Heavy Chain-6
Nkx-2.5	NK-2 Homeobox-5
OXY	Oxytocin
PAX-3	Paired Box-3
PHA	Phytohemagglutinin
PVN	Paraventricular Nucleus
siRNA	Small Interfering Ribonucleic Acid
SON	Supraoptic Nucleus
TBX-5	T-box transcription factor-5
TCF-15	Transcription Factor-15
TDGF-1	Teratocarcinoma-Derived Growth
	Factor-1
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor Beta
VSMCs	Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells

1 Apelin Receptor Signaling Pathway

1.1 Components of Apelin Receptor Signaling

In 1993, Apelin receptor (Aplnr) was introduced as a member of class A rhodopsin-like guanine nucleotide binding (G) protein coupled receptors and the 377 amino acids long receptor was assumed orphan due to lack of its specified ligand (O'Dowd et al. 1993). Apelin, the first identified endogenous ligand of Aplnr, was obtained from the extract of bovine stomach in 1998 (Tatemoto et al. 1998). The 9698 bp Apelin gene, making up two introns and three exons, was revealed to encode a prepropeptide, consisting of 77 amino acids, including a signal peptide consisting of 22 amino acids at N terminal. Following the processes of proteolytic cleavage and maturation, three main isoforms of Apelin among various others were characterized as 36 amino acids long Apelin-36, 17 amino acids long Apelin-17 and 13 amino acids long Apelin-13, which is known as the most active form of the peptide (Tatemoto et al. 1998; Hosoya et al. 2000; Mesmin et al. 2011; Zhen et al. 2013; Shin et al. 2018). Another endogenous ligand of Aplnr, which was named as Elabela (Ela), also called as Apela or Toddler, was revealed in zebrafish in 2013. This peptide hormone was reported to consist of 54 amino acids, including N terminal signal peptide, and makes the active forms of Ela consisting of 32 amino acids (Ela-32), 21 amino acids (Ela-21) and 11 amino acids (Ela-11) (Chng et al. 2013; Pauli et al. 2014a).

After the activation of heterotrimeric Aplnr by its ligand, the signal is delivered to downstream pathways to regulate cellular events. $G\alpha_i$ subunit, coupled to Aplnr, activates PI3K/Akt pathway and PKC/Erk pathway and inhibits adenylyn cyclase, leading to inhibition of PKA by downregulating CAMP level (Hamada et al. 2008; Masri et al. 2002; O'Carroll et al. 2013). On the other hand, $G\alpha_q$ subunit, coupled to Aplnr, leads to activation of PKC pathway and upregulation of intracellular Ca²⁺ level by inducing PLCβ activation. Also, Aplnr, activated under mechanical stress. transduce signal in non-canonical pathway via β-arrestin to downstream pathways, which are yet to be elucidated (Chapman et al. 2014; Murza et al. 2016).

1.2 Tissue Distribution of Apelin Receptor Signaling

Since the discovery of the Aplnr, its distribution in various tissues have been reported including heart, endothelium, lung, brain, kidney, adipose tissue and plasma (Edinger et al. 1998; Novakov et al. 2015). Rat, mouse and human tissue distribution analysis of Aplnr showed that the highest similarity of Aplnr expression was observed in central nervous system (CNS). The distribution of Aplnr mRNA in rat brain has shown that the highest level of mRNA expression has been shown in hypothalamus (De Mota et al. 2000). Similarly, mouse Aplnr mRNA expression has demonstrated a wide distribution in different CNS regions such as hypothalamus, pituitary, cerebral cortex, and spinal cord (Medhurst et al. 2003; Regard et al. 2008). The detailed investigation of Aplnr distribution in mice revealed that Aplnr was found at the lowest level in the posterior pituitary but relatively higher in the CNS and in the anterior pituitary (Pope et al. 2012). Furthermore, the corpus callosum and the spinal cord express highest Aplnr mRNA level in human CNS (Edinger et al. 1998; Medhurst et al. 2003; Matsumoto et al. 1996). Moreover, Choe and colleagues reported that the human Aplnr mRNA was highly expressed in oligodendrocytes and was relatively low in astrocytes (Choe et al. 2000). The high Apelin mRNA levels in both human and rodent CNS sections such as spinal cord (Pope et al. 2012), hippocampus (O'Donnell et al. 2007) and olfactory system (Cheng et al. 2012) may demonstrate that Aplnr pathway contributes to the development of nervous system in both human and rodent species. All these similarities suggest that Aplnr and its ligands are preserved among the high vertebrate throughout evolutionary processes.

The general distribution of Aplnr between human and rat tissues is similar, but this similarity was not seen in the peripheral organ distribution. In human tissues, Aplnr mRNA level is high in the spleen and relatively low in the small intestine, colon mucosa and ovaries. Moreover, Aplnr mRNA has not been reported in bone marrow, thymus, or epididymis tissues (The Human Protein Atlas n.d.). Also, Aplnr locus is methylated in undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) and therefore it is not present on the surface of hESCs. On the contrary, Ela is highly expressed and required for the self-renewal of hESCs (Ho et al. 2015). Subsequent studies have reported that placenta has high level of Aplnr expression, whereas low level of Aplnr mRNA expression were found in heart, lung, stomach, liver, pancreas, intestines and kidneys (Medhurst et al. 2003). It has been reported that in

human placenta, Ela is mainly expressed in cytotrophoblasts until the first trimester (Wang et al. 2019; Georgiadou et al. 2019), while Aplnr and Apelin are expressed in syncytiotrophoblasts, cytotrophoblasts and endothelial cells of placenta as well as fetal vessels until birth (Eberlé et al. 2019). Similarly, Ela exists in serum of pregnant mice during E7.5 to E12.5 of gestation (Ho et al. 2017). In rats, Aplnr mRNA expression level was high in the lung and the heart and was not observed in colon, testes, stomach and liver (Hosoya et al. 2000; Medhurst et al. 2003). Besides, the rat Aplnr mRNA was expressed in the kidney and in corpora lutea of ovary (Różycka et al. 2018). Also, Medhurst and colleagues reported that except for thymus, testis and bladder, almost all tissues of mice expressed Aplnr mRNA and heart is the source of the highest level of Aplnr mRNA (Medhurst et al. 2003).

Immunofluorescence analysis of human heart has shown that proapelin peptide is expressed in the endocardial endothelium and cardiomyocytes. However, studies about Apelin peptide in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) are controversial. It has been reported that vascular smooth muscle cells expressed Apelin peptide (Li et al. 2008; Luo et al. 2018) whereas, Mughal and Pitkin determined separately that Apelin peptide is absent in VSMCs and only expressed in vessels of patients with atherosclerosis (Mughal and O'Rourke 2018; Pitkin et al. 2010). On the other hand, Aplnr is detected not only in human vascular endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes but also in smooth muscle cells (Folino et al. 2015; Kidoya and Takakura 2012; Kleinz et al. 2005). Thus, the elevated levels of Aplnr transcripts and proteins might be a reason why lungs and the heart have a high vascularization network as found in the spleen and placenta. During the mouse embryonic development (E9.5-10.5), Aplnr mRNA is mainly found in the endothelial layer of the vessels in the cardiovascular system (Kang et al. 2013) and in the retinal vessels after birth (Saint-Geniez et al. 2002). Inductive neovascular roles of the Aplnr signaling have been directed scientists to investigate the Aplnrcancer relationship. Aplnr signaling is enriched in tumor blood vessels (Uribesalgo et al. 2019) and expression level of Apelin peptide is elevated in various cancers such as colon, glioblastoma, non-small cell carcinomas, and hepatocellular carcinoma (Read et al. 2019). Human Aplnr mRNA is rarely detected in peripheral blood cells, although Aplnr is located on peripheral blood mononuclear cells when activated by Interleukin-2 (IL-2) and Phytohemagglutinin (PHA) (Choe et al. 1998; Masri et al. 2005). Moreover, Aplnr and Apelin signal was detected in human pancreatic islet cells (Ringström et al. 2010), human osteoblasts cells (Xie et al. 2007) and as well as both human and mouse adipose tissue (Boucher et al. 2005). Overall, the appearance of Aplnr in almost the whole body reveals the importance of Aplnr signaling for various processes in the body.

1.3 Physiological Role of Apelin Receptor Signaling

Based on the aforementioned structural properties and tissue distribution, Aplnr signaling has been reported to regulate fluid homeostasis (Roberts et al. 2010), body temperature (Kidoya and Takakura 2012), energy metabolism (Boucher et al. 2005), hormone (Wang et al. 2004) and neuropeptide (Masri et al. 2005) release, as well as cardiovascular function (Perjés et al. 2016) including vasodilation (Read et al. 2019), increased myocardial contractility (Maguire et al. 2009), angiogenesis (Saint-Geniez et al. 2002) and placental development (Wang et al. 2019; Eberlé et al. 2019; Ho et al. 2017).

The involvement of Apelin signaling in cardiac development was first described in intersomitic vein development of frog (Inui et al. 2006). Subsequently, it was demonstrated that mutation in the Aplnr leads to a decrease in the number of cardiomyocytes and may result in pericardial edema in Zebrafish (Scott et al. 2007). The effects of the Aplnr signaling in the cardiovascular system were also examined in mouse embryos, mouse embryonic stem cells (mESCs) and human embryonic stem cells (hESCs). In a study, cardiomyocytes were differentiated from hESC by adding Activin-A, bone morphogenic protein-4 (BMP-4) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF). Ela expression was upregulated in cardiomyocytes along with cardiac transcription factors such as GATA Binding Protein-4 (GATA-4), myosin heavy chain-6 (MYH-6) and T-box transcription factor-5 (TBX5). After treatment with exogenous Ela, cardiomyocytes exhibited functional characteristics including contraction and releasing the cardiac troponin T protein into medium (Wang and Huang 2019).

Most of Aplnr-null mouse embryos have been reported to die in the prenatal state due to cardiovascular developmental disorders ranging from impaired development of the yolk sac and embryo vasculature to the progression of defective atrioventricular cushion and abnormally formed in right ventricles (Kang et al. 2013; Read et al. 2019; Charo et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2012). Interestingly, while Aplnr deficient mice have cardiovascular development defects, Apelin ligand deficient mice demonstrate normal development and become fertile (Folino et al. 2015). Therefore, it might be hypothesized that Aplnr plays a vital role in the developmental process and the signaling is regulated by other Apelin receptor ligands such as Ela. Besides the developmental process, recombinant Ela fusion protein has improved the function of infarcted heart in adult rats by injections everyday during 4 weeks (Xi et al. 2019). According to an in vitro study, Aplnr signaling has a role in human mesodermal projector cells during cardiac tissue differentiation and regulates the migration of progenitor cells that have been destined for cardiomyocyte differentiation (Vodyanik et al. 2010).

As mentioned before, Ela has vital roles in embryonic and placental development of mammals. Specifically, human Ela is responsible for the early cardiovascular system formation, cytotrophoblast proliferation, and invasion of trophoblasts into decidua (Eberlé et al. 2019). In the second trimester, placental Ela expression replaces with placental Apelin expression. Apelin induces the maturation of placental vessels to facilitate the transportation of nutrients. Besides, it has been revealed that a mutation in human Ela causes preeclampsia which is a disorder characterized by abnormal cell movement and high blood pressure during the second trimester of pregnancy (Wang et al. 2019; Eberlé et al. 2019; Ho et al. 2017; Sharma et al. 2017). To determine the role of Ela in preeclampsia, Wang and colleagues collected patient tissues and blood samples and they revealed that placental Ela mRNA and protein levels decreased in patients with preeclampsia compared to healthy pregnants (Wang et al. 2019). In parallel, placental Apelin levels also decreased in early-onset pre-eclampsia. Although the plasma Apelin level was high in preeclamptic patients, there was not a clear difference between the patient and healthy women in terms of plasma Ela level (Georgiadou et al. 2019). Another study with preeclamptic mice revealed that Ela-KO pregnant mice with normal Apelin expression displayed impaired placental angiogenesis, which is a reason for high blood pressure (Ho et al. 2017). It is probably due to the diverse effects of Ela and Apelin in embryonic and placental development. Also, the role of Ela in early stage of embryonic development was demonstrated with the exogenous application of Ela which not only enhanced invasion and differentiation of throphoblasts but also supported cardiovascularization during pregnancy (Zhou et al. 2019). In a recent research, it was reported that overexpression of Ela induced invasion and migration of human trophoblast cells, HTR-8/ SVneo, via the Akt-mTOR pathway, whereas knockdown of Ela interrupted the cellular movement of HTR-8/SVneo cells (Wang et al. 2019). The abovementioned results indicate the importance of Ela-Aplnr signaling in early and middle development of embryo.

The effects and roles of the Aplnr signaling pathway in the cardiovascular area were mostly studied on blood pressure regulation (Tatemoto et al. 2001) and cardiac muscle contraction (Ladeiras-Lopes et al. 2008). As mentioned earlier, human Aplnr is commonly found in endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells of the vascular wall (Wu et al. 2014) and human Aplnr mRNA was detected in endothelial cells in the endocardium of the large arteries, coronary vessels, and right atrium (Iturrioz and Llorens-Cortes 2013). Aplnr signaling regulates blood pressure through the endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase (eNOS) dependent manner. Upon activation of Aplnr in endothelial cells of wild-type mice, eNOS phosphorylation is induced through several processes, including PI3K/Akt activation (Zhong et al. 2007). eNOS spreads to VMSCs where it exerts vasodilating effects and lowers blood pressure. Since Aplnr-Knockout (KO) mice do not have Apelin signaling in vascular endothelial cells, eNOS synthesis is not observed and this causes a hypertensive phenotype. Therefore, vascular smooth muscle cells which are located under the endothelial cells created the contraction response through Aplnr signaling (Hashimoto et al. 2006). Likewise, Aplnr is necessary for functional angiogenesis. It was shown that Apelin-13 ligand promotes thymidine incorporation into the DNA of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) where Aplnr is structurally expressed and provides vascular cell proliferation by inducing the p70S6 kinase through the activation of the PI3K and ERK pathways (Masri et al. 2004). Also, in Aplnr-KO mice, CD31 endothelial cells were present, but the number of vascular smooth muscle cells decreased and blood vessels did not form properly (Kasai et al. 2010). The elevated level of Aplnr and Apelin peptide expressions in the cardiac system suggested that the Aplnr signaling has regulative roles in cardiac functions. In addition, arterial-venous vascular alignment in the skin is processed correctly through the Aplnr signaling. Kidoya and colleagues reported that both Aplnr-KO and Apelin-KO mice did not tolerate the hot and cold stress compared to wild type mice. Therefore, Aplnr signaling has been reported to have an indirect effect on the regulation of body temperature (Kidoya et al. 2015).

Aplnr and its ligands have a crucial role for fluid homeostasis of mammals. In adult rats, it was reported that. Ela, which is highly expressed in kidney of rats, enhanced the water intake and diuresis via both ERK1/2 and G_i mediated Aplnr signaling pathways (Deng et al. 2015). Moreoever, studies with mice showed that when water was continuously supplied, the osmolality and urine volume of Aplnr-KO mice did not differ, but the water-drinking behavior was lower than wild-type mice (Roberts et al. 2010; Roberts et al. 2009). Although these results indicated the important role of the Aplnr in fluid homeostasis, controversial studies about Apelininduced water consumption in rats have been published. Reaux and colleagues showed that there was no difference in the level of waterbalancing hormone, arginine vasopressin (AVP), among the rat groups which are free to access water (Reaux et al. 2001). On the other hand, Taheri and colleagues indicated that homeostatic behaviors such as releasing of adrenocorticotropin (ACTH) and AVP hormones into the bloodstream, the regulation in the volume and concentration of urine, and level of water intake improved dose-dependently with exogenous Apelin-13 (Taheri et al. 2002). Finally, Clarke and colleagues found that the water consumption of Apelin administered rats was lower compared to wild-type rats (Clarke et al. 2009). Therefore, the Aplnr receptor signal function needs to be investigated more thoroughly in fluid homeostasis to understand its osmoregulatory role.

Energy metabolism and food intake are also key fields in which Aplnr signaling pathway is involved. Expression of the Aplnr in the hypothalamus and the distribution of the Apelin expressed neurons to the regions related to food intake have led to the investigation of the effect of the Apelin signaling in food intake. Apelin is expressed in human adipocytes and mouse 3T3L-1 cells. The adipose tissue is one of the reservoirs of plasma Apelin (Boucher et al. 2005). Interestingly, insulin secretion as well as starvation and refeeding, stimulates the expression of Apelin in adipose tissue (Boucher et al. 2005; Wei et al. 2005), whereas Apelin (Apelin-36) has an inhibitory effect on insulin secretion (Winzell et al. 2005). It was also reported that Apelin-36 regulates the blood glucose by improving glucose homeostasis in obese mice (Yang et al. 2017). Studies on both human and murine pancreatic islet demonstrated that Apelin peptide expression is observed in α and β islet cells (Ringström et al. 2010), while the Aplnr expression is abundant in acinar cells, pancreatic duct, and islet cells (Kapica et al. 2012). However, the pancreas and adipocyte-based studies revealed

that Aplnr deletion caused low islet density as well as insulin disorders and glucose intolerance in both normal and obese organisms (Han et al. 2015). Both the widespread distribution of Aplnr and its ligand in the pancreas and fatal results due to Aplnr deletion highlight the vital role of the Aplnr signaling in glucose/energy metabolism.

Aplnr signaling pathway has immunoregulatory roles (Choe et al. 1998; Masri et al. 2005; Edinger et al. 1998). Aplnr and downstream signals have protective functions as a major receptor with CD-4 for Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) infection, which is inhibited by different Apelin isoforms (Zou et al. 2000). Induction of Aplnr expression by stimulating peripheral blood mononuclear cells suggests that Apelin signaling plays a role in the number of active T lymphocytes (Edinger et al. 1998). Moreover, it has been reported that isoforms of different Apelin ligands suppress cytokine production. In response to CD-3 cross-linking, which enables the activation of T cells, mouse spleen cells partially suppressed the production of cytokines, including IL-2, IL-4, and Interferon- γ (IFN- γ), by both Apelin-36 and Apelin-13 (Habata et al. 1999).

It is known that the Aplnr and its ligands regulate the hormone release of the pituitary and peripheral organs, as mentioned before. The Apelin ligand and its receptor are highly co-expressed in corticotrope cells in the pituitary (Le Goazigo et al. 2007) and Aplnr signaling involves release of ACTH (Iturrioz and Llorens-Cortes 2013). In the gastric enterochromaffin-like cells, Aplnr encoding gene is highly expressed. Thus, both histamine release and acid secretion (Lambrecht et al. 2006), as well as gastric cells proliferation and cholecystokinin secretion (Wang et al. 2004) were reduced. Besides, the Apelin ligand was co-expressed with neurophysin 1, which is a nerve cell hormone related to oxytocin metabolism, in the magnocellular oxytocin (OXY) neurons. During breastfeeding, Apelin ligand released from OXY neurons inhibited the effect of OXY neurons in autocrine or paracrine manner by binding to the Aplnr on OXY neuron surface (Iturrioz and Llorens-Cortes 2013). These results indicate that there is a strong relationship between mechanisms of releasing various hormone and Aplnr signaling. Studies intended for all Aplnr functions show that Aplnr signaling provide the body homeostasis from embryonic to adulthood. A disruption in signaling process disrupts developmental or physiological functions.

2 Apelin Receptor Signaling in Endoderm

Gastrulation and germ layer specification are regulated by various signaling events. According to data accumulated in the last decade, Aplnr signaling also takes part during early embryogenesis. In early development, Ela/Aplnr signaling in zebrafish embryo was reported to affect migration, proliferation and differentiation of endodermal precursors for early cardiac development (Chng et al. 2013; Xu et al. 2018). Pauli and colleagues also demonstrated that activation of Ela/Aplnr signaling induces mesendodermal cell movement and internalization during gastrulation of zebrafish embryo (Pauli et al. 2014b). Furthermore, it was reported that Ela/Aplnr signaling, as a downstream of Nodal signaling, primarily controls mesodermal cell movement yet, endodermal cell movement is also affected indirectly through Cxcr4a signaling during zebrafish gastrulation (Norris et al. 2017). Freyer and colleagues investigated the role of Aplnr signaling in mammalian development. They reported that despite the expression of Ela in definitive endoderm of mouse embryo, absence of functional Ela affected Aplnr expressing mesodermal cells instead of defect in endoderm lineage (Hassan et al. 2010; Freyer et al. 2017). Moreover, hESCs were utilized to show the role of Ela in endodermal differentiation (Liu et al. 2020). Ela expression peaks at human blastocyte and undergoes a rapid decrease along with the differentiation (Miura et al. 2004). Interestingly, although Ela is expressed in undifferentiated hESCs, Aplnr is not expressed due to methylation. Ho et al. revealed that Ela interacts with and internalized by another receptor, which was not identified yet, and acts through PI3K pathway to mediate selfrenewal effect of Ela in hESCs. They also demonstrated that Ela promoted endoderm lineage differentiation of hESCs through the activation of TGF β pathway (Ho et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2020). These researches suggest that although Aplnr signaling is required mainly for mesodermal cell migration during gastrulation, it also mediates endodermal cell movement and differentiation.

3 Apelin Receptor Signaling in Mesoderm

Gastrulation is a vital process of embryogenesis that three germ layers are formed by the invagination of blastula cells (Ang S-LBRR 2002). In the gastrulation process, the mesodermal layer begins to form within the epiblast and hypoblast cells. In detail, a part of epiblast cells that will generate the mesoderm layer begin to migrate between the epiblast and hypoblast layer in lateral and cranial direction. The epiblast cells migrate towards the primitive streak and slide under the layer through the invagination process (Gilbert 2000). A part of migrating cells enters the inner cell area and form the endoderm layer. Other migrating cells spread between endoderm and epiblast in order to create mesoderm layer. The remaining cells at the outside form ectoderm layer. To form the notochordal plate and the notochord, which induces the formation of the neural tube and creates the anterior-posterior axis, prechordal cells move to the midline. After notochord was created, the mesoderm cells proliferate to form paraxial mesoderm. Mesoderm areas on both sides of the notochord are known as lateral plate mesoderm (Bellairs and Osmond 2014). Paraxial mesoderm forms somitomers that create dermatomes (skin) (Rehman and Muzio 2019) and sclerotomes (bone) (Maroto et al. 2012). The lateral plate mesoderm leads to the formation of both the circulatory system and mesodermal units (Stricker et al. 2017). In other words, the mesoderm layer is the main source of the middle line of the embryonic body plan; the skeleton, muscle, connective tissues (Carlson 2015), kidneys, circulatory and reproductive systems, and the dermis precursors (Bakkum and Bachop 2013). Mesoderm formation occurs mainly by the migration of the cells existing in the epiblast and filling the intermediate section. This migration uses a mechanism called Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Nebigil and Désaubry 2019). EMT plays an important role in germ layer specification (ectoderm. mesoderm. endoderm) (Gheldof and Berx 2013). Epithelial cells in the primitive epiblast layer migrate to the midline and undergo EMT to create mesoderm and endoderm layers (Fig. 1) (Ohta et al. 2007). In this process, EMT forms a pool of primitive progenitor cells at the precise anatomical positions of the embryo, which constitutes the primordium of the developing organs. As mentioned before, the lateral plate mesoderm causes the formation of the heart and hematopoietic cells. As definitive germ layers emerge in the developing embryo, cardiac progenitors are the first cells among epiblast cells that undergo EMT and migrate from the primitive streak (Tam et al. 1997). This mesenchymal cardiac precursor population migrates bilaterally to the anterior pole of the embryo in the lateral plate to merge into an anterior cardiac in mammals (Kovacic et al. 2012). Besides EMT, several signaling pathways have been shown to contribute the germ layers specification in vertebrates, including Stat3, Prostaglandin E2, non-canonical Wnt and Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF) signals. The specification of both endoderm and mesoderm layers mainly depends on a Transforming Growth Factor Beta (TGF-B) family member, Nodal signaling pathway (Wu and Hill 2009). The Nodal signaling uses ligands of TGF- β superfamily. These ligands phosphorylate transmembrane serine/threonine kinase receptors, which will subsequently phosphorylate Smad2 and Smad3. Then, Smad4 is induced and translocated to the nucleus, where the mesendoderm genes will begin to be expressed (Dunn et al. 2004). Nodal signaling is responsible for mesoderm formation and the expression of Aplnr and its ligands (Pauli et al. 2014b). Aplnr-Nodal signaling activates the genes necessary for cell movement and cardiac development of both zebrafish (Chng et al. 2013) and mice (Deshwar et al. 2016). Considering its known role in induction and migration of nodal signaling in mesoderm, Aplnr signaling has a role in parallel or upstream with the Nodal pathway. Therefore, the Nodal-mediated induction of Aplnr expression can make cells more active and responsive to Ela. It has been informed that an additional G-protein coupled receptor pathway regulated by Ela is required for suitable cell migration and



Fig. 1 The schematic illustration of cell migration during EMT in the gastrulation. Epiblast cells invaginate into the hypoblast layer to form the mesoderm and the migration of the cells creates the primitive streak

formation of mesendoderm. In this pathway, Ela, which is highly conserved during the evolution of vertebrates, generates downstream signals through the Aplnr (Chng et al. 2013; Pauli et al. 2014b). The initial specification of endoderm and mesoderm is formed normally in Ela-KO embryos (Pauli et al. 2014b). However, within the mid-gastrulation, it was observed that the mesodermal cell migration of Ela mutant embryos decreased, and the embryo had fewer endodermal cells than wild type. Ela mutants usually die 7 days after fertilization due to abnormal formation of cardiovascular units such as denuded vessels, deformed hearts, or formation of edema (Chng et al. 2013; Pauli et al. 2014b).

Aplnr signaling has important roles in mesoderm formation and angiogenesis during embryogenesis (Table 1). It was firstly reported in a study with *Xenopus laevis*. The expression of the Apelin receptor of *X. leavis*, homologus with the human Aplnr, was detected in the lateral plate mesoderm cells in which cardiac precursors develop (Devic et al. 1996) and then in the development of vascular structures of the somitic vessel (Inui et al. 2006). During gastrulation of zebrafish, Aplnr has been reported to be expressed not only in lateral plate mesoderm but also in the adaxial and intermediate mesoderm (Zeng et al. 2007). In another study with Zebrafish, it has been reported that Aplnr regulate the transcription factors of cardiac projectors, such as Nkx2.5 during gastrulation. When Aplnr was deleted in embryos, cell migration and mesoderm formation as well as cardiac development disrupted (Deshwar et al. 2016). Likewise, impair cell movement was observed in Aplnr-KO zebrafish embryos (Chng et al. 2013). Aplnr and heart relationship was also examined in zebrafish and Zeng and colleagues revealed that Apelin-KO zebrafish embryos exhibit late migration and abnormal distribution of anterior lateral plate mesoderm cells including cardiac precursors during mid-blastula. Besides, it has been reported that Apelin overexpression strongly inhibits some gastrulation movements of mesodermal cells and causes abnormal morphology and activity (Zeng et al. 2007). An example of Aplnr signalin related to cell migration as a result of EMT is the regulation of mesodermal cell migration in zebrafish using the Aplnr signal pathway with Ela. Aplnr gene is expressed in mesodermal progenitors, and the migration of mesodermal cells to the animal pole in the Ela-KO group was slow and exhibited in limited regions compared to wild type (Norris et al. 2017).

 Table 1
 Studies explaining the role of Aplnr signaling in mesodermal layer development

Species		References
Frog	Aplnr expression is limited to lateral plate mesoderm in the gastrulation process and has associated with the cardiovascular formation and endothelial lineage of <i>Xenopus leavis</i> embryos	Devic et al. (1996)
Zebrafish	Aplnr signaling regulates heart formation in the gastrulation process. Aplnr is expressed in LPM while apelin peptide is located in mid-line. Increase and decrease in Aplnr signaling cause disruption of heart formation	Zeng et al. (2007)
Zebrafish	Aplnr is located in the animal pole of the embryo after 4-h post-fertilization. At 10-h post-fertilization, Aplnr mRNA expression is detected in presomitic mesoderm and in lateral plate mesoderm cells at the somitogenesis stage. Also, the loss of Aplnr signalization results in abnormal cardiogenesis features due to a decline in the level of cardiac mesoderm markers	Scott et al. (2007)
Mouse	Aplnr-KO mice have exhibited reduced birth ratio due to developmental defects	Ishida et al. (2004); Kang et al. (2013)
Mouse	Aplnr transcripts have found in extraembryonic mesoderm, adjacent mesoderm, and primitive streak in E8 mouse embryos	D'Aniello et al. (2009)
Mouse	Loss of Ela causes embryonic lethality due to the circulation defects in mice. Apelin did not compensate for the lack of Ela in Aplnr signaling during development	Freyer et al. (2017)
Human	Aplnr transcripts found on day 2–3 of differentiation of hESCs whereas undifferentiated cells did not express Aplnr mRNA. Differentiation of Aplnr expressing cells has exhibited important markers for lateral plate mesoderm and their precursors	Vodyanik et al. (2010)

This shows the importance of Aplnr signal pathway in mesoderm migration with a receptor-ligand relationship. Also, it can be said that for a successful animal pole directed migration, Ela ligand and the Aplnr are needed.

Similar results have obtained in mice. D'Aniello and colleuges reported the first evidence that Aplnr pathway is necessary at the beginning of vertebrae gastrulation to mediate migration of myocardial progenitors toward the anterior lateral plate mesoderm. Moreover, they offered a novel pathway in addition to the nodal signaling which is highly studied in developmental processes. The Cripto pathway that is induced by an extracellular protein Cripto, also named as teratocarcinoma derived growth factor 1 (TDGF1), is retained during the evolution of higher vertebrates. While Aplnr mRNA is defined both in the primitive streak and in adjacent mesoderm, Apelin peptide is expressed only in the primitive streak which is similar to Cripto pathway. Likewise, the expression of Aplnr and Apelin could not be detected in the posterior mesoderm of Cripto-KO embryos whereas Aplnr and Apelin ligand continued to be expressed in the extraembryonic tissue of the Cripto-KO embryos (D'Aniello et al. 2009). Thus, indicating that the expression of Aplnr and Apelin ligand in the embryonic mesoderm is crypto-dependent, whereas extraembryonic tissue is crypto-independent. The relationship of Aplnr signaling with the formation of mesoderm has been frequently investigated in terms of cardiac development. It has been discovered that the mutation in the Aplnr encoding gene during the gastrulation phase showed cardiovascular malfunctions, including an improper cardiac cycle, thinning in the myocardium of the mice, and an enlarged right ventricle (Kang et al. 2013). These results show that the Aplnr signal is one of the most important active signals in the embryonic period.

A study was performed by Vodyanik et al., they mimicked mesoderm formation *in vitro* using hESCs. Aplnr expressing cells were found in the mesoderm on day 3. Also, it has been reported that Aplnr+ cells showed the expression of lateral plate/ extra-embryonic markers, Forkhead Box F-1 (FOXF-1), Iroquois-class Homeodomain Protein-3 (IRX-3), BMP-4, WNT-5A and Heart- and Neu-Crest Derivatives-Expressed Protein-1,2 ral (HAND-1,2), but did not show paraxial mesoderm markers, Mesenchyme Homeobox-1 (MEOX1), Transcription Factor-15(TCF15), and Paired Box-3,7 (PAX3,7), and intermediate mesoderm markers, PAX2 and PAX8 (Vodyanik et al. 2010). Similarly, it was reported that Aplnr signaling induced mesoderm differentiation by inducing hESC in vitro and formed mature and functional cardiac-like cells (Wang et al. 2012). Another study displayed Aplnr signaling in angiogenesis. Wang and colleagues reported that in the presence of Ela, Aplnr activation induced vessel sprouting in vitro and its overexpression increased this sprouting, but when Aplnr was knocked down with smallinterfering RNA (siRNA), branched points decreased in endothelial cells (Wang et al. 2015). Another study showed that, while Ela was expressed higher than Apelin in mid-gastrulation, Apelin expression has reached the highest level in later development. Thus, both peptides are responsible for angiogenesis at different developmental periods (Helker et al. 2015). Therefore, these outcomes elucidated that Aplnr activity is vital for cardiovascular development. Effect of Aplnr signalization in cell migration was performed in several studies (Scott et al. 2007; Doğan 2019). It was reported that Mix11-expressing hESCs upregulated Aplnr expression and did not express E-cadherin, an epithelial marker (Yu et al. 2012). In the studies related to EMT, Aplnr was seen as an important pathway for EMT mediated migration signal. Therefore, it can be said that Aplnr signaling works with EMT during mesoderm formation. Altogether, it can be seen that Aplnr signaling has very important functions in the formation of the mesodermal layer along with its ligands. During mesoderm formation, a mutation in the Aplnr itself or signaling components causes developmental or even death of the embryo.

4 Conclusion

Apelin receptor (Aplnr) as a member of class A rhodopsin-like guanine nucleotide binding (G) protein coupled receptors, is an important molecular regulator in many tissues. Aplnr and two peptide ligands have been identified up to now. Modulation of the Aplnr by two peptide ligands which have different active isoforms and distinct cellular functions impair the identification of exact mechanisms during development and adulthood. Identification of exact molecular mechanisms and peptide-receptor interactions during different cellular events and at different time points are required to solve developmental regulation by Aplnr signaling. Although there are several published researches reporting the role of Apelin in adult and developmental processes, the recent peptide Elabela needs to be studied in detail. Embryonic stem cell studies might be promising to determine Aplnr signaling and components in detail during mammalian development in the near future.

Acknowledegement This study was supported by TÜBİTAK 2232 International Fellowship for Outstanding Researchers Program (Project no: 118C186). Authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Ang S-LBRR (2002) Anterior-posterior patterning of the mouse body axis at gastrulation. In: Rossant JTPL (ed) Mouse development. Academic, pp 37–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012597951-1/50005-6
- Bakkum BW, Bachop WE (2013) Development of the spine and spinal cord. In: Clinical anatomy of the spine, spinal cord, and ANS. Elsevier Inc, pp 541–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-07954-9.00012-8
- Bellairs R, Osmond M (2014) Establishment of the embryonic body. In: The atlas of chick development, 3rd edn. Elsevier, pp 29–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-384951-9.00004-6
- Boucher J, Masri B, Daviaud D, Gesta S, Guigné C, Mazzucotelli A et al (2005) Apelin, a newly identified adipokine up-regulated by insulin and obesity. Endocrinology 146:1764–1771. https://doi.org/10.1210/en. 2004-1427

- Carlson BM (2015) Gastrulation and germ layer formation. In: Reference module in biomedical research. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-801238-3. 05432-5
- Chapman NA, Dupré DJ, Rainey JK (2014) The apelin receptor: physiology, pathology, cell signalling, and ligand modulation of a peptide-activated class A GPCR. Biochem Cell Biol 92:431–440. https://doi. org/10.1139/bcb-2014-0072
- Charo DN, Ho M, Fajardo G, Kawana M, Kundu RK, Sheikh AY et al (2009) Endogenous regulation of cardiovascular function by apelin-APJ. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 297. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajpheart.00686.2009
- Cheng B, Chen J, Bai B, Xin Q (2012) Neuroprotection of apelin and its signaling pathway. Peptides 37:171–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2012.07.012
- Chng SC, Ho L, Tian J, Reversade B (2013) ELABELA: a hormone essential for heart development signals via the apelin receptor. Dev Cell 27:672–680. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.devcel.2013.11.002
- Choe H, Farzan M, Konkel M, Martin K, Sun Y, Marcon L et al (1998) The orphan seven-transmembrane receptor Apj supports the entry of primary T-cell-line-tropic and Dualtropic human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 72:6113–6118. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.72.7. 6113-6118.1998
- Choe W, Albright A, Sulcove J, Jaffer S, Hesselgesser J, Lavi E et al (2000) Functional expression of the seventransmembrane HIV-1 co-receptor APJ in neural cells. J Neurovirol 6:S61–S69
- Clarke KJ, Whitaker KW, Reyes TM (2009) Diminished metabolic responses to centrally-administered apelin-13 in diet-induced obese rats fed a high-fat diet. J Neuroendocrinol 21:83–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1365-2826.2008.01815.x
- D'Aniello C, Lonardo E, Iaconis S, Guardiola O, Liguoro AM, Liguori GL et al (2009) G protein-coupled receptor APJ and its ligand apelin act downstream of cripto to specify embryonic stem cells toward the cardiac lineage through extracellular signal-regulated kinase/ p7086 kinase signaling pathway. Circ Res 105:231–238. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.109.201186
- De Mota N, Lenkei Z, Llorens-Cortès C (2000) Cloning, pharmacological characterization and brain distribution of the rat apelin receptor. Neuroendocrinology 72:400–407. https://doi.org/10.1159/000054609
- Deng C, Chen H, Yang N, Feng Y, Hsueh AJW (2015) Apela regulates fluid homeostasis by binding to the APJ receptor to activate Gi signaling. J Biol Chem 290:18261–18268. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115. 648238
- Deshwar AR, Chng SC, Ho L, Reversade B, Scott IC (2016) The Apelin receptor enhances Nodal/TGFβ signaling to ensure proper cardiac development. elife 5. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.13758

- Devic E, Paquereau L, Vernier P, Knibiehler B, Audigier Y (1996) Expression of a new G protein-coupled receptor X-msr is associated with an endothelial lineage in Xenopus laevis. Mech Dev 59:129–140. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0925-4773(96)00585-0
- Doğan A (2019) Apelin receptor (Aplnr) signaling promotes fibroblast migration. Tissue Cell 56:98–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tice.2019.01.003
- Dunn NR, Vincent SD, Oxburgh L, Robertson EJ, Bikoff EK (2004) Combinatorial activities of Smad2 and Smad3 regulate mesoderm formation and patterning in the mouse embryo. Development 131:1717–1728. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01072
- Eberlé D, Marousez L, Hanssens S, Knauf C, Breton C, Deruelle P et al (2019) Elabela and Apelin actions in healthy and pathological pregnancies. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 46:45–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cytogfr.2019.03.003
- Edinger AL, Hoffman TL, Sharron M, Lee B, Yi Y, Choe W et al (1998) An orphan seven-transmembrane domain receptor expressed widely in the brain functions as a coreceptor for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and simian immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 72:7934–7940. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.72. 10.7934-7940.1998
- Folino A, Montarolo PG, Samaja M, Rastaldo R (2015) Effects of apelin on the cardiovascular system. Heart Fail Rev 20:505–518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10741-015-9475-x
- Freyer L, Hsu CW, Nowotschin S, Pauli A, Ishida J, Kuba K et al (2017) Loss of Apela peptide in mice causes low penetrance embryonic lethality and defects in early mesodermal derivatives. Cell Rep 20:2116–2130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.08.014
- Georgiadou D, Afink GB, van Dijk M (2019) The apelinergic-axis in human preeclamptic pregnancies: a systematic review. Pregnancy Hypertens 17:148–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preghy.2019. 06.002
- Gheldof A, Berx G (2013) Cadherins and epithelial-tomesenchymal transition. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 116:317–336. Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-12-394311-8.00014-5
- Gilbert SF (2000) Paraxial mesoderm: the somites and their derivatives. In: Developmental biology, 6th edn. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland
- Habata Y, Fujii R, Hosoya M, Fukusumi S, Kawamata Y, Hinuma S et al (1999) Apelin, the natural ligand of the orphan receptor APJ, is abundantly secreted in the colostrum. Biochim Biophys Acta, Mol Cell Res 1452:25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4889(99) 00114-7
- Hamada J, Kimura J, Ishida J, Kohda T, Morishita S, Ichihara S et al (2008) Evaluation of novel cyclic analogues of apelin. Int J Mol Med 22:547–552. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm_00000054
- Han S, Englander EW, Gomez GA, Rastellini C, Quertermous T, Kundu RK et al (2015) Pancreatic islet APJ deletion reduces islet density and glucose

tolerance in mice. Endocrinology 156:2451–2460. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2014-1631

- Hashimoto T, Kihara M, Ishida J, Imai N, Yoshida S, Toya Y et al (2006) Apelin stimulates myosin light chain phosphorylation in vascular smooth muscle cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26:1267–1272. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.ATV.0000218841. 39828.91
- Hassan AS, Hou J, Wei W, Hoodless PA (2010) Expression of two novel transcripts in the mouse definitive endoderm. Gene Expr Patterns 10:127–134. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.gep.2010.02.001
- Helker CS, Schuermann A, Pollmann C, Chng SC, Kiefer F, Reversade B et al (2015) The hormonal peptide Elabela guides angioblasts to the midline during vasculogenesis. elife. https://doi.org/10.7554/ eLife.06726.001
- Ho L, Tan SYX, Wee S, Wu Y, Tan SJC, Ramakrishna NB et al (2015) ELABELA is an endogenous growth factor that sustains hESC self-renewal via the PI3K/AKT pathway. Cell Stem Cell 17:435–447. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.stem.2015.08.010
- Ho L, Van Dijk M, Chye STJ, Messerschmidt DM, Chng SC, Ong S et al (2017) ELABELA deficiency promotes preeclampsia and cardiovascular malformations in mice. Science (80-) 357:707–713. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam6607
- Hosoya M, Kawamata Y, Fukusumi S, Fujii R, Habata Y, Hinumat S et al (2000) Molecular and functional characteristics of APJ: tissue distribution of mRNA and interaction with the endogenous ligand apelin. J Biol Chem 275:21061–21067. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M908417199
- Inui M, Fukui A, Ito Y, Asashima M (2006) Xapelin and Xmsr are required for cardiovascular development in Xenopus laevis. Dev Biol 298:188–200. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.06.028
- Ishida J, Hashimoto T, Hashimoto Y, Nishiwaki S, Iguchi T, Harad S, ... & Okunishi H (2004) Regulatory roles for APJ, a seven-transmembrane receptor related to angiotensin-type 1 receptor in blood pressure in vivo. J Biol Chem 279(25):26274–26279
- Iturrioz X, Llorens-Cortes C (2013) Apelin. In: Handbook of biologically active peptides. Elsevier Inc, pp 715–723. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385095-9.00096-8
- Kang Y, Kim J, Anderson JP, Wu J, Scott RG, Kundu RK et al (2013) Apelin-APJ signaling is a critical regulator of endothelial MEF2 activation in cardiovascular development. Circ Res 113:22–31. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301324
- Kapica M, Jankowska A, Antushevich H, Pietrzak P, Bierla JB, Dembinski A et al (2012) The effect of exogenous apelin on the secretion of pancreatic juice in anaesthetized rats. J Physiol Pharmacol 63:53–60
- Kasai A, Ishimaru Y, Kinjo T, Satooka T, Matsumoto N, Yoshioka Y et al (2010) Apelin is a crucial factor for hypoxia-induced retinal angiogenesis. Arterioscler

Thromb Vasc Biol 30:2182–2187. https://doi.org/10. 1161/ATVBAHA.110.209775

- Kidoya H, Takakura NJB (2012) Review biology of the apelin-APJ axis in vascular formation. J Biochem 152:125–131. https://doi.org/10.1093/jb/mvs071
- Kidoya H, Naito H, Muramatsu F, Yamakawa D, Jia W, Ikawa M et al (2015) APJ regulates parallel alignment of arteries and veins in the skin. Dev Cell 33:247–259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2015.02.024
- Kleinz MJ, Skepper JN, Davenport AP (2005) Immunocytochemical localisation of the apelin receptor, APJ, to human cardiomyocytes, vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells. Regul Pept 126:233–240. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.regpep.2004.10.019
- Kovacic JC, Mercader N, Torres M, Boehm M, Fuster V (2012) Epithelial-to-mesenchymal and endothelial-tomesenchymal transition. Circulation 125:1795–1808. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111. 040352
- Ladeiras-Lopes R, Ferreira-Martins J, Leite-Moreira AF (2008) The Apelinergic system: the role played in human physiology and pathology and potential therapeutic applications. Arq Bras Cardiol 90:374–380. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0066-782X2008000500012
- Lambrecht NWG, Yakubov I, Zer C, Sachs G (2006) Transcriptomes of purified gastric ECL and parietal cells: identification of a novel pathway regulating acid secretion. Physiol Genomics 25:153–165. https:// doi.org/10.1152/physiolgenomics.00271.2005
- Le Goazigo AR, Alvear-Perez R, Zizzari P, Epelbaum J, Bluet-Pajot MT, Llorens-Cortes C (2007) Cellular localization of apelin and its receptor in the anterior pituitary: evidence for a direct stimulatory action of apelin on ACTH release. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 292. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00521. 2005
- Li F, Li L, Qin X, Pan W, Feng F, Chen F et al (2008) Apelin-induced vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation: the regulation of cyclin D1. Front Biosci 13:3786–3792. https://doi.org/10.2741/2967
- Liu W, Yan J, Pan W, Tang M (2020) Apelin/Elabela-APJ: a novel therapeutic target in the cardiovascular system. Ann Transl Med 8:243–243. https://doi.org/10.21037/ atm.2020.02.07
- Luo X, Liu J, Zhou H, Chen L (2018) Apelin/APJ system: a critical regulator of vascular smooth muscle cell. J Cell Physiol 233:5180–5188. https://doi.org/10.1002/ jcp.26339
- Maguire JJ, Kleinz MJ, Pitkin SL, Davenport AP (2009) [Pyr1]apelin-13 identified as the predominant apelin isoform in the human heart: vasoactive mechanisms and inotropic action in disease. Hypertension 54:598–604. https://doi.org/10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.134619
- Maroto M, Bone RA, Kim Dale J (2012) Somitogenesis. Development 139:2453–2456. https://doi.org/10.1242/ dev.069310
- Masri B, Knibiehler B, Audigier Y, Lahlou H, Mazarguil H (2002) Apelin (65-77) activates extracellular signal-

regulated kinases via a PTX-sensitive G protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 290:539–545. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.2001.6230

- Masri B, Morin N, Cornu M, Knibiehler B, Audigier Y (2004) Apelin (65-77) activates p70 S6 kinase and is mitogenic for umbilical endothelial cells. FASEB J 18:1909–1911. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.04-1930fje
- Masri B, Knibiehler B, Audigier Y (2005) Apelin signalling: a promising pathway from cloning to pharmacology. Cell Signal 17:415–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cellsig.2004.09.018
- Matsumoto M, Hidaka K, Akiho H, Tada S, Okada M, Yamaguchi T (1996) Low stringency hybridization study of the dopamine D4 receptor revealed D4-like mRNA distribution of the orphan seventransmembrane receptor, APJ, in human brain. Neurosci Lett 219:119–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0304-3940(96)13198-0
- Medhurst AD, Jennings CA, Robbins MJ, Davis RP, Ellis C, Winborn KY et al (2003) Pharmacological and immunohistochemical characterization of the APJ receptor and its endogenous ligand apelin. J Neurochem 84:1162–1172. https://doi.org/10.1046/j. 1471-4159.2003.01587.x
- Mesmin C, Fenaille F, Becher F, Tabet JC, Ezan E (2011) Identification and characterization of apelin peptides in bovine colostrum and milk by liquid chromatographymass spectrometry. J Proteome Res 10:5222–5231. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr200725x
- Miura T, Luo Y, Khrebtukova I, Brandenberger R, Zhou D, Scott Thies R et al (2004) Monitoring early differentiation events in human embryonic stem cells by massively parallel signature sequencing and expressed sequence tag scan. Stem Cells Dev 13:694–715. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2004.13.694
- Mughal A, O'Rourke ST (2018) Vascular effects of apelin: mechanisms and therapeutic potential. Pharmacol Ther 190:139–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera. 2018.05.013
- Murza A, Sainsily X, Coquerel D, Côté J, Marx P, Besserer-Offroy É et al (2016) Discovery and structure-activity relationship of a bioactive fragment of ELABELA that modulates vascular and cardiac functions. J Med Chem 59:2962–2972. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01549
- Nebigil CG, Désaubry L (2019) The role of GPCR signaling in cardiac epithelial to mesenchymal transformation (EMT). Trends Cardiovasc Med 29:200–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcm.2018.08.007
- Norris ML, Pauli A, Gagnon JA, Lord ND, Rogers KW, Mosimann C et al (2017) Toddler signaling regulates mesodermal cell migration downstream of nodal signaling. elife 6. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.22626
- Novakov V, Sandhu GS, Dragomir-Daescu D, Klabusay M (2015) Apelinergic system in endothelial cells and its role in angiogenesis in myocardial ischemia. Vasc Pharmacol 76:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vph. 2015.08.005

- O'Carroll AM, Lolait SJ, Harris LE, Pope GR (2013) The apelin receptor APJ: journey from an orphan to a multifaceted regulator of homeostasis. J Endocrinol 219. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-13-0227
- O'Donnell LA, Agrawal A, Sabnekar P, Dichter MA, Lynch DR, Kolson DL (2007) Apelin, an endogenous neuronal peptide, protects hippocampal neurons against excitotoxic injury. J Neurochem 102:1905–1917. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159. 2007.04645.x
- O'Dowd BF, Heiber M, Chan A, Heng HHQ, Tsui LC, Kennedy JL et al (1993) A human gene that shows identity with the gene encoding the angiotensin receptor is located on chromosome 11. Gene 136:355–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(93)90495-O
- Ohta S, Suzuki K, Tachibana K, Tanaka H, Yamada G (2007) Development 122:2977–2986. https://doi.org/ 10.1242/dev.01907
- Pauli A, Norris ML, Valen E, Chew GL, Gagnon JA, Zimmerman S et al (2014a) Toddler: an embryonic signal that promotes cell movement via apelin receptors. Science (80-) 343:1248636–1248636. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1248636
- Pauli A, Norris ML, Valen E, Chew G-L, J a G, Zimmerman S et al (2014b) Toddler: an embryonic signal that promotes cell movement via Apelin receptors. Science 343:1248636. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.1248636
- Perjés Á, Kilpiö T, Ulvila J, Magga J, Alakoski T, Szabó Z et al (2016) Characterization of apela, a novel endogenous ligand of apelin receptor, in the adult heart. Basic Res Cardiol 111:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-015-0521-6
- Pitkin SL, Maguire JJ, Bonner TI, Davenport AP (2010) International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXIV. Apelin receptor nomenclature, distribution, pharmacology, and function. Pharmacol Rev 62:331–342. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.110.002949
- Pope GR, Roberts EM, Lolait SJ, O'Carroll AM (2012) Central and peripheral apelin receptor distribution in the mouse: species differences with rat. Peptides 33:139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2011. 12.005
- Read C, Nyimanu D, Williams TL, Huggins DJ, Sulentic P, Macrae RGC et al (2019) International union of basic and clinical pharmacology. CVII. Structure and pharmacology of the apelin receptor with a recommendation that elabela/toddler is a second endogenous peptide ligand. Pharmacol Rev 71:467–502. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.119.017533
- Reaux A, De Mota N, Skultetyova I, Lenkei Z, El Messari S, Gallatz K et al (2001) Physiological role of a novel neuropeptide, apelin, and its receptor in the rat brain. J Neurochem 77:1085–1096. https://doi.org/ 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00320.x
- Regard JB, Sato IT, Coughlin SR (2008) Anatomical profiling of G protein-coupled receptor expression. Cell 135:561–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008. 08.040

- Rehman B, Muzio MR (2019) Embryology, week 2–3 [Updated 2019 Sep 27]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island, 2020 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK546679/
- Ringström C, Nitert MD, Bennet H, Fex M, Valet P, Rehfeld JF et al (2010) Apelin is a novel islet peptide. Regul Pept 162:44–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. regpep.2010.03.005
- Roberts EM, Newson MJF, Pope GR, Landgraf R, Lolait SJ, O'Carroll AM (2009) Abnormal fluid homeostasis in apelin receptor knockout mice. J Endocrinol 202:453–462. https://doi.org/10.1677/JOE-09-0134
- Roberts EM, Pope GR, Newson MJF, Landgraf R, Lolait SJ, O'Carroll AM (2010) Stimulus-specific neuroendocrine responses to osmotic challenges in apelin receptor knockout mice. J Neuroendocrinol 22:301–308. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826. 2010.01968.x
- Różycka M, Kurowska P, Grzesiak M, Kotula-Balak M, Tworzydło W, Rame C et al (2018) Apelin and apelin receptor at different stages of corpus luteum development and effect of apelin on progesterone secretion and 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3β-HSD) in pigs. Anim Reprod Sci 192:251–260. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.anireprosci.2018.03.021
- Saint-Geniez M, Masri B, Malecaze F, Knibiehler B, Audigier Y (2002) Expression of the murine msr/apj receptor and its ligand apelin is upregulated during formation of the retinal vessels. Mech Dev 110:183–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(01)00558-5
- Scott IC, Masri B, D'Amico LA, Jin SW, Jungblut B, Wehman AM et al (2007) The G protein-coupled receptor Agtrl1b regulates early development of myocardial progenitors. Dev Cell 12:403–413. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2007.01.012
- Sharma B, Ho L, Ford GH, Chen HI, Goldstone AB, Woo YJ et al (2017) Alternative progenitor cells compensate to rebuild the coronary vasculature in Elabela- and Apj-deficient hearts. Dev Cell 42:655–666.e3. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2017.08.008
- Shin K, Kenward C, Rainey JK (2018) Apelinergic system structure and function. Compr Physiol 8:407–450. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c170028
- Stricker S, Rauschenberger V, Schambony A (2017) ROR-family receptor tyrosine kinases. Curr Top Dev Biol 123:105–142. Academic. https://doi.org/10.1016/ bs.ctdb.2016.09.003
- Taheri S, Murphy K, Cohen M, Sujkovic E, Kennedy A, Dhillo W et al (2002) The effects of centrally administered apelin-13 on food intake, water intake and pituitary hormone release in rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 291:1208–1212. https://doi. org/10.1006/bbrc.2002.6575
- Tam PPL, Parameswaran M, Kinder SJ, Weinberger RP (1997) The allocation of epiblast cells to the embryonic heart and other mesodermal lineages: the role of

ingression and tissue movement during gastrulation. Development 124:1631–1642

- Tatemoto K, Hosoya M, Habata Y, Fujii R, Kakegawa T, Zou MX et al (1998) Isolation and characterization of a novel endogenous peptide ligand for the human APJ receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 251:471–476. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1998.9489
- Tatemoto K, Takayama K, Zou MX, Kumaki I, Zhang W, Kumano K et al (2001) The novel peptide apelin lowers blood pressure via a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. Regul Pept 99:87–92. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0167-0115(01)00236-1
- Tissue expression of APLNR Summary The Human Protein Atlas (n.d.). https://www.proteinatlas.org/ ENSG00000134817-APLNR/tissue. Accessed 31 May 2020
- Uribesalgo I, Hoffmann D, Zhang Y, Kavirayani A, Lazovic J, Berta J et al (2019) Apelin inhibition prevents resistance and metastasis associated with anti-angiogenic therapy. EMBO Mol Med 11. https:// doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201809266
- Vodyanik MA, Yu J, Zhang X, Tian S, Stewart R, Thomson JA et al (2010) A mesoderm-derived precursor for mesenchymal stem and endothelial cells. Cell Stem Cell 7:718–729. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem. 2010.11.011
- Wang Z, Huang J (2019) Apela promotes cardiomyocyte differentiation from transgenic human embryonic stem cell lines. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 189:396–410. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-019-03012-2
- Wang G, Anini Y, Wei W, Qi X, O'Carroll AM, Mochizuki T et al (2004) Apelin, a new enteric peptide: localization in the gastrointestinal tract, ontogeny, and stimulation of gastric cell proliferation and of cholecystokinin secretion. Endocrinology 145:1342–1348. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2003-1116
- Wang INE, Wang X, Ge X, Anderson J, Ho M, Ashley E et al (2012) Apelin enhances directed cardiac differentiation of mouse and human embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 7:e38328. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0038328
- Wang Z, Yu D, Wang M, Wang Q, Kouznetsova J, Yang R et al (2015) Elabela-Apelin receptor signaling pathway is functional in mammalian systems. Sci Rep 5:8170. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep08170
- Wang L, Zhang Y, Qu H, Xu F, Hu H, Zhang Q et al (2019) Reduced ELABELA expression attenuates trophoblast invasion through the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway in early onset preeclampsia. Placenta 87:38–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2019.08.077
- Wei L, Hou X, Tatemoto K (2005) Regulation of apelin mRNA expression by insulin and glucocorticoids in mouse 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Regul Pept 132:27–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regpep.2005.08.003
- Winzell MS, Magnusson C, Ahrén B (2005) The apj receptor is expressed in pancreatic islets and its ligand,

apelin, inhibits insulin secretion in mice. Regul Pept 131:12–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regpep.2005.05. 004

- Wu MY, Hill CS (2009) TGF-β superfamily signaling in embryonic development and homeostasis. Dev Cell 16:329–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2009.02. 012
- Wu D, He L, Chen L (2014) Apelin/APJ system: a promising therapy target for hypertension. Mol Biol Rep 41:6691–6703. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-014-3552-4
- Xi Y, Yu D, Yang R, Zhao Q, Wang J, Zhang H et al (2019) Recombinant Fc-Elabela fusion protein has extended plasma half-life andmitigates post-infarct heart dysfunction in rats. Int J Cardiol 292:180–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.04.089
- Xie H, Yuan LQ, Luo XH, Huang J, Cui RR, Guo LJ et al (2007) Apelin suppresses apoptosis of human osteoblasts. Apoptosis 12:247–254. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10495-006-0489-7
- Xu J, Chen L, Jiang Z, Li L (2018) Biological functions of Elabela, a novel endogenous ligand of APJ receptor. J Cell Physiol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26492
- Yang H, Bednarek MA, Spurlock SM, Paavola KJ, Ko B, To C et al (2017) Apelin-36 modulates blood glucose and body weight independently of canonical APJ receptor signaling * Hadas Galon-Tilleman \$1. J Biol Chem 292:1925–1933. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M116.748103
- Yu QC, Hirst CE, Costa M, Ng ES, Schiesser JV, Gertow K et al (2012) Apelin promotes hematopoiesis from human embryonic stem cells. Blood 119:6243–6254. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-12-396093
- Zeng XXI, Wilm TP, Sepich DS, Solnica-Krezel L (2007) Apelin and its receptor control heart field formation during zebrafish gastrulation. Dev Cell 12:391–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2007.01.011
- Zhen EY, Higgs RE, Gutierrez JA (2013) Pyroglutamyl apelin-13 identified as the major apelin isoform in human plasma. Anal Biochem 442:1–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ab.2013.07.006
- Zhong JC, Yu XY, Huang Y, Yung LM, Lau CW, Lin SG (2007) Apelin modulates aortic vascular tone via endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation pathway in diabetic mice. Cardiovasc Res 74:388–395. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.cardiores.2007.02.002
- Zhou L, Sun H, Cheng R, Fan X, Lai S, Deng C (2019) ELABELA, as a potential diagnostic biomarker of preeclampsia, regulates abnormally shallow placentation via APJ. Am J Physiol Metab 316:E773–E781. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00383.2018
- Zou MX, Liu HY, Haraguchi Y, Soda Y, Tatemoto K, Hoshino H (2000) Apelin peptides block the entry of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). FEBS Lett 473:15–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(00) 01487-3

Adv Exp Med Biol - Cell Biology and Translational Medicine (2020) 10: 17–21 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2020_550 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 9 June 2020



Epidermal Stem Cells in Regenerative Medicine

Simona Martinotti, Katia Marconato, Gregorio Bonsignore, and Elia Ranzato

Abstract

Stem cells present in the epidermis, and hair follicle, guarantee the conservation of adult skin maintenance and hair renewal, but they also play a pivotal role in wound repair and tissue regeneration. Adult stem cells present in the epidermis are also responsible for epidermis different layers' regeneration.

We here summarize the epidermal stem cells information in term of their central features in stem cells niche, their signalling pathways and their maintenance, and activation.

Keywords

Regenerative medicine \cdot Stem cell \cdot Wound repair

Abbreviations

BMP-4	bone morphogenetic protein-4
CEA	cultured epithelial autografts

S. Martinotti and E. Ranzato (🖂)

University of Piemonte Orientale, DiSIT- Dipartimento di Scienze e Innovazione Tecnologica, Vercelli, Italy e-mail: elia.ranzato@uniupo.it

K. Marconato and G. Bonsignore

ECM	extra-cellular matrix
iPSCs	induced pluripotent stem cells
JEB	junctional epidermolysis bullosa
MCSP	chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan
SCID	Severe Combined Immunodeficiency
TACs	transient amplifying cells

1 Biology of the Skin

The skin is the large body organ as well as one of the most vital due to its pivotal role as a protecting structure beside numerous exterior agents and working also as a regulator of the body temperature (Kanitakis 2002).

Skin is constituted of three layers: hypodermis, the deepest one, dermis and the most superficial, the epidermis (Martinotti and Ranzato 2020). The most abundant cells present in the epidermis are the keratinocytes, while other cell types present are melanocytes, Merkel cells and Langerhans cells (Rognoni and Watt 2018).

The epidermis is normally constituted of some sheets that are classified agreeing to keratinocytes level and expression. Keratinocytes originate from stem cells present at basal level migrating from the lower layers as metabolic active cells and transforming into dead cells as they move towards the upper surface (Candi et al. 2005). On the contrary, the dermis structure derived from the extracellular matrix (ECM), formed by fibroblasts. In the dermis, there are also

University of Piemonte Orientale, DiSIT- Dipartimento di Scienze e Innovazione Tecnologica, Alessandria, Italy

University of Piemonte Orientale, DiSIT- Dipartimento di Scienze e Innovazione Tecnologica, Alessandria, Italy

endothelial cells of the vessels, nerve ending, hair follicles, and cells of the adipose tissue (Ranzato et al. 2013). The hypodermis is the deepest skin layer containing loose connective tissue, blood vessels, nerves and cells that stores fat.

2 Wound Repair Physiology

Wound repair is a well-orchestrated biological phenomenon occurring in all tissues and organs (Martinotti et al. 2012a). The ultimate aim of wound repair is to restore tissue integrity and homeostasis. The wound repair process encompasses a well-adjusted activity of epithelial cells and connective tissue as well as the involvement of vascular cells and inflammatory mediators. These mechanisms strongly require an ECM to assist the repair event. The process of wound repair is normally summarized as four, partially overlapping, parts: haemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and maturation (Martinotti et al. 2012b).

Tissue repair is a normal process occurring in all tissues, but in difficult conditions, such as different types of burns or during diabetes, this orchestrated event is not sufficient to allow real management.

The skin displays remarkable repair potential thanks to the existence of several stem cells types, present in the skin and its appendages. Some authors have already demonstrated that skin stem cells, localized in the lower epidermis layer as well as in the bulge of follicle hair, are vital sources of new cells for renewal and skin repair (Yang et al. 2019).

3 Epidermal Stem Cell and Wound Repair

Stem cell can be divided in two groups: somatic stem cells and embryonic stem cells. Embryonic stem cells derived from the inner cell mass of blastocyst. They are pluripotent, so with the potential to originate progeny cells of the three germ layers (i.e. endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm). Somatic stem cells are normally present in tissues or organs. These cells are typically multipotent but the majority of somatic stem cells are one-lineage limited.

In the idea to use potential regenerative abilities of embryonic stem cells, Guenou and co-workers (Guenou et al. 2009) demonstrated that human embryonic stem cells maintained in a medium with ascorbic acid and BMP4 (bone morphogenetic protein-4) could originate keratinocytes of the epidermal basal level, utilized to reconstitute epidermis.

The epidermis is a tissue that undergoes continuous renewal, considering keratinization and exfoliation as natural features of epidermis. This process relies on stem cells resident in the epidermis (Staniszewska et al. 2011).

Skin stem cells are somatic stem cells, but for the several types of skin cells have already been described (Shi et al. 2006).

Subgroups of skin stem cells are:

- *epidermal stem cells*, normally present in the lower layer of the epidermis. They can be divided into transient amplifying cells (TACs) and terminal-differentiated epidermal cells. Specific cell markers are CD71 and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan (MCSP) (Suzuki and Senoo 2012). TACs divide fast, and they differentiate after some cell division rounds (Hsu et al. 2014). The TAC, or cells that enter the transit stage, are able to generate some differentiated cells, also during wound repair and tissue repair process (Rangel-Huerta and Maldonado 2017).
- follicular stem cells. The bulge of the hair follicle is a source of keratinocytes and hair follicles cells. These stem cells are capable of regenerating a number of skin structures including the hair sebaceous glands and follicles (Cha and Falanga 2007). Specific cell markers are CD34, Lgf5, K15, Sox9 (Jaks et al. 2008).
- melanocyte stem cells. Melanocyte stem cells originate TACs and differentiated melanocytes (Lang et al. 2013).

In the past decade, important advancement has been made in the identification of stem cells/ progenitors markers for their isolation and enrichment (Barrandon and Green 1987). Through different cell culture approaches, we know that epidermal keratinocytes represent a heterogeneous population for their clonogenicity (Barrandon and Green 1987). In fact, it is possible to recognize different colonies types, and in particular three types such as holoclones, paraclones, and meroclones. These types originate from single keratinocytes due on their proliferative potential.

Holoclones possess the highest growth potential, as well as self-renewing capabilities, giving origin to both meroclones and paraclones (Senoo et al. 2007). Meroclones contain a transitional cell type considered as reservoir of TACs and paraclones (Staniszewska et al. 2011). The passage from holoclone to meroclone to paraclone is described as "clonal conversion" and is usually not reversible (Ojeh et al. 2015).

Despite works regarding the phenotypic features of skin stem cells, the specific control differentiation and proliferation activities are still not completely described. The "stem cell niches," i.e. the microenvironment of stem cells, are fundamental in controlling the propagation, differentiation and migration of stem cells (Spradling et al. 2001). Some signalling pathways are involved and among them Wnt (wingless/integrated) and Notch signalling pathways play a pivotal role for the stem cell "niches" (Kretzschmar and Clevers 2017).

When the skin is wounded, the stem cell niche varies in term of cytokines production, cell signalling involved, ECM alterations and other stimuli, resulting in the stimulation of the regulatory network, including Wnt and Notch signalling pathways in the wound tissue (Zhang et al. 2018).

Generally, more are the remaining skin stem cells on the tissue damaged area, the faster the healing speed, and the less the development of the scar. However, how and which signalling pathways modulate the differentiation and the growth of skin stem cells remain still unclear as well as their relationship with tissue restoration processes and scar development.

4 Skin Stem Cell for Epithelial Repair

In intact skin, keratinocytes do not move. They migrate only vertically in the epidermis, being passively pushed by cells growing at the *stratum basale* and gradually differentiating to keratinocytes.

In response to wound, stem cells represent an important reservoir for wound re-epithelialization. They exhibit lateral migration and cells migrate laterally to cover the wound surface (Staniszewska et al. 2011).

Some studies have already established the epidermal stem cells survival in *in vitro* cell culture system (Ojeh et al. 2015). Dunnwald and co-workers (2001) used *in vitro* cell culture approach to discriminate in mouse three groups of epidermal cells: stem cells, TACs, and not-proliferative basal cells. In fact, only the stem cell population, when seeded with dermal fibroblasts on a collagen type I gel, can induce the formation and maintenance of a normal epidermis for up to 6 months.

Further indications derived from *in vitro* keratinocyte layers use, also known as cultured epithelial autografts (CEA), resulting from skin. In the best conditions, keratinocytes obtained from a 3-cm^2 skin biopsy, are maintained in *in vitro* conditions to produce large, multi-layered CEA after few weeks (usually 3 or 4) in culture (Green et al. 1979).

Epidermal stem cells show the ability to renew epidermis, and they represent a suitable instrument for genetic manipulation, demonstrating a novel treatment option. The group of prof. De Luca utilized genetic modified keratinocytes from patients with junctional epidermolysis bullosa (JEB) on a SCID (Severe Combined Immunodeficiency) mouse model for efficient skin propagation and renewal (Mavilio et al. 2006). The same group showed also that cultures from autologous transgenic keratinocyte are able to regenerate a whole functional epidermis on a seven-year-old child JEB (Hirsch et al. 2017). In this work, the authors by clonal tracing demonstrated that the growth of epidermis is not maintained by equipotent progenitors, but it relies

on a limited number of long-lived stem cells, noticed as holoclones. These holoclones were *in vitro* and *in vivo* able to widely self-renew and to induce precursors that refill terminally differentiated keratinocytes.

5 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

Adult differentiated somatic cells (e.g., fibroblasts, skin keratinocytes, as well as other cells) can be organized to produce induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) with comparable features to embryonic stem cells (Aasen et al. 2008). The genetic reprogramming of adult somatic cells could be achieved using retroviral transduction of four transcription factors (c-Myc, Sox2, Klf4 and Oct-3/4) (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006).

iPSCs have already been utilized to produce a varied range of differentiated cell varieties including melanocytes and keratinocytes (Aguiar et al. 2016; Ohta et al. 2013).

Some results suggest the possible utilization in iPSC-based therapy of skin stem cells (Bilousova and Roop 2014; Dinella et al. 2014). These cells may be successfully incorporated into skin scaffolds to create all cell varieties, components, and skin appendages for the handling of longlasting wounds and other integumentary system disorders. However, notwithstanding experimental data supporting the positive effects of iPSCs, some safety issues are still unresolved, and they need to be addressed before any large use in a clinical setting. These unresolved issues comprise inefficient cell re-programming, related tumour risk expansion through retroviral vectors utilization, genetic instability, epigenetic memory taken from parent cells, and potential immunogenicity (Okano et al. 2013). However, iPSCs utilization overcomes any ethical and moral issues related to the manipulation of embryonic stem cells.

6 Conclusions

The research strongly needs to elucidate the biology and possible application of skin adult stem cells, to dissect related cellular pathways, and associated extracellular matrix constituents, in order to re-establish troubled skin homeostasis, thus helping in the future progress of more effective therapeutic approaches. Moreover, other basic knowledge as well as clinical trials are essential to promote iPSC-based therapy longterm effects and to offer safer and more effective opportunities for upcoming clinical uses.

References

- Aasen T, Raya A, Barrero MJ, Garreta E, Consiglio A, Gonzalez F, Vassena R, Bilić J, Pekarik V, Tiscornia G, Edel M, Boué S, Izpisúa Belmonte JC (2008) Efficient and rapid generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human keratinocytes. Nat Biotechnol 26:1276–1284
- Aguiar C, Therrien J, Lemire P, Segura M, Smith LC, Theoret CL (2016) Differentiation of equine induced pluripotent stem cells into a keratinocyte lineage. Equine Vet J 48:338–345
- Barrandon Y, Green H (1987) Three clonal types of keratinocyte with different capacities for multiplication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84:2302–2306
- Bilousova G, Roop DR (2014) Induced pluripotent stem cells in dermatology: potentials, advances, and limitations. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 4:a015164
- Candi E, Schmidt R, Melino G (2005) The cornified envelope: a model of cell death in the skin. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:328–340
- Cha J, Falanga V (2007) Stem cells in cutaneous wound healing. Clin Dermatol 25:73–78
- Dinella J, Koster MI, Koch PJ (2014) Use of induced pluripotent stem cells in dermatological research. J Invest Dermatol 134:1–5
- Dunnwald M, Tomanek-Chalkley A, Alexandrunas D, Fishbaugh J, Bickenbach JR (2001) Isolating a pure population of epidermal stem cells for use in tissue engineering. Exp Dermatol 10:45–54
- Green H, Kehinde O, Thomas J (1979) Growth of cultured human epidermal cells into multiple epithelia suitable for grafting. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 76:5665–5668
- Guenou H, Nissan X, Larcher F, Feteira J, Lemaitre G, Saidani M, Del Rio M, Barrault CC, Bernard FX, Peschanski M, Baldeschi C, Waksman G (2009) Human embryonic stem-cell derivatives for full reconstruction of the pluristratified epidermis: a preclinical study. Lancet 374:1745–1753
- Hirsch T, Rothoeft T, Teig N, Bauer JW, Pellegrini G, De Rosa L, Scaglione D, Reichelt J, Klausegger A, Kneisz D, Romano O, Secone Seconetti A, Contin R, Enzo E, Jurman I, Carulli S, Jacobsen F, Luecke T, Lehnhardt M, Fischer M, Kueckelhaus M, Quaglino D, Morgante M, Bicciato S, Bondanza S, De Luca M

(2017) Regeneration of the entire human epidermis using transgenic stem cells. Nature 551:327–332

- Hsu YC, Li L, Fuchs E (2014) Transit-amplifying cells orchestrate stem cell activity and tissue regeneration. Cell 157:935–949
- Jaks V, Barker N, Kasper M, van Es JH, Snippert HJ, Clevers H, Toftgård R (2008) Lgr5 marks cycling, yet long-lived, hair follicle stem cells. Nat Genet 40:1291–1299
- Kanitakis J (2002) Anatomy, histology and immunohistochemistry of normal human skin. Eur J Dermatol 12:390–399; quiz 400-1
- Kretzschmar K, Clevers H (2017) Wnt/β-catenin signaling in adult mammalian epithelial stem cells. Dev Biol 428:273–282
- Lang D, Mascarenhas JB, Shea CR (2013) Melanocytes, melanocyte stem cells, and melanoma stem cells. Clin Dermatol 31:166–178
- Martinotti S, Ranzato E (2020) Scratch wound healing assay. Methods Mol Biol 2109:225–229
- Martinotti S, Burlando B, Ranzato E (2012a) Role of extracellular matrix in wound repair process. In: Henriques ME, a. M. P. (eds) Type I collagen: biological functions, synthesis and medicinal applications process. Nova Publishers Inc., Hauppauge/New York, pp 167–174
- Martinotti S, Burlando B, Ranzato E (2012b) Role of extracellular matrix in wound repair process. In: Henriques ME, Pinto M (eds) Type I collagen: biological functions, synthesis and medicinal applications process. Nova Publishers Inc., Hauppauge/New York, pp 167–174
- Mavilio F, Pellegrini G, Ferrari S, Di Nunzio F, Di Iorio E, Recchia A, Maruggi G, Ferrari G, Provasi E, Bonini C, Capurro S, Conti A, Magnoni C, Giannetti A, De Luca M (2006) Correction of junctional epidermolysis bullosa by transplantation of genetically modified epidermal stem cells. Nat Med 12:1397–1402
- Ohta S, Imaizumi Y, Akamatsu W, Okano H, Kawakami Y (2013) Generation of human melanocytes from induced pluripotent stem cells. Methods Mol Biol 989:193–215

- Ojeh N, Pastar I, Tomic-Canic M, Stojadinovic O (2015) Stem cells in skin regeneration, wound healing, and their clinical applications. Int J Mol Sci 16:25476–25501
- Okano H, Nakamura M, Yoshida K, Okada Y, Tsuji O, Nori S, Ikeda E, Yamanaka S, Miura K (2013) Steps toward safe cell therapy using induced pluripotent stem cells. Circ Res 112:523–533
- Rangel-Huerta E, Maldonado E (2017) Transit-amplifying cells in the fast lane from stem cells towards differentiation. Stem Cells Int 2017:7602951
- Ranzato E, Martinotti S, Burlando B (2013) Honey exposure stimulates wound repair of human dermal fibroblasts. Burns Trauma 1:32–38
- Rognoni E, Watt FM (2018) Skin cell heterogeneity in development, wound healing, and cancer. Trends Cell Biol 28:709–722
- Senoo M, Pinto F, Crum CP, McKeon F (2007) p63 is essential for the proliferative potential of stem cells in stratified epithelia. Cell 129:523–536
- Shi C, Zhu Y, Su Y, Cheng T (2006) Stem cells and their applications in skin-cell therapy. Trends Biotechnol 24:48–52
- Spradling A, Drummond-Barbosa D, Kai T (2001) Stem cells find their niche. Nature 414:98–104
- Staniszewska M, Słuczanowska-Głąbowska S, Drukała J (2011) Stem cells and skin regeneration. Folia Histochem Cytobiol 49:375–380
- Suzuki D, Senoo M (2012) Increased p63 phosphorylation marks early transition of epidermal stem cells to progenitors. J Invest Dermatol 132:2461–2464
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663–676
- Yang R, Liu F, Wang J, Chen X, Xie J, Xiong K (2019) Epidermal stem cells in wound healing and their clinical applications. Stem Cell Res Ther 10:229
- Zhang H, Nie X, Shi X, Zhao J, Chen Y, Yao Q, Sun C, Yang J (2018) Regulatory mechanisms of the Wnt/β-catenin pathway in diabetic cutaneous ulcers. Front Pharmacol 9:1114



The Cellular and Molecular Patterns Involved in the Neural Differentiation of Adipose-Derived Stem Cells

Aida Selaru, Sorina Dinescu, and Marieta Costache

Abstract

Injuries to the nervous system cause serious problems among affected patients bv preventing them from the possibility of living a normal life. As this tissue possesses a reduced capacity of self-regeneration currently, lots of different strategies are being developed in order to make the regeneration in the nervous system possible. Among them, tissue engineering and stem cell-based therapies are to date very exploded fields and tremendous progress has been made in this direction. As the two main components of the nervous system, react differently to injuries and behave different during disease, it is clear that two separate regeneration approaches have been taken into consideration during development of treatment. Special attention is constantly given to the potential of adiposederived stem cells for this kind of application. Due to the fact that they present remarkable

A. Selaru

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

S. Dinescu (🖂) and M. Costache

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania

Research Institute of the University of Bucharest, Bucharest, Romania e-mail: sorina.dinescu@bio.unibuc.ro properties, they can easily be obtained and have demonstrated that are capable of engaging in neural and glial lineages, adipose-derived stem cells are promising tools for the field of nervous system regeneration. Moreover, new insights into epigenetic control and modifications during the differentiation of adipose-derived stem cells towards the neural liege could provide new methods to maximize the regeneration process. In this review, we summarize the current applications of adipose-derived stem cells for neural regeneration and discuss in-depth molecular patterns involved in the differentiation of adipose-derived stem cells in neuron-like cells and Schwann-like cells.

Keywords

Adipose-derived stem cells · Brain injuries · Epigenetic control · Nerve trauma · Neuron*like* cells · Regeneration · Schwann cell

Abbreviations

3' UTR	3' untranslated regions
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ASCs	adipose-derived stem cells
ATF3	activating transcription factor 3
BDNF	brain-derived neurotrophic factor
b-FGF	basic fibroblastic growth factor

Victor Babes National Institute of Pathology, Bucharest, Romania

Ca	calcium
cAMP	cyclic-adenosine-monophosphate
CGRP	calcitonin gene-related peptide
CNS	central nervous system
CNTF	ciliary neurotrophic factor
CREB	cAMP responsive element binding
	protein
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DRG	dorsal root ganglia
Dsh	Disheveled
EGF	epidermal growth factor
Egr2/	early growth response 2 gene
Krox20	
EMC	extracellular matrix
ESCs	embryonic stem cells
GAP-43	growth cone associated proteins
GDNF	glial-derived neurotrophic factor
GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein
HATs	histone acetyltransferases
HD	Huntington's disease
HDASCs	histone deacetylases
HGF	hepatic growth factor
IL-10	interleukin 10
IL-1α	interleukin 1 alpha
IL-6	interleukin 6
iPSCs	induced pluripotent stem cells
Lef1/Tcf	lymphocyte enhancer-binding fac-
	tor/T cell factor
lncRNA	long non-coding RNAs
MAG	myelin-associated glycoproteins
MAP 2	microtubule-associated protein 2
miRNA	microRNAs
mRNA	messenger RNA
NF-ĸB	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-
	enhancer of activated B cells
NGF	nerve growth factor
nm	nanometer
NSCs	neural stem cells
PD	Parkinson's disease
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PGE2	prostaglandin E2
PI-3 K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
РКА	protein kinase A
PKB	protein kinase B
PNS	peripheral nervous system
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain
	reaction

RA	retinoic acid
RISC	RNA-induced Silencing Complex
RNA	ribonucleic acid
SCs	Schwann cells
STAT3	activator of transcription
TE	Tissue engineering
TGF-β	transforming growth factor beta
TGS-6	tumor necrosis factor-inducible gene
	6 protein
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor alpha
TrkB	tropomyosin receptor kinase B
Tuj-1	neuron-specific class III beta-tubulin
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
Wnt	Wingless-related integration site

1 Introduction

The central nervous system (CNS) is most likely to be the most complex organ in the human body. Injuries, such as traumatic brain injury and spinal cord injury, are known to lead to unpaired functioning of motor and cognitive behaviors. Lately, lots of efforts have been made in order to determine new methods that will help with such major injuries of the CNS. These efforts have two approaches: on one hand, to enhance neuroprotection via preventing further cell damage and axonal degeneration and on the other hand, to ensure neuronal regeneration trough establishing cell plasticity and axonal outgrowth (Shoichet et al. 2008). In contrast to the CNS that possesses a very low regenerative capacity, the renewal of damaged nerves in the peripheral nervous system (PNS) is most likely to occur by itself if the injury is not invasive (Huebner and Strittmatter 2009). In case of a serious injury to the peripheral nerves, the brain loses the ability to control several muscles in the body, therefore the patient suffers from loss in motor or sensory functions (Rosen et al. 2016). This kind of trauma represents a global clinical problem that affects the quality of patients' lives by causing a socioeconomic burden (Gu et al. 2014). To overcome the slow regeneration process of peripheral nerves and to guarantee a full recovery, lots of strategies

- 2.

have been lately proposed. Among them, autologous grafting is widely used although it has considering disadvantages, for instance, insufficient donors, incompatibility between donors, immune system issues or the possibility of sacrificing a healthy functioning nerve. Since this procedure does not deliver the expected result in the setting of peripheral nerve trauma (Kubiak et al. 2018), new and modern biological approaches are developed in order to overcome this challenge. Thus, tissue engineering (TE) combined with stem cell therapy holds a great promise in stimulating peripheral nerve regeneration.

Stem cells have emerged as a useful tool for regenerative medicine and TE applications more than a decade ago. Due to their outstanding characteristics, they are still widely used by researchers in the hope of finding the optimal treatment method for several severe diseases. The most preferred type of stem cells which are often chosen for different studies, are the embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or the induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs). Even if these stem cells can turn towards any desired lineage, they come with some disadvantages: ESCs, for instance, raise ethical issues, whereas iPSCs are genetically modified cells that can easily turn towards unwanted cell types, such as progressive cancer cells. Therefore, more and more experimental studies that involve the use of stem cells are realized with the help of adult mesenchymal stem cells. They have the potential to differentiate towards multiple lineages, such as osteogenic, adipogenic and chondrogenic lineages (Ignat et al. 2019). These cells can be found in several accessible places of the body such as the bone marrow or the adipose tissue. Thus, adiposederived stem cells (ASCs) can be easily obtained minimum invasive methods, isolated by (Galateanu et al. 2012; Dinescu et al. 2013) and further expanded in culture. They also have proven to be effective in the differentiation towards non-mesodermal lineages, such as the ectoderm. Jahan-Abad et al. succeeded in obtaining neurospheres from ASCs after 6 days of specific induction. The expression of specific neural markers was detected in the obtained neurospheres (Jahan-Abad et al. 2017). Hence, ASCs together with an engineered biomaterial could be a solution towards the regeneration after crush or disease in the setting of nervous system injuries.

Epigenetic investigations and analyzes are a hot topic and currently, researchers are looking into the epigenetic dynamics in each matter they are interested in. Among them, DNA methylation, histone acetylation, and non-coding RNAs are the most studied and addressed. According to recent research (Wahane et al. 2019), it was shown that transcription factors that have the capacity to enhance a regeneration process may have to interact with chromatin regulators in order to be active in this function. A better understanding of the molecular functioning of the epigenetic processes during the differentiation of ASCs towards neuron-like cells may lead to finding new methods that could promote fully functional recovery after traumatic injuries in the nervous system.

2 Injuries to the Nervous System – The Cellular Response

During embryonic development, neural stem cells (NSCs) within the neural plate and the neural tube proliferate rapidly and give birth first to neurons and then to astrocytes and oligodendrocytes in the CNS. When the last stage of this process is completed, NSCs form a niche in specific brain areas (the subventricular zone of the lateral ventricles and the dentate gyrus in the hippocampus) where they remain dormant. In this way, these cells serve as a reservoir of fully available cells for replacement and regeneration purposes during lifetime (Andreotti et al. 2019). The PNS, on the other hand, will be generated by a subpopulation of cells, known as the neural crest cells which originate from the dorsal part of the neural tube. These cells will further engage in the formation of sensory neurons, satellite cells and Schwann Cells (SCs), among others. Motor neurons in the PNS will be raised as a result of the ventral polarization of the neural tube (Catala and Kubis 2013).

2.1 The Peripheral Nervous System Damage

Once an injury to the peripheral nerve has occurred, two axonal regions are to be observed: the proximal stump (which remains attached to the neuronal body) and the distal stump (Kubiak et al. 2018). Following injury, the neuronal body receives a series of action potentials that open the calcium channels. Therefore, Ca²⁺ ions can freely circulate in the injured axon. These events will lead to the initiation of signaling cascades that will influence the processes of protein synthesis to ensure neuron survival (Brushart 2011). As a consequence, the neuron will change his function from neurotransmission back to its growth and development stage. In this time, the neuron body controls the formation of growth cones at the end of the proximal axon stump, which further guides the axon back to the target tissue. In this stage of injury, the neuron produces massive quantities of neurotrophins (brain-derived neurotrophic factor -BDNF, glial-derived neurotrophic factor -GDNF), growth cone associated proteins (GAP-43) and neuropeptides (calcitonin generelated peptide - CGRP) (Zochodne 2000; Caillaud et al. 2019) and represses the production of neurofilament synthesis and neurotransmitter release (Fu and Gordon 1997; Caillaud et al. 2019). During this, the main glial cell in the PNS, namely the SCs, together with macrophages, will clear up all myelin debris, as these can inhibit axonal regrowth. Next, SCs will dedifferentiate to a proliferative phenotype, migrate and build up the Bands of Brügner, which will serve as support and guidance for the proximal stump of the injured axon. After approximately 4 weeks the maturation of the regenerated axons occurs, which resides in axon myelination ensured by SCs and further muscle re-innervation (Caillaud et al. 2019). If the regeneration was successful, after 3 months the nerve fibers should appear normal and the body should regain its lost functions. Even so, not in all cases, the recovery is complete. When the injury is too deep and the nerve gap too large, the nerve does not have the capacity to regenerate on its own. In this case, the process would take

more than 3 months and a full recovery is not guaranteed. Therefore, autologous grafting, cellbased therapies, and TE strategies are currently being developed in order to enhance slow regeneration during serious trauma in the PNS.

2.2 The Central Nervous System Damage

In the CNS, the regeneration does not occur like in the PNS due to the fact that the cells surrounding axons are different and respond distinctively in case of injuries. Whereas SCs in the PNS immediately react after an injury and start cleaning up axonal and myelin debris, the oligodendrocytes in the CNS do not have this capacity. As soon as the oligodendrocytes loose axon-contact they undergo programmed cell death, therefore the clearance of debris is poor. Thus, myelin remains among injured axons and inhibits any regeneration possibilities. This is one of the important factors that leads to regeneration failure in the CNS (Gordon 2016). Up to date, a huge challenge for researches remains the neuronal degeneration which leads to serious neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's disease (PD), Alzheimer's disease (AD), and Huntington's disease (HD). Lots of cell-based therapies are now under research in order to find out which could be a better approach in order to restore damaged neurons. Among them, ASCs have gained serious research interest as they are potentially capable of differentiation towards neural lineages.

3 Adipose-Derived Stem Cells: A Promise for Nervous Tissue Engineering

ASCs are a class of adult mesenchymal stem cells found in fatty tissues all over a persons' body. Even though their differentiation capacity is not as complex as the one of ESCs or iPSCs, ASCs presented exceptional results when they were differentiated towards non-mesodermal lineages (Ferroni et al. 2012; Frese et al. 2016).

As mentioned before, the brain is equipped with a pool of available NSCs which will become active in case of injuries to help with the regeneration processes. Unfortunately, these cells are most likely to be insufficient in case of serious traumas or major neurodegenerative diseases. For this reason, other cell sources are investigated in order to overcome one of the biggest challenges science is facing: the full regeneration of the nervous system. In case of nerve damage in the PNS, all cells surrounding the nerve have to ensure the survival of the neuronal body and at the same time the regrowth of the affected axons back to its' target tissue. Therefore, as the CNS and PNS present such big differences in response to injuries, different approaches have to be considered when regeneration strategies are set up.

The biggest issue in terms of traumas are the degenerative diseases and the incapacity of the affected nervous tissue to self-regenerate. Therefore, many researchers focus on trying to find an external appropriate cell source (e.g. iPSCs, ASCs) that would overcome this impediment and regenerate the nervous tissue. As for the damaged nerves in the PNS, the proposed strategy is to ensure the neuron survival, through axonal regrowth.

3.1 Differentiation of Neurons from Adipose-Derived Stem Cells

Under specific conditions, ASCs have effectively proven that they have the potential to differentiate into neuron-like cells (Fig. 2). All kinds of protocols have been established to induce neuron differentiation of ASCs in vitro. The workflow of this procedure starts with isolating ASCs from fatty tissue obtained after liposuction and expanding them in culture. Later, the cells are treated with a specific cocktail of induction containing various growth factors that are known to stimulate differentiation. Chemical and growth factors that are known to induce engagement towards the neural lineage in ASCs are all-trans retinoic acid, some commercially available supplements, such as, supplement B27, supplement N2 and growth factors, like basic fibroblastic growth factor (b-FGF), nerve growth

factor (NGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF) and neurotrophin 3 (Gao et al. 2019; Khademizadeh et al. 2019). Usually after this step, neurospheres are obtained, containing neural progenitor cells, which morphologically resemble neurons.

This, however, is not enough to prove the generation of neuron-like cells, as it has been reported that morphological changes may appear due to cell reduction and not to neural differentiation (Neuhuber et al. 2004; Bertani et al. 2005). Thus, the validation of neural marker expression by the differentiated cells is required. Markers such as vimentin and nestin have been detected also in undifferentiated ASCs (Jang et al. 2010), but once the engagement towards the neural lineage occurred, their expression decreased (Cardozo et al. 2012). Markers such as neuronspecific class III beta-tubulin (Tuj-1) and microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP 2) are proof of a more advanced stage of neural differentiation (Cardozo et al. 2012). The last step in this process would be to finally state that the obtained cells are also functional, by assessment of neurotransmitter expression and electrophysiological analysis (Addae et al. 2012). So far, there are no reports that suggest the generation of fully functional neurons from ASCs but taking into consideration all the advances in the last decade, the great potential of ASCs is still not completely explored. Nowadays, the idea of transplantation of ASCs derived-neurospheres is explored continuously and seems to have great potential for future therapies in the setting of neurological disorders (Peng et al. 2019).

3.1.1 The Effect of Neurotrophins Secreted by Adipose-Derived Stem Cells

In neural tissue engineering the differentiation of ASCs is the one of the mechanisms believed to enhance repair in the damaged tissues. Several studies state that ASCs actually use their own paracrine machinery to enhance neural differentiation through the secretion of neurotrophic factors (Wei et al. 2009). In their native, undifferentiated state, ASCs can secrete tropic factors (Fig. 1) that have important roles in stimulating regeneration and controlling muscle atrophy (Santiago et al. 2009). Several studies indicated



Fig. 1 The dual effect of ASCs derived growth factors and molecules during peripheral nerve regeneration. The anti-inflammatory effect of ASCs (left) relies in the secretion of TSG-6 and PGE-2 which act on macrophages. TSG-6 blocks the translocation of nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) to the nucleus, event which will decrease the secretion of pro-inflammatory factors such as interleukin 1 alpha (IL-1 α) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α). PGE-2 binds to EP2 and EP4 receptors on macrophages and

the expression of factors BDNF, neurotrophin-4 and ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) in ASCs, which are responsible for ensuring neuroprotection (Razavi et al. 2013, Moon et al. 2014). Moreover, during nerve injuries or degenerative diseases, apoptosis of neurons has to be prevented, representing an important step in tissue regeneration (Ekshyyan and Aw, 2004). Thus, ASCs have also been found to secret a series of factors that help prevent cellular death, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), transforming growth factor β (TGF- β)

determine phenotypic changes which will lead to interleukin 10 (IL-10) secretion. The neuroprotective role of ASCs (right) is established by secretion of a large pale of neurotrophies. BDNF molecules bind to tropomyosin receptor kinase B (TrkB) membrane receptor and triggering phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI-3 K) signaling which is involved in ensuring neuronal survival. Similarly, other growth factors generate an anti-apoptotic microenvironment. (Figure created in BioRender.com)

and hepatic growth factor (HGF) (Rehman et al. 2004) which can establish a proper anti-apoptotic microenvironment. At this point it has to be mentioned that the glial cells of the two main components of the nervous system play different roles during traumatic events. In the CNS, the proliferation and activation of microglia results in neurodegeneration progress during traumatic brain injuries. Studies also proved that ASCs possess the capability of maintaining the microglia in their resting phase, therefore slowing down the degenerative events. Whereas in the

PNS such a cell type does not exist and all cell types fight for neuronal survival and axonal outgrowth during injuries (Jha et al. 2018).

3.1.2 Adipose-Derived Stem Cells Effect upon Inflammatory Microenvironment Regulation

Following an injury, the first response of the body is the inflammation process. In contrast to the CNS, where the regeneration rarely occurs, the PNS has the capacity of self-repair mostly due to macrophages, key cells in the regeneration process of peripheral nervous tissue (Liu et al. 2019). ASCs ability to govern the inflammatory events has been demonstrated in a different model, among them bowel inflammatory disease (Dave and Cominelli 2017), graft-versus-host disease (Zhang and Rosen 2018) and tissue regeneration (Zhang and Rosen 2018). Lately, it has been taken into consideration that native ASCs could also exhibit similar effects in case of sciatic nerve injuries (Marconi et al. 2013). In this case, ASCs at the injury site (Fig. 1) present the ability (1) to improve the microenvironment for neural regeneration by boosting anti-inflammatory factors (Bowles et al. 2017), (2) to prevent neural cell apoptosis (Marycz et al. 2017) and (3) to secrete a series of immunoregulatory factors such as tumor necrosis factor-inducible gene 6 protein (TGS-6) (Zhu et al. 2019) and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (Cui et al. 2007). Therefore, the evidence that ASCs could regulate the inflammatory response and differentiate to neural cell types is increasing, making these cells a perfect candidate for neural tissue engineering.

3.2 Differentiation of Neuroglia from Adipose-Derived Stem Cells

A complex development of many different types of glial cells, such as astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, SCs occurs during embryogenesis and adulthood. These processes are all known under the term gliogenesis. Glial cells in the CNS are responsible for the formation and maintenance of the bloodbrain barrier and axon myelination, whereas SCs in the PNS ensure axon protection via myelination, segregate axons into bundles and clean axon debris in case of injuries. All of these cells have impressive roles throughout a lifetime, therefore any dysregulation or injuries that may appear can cause serious disturbance and wrong functioning. Due to the fact that there is no secure source of such cells in case of significant loss, researchers have developed a large pool of protocols in order to obtain glial cells from adult stem cells. Among them, ASCs were shown to present the capacity to generate glial-*like* cells, observation that opened up a whole new field of research.

3.2.1 Differentiation Towards PNS Main Glial Cell – The Schwann Cell

The SCs are the first cells to react in the setting of peripheral nerve injuries. These cells are responsible for supporting and ensuring axonal regeneration and remyelination. The first stage which occurs after an injury is known as the Wallerian when SCs degeneration, together with macrophages clean up axonal remains and myelin debris (Caillaud et al. 2019). This step is critical and needs to happen fast because the remaining myelin can inhibit the elongation of the injured axons. In the regeneration phase, these cells will start to secrete adhesion molecules, cytokines, and neurotrophic factors in order to create a permissive microenvironment for axonal regeneration (Jessen et al. 2015). All these events need to happen as quickly and as accurately as possible so that the axon can reach its target tissue and reinnervate the muscle. As stated before, the process of peripheral nerve regeneration is very slow. Therefore, recent cell-based strategies encourage the use of autologous SCs to enhance the regeneration (Levi et al. 2016). Even so, a big disadvantage comes with this approach, namely that a healthy nerve has to be harvested (Flores and Wang 2018) in order to obtain autologous SCs form the patient. This could further cause other complications in a patients' body. Thus, the use of ASCs has lately proven to be effective in the case of axonal outgrowth and myelination.

As far as *in vitro* studies show, numerous experiments have been carried out to prove the



Fig. 2 Differentiation potential of ASCs towards cell types in the CNS and PNS under specific conditions. (Figure created in BioRender.com)

effective differentiation of ASCs to SCs-like (Fig. 2). Even though the obtained cells are more likely not fully functional SCs, they have proven excellent behavior for neurites outgrowth and myelination. Upon induction with complex factors such as b-FGF, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF-AA/PDGF-BB), forskolin. neuregulin-1 and β -mercaptoethanol ASCs change their phenotype and partially their function into SCs-like cells. These factors have a role in mimicking the native environment of SCs. Therefore, ASCs undergo complex cellular and molecular changes so that in the end they gain SCs proprieties. Such a differentiation protocol was developed by Kingham et al. which then leads to obtaining SCs-like cells after 2 weeks of induction (Kingham et al. 2007). Xie et al. obtained differentiated human ASCs that

presented unexpected morphological and functional resemblance to the genuine SCs. They're obtained SCs-like cells expressed glial markers such as \$100 and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (Xie et al. 2017). When put in co-culture with dorsal root ganglia (DRG) neurons (Xie et al. 2017) or with motor neurons from NG108-15 cell line (Kingham et al. 2007) SCs-like cells expressed neurotrophic factors NGF, BDNF, and GDNF and ensured neurite growth and axonal myelination. Therefore, it is important to co-culture SCs-like cells with neurons in order to validate their functionality. Other approaches suggest an indirect co-culture system between ASCs and SCs, leading to the differentiation of ASCs into SCs-like cells. Wei et al. developed a Millicell system in which ASCs became SCs-like cells and expressed typical glial markers S100, GFAP and P75^{NTR}, demonstrating that the necessary environment can also be induced by the simple presence of native SCs (Wei et al. 2010). Besides this, it has been proven that SCs-*like* cells could also be obtained from neurospheres, which formed upon induction with specific culture media and a cocktail of growth factors (Radtke et al. 2009).

Observing the success of obtaining SC-like cells in vitro, researchers tested their theory and further made several efforts to prove that ASCs could also be as effective in vivo. Sun et al. engaged in a complex study where they used five different groups to bridge the sciatic defect for a period of 12 weeks: the hallowed group, which received a 10 nm long biodegradable chitin conduit, the group which received undifferentiated ASCs, the third which had pre-differentiated ASCs for 10 days, the forth pre-differentiated ASCs for 7 days and the last group received an autologous nerve graft. After performing several complex assessments, they concluded that the intermediate induction of ASCs has proven to be more effective for nerve regeneration in vivo than the traditional methods (Sun et al. 2018). On the other hand, Orbay et al. demonstrated that differentiated ASCs, as well as undifferentiated ASCs, could equally support nerve gap regeneration in the case of peripheral trauma (Orbay et al. 2011). Together these studies support the use of ASCs for further clinical trials in the setting of nerve regeneration and peripheral nerve trauma.

3.2.2 Differentiation Towards CNS Main Glial Cell – The Astrocyte

Astrocytes represent the largest portion of glial cells in the CNS. These complex cell types have various roles in the correct functioning of the brain. They are the first to react in case of injuries, ensure neuron nutrition, serve as a guide for NSCs in the process of migration, are a major component in the blood-brain barrier and are involved in ion transport and metabolic functions (Siracusa et al. 2019). The reduced capacity of regeneration in the CNS comes also from the fact that astrocytes themselves are difficult to regenerate, due to the low availability in NSCs. When injuries to the

CNS occur, not only the neurons are affected, but also astrocytes, which serve as the main support for neurons. Therefore, these cell types have also to be taken into consideration in the setting of brain trauma. Current treatment methods suggest the use of cell transplantation, namely NSCs. Considering that the supply of these cells is very low and also impossible to obtain, recent advances propose the chemical induction of ASCs in order to obtain at first ASCs-derived neural stem/progenitor cells and then later on ASCs-derived astrocytes (Fig. 2) (Yuan et al. 2016).

This field is still not as explored as in the case of the PNS, due to major obstacles that have not been yet resolved, among them long induction time and low rate of survival (Ou et al. 2011). Even though ASCs-derived astrocytes presented typical electrophysiological characteristics as well as normal membrane potential and ultrastructure (Ou et al. 2011), the stress which the cells undergo during the differentiation is tremendous, leading some of them to apoptosis, as the autophagy fails to clear up all the damaged mitochondria (Yuan et al. 2016). As the role of autophagy in the differentiation of ASCs to astrocytes is still unclear, there is no stable explanation of these events happening in this manner. It may seem that the addition of an autophagy agonist could increase the intensity of the process and help with the differentiation efficiency (Sun et al. 2014), but still more research has to be carried out in order to obtain significant quantities of astrocytes, enough to be used in clinical trials.

4 Signaling Pathways Involved in the Neural Differentiation of ASCs

Together with all the factors that modulate this differentiation process, some signaling pathways play a major role in the generation of neuron-*like* cells form ASCs. Lately, lots of pathways were found to be implicated in this biological event, among them Wingless-related integration site (Wnt), Notch and cyclic-adenosine-monophosphate (cAMP) signaling pathways.
4.1 Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway

Wnt molecules are highly conserved glycoproteins which play important functions in a pale of cellular processes such as adhesion, proliferation, and differentiation (Visweswaran et al. 2015). The Wnt ligands which take part in this signaling cascade are hydrophobic proteins rich in cysteine and they bind to the frizzled receptor found cellular membrane, an event that initiates the signaling pathway (He et al. 2018). The signal is then further transmitted to intercellular proteins, Disheveled (Dsh), axin and β -catenin. Next, β -catenin is translocated to the nucleus where it forms a complex with lymphocyte enhancer-binding factor/T cell factor (Lef1/ Tcf) which will cause the Sox family to induce expression of target genes (MacDonald et al. 2009). This pathway is not only important in the development of adult stem cells but also in the differentiation and proliferation of neural progenitor cells (Etheridge et al. 2004). For example, Wnt5a ligand was found to have activated neural differentiation in ASCs by binding to Frz3 and Frz 5 and directing axin/GSK-3b (Jang et al. 2015).

4.2 Notch Signaling Pathway

The Notch signaling pathways are activated when the transmembrane ligands (Jagged 1 and 2; Delta-like 1, 3 and 4) bind to the Notch receptors. Then, the intercellular Notch domain is released and will be translocated in the nucleus where he will form an active complex with RBPjk/CBF leading to direct expression of Notch target genes (Fortini 2009). In the case of neural development in mammals, this signaling cascade has the role to maintain a set of undifferentiated precursors, while others are selected to continue the differentiation towards mature neurons (Gaiano and Fishell 2002; Cardozo et al. 2011). Cardozo et al. demonstrated that differentiated ASCs possess functional Notch signal which is down regulated after 14 days of neural induction,

supporting the hypothesis that ASCs differentiation in nerve cells is a regulated mechanism, similar to the differentiation of neural stem cells into mature neurons (Cardozo et al. 2011).

4.3 Cyclic-Adenosine-Monophosphate Signaling Pathway

An intercellular messenger, which is actively involved in both the differentiation of ASCs to neuron-like cells and SCs-like is cAMP. When the G protein-coupled receptor is activated it induces membrane-anchored adenylyl cyclase will physiologically synthesize cAMP from adenosinetriphosphate. After a certain amount of cAMP accumulates in the cell cytoplasm, protein kinase A (PKA) will be activated and transported to the nucleus where it will ensure the phosphorylation of cAMP responsive element binding protein (CREB) transcription factor. The phosphorylated CREB and some other support factors will regulate the expression of several genes which have fundamental functions in neural cell survival, neuronal plasticity and long-term memory (Navarro et al. 2007; Makwana and Raivich 2005).

During nerve trauma it has been reported that levels of cAMP elevate in damaged neurons as a response to injuries, this leads to the activation of PKA and allows axons to bypass the growth inhibitory effect of myelin-associated glycoproteins (MAG) by inhibiting RhoA GTPase (Neumann et al. 2002). Subsequently, cAMP and PKA will overexpress arginase I by phosphorylating CREB, an event that will lead to the production of polyamines which also help diminish the inhibitory effect of MAG and myelin debris. All of these events promote axon elongation by assembling cytoskeleton proteins (Him et al. 2018; Hannila and Filbin 2008). In addition to CREB, PKA has been shown to act on the activating transcription factor 3 (ATF3, a cAMP-dependent transcription factor) as well as on the signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) to ensure polyamine synthesis

5

and subsequently axon elongation. Increased levels of cAMP induce il-6 expression that stimulates pro-regenerative genes (GAP43) via STAT3 (Knott et al. 2014).

cAMP signaling via PKA was also identified at the level of SCs during the regeneration phase in the PNS. In this case, cAMP activates PKA and acts on PI-3 K, which in turn will activate protein kinase B (PKB/Akt), resulting in proliferation of SCs (Him et al. 2018; Knott et al. 2014). Moreover, under the action of cAMP, SCs exhibit increased levels of myelin lipid galactocerebroside (O1), a marker present when SCs turn to their mature proliferating state (Bacallao and Monje 2015). The presence of cAMP also determines the expression of early growth response 2 gene (Krox-20/Egr2) which will stimulate the expression of a series of myelinassociated proteins and lipids, thus proving that cAMP is also actively involved in inducing the myelination phenotype of SCs at the end of the regeneration process (Reiprich et al. 2010).

As this signaling pathway play multiple functions during the regeneration phase, but also during development and neuronal survival, the addition of this element to the differentiation media of ASCs towards neurons or SCs could turned out to ensure satisfying results. A very popular product used in the differentiation of ASCs in neuron-like or SCs-like cells is forskolin, which is an activator of adenylyl-cyclase (Neirinckx et al. 2013). Jang et al. (2010) used a combined treatment of b-FGF and forskolin to trans-differentiate ASCs towards functional neuron-like cells. Differentiated cells were found positive for expression of several neural markers such as, nestin, MAP 2 and NeuN, demonstrating that these cells are candidates for developing into neurons in the setting of brain injuries. Concerning the PNS, ASCs can also be differentiated in SCs-like when treated with forskolin, PDGF and heregulin-β1. These obtained SCs-like differentiated from ASCs have shown to show significant proliferation in vitro (Fu et al. 2016) and enhanced nerve repair and regeneration when transplanted in vivo (Sun et al. 2018).

The Molecular Patterns Involved During Neural Differentiation of ASCs

In the past, the only debated changes which took place in ASCs during the neural differentiation were the cellular events. Lately, some serious attention is given to the molecular patterns, which seem to have a significant control in the generation of neuron-*like* cells form ASCs.

5.1 Non-coding Molecules Such as microRNAs (miRNA) and Long Non-coding RNAs (IncRNA)

These short nucleotide sequences have been continuously investigated in order to better understand their implication in the neural differentiation of ASCs. miRNAs (22 - 30)nucleotides) regulate gene expression by targeting messenger RNA (mRNA) molecules. After the pre-miRNA is formed in the nucleus, it is exported in the cytoplasm. Here it is maturated and assembled into RNA-induced Silencing Complex (RISC). In this complex, the mature miRNA will bind to the 3' untranslated regions (3' UTR) of the target mRNA and inhibit or promote gene expression (Wu et al. 2019).

LncRNAs are made of no more than 200 nucleotides and are key regulators of many important biological processes. These molecules usually bind to transcription factors and so their function is blocked, in this way lncRNAs regulate downstream gene transcription (Wu et al. 2019). Some studies have emphasized that a series of such non-coding molecules play significant roles in the differentiation of ASCs toward the neural lineage (Fig. 3c, d). Hu et al. evaluated the effect of retinoic acid and its function in the neural differentiation of ASCs. Deep sequencing methods revealed a complex profile of miRNA that regulates ASCs' neural differentiation. While miR-23a, miR-23b, miR24a, miR-22, and let-7a were found to be overexpressed in untreated ASCs, miR-222, miR-145, miR-124 a-5p were found to be overexpressed in retinoic acid-treated



Fig. 3 Molecular events during the trans-differentiation of ASCs in neuron-*like* cells. (a) Histone modifications, (b) DNA methylation (c) miRNA biogenesis and (d)

miRNA actions upon mRNA targets involved in the differentiation process (Figure created in BioRender.com)

ASCs. confirmed Their findings around 73 miRNAs in neural differentiated ASCs that were not detected in normal ASCs, suggesting that those molecules have specific functions in the nerve cell (Hu et al. 2017). Yang et al. found that miR-142-5p binds to RhoA and ROCK1 mRNA, therefore modulating the neural differentiation of ASCs through control over the RhoA/ ROCK1 signaling pathway (Yang et al. 2018). Wu et al. identified a profile of 24 lncRNA and 738 mRNA which were up regulated and 37 IncRNA and 968 mRNAs which were down regulated during the neural induction of mesenchymal stem cells, suggesting their possible involvement in this biological process (Wu et al. 2015).

Another new and elegant approach that might be involved in the differentiation of ASCs could be controlled is the influence of extracellular vesicles. Among them, *exosomes and their cargo* turned out to present tremendous interest in this kind of application. By definition,

family exosomes are а of extracellular nanovesicles that mediate intercellular communication through their content in proteins and miRNAs (Hong et al. 2019). The bioactive cargo of exosomes has the potential to trigger specific genes or induce epigenetic modifications that have essential functions in the cell, thus demonstrating to be a useful tool for cell-based regenerative therapies (Hayashi et al. 2017). There are more possible approaches in which exosome can act in the setting of the nervous system trauma: (i) to use ASC-derived exosomes in order to enhance proliferation in SCs or to promote neurite outgrowth in the neuron, both leading to regeneration in case of injuries or (ii) to use neuron-derived exosomes to promote the differentiation potential of ASCs in neuron*like* cells. Recent work demonstrated the presence of BDNF, insulin-like growth factor-a (IGF-1), NGF and GDNF in ASCs-exosomes proving their potential for peripheral nerve trauma (Farinazzo et al. 2015). Roballo et al. evaluated the potential of exosomes in the neuronal differentiation of ASCs, by co-culture between ASCs and neurons and analyzed the exosomal cargo. Finally, they transplanted the neuron-*like* cell *in vivo* with the purpose to prevent further neuronal degradation. The outcomes of this research were that neurons could induce the neural differentiation in ASCs, by exosomal transfer and the delivery of miR-9 and miR-132 and neuronal differentiated ASCs prevented neuron degeneration *in vivo* (Roballo et al. 2019).

5.2 Epigenetic Control

In the last decade, research has focused on exploring ASCs' differentiation potential towards neural lineages. Even though amazing progress has been made, no reports indicate obtaining fully functional mature neurons or glial cells derived from ASCs. Therefore, it is pivotal to first understand exactly which molecular changes occur during this event in order to make ASCs a more useful tool in the setting of nervous system disorders and traumas. Some of the key players in the determination of stem cell fate and differentiation are the epigenetic factors. Published research has indicated that epigenetic events are critical during gene expression in the event of stem cell differentiation (Ariff et al. 2012; Srinageshwar et al. 2016; Atlasi and Stunnenberg 2017). Epigenetic factors which have been found to be involved in this particular differentiation process of ASCs to neurons are DNA methylation and histone modifications (Atlasi and Stunnenberg 2017). Moreover, it seems that ASCs possess their own epigenetic barrier, which can only be crossed with the help of specific growth and transcription factors of neural cells (Encinas and Fitzsimons 2017; Luo et al. 2018). As this process brings major changes in gene expression and epigenetic profile, it is essential to study these changes in-depth in order to elucidate ASCs' true potential for nervous system regeneration (Fig. 3). Even so, the research for epigenetic control during this event is very limited and many processes remain still unknown.

5.2.1 Histone Post-transcriptional Modifications

Histone post-transcriptional modifications (Fig. 3a) include histone methylation, acetylation, and phosphorylation of the end sites of the histone core. The methylation process happens on the side chains of arginine and lysine and does not alter the charge of the histone protein (Bannister and Kouzarides 2011). The expression of the early neural markers such as Nestin, which also appears to be expressed in ASCs-derived neurons, appears to be regulated through this epigenetic mechanism (Boulland et al. 2013). Dynamic changes in histones H3K4, H3K9 and H3K27 methylation on nestin locus during neurogenic differentiation have been reported, suggesting ASCs potential to differentiate beyond mesodermal cell types (Boulland et al. 2013). Whereas, the dynamic reaction of phosphorylation occurs mostly in the N-terminal sites of histone tails, more specific on serine, threonine, and tyrosine. The most abundant histone modification is the acetylation of lysine which is regulated by the action of two big families of enzymes, histone (HATs) and histone acetyltransferases (Bannister deacetylases (HDACs) and Kouzarides 2011). The functional manner and the role of these modifications in ASCs neural differentiation are still largely unknown. So far, it has been reported that upon HDAC inhibitors (sodium butyrate, trichostatin A and valproic acid), ASCs differentiated into neuron-like cells as demonstrated through qPCR and Western blotting techniques. Simultaneously it was found out that most of the Wnt-related genes were found to be highly expressed after inhibitor treatment, indicating the activation of Wnt signaling pathways (Jang and Jeong 2018). Studies demonstrate that the addition of valproic acid to the differentiation media significantly increases the neural differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells by leading to the up-regulation of specific neural markers such as Tuj-1 and MAP 2 (Talwadekar et al. 2017). All brought together, it can be stated that further investigations are required in order to elucidate the true nature of the epigenetic control during neural differentiation of ASCs. A better

understanding of this phenomenon could lead to ground-breaking stem cell-based therapies for neural disorders and injuries.

5.2.2 DNA Methylation

DNA methylation (Fig. 3b) represents an epigenetic mark during which a methyl group is transferred to the C5 position of the cytosine ring of DNA. This whole reaction is catalyzed by DNA methyltransferase (Jin et al. 2011) and the DNA methylation site in the ASCs genome plays a crucial role in their further lineage commitment (Berdasco et al. 2012). Therefore, targeting these positions may significantly switch cells' fate commitment. towards neural Interestingly, Alexanian (2015) has induced neuronal differentiation in mesenchymal stem cells which not only were capable of turning back to adult stem cells, but also presented adipocyte morphology when exposed to adipogenic differentiation media. All these treatments have included chromatinmodifying agents, demonstrating that these agents can increase cells plasticity and lineage commitment of mesenchymal stem cells.

6 Tissue Engineering of the Nervous Tissue – Current Stage

The regeneration of the nervous system is a difficult process for there is yet no clear and validated strategy that may have satisfying results and fully functional recovery. The field of TE has emerged as a necessity due to the fact that the request for organ transplantation increases significantly year by year. The principle of TE relays in the combination of engineering and life science in the hope of developing natural biological substitutes that can guide injured tissue towards regeneration and function recovery. Thus, the three important elements that form a biological construct are an engineered scaffold, the presence of growth factor or other enhancing molecules and finally, the adequate cell type. However, TE is not the only method which is proposed for the regeneration of nervous tissues. Attempts have been also made with the help of cell-based therapies or by using more modern and new techniques, the development of organoids, in this case brain organoids. As the nervous system possesses an intrinsic regeneration capacity and a remarkable plasticity scientist seized the opportunity to create a large pale of biomaterials which should promote the regeneration potential of the nervous tissue (Khaing and Schmidt 2012). Over the last decades researchers have come to better understand micro-patterning techniques and mechanotechnology, therefore the desire to generate biomaterials for nervous tissue engineering grew rapidly. For the purpose of this type of regeneration, many different natural or synthetic components were used to fabricate the proper biomaterial in order to mimic the extracellular matrix (EMC) as good as possible. Based on several studies (Sell et al. 2010; Boni et al. 2018) natural-based polymers and composites have proven to have a better efficiency in replicating EMC components as they present biofriendly and biocompatible proprieties in contrast to synthetic materials which have limited outcomes in clinical trials. Moreover, the use of a natural derivate as the main component of the materials' structure is known to ensure low levels of cytotoxicity and a minimal immunogenic reaction after transplantation (Kriebel et al. 2017; Ai et al. 2014). Some of the most used materials in this direction are the biomaterials based on collagen, gelatin and silk. Altinova et al. tested a collagen-based material in rats that suffered from spinal cord injuries. Their results showed that these kinds of grafting in the setting of spinal cord injuries are a necessity for a better outcome of the regeneration process (Altinova et al. 2019). Besides the basic material, modern material fabrication methods include nanostructures as a second element to the biomaterial that may have a maximizing effect on the regeneration. Such structures include nanoparticles (gold, diamond or magnetic nanoparticles) (Paviolo and Stoddart 2015), carbon nanotubes (Olakowska et al. 2010) or graphene oxide (Wang et al. 2019). For

instance, the nanoparticles are considered to be an optimal drug delivery system that could transport specific factors deep in affected brain regions and to assist the regrowth of damaged neurons, as they have the capacity to cross the blood-brain barrier (Elzoghby et al. 2018; Binan et al. 2014). Therefore, the use of these kinds of scaffolds in combination with the use of stem cells could be a perfect tool for nervous tissue regeneration.

Due to the limitations of cell variety in scaffolds, other techniques were developed in order to examine specific disorder scenarios. Thus, the *in vitro* three-dimensional *organoids* have been proposed to provide more inside information about several particular mechanisms. Among them, also brain organoids have been developed as a model to study brain development, circuitry, neuronal structures and several degenerative disorders (Kawada et al. 2017).

7 Conclusions

To conclude, ASCs are a distinguished category of stem cells with unique abilities that hold great elucidating promise in many molecular mechanisms, with the final purpose of validating these cells as treatment for neural disease and nervous tissue regeneration. Therefore, ASCs have been lately widely explored in order to establish their use for nervous system clinical applications. Modern and new generation techniques have made it possible to observe the behavior of ASCs upon neural differentiation and get new information on the molecular events that take place during this complex process. The whole molecular machinery changes in ASCs upon several cues that induce neural differentiation, but there are lots of unknown factors that remain to be discovered. Even so, ASCs show so far great applicability for the field of CNS and PNS repair, regeneration and disease treatment. More efforts need to be made in order to therapeutically target several factors involved in the neural differentiation of ASCs in the setting of nerve trauma, spinal cord injuries or neurodegenerative diseases.

References

- Addae C, Yi X, Gernapudi R, Cheng H, Musto A, Martinez-Ceballos E (2012) All-trans-retinoid acid induces the differentiation of encapsulated mouse embryonic stem cells into GABAergic neurons. Differ Res Biol Divers 83:233–241
- Ai J, Kiasat-Dolatabadi A, Ebrahimi-Barough S, Ai A, Lotfibakhshaiesh N, Norouzi-Javidan A, Sabero H, Arjmand B, Agayan HR (2014) Polymeric scaffolds in neural tissue engineering: a review. Arch Neurosci 1:15–20
- Alexanian AR (2015) Epigenetic modulators promote mesenchymal stem cell phenotype switches. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 64:190–194
- Altinova H, Hammes S, Palm M, Gerardo-Nava J, Achenbach P, Deumens R, Hermans E, Fuhrmann T, Boecker A, van Neerven SGA, Bozkurt A, Weis J, Brook GA (2019) Fibroadhesive scarring of grafted collagen scaffolds interferes with implant–host neural tissue integration and bridging in experimental spinal cord injury. Regen Biomater 6(2):75–87
- Andreotti JP, Silva WN, Costa AC, Picoli CC, Bitencourt FCO, Coimbra-Campos LMC, Resende RR, Magno LAV, Romano-Silva MA, Mintz A, Birbrair A (2019) Neural stem cell niche heterogeneity. In: Seminars in cell & developmental biology, vol 95. Elsevier, USA, pp 42–53
- Ariff IM, Mitra A, Basu A (2012) Epigenetic regulation of self-renewal and fate determination in neural stem cells. J Neurosci Res 90:529–539
- Atlasi Y, Stunnenberg HG (2017) The interplay of epigenetic marks during stem cell differentiation and development. Nat Rev Genet 18(11):643–658
- Bacallao K, Monje PV (2015) Requirement of cAMP signaling for Schwann cell differentiation restricts the onset of myelination. PLoS One 10:0116948
- Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T (2011) Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. Cell Res 21(3):381–395
- Berdasco M, Melguizo C, Prados J, Gómez A, Alaminos M, Pujana MA, Lopez M, Setien F, Ortiz R, Zafra I, Aranega A, Esteller M (2012) DNA methylation plasticity of human adipose-derived stem cells in lineage commitment. Am J Pathol 181 (6):2079–2093
- Bertani N, Malatesta P, Volpi G, Sonego P, Perris R (2005) Neurogenic potential of human mesenchymal stem cells revisited: analysis by immunostaining, timelapse video, and microarray. J Cell Sci 118:3925–3936
- Binan L, Tendey C, De Crescenzo G, El Ayoubi R, Ajji A, Jolicoeur M (2014) Differentiation of neuronal stem cells into motor neurons using electrospun poly-l-lactic acid/gelatin scaffold. Biomaterials 35:664–674
- Boni R, Ali A, Shavandi A, Clarkson AN (2018) Current and novel polymeric biomaterials for neural tissue engineering. J Biomed Sci 25(1):90
- Boulland JL, Mastrangelopoulou M, Boquest AC, Jakobsen R, Noer A, Glover JC, Collas P (2013) Epigenetic regulation of nestin expression during

neurogenic differentiation of adipose tissue stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 22(7):1042–1052

- Bowles AC, Wise RM, Gerstein BY, Thomas RC, Ogelman R, Febbo I, Bunnell BA (2017) Immunomodulatory effects of adipose stromal vascular fraction cells promote alternative activation macrophages to repair tissue damage. Stem Cells 35:2198–2207
- Brushart TM (2011) Nerve repair. Oxford University Press, New York
- Caillaud M, Richard L, Vallat JM, Desmoulière A, Billet F (2019) Peripheral nerve regeneration and intraneural revascularization. Neural Regen Res 14(1):24
- Cardozo AJ, Gómez DE, Argibay PF (2011) Transcriptional characterization of Wnt and Notch signaling pathways in neuronal differentiation of human adipose tissue-derived stem cells. J Mol Neurosci 44 (3):186–194
- Cardozo AJ, Gómez DE, Argibay PF (2012) Neurogenic differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells: relevance of different signaling molecules, transcription factors, and key marker genes. Gene 511:427–436
- Catala M, Kubis N (2013) Gross anatomy and development of the peripheral nervous system. In: Handbook of clinical neurology, vol 15. Elsevier, USA pp 29–41
- Cui L, Yin S, Liu W, Li N, Zhang W, Cao Y (2007) Expanded adipose-derived stem cells suppress mixed lymphocyte reaction by secretion of prostaglandin E2. Tissue Eng 13:1185–1195
- Dave PJ, Cominelli F (2017) Mesenchymal stem/stromal cell therapy for inflammatory bowel disease: an updated review with maintenance of remission. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 33(1):59–68
- Dinescu S, Galateanu B, Albu M, Cimpean A, Dinischiotu A, Costache M (2013) Sericin enhances bioperformance of collagen-based matrices preseeded with hADSCs. Int J Mol Sci 14:1870–1889
- Ekshyyan O, Aw T (2004) Apoptosis: a key in neurodegenerative disorders. Curr Neurovasc Res 1 (4):355–371
- Elzoghby AO, Freag MS, Elkhodairy KA (2018) Biopolymeric nanoparticles for targeted drug delivery to brain tumors. In: Kesharwani P, Gupta U (eds) Nanotechnology-based targeted drug delivery Systems for Brain Tumors. Academic, Cambridge, pp 169–190
- Encinas JM, Fitzsimons CP (2017) Gene regulation in adult neural stem cells. Current challenges and possible applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 120:118–132
- Etheridge SL, Spencer GJ, Heath DJ, Genever PG (2004) Expression profiling and functional analysis of wnt signaling mechanisms in mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 22:849–860
- Farinazzo A, Turano E, Marconi S, Bistaffa E, Bazzoli E, Bonetti B (2015) Murine adipose-derived mesenchymal stromal cell vesicles: in vitro clues for neuroprotective and neuroregenerative approaches. Cytotherapy 17(5):571–578
- Ferroni L, Gardin C, Tussardi IT (2012) Potential for neural differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 129:89–115

- Flores AA, Wang H (2018) The use and delivery of stem cells in nerve regeneration: preclinical evidence and regulatory considerations. Ann Plast Surg 80 (4):448–456
- Fortini ME (2009) Notch signaling: the core pathway and its posttranslational regulation. Dev Cell 16:633–647
- Frese L, Dijkman PE, Hoerstrup SP (2016) Adipose tissuederived stem cells in regenerative medicine. Transfus Med Hemother 43(4):268–274
- Fu SY, Gordon T (1997) The cellular and molecular basis of peripheral nerve regeneration. Mol Neurobiol 14:67–116
- Fu X, Tong Z, Li Q, Niu Q, Zhang Z, Tong X, Tong L, Zhang X (2016) Induction of adipose-derived stem cells into Schwann-like cells and observation of Schwann-like cell proliferation. Mol Med Rep 14 (2):1187–1193
- Gaiano N, Fishell G (2002) The role of notch in promoting glial and neural stem cell fates. Annu Rev Neurosci 25:471–490
- Galateanu B, Dinescu S, Cimpean A, Dinischiotu A, Costache M (2012) Modulation of adipogenic conditions for prospective use of hADSCs in adipose tissue engineering. Int J Mol Sci 13:15881–15900
- Gao S, Guo X, Zhao S, Jin Y, Zhou F, Yuan P, Cao L, Wang J, Qui Y, Sun C, Kang Z, Gao F, Xu W, Yang D, Qin Y, Ning K, Shaw PJ, Zhong G, Cheng L, Zhu H, Gao Z, Chen X, Xu J (2019) Differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells into neuron/motoneuronlike cells for cell replacement therapy of spinal cord injury. Cell Death Dis 10(8):1–15
- Gordon T (2016) Nerve regeneration in the peripheral and central nervous systems. J Physiol 594(13):3517
- Gu X, Ding F, Williams DF (2014) Neural tissue engineering options for peripheral nerve regeneration. Biomaterials 35(24):6143–6156
- Hannila SS, Filbin MT (2008) The role of cyclic AMP signaling in promoting axonal regeneration after spinal cord injury. Exp Neurol 209:321–332
- Hayashi T, Lombaert IM, Hauser BR, Patel VN, Hoffman MP (2017) Exosomal MicroRNA transport from salivary mesenchyme regulates epithelial progenitor expansion during organogenesis. Dev Cell 40:95–103
- He CW, Liao CP, Pan CL (2018) Wnt signalling in the development of axon, dendrites and synapses. R Soc Open Biol 8(10):180116
- Him A, Onger ME, Delibas B (2018) Peripheral nerve regeneration and stem cell therapies. Sakarya T_ip Dergisi 8:182–192
- Hong P, Yang H, Wu Y, Li K, Tang Z (2019) The functions and clinical application potential of exosomes derived from adipose mesenchymal stem cells: a comprehensive review. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):242
- Hu F, Xu P, Sun B, Teng G, Xiao Z (2017) Deep sequencing reveals complex mechanisms of microRNA regulation during retinoic acid-induced neuronal differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Genomics 109(3–4):302–311

- Huebner EA, Strittmatter SM (2009) Axon regeneration in the peripheral and central nervous systems. Results Probl Cell Differ 48:339–351
- Ignat SR, Lazăr AD, Şelaru A, Samoilă I, Vlăsceanu GM, Ioniță M, Radu E, Dinescu S, Costache M (2019) Versatile biomaterial platform enriched with graphene oxide and carbon nanotubes for multiple tissue engineering applications. Int J Mol Sci 20(16):3868
- Jahan-Abad AJ, Morteza-Zadeh P, Negah SS, Gorji A (2017) Curcumin attenuates harmful effects of arsenic on neural stem/progenitor cells. Avicenna J Phytomed 7(4):376
- Jang S, Jeong HS (2018) Histone deacetylase inhibitionmediated neuronal differentiation via the Wnt signaling pathway in human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Neurosci Lett 668:24–30
- Jang S, Cho H, Cho Y, Park J, Jeong H (2010) Functional neural differentiation of human adipose tissue-derived stem cells using bFGF and forskolin. BMC Cell Biol 11:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2121-11-25
- Jang S, Park JS, Jeong HS (2015) Neural differentiation of human adipose tissue-derived stem cells involves activation of the Wnt5a/JNK signaling. Stem Cells Int. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/178618
- Jessen KR, Mirsky R, Lloyd AC (2015) Schwann cells: development and role in nerve repair. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7(7). https://doi.org/10.1101/ cshperspect.a020487
- Jha K, Pentecost M, Lenin R, Klaic L, Elshaer SL, Gentry J, Russell JM, Beland A, Reiner A, Jotterand V, Sohl N, Gangaraju R (2018) Concentrated conditioned media from adipose tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells mitigates visual deficits and retinal inflammation following mild traumatic brain injury. Int J Mol Sci 19(7):2016
- Jin B, Li Y, Robertson KD (2011) DNA methylation: superior or subordinate in the epigenetic hierarchy? Genes Cancer 2(6):607–617
- Kawada J, Kaneda S, Kirihara T, Maroof A, Levi T, Eggan K, Fujii T, Ikeuchi Y (2017) Generation of a motor nerve organoid with human stem cell-derived neurons. Stem Cell Rep 9(5):1441–1449
- Khademizadeh M, Messripour M, Ghasemi N (2019) Differentiation of adult human mesenchymal stem cells into dopaminergic neurons. Res Pharm Sci 14(3):209
- Khaing ZZ, Schmidt CE (2012) Advances in natural biomaterials for nerve tissue repair. Neurosci Lett 519 (2):103–114
- Kingham PJ, Kalbermatten DF, Mahay D, Armstrong SJ, Wiberg M, Terenghi G (2007) Adipose-derived stem cells differentiate into a Schwann cell phenotype and promote neurite outgrowth in vitro. Exp Neurol 207 (2):267–274
- Knott EP, Assi M, Pearse DD (2014) Cyclic AMP signaling: a molecular determinant of peripheral nerve regeneration. Biomed Res Int 2014:1–8
- Kriebel A, Hodde D, Kuenzel T, Engels J, Brook G, Mey J (2017) Cell-free artificial implants of electrospun fibres in a three-dimensional gelatin matrix support sciatic

nerve regeneration in vivo. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 11:3289–3304

- Kubiak CA, Kung AT, Brown DL, Cederna PS, Kemp SWP (2018) State of the art techniques in treating peripheral nerve injury. Plast Reconstr Surg 141:702–710
- Levi AD, Burks SS, Anderson KD, Dididze M, Khan A, Dietrich WD (2016) The use of autologous Schwann cells to supplement sciatic nerve repair with a large gap: first in human experience. Cell Transplant 25 (7):1395–1403
- Liu P, Peng J, Han GH, Ding X, Wei S, Gao G, Huang K, Chang F, Wang Y (2019) Role of macrophages in peripheral nerve injury and repair. Neural Regen Res 14(8):1335
- Luo L, Hu DH, Yin JQ, Xu RX (2018) Molecular mechanisms of Transdifferentiation of adipose-derived stem cells into neural cells: current status and perspectives. Stem Cells Int. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2018/5630802
- MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X (2009) Wnt/β-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell 17(1):9–26
- Makwana M, Raivich G (2005) Molecular mechanisms in successful peripheral regeneration. FEBS J 272:2628–2638
- Marconi S, Bonaconsa M, Scambi I, Squintani GM, Rui W, Turano E, Ungaro D, D'Agostino S, Barbieri F, Angiari S, Farinazzo A, Constantin G, Del Carro U, Bonetti B, Mariotti R (2013) Systemic treatment with adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorates clinical and pathological features in the amyotrophic lateral sclerosis murine model. Neuroscience 248:333–343
- Marycz K, Michalak I, Kocherova I, Maredziak M, Weiss C (2017) The Cladophora glomerata enriched by biosorption process in Cr(III) improves viability, and reduces oxidative stress and apoptosis in equine metabolic syndrome derived adipose mesenchymal stromal stem cells (ASCs) and their extracellular vesicles (MV's). Mar Drugs 15(12):385
- Moon SM, Kim W, Chung JY, Im W, Yoo DY, Jung HY, Won MH, Hwang IK (2014) Neuroprotective effects of adipose-derived stem cells are maintained for 3 weeks against ischemic damage in the rabbit spinal cord. Biomed Res Int 2014:539051
- Navarro X, Vivó M, Valero-Cabré A (2007) Neural plasticity after peripheral nerve injury and regeneration. Prog Neurobiol 82:163–201
- Neirinckx V, Coste C, Rogister B, Wislet-Gendebien S (2013) Neural fate of mesenchymal stem cells and neural crest stem cells: which ways to get neurons for cell therapy purpose. In: Trends in cell signaling pathways in neuronal fate decision. InTech, Crotia, pp 327–358
- Neuhuber B, Gallo G, Howard L, Kostura L, Mackay A, Fischer I (2004) Reevaluation of in vitro differentiation protocols for bone marrow stromal cells: disruption of actin cytoskeleton induces rapid morphological

changes and mimics neuronal phenotype. J Neurosci Res 77:192–204

- Neumann S, Bradke F, Tessier-Lavigne M, Basbaum AI (2002) Regeneration of sensory axons within the injured spinal cord induced by intraganglionic cAMP elevation. Neuron 34:885–893
- Olakowska E, Woszczycka-Korczyńska I, Jędrzejowska-Szypułka H, Lewin-Kowalik J (2010) Application of nanotubes and nanofibres in nerve repair. A review. Folia Neuropathol 48(4):231–237
- Orbay H, Uysal AC, Hyakusoku H, Mizuno H (2011) Differentiated and undifferentiated adipose-derived stem cells improve function in rats with peripheral nerve gaps. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 65 (5):657–664
- Ou Y, Yuan XD, Cai YN, Lu YH (2011) Ultrastructure and electrophysiology of astrocytes differentiated from adult adipose-derived stromal cells. Chin Med J 124 (17):2656–2660
- Paviolo C, Stoddart PR (2015) Metallic nanoparticles for peripheral nerve regeneration: is it a feasible approach? Neural Regen Res 10(7):1065
- Peng C, Lu L, Li Y, Hu J (2019) Neurospheres induced from human adipose-derived stem cells as a new source of neural progenitor cells. Cell Transplant. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963689719888619
- Radtke C, Schmitz B, Spies M, Kocsis JD, Vogt PM (2009) Peripheral glial cell differentiation from neurospheres derived from adipose mesenchymal stem cells. Int J Dev Neurosci 27(8):817–823
- Razavi S, Razavi MR, Zarkesh-Esfahani H, Kazemi M, Mostafavi FS (2013) Comparing brain-derived neurotrophic factor and ciliary neurotrophic factor secretion of induced neurotrophic factor secreting cells from human adipose and bone marrow-derived stem cells. Develop Growth Differ 55(6):648–655
- Rehman J, Traktuev D, Li J, Merfeld-Clauss S, Temm-Grove CJ, Bovenkerk JE, Pell CL, Johnstone BH, Considine RV, March KL (2004) Secretion of angiogenic and antiapoptotic factors by human adipose stromal cells. Circulation 109(10):1292–1298
- Reiprich S, Kriesch J, Schreiner S, Wegner M (2010) Activation of Krox20 gene expression by Sox10 in myelinating Schwann cells. J Neurochem 112:744–754
- Roballo KCS, da Silveira JC, Bressan FF, de Souza AF, Pereira VM, Porras JEP, Ros FA, Pulz LH, Strefezzi FR, Martins DDS, Meirelles FV, Ambrosie CE (2019) Neurons-derived extracellular vesicles promote neural differentiation of ADSCs: a model to prevent peripheral nerve degeneration. Sci Rep 9(1):1–11
- Rosen A, Tardast A, Shi TJ (2016) How far have we come in the field of nerve regeneration after trigeminal nerve injury? Curr Oral Health Rep 3:309–313
- Santiago LY, Clavijo-Alvarez J, Brayfield C, Rubin JP, Marra KG (2009) Delivery of adipose-derived precursor cells for peripheral nerve repair. Cell Transplant 18 (2):145–158

- Sell SA, Wolfe PS, Garg K, McCool JM, Rodriguez IA, Bowlin GL (2010) The use of natural polymers in tissue engineering: a focus on electrospun extracellular matrix analogues. Polymers 2(4):522–553
- Shoichet MS, Tate CC, Baumann MD, LaPlaca MC (2008) Strategies for regeneration and repair in the injured central nervous system. In: Reichert WM (ed) Indwelling neural implants: strategies for contending with the in vivo environment. CRC Press/ Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton
- Siracusa R, Fusco R, Cuzzocrea S (2019) Astrocytes: role and functions in brain pathologies. Front Pharmacol 10:1114
- Srinageshwar B, Maiti P, Dunbar GL, Rossignol J (2016) Role of epigenetics in stem cell proliferation and differentiation: implications for treating neurodegenerative diseases. Int J Mol Sci 17(2):199
- Sun Q, Ou Y, Wang S, Yuan X, Zhang W, Deng H, Zhang L (2014) The effect of autophagy in the process of adipose-derived stromal cell differentiation into astrocytes. J Mol Neurosci 53(4):608–616
- Sun X, Zhu Y, Yin HY, Guo ZY, Xu F, Xiao B, Jiang WL, Guo WM, Meng HY, Lu SB, Wang Y, Peng J (2018) Differentiation of adipose-derived stem cells into Schwann cell-like cells through intermittent induction: potential advantage of cellular transient memory function. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):133
- Talwadekar M, Fernandes S, Kale V, Limaye L (2017) Valproic acid enhances the neural differentiation of human placenta derived-mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 11(11):3111–3123
- Visweswaran M, Pohl S, Arfuso F, Newsholme P, Dilley R, Pervaiz S, Dharmarajan A (2015) Multilineage differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells – to Wnt, or not Wnt. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 68:139–147
- Wahane S, Halawani D, Zhou X, Zou H (2019) Epigenetic regulation of axon regeneration and glial activation in injury responses. Front Genet 10:640
- Wang J, Cheng Y, Chen L, Zhu T, Ye K, Jia C, Wang H, Zhu M, Fan C, Mo X (2019) In vitro and in vivo studies of electroactive reduced graphene oxidemodified nanofiber scaffolds for peripheral nerve regeneration. Acta Biomater 84:98–113
- Wei L, Zhao J, Zhong J, Gu H, Feng D, Johnstone BH, March KL, Farlow MR, Du Y (2009) Adipose stromal cellssecreted neuroprotective media against neuronal apoptosis. Neurosci Lett 462(1):76–79
- Wei Y, Gong K, Zheng Z, Liu L, Wang A, Zhang L, Ao Q, Gong Y, Zhang X (2010) Schwann-like cell differentiation of rat adipose-derived stem cells by indirect co-culture with Schwann cells in vitro. Cell Prolif 43 (6):606–616
- Wu AM, Ni WF, Huang ZY, Li QL, Wu JB, Xu HZ, Yin LH (2015) Analysis of differentially expressed lncRNAs in the differentiation of bone marrow stem cells into neural cells. J Neurol Sci 351(1–2):160–167
- Wu Z, Liang S, Kuai W, Hu L, Qian A (2019) MicroRNAs and long noncoding RNAs: new regulators in cell fate

determination of mesenchymal stem cells. RSC Adv 9 (64):37300–37311

- Xie S, Lu F, Han J, Tao K, Wang H, Simental A, Hu D, Yang H (2017) Efficient generation of functional Schwann cells from adipose-derived stem cells in defined conditions. Cell Cycle 16(9):841–851
- Yang L, Wang ZF, Wu H, Wang W (2018) miR-142-5p improves neural differentiation and proliferation of adipose-derived stem cells. Cell Physiol Biochem 50 (6):2097–2107
- Yuan X, Zhang L, Wang S, Ou Y, Wang Q, Peng W, Luo H, Cheng Z, Zhu X (2016) Mitochondrial apoptosis and autophagy in the process of adipose-derived

stromal cell differentiation into astrocytes. Cell Biol Int 40(2):156–165

- Zhang R, Rosen JM (2018) The role of undifferentiated adipose-derived stem cells in peripheral nerve repair. Neural Regen Res 13(5):757
- Zhu ZQ, Yuan C, Huang C, Jin R, Sun D, Yang J, Luo XS (2019) Pre-culture of adipose derived stem cells and heterologous acellular dermal matrix: paracrine functions promote post-implantation neovascularization and attenuate inflammatory response. Biomed Mater 14(3):035002
- Zochodne DW (2000) The microenvironment of injured and regenerating peripheral nerves. Muscle Nerve 23 (Suppl 9):33–38



Biomatrices for Heart Regeneration and Cardiac Tissue Modelling *In Vitro*

I. Kulvinskiene, R. Aldonyte, R. Miksiunas, A. Mobasheri, and Daiva Bironaite

Abstract

Cardiac muscle is the hardest working muscle in the body, pumping approximately 70 g of blood with every heartbeat, circulating 95001 of blood daily and contracting over 3 billion times during the average human's life. Heart failure - a heterogeneous syndrome - is a major and increasing health care problem worldwide and a leading cause of hospitalization and morbidity in elderly. Adequate heart tissue regeneration in human is lacking. Challenges to engineer heart tissue and employ it in vitro or in regenerative medicine remain to be solved. First of all, cardiac tissue bioengineering requires robust and powerful capable differentiating cells of into

I. Kulvinskiene, R. Aldonyte, R. Miksiunas, and D. Bironaite (🖂)

Department of Regenerative Medicine, State Research Institute Centre for Innovative Medicine, Vilnius, Lithuania e-mail: daibironai@gmail.com;

daiva.bironaite@imcentras.lt

A. Mobasheri

Research Unit of Medical Imaging, Physics and Technology, Faculty of Medicine University of Oulu, Oulu, Finland

Department of Orthopedics and Department of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, The Netherlands cardiomyogenic lineages in combination with effective. safe and highly specialized biomaterials, hydrogels and/or scaffolds for recreating the native extracellular microenvironment. Advances in stem cell and biomaterial science already provided an increasing array of cell resources, their cultivation technologies and biomatrices for efficient and safe cardiac tissue reconstruction. In order to develop new cardiac tissue mimicking technologies in vitro, it is necessary to analyze the advantages and drawbacks of already established biosystems. Therefore, in this paper, we provide a comprehensive overview of recently employed cells, 2D and 3D biomatrices for cardiac tissue engineering and review the current state-of-the-art in this field as well as future directions.

Keywords

Biomaterials · Biomatrices · Cardiac muscle · Regenerative medicine · Remodeling · Tissue engineering

Abbreviations

ADSC	adipose tissue-derived stem cells		
AuNRs	albumin electrospun fibers and gold		
	nanorods		
BMP4	bone morphogenetic protein 4		
CDC	cardiosphere-derived cells		

Department of Regenerative Medicine, State Research Institute Centre for Innovative Medicine, Vilnius, Lithuania

CM	cardiomyocytes			
CNT	carbon nanotubes			
CPCs	cardiac progenitor cells			
CPS	cardio progenitor spheres			
CVD	cardiovascular diseases			
EBs	embryonic bodies			
ECM	extracellular matrix			
ESCs	embryonic stem cells			
GAG	glycosaminoglycan			
G-CSF	granulocyte colony-stimulating			
	factor			
GSK3	glycogen synthase kinase 3			
HF	heart failure			
hFFs	human foreskin fibroblasts			
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor			
IC	intracoronary infusion			
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor			
IM	intramyocardially			
iPSC	induced pluripotent stem cells			
LVEF	left ventricular ejection fraction			
MEF	mouse embryonic fibroblast			
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging			
MSC	mesenchymal stem/stromal cells			
Nrg	Neuregulin-1			
PCL	polye-caprolactone			
PCL	poly-e-caprolactone			
PDGFRα	platelet-derived growth factor recep-			
	tor-alpha			
PFHy	polyethylene glycol-fibrinogen			
	hydrogel			
PGA	poly(glycolic acid) or poly-glycolide			
pHLIP	pH low insertion peptide			
PIPAAm	poly N-isopropylacrylamide			
PLA	poly-lactic acid			
PSC	pluripotent stem cells			
RCVI	retrograde coronary venous infusion			
Sca – 1	stem cell antigen-1			
SDF-1	stromal-derived growth factor 1			
TESI	transendocardial injection			
TGF-β	transforming growth factor β			
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor			

1 Introduction

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are the primary cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide, with ischemic heart disease being the primary cause of death globally (Roth et al. 2017). One of the major CVD types, heart failure (HF), affects 26 million people worldwide including 7.5 million in North America and is increasing in prevalence (Ponikowski et al. 2014; Savarese and Lund 2017). Heart transplantation is very often the only treatment of choice for many patients with end-stage HF who remain symptomatic despite of optimal medical treatment. Moreover, the number of people with impaired myocardial function leading to heart failure is increasing and requires more and more heart transplants. The current imbalance between needs and possibilities for cardiac transplantation is partially due to the limited number of donors and graft rejections as the major risk on the one side, and growing transplantation capabilities in a clinical setting on the other. It is becoming increasingly clear that less invasive and more sophisticated and more targeted strategies are needed to repair and restore damaged myocardium.

The heart is very complex organ, composed from various types of the cells such as cardiomyocytes (CM), cardio fibroblasts (primary mesenchymal stromal cells), endothelial and perivascular cells and is mechanically and electro physiologically active. It has been suggested that cardiomyocytes comprise major part of mammalian heart (70-80%) (Tang et al. 2009). However, recent stereological analysis of histological human heart section suggested ratio between CM, mesenchymal cell and endothelial cell populations being 33%, 58% and 24% and estimated by flow cytometry - 33%, 43% and 24% (Bergmann et al. 2015). While it is agreed that cardiomyocytes account for approximately 25-30%, the composition of non-myocyte population estimated by immunohistochemistry still 60%. differ: endothelial cells over 5-10%. hematopoietic-derived cells and fibroblasts under 20% (Pinto et al. 2016). Such discrepancy of obtained results might be related to the great diversity of used tissue sources and estimation methods. Despite that, both types of the cells, myocyte and non-myocyte, respond to external physiological and pathological stimuli and cell-cell signals important for human heart functioning and regeneration. In addition, it should not be forgotten that the heart tissue is

highly electrically cell-cell coupled and mechanically active tissue that hardens therapeutic application of tissue engineering technologies.

The limited inherent regenerative capacity of heart tissue is a key factor resulting in progression of heart disease, mortality and also restricted abilities to heal or regenerate (Ong et al. 2017). Regenerative capacity of the human heart is around 1% at the age of 25, and it decreases to 0.45% at the age of 75 (Bergmann et al. 2009). Therefore, studies on locally delivered pro-regenerative molecules, cells and/or combined strategies incorporating cells. tissues and biomaterials are performed extensively worldwide. To successfully develop cardiac therapeutic interventions, 2D and especially 3D cardio modeling in vitro is crucially important before any in vivo studies are initiated. However, it is still challenging to develop novel multiparametric platforms mimicking 3D cardiac cell environment on biomatrices in combination with electrical, metabolic and mechanical stimuli for the research and

therapeutic strategies (Qiao et al. 2019). Recapitulating the cardio microenvironment and cellular morphology, several significant challenges are particularly important: optimal support for cell attachment and alignment, proper distribution of loaded cells, relevant level of stiffness of biomatrices, biocompatibility and optimal their disintegration over the time (Schwach and Passier 2019; Mathur et al. 2016). Moreover, 3D tissue engineering technologies are not only investigated in laboratories, but were already used in the clinical setting, i.e. delivered stem cells to the failing and infarcted human hearts (Menasche et al. 2018).

This review focuses on 2D and 3D myocardial regeneration technologies that were recently designed for *in vitro* studies and for therapeutic strategies. The major scientific challenges in the field of cardiac tissue engineering and repair include selection of the cells with highest cardio regenerative potential and development of the cultivation techniques on bioactive hydrogels and scaffolds *in vitro* (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Cells and technologies used for cardio-regenerative purposes

1.1 Heart Tissue-Derived Cells for Cardio Regeneration

Cardiac regeneration comprises a waste range of efforts to regenerate/repair irreversibly damaged heart muscle with cutting-edge science, including cell-based and cell-free strategies. Cellular content remains a major reparative tool used in restoration of damaged tissue's structures and functions. Cells are also essential component for *in vitro* heart tissue modeling. Many types of cells with cardio regenerative potential are being studied and already tested in clinical trials. Although functional cardiomyocytes can be grown from pluripotent stem cells, a strong enthusiasm to use progenitor cells of heart origin remains.

1.1.1 Heart Stem Cells

For many years heart self-regenerating capabilities were not recognized and cardiomyocytes were the only cells investigated in healthy and diseased hearts (Mitcheson et al. 1998). Later, several theories of cardiac regeneration emerged: it was shown that 4% of myocyte nuclei express Ki-67 and new CM may be derived from division of pre-existing CM (Beltrami et al. 2001; Senyo et al. 2013); from primary, mesenchymal type cells (Davis et al. 2010) or from stem cells residing in heart tissue (Bearzi et al. 2007). Unique markers for heart stem cells are still under investigation. So far, the researchers agreed that cardio stem cell population is heterogenic with dominating markers: c-Kit, stem cell antigen-1 (Sca-1); Islet-1 and platelet-derived growth factor receptor-alpha (PDGFR α +) (Ge et al. 2015). c-kit is a surface protein that acts as a receptor for stem cell factors triggering proliferation or differentiation (Marino et al. 2019; Foster et al. 2018). Mature cardiac myocytes do not possess c-kit, whereas the presence of c-kit on cardio stem cell surface suggests the ability of these cells to differentiate into several heart cell types (Ellison et al. 2013). For some period, the presence of c-kit on cardiac progenitor cells has been one of the main parameters used to define cardiac stem cells (Bearzi et al. 2007). However, it was shown that Isl1+ is also a marker of cardio progenitor cells capable of differentiation into three major cardiac cell types, i.e. CMs, endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells in vitro (Li et al. 2017). The combined technologies using mixture of mouse Isl1+ cardiac progenitor cells (CPCs) mixed with vehicle containing extracellular matrix (ECM) components fibrinogen and thrombin stimulated recovery of cardiac function in post-MI model (Wang et al. 2017). Cardiomyocytes, derived from the same mouse Isl1+ cardio progenitors spontaneously contracted and responded to β -adrenergic stimulation. The bone marrow MSC also comprise a category of cardiomyogenic, vasculogenic and/or fibrogenic c-kit-positive cells, whereas some c-kit-positive cells remain undifferentiated within the damaged heart (Czarna et al. 2017). The cardiomyogenic potential of c-kit positive cells was shown to be doubtful and so-called "String theory" (Keith and Bolli 2015). As endogenous c-kit positive cells within adult cardiac myocardium is negligibly small (Vicinanza et al. 2017), a large amount of biopsy tissue is required and long period of cultivation is required in order to derive clinically significant number of c-kit positive cells with doubtful heart regeneration result. All mentioned drawbacks forced research to find other cell candidates for cardiac tissue regeneration.

1.1.2 Cardio Progenitor Spheres-Derived Cells

Currently, another promising approach is gaining attention, i.e. employment of cardiac tissuederived spontaneously self-assembling cardioprogenitor spheres (CPS) for obtaining large numbers of cardiosphere-derived cells (CDC) that can be transplanted (Marban et al. 2012). progenitor spheres (CPS) contain Cardio predifferentiated stem-like cells that grown in 3D and high density were able to differentiate to cardiomyocyte and endothelial phenotype cells trough the NOTCH and Wnt pathways (Vukusic et al. 2013). CPSs are identified as population of autologous cardiac progenitor cells, obtained by outgrowing from the biopsy material, expanding and forming multicellular spheroid bodies, and most importantly capable to regenerate human



Fig. 2 Generation of heart tissue-derived cardiospheres and cardio-sphere-derived cells (CDC) used for transplantation

cardiomyocyte population (Fig. 2) (Davis et al. 2010).

CDC markers, beside c-kit, are more related to the adult mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), such as positive CD105 (the transforming growth factor- β subunit) and negative CD45 (a hematopoietic marker) (Ashur and Frishman 2018). CD105 positive canine CDC infused intravenously in a doxorubicin-induced mouse model of dilated cardiomyopathy improved cardiac function. decreased cardiac fibrosis and increased capillary density. Indeed, it was found that the autologous CDCs were able to better restore left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) than the MSCs in pigs with heart failure (Lee et al. 2011). Human heart biopsies-derived CDCs expressed gap-junction protein connexin 43 and possessed other adult MSC (also named as primary fibroblasts) markers such as CD105, CD90, CD73, endothelial cells markers (CD34, CD31), and were negative for hematopoietic markers (CD133, CD34, CD45) (Smith et al. 2007; Davis et al. 2009; Marban et al. 2012). Unlike mature CM, CDC cells express Ki67, a mitotic indicator located in the nucleus, and are neither striated nor rectangular.

When implanted into a rat heart, CDC demonstrated the ability to contract and expressed cardiac specific proteins (Marban et al. 2012). derived from human endocardium CDCs. biopsies, proliferate fast when cultured ex vivo and differentiate into endothelial cells, cardiac myocytes, smooth muscle cells and are considered to be one of the most promising autologous adult progenitor cells for cardiovascular therapy (Amini et al. 2017). It was shown that CDCs improve cardiac function, reduce scar size and promote viable myocardium in small and large animals with ischemic cardiomyopathy (Malliaras et al. 2013; Johnston et al. 2009; Lee et al. 2011; Smith et al. 2007). CDC improved cardiac contraction and mitochondrial capacity in a rat infarct model as compared to an infarcted heart injected with just a medium (Marunouchi et al. 2018). Human cardiac progenitor population secrete high level of grow factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1 and have not only direct but also paracrine effects on cardiac tissue preservation and angiogenesis (Chimenti et al. 2010). It has been demonstrated in large animal models that CDCs inhibit proliferation of reactive lymphocytes and have potent immunosuppressive activity mediated via PGE2 (Dutton et al. 2018). Despite these promising results, some studies showed that CDCs did not improve heart function in rat heart failure model (Kasai-Brunswick et al. 2017) as well as in rat dilated cardiomyopathy model (Wang et al. 2019).

Altogether, the main advantages of cardio progenitor cells in cardiac tissue regeneration include their ability to form 3D structures and/or organoids, better differentiate to various types of heart cells in comparison to 2D cultures *in vitro* and *in vivo*, safety and possibility of autologous use. Even if CPSs hold promise for cardiac regeneration, more efficient methodologies for their expansion, identification and delivery are needed.

1.1.3 Cardio Progenitors-Based Clinical Trials

Clinical trials with cardio progenitors as well as with pluripotent cells, allogeneic cell products and artificially-modified cells belong to the second-generation of cardiac trials investigating little known cell types such as cardio sphere c-kit + progenitor cells and/or cardiosphere-derived cells (CDC) (Banerjee et al. 2018). CDC delivery to human heart following infarction has caused significantly improved ejection fraction and reduced cardiac remodeling (Cohen and Gaudette 2009). This was demonstrated in a human clinical trial called Cardiac Stem Cells in Patients with Ischemic Cardiomyopathy, SCIPIO (Bolli et al. 2011). The cardiac progenitor cells were isolated from the right atrial biopsies and expanded. These cells were then injected within the vascular bypass graft and left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) was used to measure cardiac function. After 1 year, LVEF improved by 8% and in following 4 years – by 12%. Though this success is modest, it demonstrates the ability of cardio sphere-derived cells to return mechanical function to a damaged human heart.

Another successful clinical trial CADUCEUS (Cardiosphere-Derived Cells For Heart Regeneration After Myocardial Infarction) showed cardiosphere-derived cells decreasing scar mass and regenerating viable myocardium in both animal and human models (Makkar et al. 2012). Cardiac MRI showed a significant improvement in right ventricle EF, cardiac tissue regeneration, and an overall clinical improvement in heart failure status. Another promising application of CDCs is the use of allogeneic cell therapy (Kapelios et al. 2016). The ALLSTAR trial looked at the effects of intracoronary allogeneic stem cell infusion on patients with an anterior myocardial infarction (MI) within the prior year (Chakravarty et al. 2017). Using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), a 15% relative reduction in infarct size with a 4% improvement in EF has been demonstrated in the treatment group after 1 year. Patients with ischemic and nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy in ongoing clinical trial (DYNAMIC) have been treated with allogeneic myocardium-derived progenitors CDC and safety and efficacy of intracoronary infusion of allogeneic CDCs in patients was observed (Chakravarty et al. 2019). However, CPS and CDC-based clinical trials also have some limitations, i.e. lack of suitable biomarkers, requires big size of human heart biopsy, high heterogeneity of population, limited cardiomyogenic differentiation and functional adaptation, long lasting isolation and expansion procedures (65 days and longer until clinical use, which is a relatively long period for patients waiting for treatment). Many clinical trials were done and knowledge and expertise are building up, but many more trials and investigations need to be done for a better cardio regeneration result.

1.2 Pluripotent Stem Cells

In order to develop biomimetic tissues for successful cardiac regeneration and for studies *in vitro* it is necessary to choose right type of the cells with most intense cardio regenerative properties. Multiple studies have shown that pluripotent stem cells (PSC), i.e. embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) are the most efficiently self-renewing, indefinitely maintained and expanded in culture *in vitro* without losing pluripotent state cells that produce daughter cells with the same properties of the progenitor cell and differentiate into multiple cell types of therapeutic interest of all three germ layers (Peischard et al. 2017; Abou-Saleh et al. 2018). Both types of pluripotent cells are cultivated in 3D aggregates that mimic the natural human embryo growth factor gradient and cellcell interaction (Sachlos and Auguste 2008). Therefore, the pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes bring promising significance for basic research, disease modeling, drug development and regenerative medicine.

1.2.1 Embryonic Stem Cells

ESC are pluripotent stem cells derived from the inner cell mass of early stage embryo (Martin 1981). Although human ESC are derived from embryos or fetal tissue, they are not embryos by themselves (from the National Institutes of Health Guidelines for Research Using Human Pluripotent Stem Cells). Initially, the cultivation of human ESC (hESC) cells on mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) feeders was important for saving hESC pluripotency (Xu et al. 2001). However, for the generation of the cardiac tissue, the combined technologies using chemical inducers, cardio ECM and/or secreted components incorporated into hydrogel matrices and pluripotent cell derived-CM gave most promising results. Animal studies revealed cardiac environment triggering differentiation of murine ESC into functional cardiomyocytes and mediators belonging to the transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) family TGF-beta and BMP2 up-regulated mRNA of mesodermal (Brachyury) and cardiac specific transcription factors (Nkx2.5, MEF2C) (Behfar et al. 2002). To induce cardiogenesis, human ESCs have been also treated with TGF group stimulus activin A and BMP-4 (Laflamme et al. 2007). The hESC-CMs, obtained by incubation of hESC with pro-survival cocktail (30-min heat shock followed by RPMI-B27 medium supplemented with IGF1 and cyclosporine A) and injected into monkey MI models showed favorable effects (Chong et al. 2014).

Comparing cardioregenerative effect of hESC-CMs and hESC derivatives on infarcted rats myocardium revealed the predifferentiated hESC- CMs form more stable cardiomyocyte grafts, better attenuate the pathologic remodeling process and show functional benefit on the heart compared to undifferentiated pluripotent stem cells (Caspi et al. 2007). The clinical application of ESC for the cardiovascular or heart tissue regeneration requires linearization of ESC. Recently produced clinical-grade hESC-derived cardiovascular progenitors supported their short- and medium-term safety properties used in patients with severe ischemic left ventricular dysfunction (Menasche et al. 2018). However, the employment of ESC in regenerative medicine brings limiting ethical and safety issues forcing to investigate new types of pluripotent stem cells such as induced pluripotent cells (iPSC).

1.2.2 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells

The more than decade ago, introduction of pluripotent stem cells, generated from adult somatic cells, has revolutionized stem cell science as reviewed by the discoverers themselves (Yoshida and Yamanaka 2017). The main advantages of pluripotent stem cells, compared to the other types of stem cells, are their differentiation to specialized cell types of all three germ layers: endoderm (interior stomach lining, gastrointestinal tract, the lungs), mesoderm (muscle, bone, blood, urogenital), or ectoderm (epidermal tissues and nervous system), but not into extraembryonic tissues like the placenta both in vivo and in vitro. iPSCs, opposite to ESC, has no ethical limitations, can be autologous and provide an excellent platform for customized diseases' modeling, including cardiac, and therapeutic drug discovery (Matsa et al. 2014).

Similar to ESC, iPSC can be used to regenerate cardiovascular system (Kattman et al. 2011). Mesoderm stage pluripotent cells expressing Flk-1/KDR and PDGF receptor alpha, Activin/ Nodal and BMP4 signaling pathways potentially differentiate to cardiomyocytes (up to 60%). However, the need to optimize cardio differentiation conditions for individual human iPSC cultures in order to get the best functional response of heart tissue still exist (Kattman et al. 2011). Chemical mixture of bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4), inhibitor of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) CHIR99021 and ascorbic acid was sufficient to rapidly convert monolayercultured human iPSCs into homogeneous cardiovascular progenitors (Cao et al. 2013). Beside the chemical cardio induction, 3D self-assembling iPSC-based cardiac tissue biomimetics were most promising for cardiac regeneration. Heart tissue strips engineered from human induced pluripotent stem cell (hiPSC)-derived cardiomyocytes and hiPSC-derived endothelial cells and transplanted to infarcted guinea pig heart improved left ventricular function by 31% (Weinberger et al. 2016). Human iPSC-derived CM transplanted into infarcted guinea pig also created cardiomyocyte network, decreased scar size and improved left ventricle functioning (Castro et al. 2019). Human ESC and iPSCderived CM, when injected into infarcted murine hearts, have improved myocardium functions significantly better than un-differentiated pluripotent cells mainly through the secreted cardiac specific paracrine factors (Tachibana et al. 2017; Oikonomopoulos et al. 2018).

Although pluripotent cell application belongs to the second generation of clinical trials, broad clinical application of iPSC has also some limitations related to spontaneous mutations, heterogeneity of population, feeder-layer growth conditions, incomplete integration within heart tissue and insufficient recovery of beating functions. Despite some promising data, the usage of human ESCs have critical ethical limitations and remains controversial, whereas clinical trials with iPSC-derived phenotypic cells are still in their infancy and genetic instability remain to be solved before iPSC enter clinical settings with uncompromised safety.

1.3 Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal/ Medicinal Signaling Cells

It is agreed that heart tissue is not a postmitotic organ, constitute of cardiomyocytes, fibroblasts (or mesenchymal stromal cells), endothelial cells and have some, albeit limited, regenerative capacity (Bergmann et al. 2015). Since the adult human heart has very limited number of cardiac progenitor cells (Simpson et al. 2012), the mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs), having fibroblasts morphology and phenotype, can be successfully used for cardio regenerative purposes (Jackson et al. 2017; Denu et al. 2016). The mesenchymal stem cells was suggested to name "multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells", adult mesenchymal" or "adult stromal" cells (Horwitz et al. 2005). Recently it was suggested to rename MSC to "medicinal signaling cells" mainly due to discovered their paracrine effects (Caplan 2017). Adult tissue-derived MSCs are capable of dividing, renewing themselves, and differentiating into mesodermal type cells such as osteoblasts, chondrocytes, myocytes and adipocytes (Pittenger et al. 1999). Traditional isolation of MSC from bone marrow (BM) or other tissues is based on isolation of multinuclear cells and their cultivation in plastic-adherent way thus separating MSC from hematopoietic cells (Gronthos et al. 2003). However, the colonyforming adult MSCs are a mixture of mesenchymal, progenitor cells, endothelial and other type of the cells that must be purified and/or populations with the best cardiomyogenic potential (such as Sca-1) isolated (Seshi et al. 2000; Siegel et al. 2012). The identification of MSCs according to the expression of specific surface agents also is facing difficulty to find unique and specific biomarkers (Maleki et al. 2014). MSCs exert paracrine and autocrine effects via secretion a variety of cytokines and growth factors able to suppress immune cells, inhibit fibrosis and apoptosis, enhance angiogenesis, stimulate mitosis and differentiation of tissue progenitors and stem cells (Caplan and Dennis 2006).

The regenerative capacity of the human heart is around 1% at the age of 25, and decreases to 0.45% at the age of 75 (Bergmann et al. 2009). The regenerative potential of post infarcted heart is further reduced due to loosing huge amount of cardiomyocytes and causes heart failure (Olivetti et al. 1991). Therefore, the MSCs are extensively studied in fundamental, pre-clinical and clinical cardiac studies as additional cell source for regeneration purposes. MSCs of different origin were studied in the context of regeneration of heart tissues, some of them, namely human BM-MSC, adipose tissue-derived stem cells (ADSC) and dental pulp-derived MSC, were demonstrated to differentiate into cells with a cardiac phenotype expressing GATA4 and Nkx2.5 (Arminan et al. 2009). Adult smooth muscle (SM)-derived MSCs and ADSCs injected into the myocardium of nude mice 1 week after MI improved LVEF predominantly by reduction of infarct size and increasing vascularized granulation tissue in the border zone (Beitnes et al. 2012). However, despite improved LVEF and infarct size in nude rats, the human skeletal muscle-derived MSCs and ADSC did not transdifferentiate into cardiomyocytes or any vascular cells (Beitnes et al. 2012). Human amniotic epithelial cells and cord blood-derived MSCs were also successfully used to decrease areas of myocardial infarction in athymic nude rats (Fang et al. 2012). The combination of two types of stem cells, human BM-MSCs and c-kit(+) cardioprogenitors, were shown having better MI size reduction effect in Yorkshire swine hearts than individual cells (Williams et al. 2013).

Many studies suggest that MSCs are mitigating degeneration within myocardial infarction zone without actually directly replacing the lost tissue but rather by local modulatory effects. Such effects of MSC in myocardial infarction zone could be attributed to either paracrine factors, i.e. to numerous secreted growth factors, chemokines and cytokines that promote angiogenesis, prevent apoptosis and modulate inflammatory responses (Cunningham et al. 2018), or to cell-cell contact with or without fusing of cell membranes (Reinecke et al. 2000). The MSC secrete insulin-like growth factor (IGF) – an important growth factor not only for the MSC niche but also for the proliferation of cardiac myocytes in human embryo and in Zebrafish (Youssef et al. 2017; Huang et al. 2013). In addition, MSC secrete factors that are packed in exosomes and participate in cardiac repair. The growing body of evidence suggest exosomes, when isolated and applied clinically, are more safe, more efficient and with better therapeutic choice (Bagno et al. 2018). It is possible that the reduction of heart scar size, observed in MSC therapy, can be attributed to the induced myocyte proliferation and regulated Notch pathway (Xuan et al. 2020). Evidence suggests that some MSCs, i.e. monocyte subpopulation-derived MSCs (CD14+; CD45+; CD34+; type I collagen+), in prolonged (21 d.) co-cultures the with GFP-tagged cardiomyocytes induce generation of spontaneously beating human cardiomyocytes without cell fusion (Kodama et al. 2005). The anoxic pre-conditioning of MSCs used in the rat diabetic cardiomyopathy model also improved functioning of cardiomyocytes through the upregulation of Bcl-2/Bax ratio and inhibition of caspase-3 activation (Li et al. 2008). The bone marrow MSCs under hypoxic conditions secreted vascular endothelial factor (VEGF), which also benefit the native myocytes trough inhibition of miRNA-23a and miRNA-92a and suppression of cardiomyocyte apoptosis (Song et al. 2017). In addition, various types of injectable, fast gelling, and thermosensitive hydrogels have been tested to improve BM-MSC delivery to the injured rat heart sites in order to promote paracrine effects and tight muscle retention by grafted cells and to select most suitable for the grafting of cells into human heart and skeletal muscle tissues (Niu et al. 2019).

Many first-generation preclinical trials to treat acute or chronic MI have been performed with skeletal myoblasts, BM-MSC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells, ADSC, BM-MSC, embryonic endothelial cells, autologous unfractionated BM and other, whereas for the clinical trials the most popular were skeletal myoblasts, BM-MSC, ADSC and autologous unfractionated bone marrow with circulating MSC progenitors (Gathier et al. 2018; Sanganalmath and Bolli 2013). Nonrandomized clinical trials of skeletal myoblasts at the beginning gave encouraging results, but later on failed to confirm positive effects on the heart (Veltman et al. 2008). Adipose tissue, as well as BM-ADSC for a long time also have been attractive object of clinical trials possessing proangiogenic CD34+ MSC (Henry et al. 2017). Bone marrow MSC injected intracoronary have been also shown increased left ventricle ejection fraction (EF) in patients (Lipinski et al. 2007). Among most promising MSCs, umbilical cord-derived cells have been tested in patients with HF caused by ischemic cardiomyopathy and improved left ventricle ejection fraction (LVEF) and walking test (Fang et al. 2016). In addition, improved left ventricular function, functional status of heart and improved quality of life have also been reported in patients treated with umbilical cord MSCs (Bartolucci et al. 2017). However, it is still not clear which type of adult MSCs is the best for cardiomyogenic differentiation and heart regeneration, however, due to the safety, availability, high proliferation and differentiation potential, immune modulatory and migration properties, autologous and allogenic bone marrow-derived MSCs seems to be the most promising type of MSCs in cardiac engineering (Guo et al. 2018). Recently, a second generation of clinical trials using cardiac progenitors and/or pluripotent cell predifferentiated CM in combination with 3D technologies are taking over.

2 2D or 3D Cardiac Tissue Engineering Techniques: Advantages and Disadvantages

While designing cell-based therapies for cardiac dysfunctions or in vitro testing systems, a crucial step is to select an appropriate tissue culture model for in vitro experiments. The first cellbased technology to regenerate failed heart was developed by directly injection of autologous cardiomyocytes into mouse heart failure model (Soonpaa et al. 1994). Later on, other types of autologous cells such as skeletal myoblasts, BM-MSC and other types have been cultivated in 2D, dissociated and used to regenerate human heart tissue after injection (Menasche et al. 2001; Wollert et al. 2004). In order to get better cardiomyogenic differentiation response, 2D surfaces are often modified by precoating with ECM components. Precoating of cell growth surfaces by collagen I or laminin proteins was more effective in promoting cardiomyocyte interaction with 2D surface and cardiomyocyte maturation while peptide molecules, i.e. cell-adhesive arginine-glycine-aspartic oligopeptide, acid (RGD) did not provide comparable effects (LaNasa and Bryant 2009). Similar findings confirmed that RGD and YIGSR peptides can promote the same degree of cellular adhesion as their native proteins; however, they were unable to promote the signaling required for normal expression of focal adhesion kinase and complete sarcomere formation in cardiac myocytes (Boateng et al. 2005). Surface precoating with fibronectin, vitronectin, and stromal-derived factor-1 was also more effective for CM maturity and even viability compared to RGD (Gandaglia et al. 2012). Additionally, the different stiffness and elasticity of cell culture matrix are also strongly involved in regulation of cell differentiation potential (Engler et al. 2006). Thus, precoating cell culture surfaces with various ECM proteins and/or regulation surface morphology might induce more effective 2D cardiomyogenic differentiation.

2D cultivated and dissociated cells can be injected into the damaged heart tissue either intramyocardially (IM) or intracoronary infusion (IC), intravenous delivery and transendocardial injection (TESI) via catheter (Fisher et al. 2015; Fiarresga et al. 2015). However, the all ways of stem cell injection into the heart have some drawbacks: IM injections are time-consuming, cells are rapidly wash-out and need special catheterization laboratory (van den Akker et al. 2017). IC or other type of injections are quick and easy to perform but coronary artery or vein systems are often damaged and might cause a risk of embolism (Freyman et al. 2006). The retrograde coronary venous infusion (RCVI) is considered to be more safe way to inject stem cells into the heart, however, the problems of control of grafted cells viability and integration remains. Therefore, 2D cell sheets of various cell types have been developed and used for cardiac tissue engineering as an alternative to dissociated cells and/or scaffolds. Such sheets were transplanted into patients' hearts in order to recover damaged or attenuated/compromised cardiac functions (Sekine et al. 2011). Moreover, self-beating and contracting 3D cardiac tissue was made by stacking multi-cellular sheets (Achilli et al. 2012). Human cardiac progenitor cells cultivated sheets preserved their as phenotype, multipotency, decreased apoptosis and better improved heart regeneration compared to the regularly 2D cultivated cells (Forte et al. 2011). Altogether, cell-sheet stacking technology is among the most promising 2D cell cultivation technologies allowing to easily develop 3D tissue/organ engineering system *in vitro*.

Despite certain successful cardiomyogenic differentiation studies, 2D techniques do not fully mimic native environment of the human heart. Interestingly, one of the first engineered heart tissue was in 3D and contained chicken embryonic heart cells seeded in collagen I and producing beating and force-generating structures (Eschenhagen et al. 1997). Significant differences between 2D and 3D cardiac cultures were reported, including morphology of the cells, contraction ability, proliferation rate, presence of intercellular adhesion structures, organization of myofibrils, mitochondrial morphology and endoplasmic reticulum contents, cytoskeletal filaments, extracellular matrix distribution and expression of cardiac differentiation markers (Soares et al. 2012). Maturation of human ESC-derived CM on 3D fibrin-based cardiac patch compared to 2D monolayer cultures was also better (Zhang et al. 2013). Next organizational levels would be various cell types-containing organoids and, indeed, cardiomyocyte-, endothelial cells- and fibroblasts- containing cardio organoids exhibit good mechanical integration and can be regarded as a promising technology (Ong et al. 2017). In addition, heart tissue engineering in 3D requires several important choices: relevant substrate chemistry and structure, proper stiffness, required biocompatibility and disintegration over the time (Mathur et al. 2016). Such spatial environment-defined modulations of cellular functions are crucially important when designing studies for the investigation of cardiac drugs, growth factors and/or toxic substances. Although 3D cell culture systems, compared to the 2D systems, have been shown to better recreate conditions and microenvironment of heart tissue and are increasingly used in research and clinical settings, both cardiac models in vitro are facing the main problem - lack of complete cardiac cell maturation including cell morphology changes, electrophysiological, calcium stores and calciumdependent excitation-contraction coupling measurements, contractile force, metabolic maturation, expression of myofilament proteins and other (Karbassi et al. 2020). An overview of differences between 2D and 3D cardiac culture technologies is summarized in the Table 1. Both, 2D and 3D technologies have some advantages and disadvantages and should be chosen depending on the research and/or therapeutic purposes.

3 Matrices for Cardiac Tissue Engineering and Repair Studies

3D cell culture methods for cardiac regeneration include a) scaffold-free, self-assembling 3D aggregates or spheroids; b) cell cultures within hydrogel matrices; c) cell cultures within synthetic scaffolds or decellularized native matrices.

3.1 Self-assembling 3D Aggregates

The term 'spheroid' refers to 3D, well-rounded cell aggregate consisting of one cell type (homospheres) multiple cell or types (heterospheres or organoids) that better mimic in vivo tissue physiology and are suitable for in vitro drug screening (Huebsch et al. 2016), cell generation, expansion and differentiation for regenerative purposes (Xu et al. 2016), direct therapeutic cell implantations (Zhang et al. 2018) and other applications. In order to form spheroids, cell suspension is transferred to specialized microenvironment, where cell-cell contacts and compact multicellular spheroid structures are established (Moshksayan et al. 2018). Self-assembling cell spheres do not need additional scaffolds and can be used to investigate various effects of cell-cell interactions that make them highly relevant for in vitro disease modelling, drug screening and therapeutic applications. Multicellular spheroids comprise inner sphere gradients according to the cell proliferation rate, polarity and certain gene expression. In addition, uneven drug or nutrition penetration across the layers differently affect

Cell-based			
regeneration			
technologies	Advantages	Disadvantages	Citation
2D cell cultures	Easy cultivation and injection to heart; good cell number control. Easy cell assays <i>in vitro</i> and electrophysiological measurements (patch clamp, sharp electrodes)	Low amount and viability of grafted cells; difficult to control cell growth orientation and place; no pre-injection ECM; low differentiation and functional adaptation <i>in vivo</i>	Soonpaa et al. (1994), Menasche et al. (2001), Wollert et al. (2004), Fiarresga et al. (2015), van den Akker et al. (2017)
2D cell cultures on modified surfaces	Better cell attachment, viability, and differentiation potential compared to not modified surfaces. Easy cell assays and measurements <i>in vitro</i>	Difficult to control cell growth environment, still low grafted cell viability, amount and adaptation <i>in vivo</i>	LaNasa and Bryant (2009), Boateng et al. (2005), Gandaglia et al. (2012)
2D cell sheets	Better cell-cell contacts at the edges; preserved cell surface proteins; better cell survival and sheet adherence on the tissue; high cell density; better regeneration properties than dissociated 2D cultures, easy to identity cells in vitro	Complicated transplantation and cell number control; cells interact with ECM from one side	Zuppinger (2016), Hata et al. (2010)
3D cell sheet stacks	Less of apoptosis; presence of ECM; can make organoids from heterogenic cell populations; do not need scaffolds; high cell density. Cells interact with ECM in several dimensions; better tissue regeneration	Complicated transplantation; bad cell number control. Hard to identify cells <i>in vitro</i> . Problems with mechanical and electrophysiological tests	Edmondson et al. (2014), Forte et al. (2011)
3D self- assembling cultures	Better cell-cell contacts, cell junctions, cell surface proteins; better cell morphology and intracellular parameters; ability to make heterogenic cultures- based organoids	Possibility of coronary occlusion; uneven size, gradients of oxygenation and nutrition penetration in spheres. Problems with cell identification assays in vitro mechanical and electrophysiological tests	Eschenhagen et al. (1997), Huebsch et al. (2016), Xu et al. (2016), Davis et al. (2009) Moshksayan et al. (2018), Soares et al. (2012), Zhang et al. (2018)
3D cultures in hydrogels	Better cell sphere oxygenation, nutrition supplement; cell concentration; secretion of paracrine factors; ECM generation; co-cultures for organoids <i>in vitro</i>	Biocompatibility problems; problems with cell injection and into heart and assays <i>in vitro</i> , mechanical and electrophysiological tests	Li et al. (2016), Kang et al. (2017), Masumoto and Yamashita (2018), Koivisto et al. (2019), Ikonen et al. (2013)
3D cultures on scaffolds	Ability to modify cell growth surface; mechanical and electrical stimulation assays in vitro and better cell maturation	Week cell attachment, biodegradability and biocompatibility problems; transplantation problems to the heart; diffusion gradients of oxygen, nutrients and waste still present; problems with electrophysiological tests	Ravichandran et al. (2013), Amand and Esmaeili (2020), Macadangdang et al. (2014), Huang et al. (2018)

 Table 1
 Summarized characteristics of 2D and 3D cell-based technologies

cell phenotype and functional capabilities (Davis et al. 2009). Moreover, cell–cell and cell-ECM interaction differ in 2D cultures and 3D spheroids, as well as between 3D spheroid cell layers strongly affecting cell susceptibility and properties (Soares et al. 2012).

Several well-established methods to form spheroids are known, including hanging drop cultures, spinner cultures and microfluidics, pellet cultures on low adherent surfaces and cell monolayer-fed spheroids (Achilli et al. 2012; Ong et al. 2017; Fennema et al. 2013) (Fig. 3).

The Hanging Drop (gravity-assisted cell assembly) method comprises formation of cellular aggregates in drops of cell culture medium hanging down from the surface, allowing for more precise control of spheroid size compared to other spheroid forming techniques (Fennema et al. 2013). However, culture medium supplementation in long-term hanging drop cultures may become challenging. Human bone marrowand adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem

cells, Isl1(+) cardiac progenitors derived from human embryonic stem cells (hESC-Isl1(+) cells) and undifferentiated human induced pluripotent cells (hiPSCs) were all subjected to hanging drops technique to generate scaffold free, 3D-like cardio tissue to enhance cellular engraftment and survival (Emmert et al. 2013). However, the hanging drop cardio tissue technology is not so popular for cardiomyogenic differentiation due to difficulty to change media for long-term cell cultivation. The novel hanging drop technology, i.e. pipe based microbioreactor setup was used to make heterogenic cardio spheres from cardiomyocytes, fibroblasts and endothelial cells that are promising 3D cardio tissue biomodels for the investigation cardio toxic drugs such as doxorubicin and other (Polonchuk et al. 2017).

Spinner Culture and Microfluidics Spheroids can be formed under dynamic culture conditions, i.e. in stirred bioreactors and microfluidic systems. This approach permits large-scale production of spheroids. Human pluripotent stem



Fig. 3 Self-assembling cell technologies for cardio regeneration

cells were differentiated to ventricular-like cardiomyocytes using 100 mL spinner flasks and resulted in contracting embryonic bodies (EBs) with a heterogeneous size (350-600 mm in diameter) (Kempf et al. 2014). Pluripotent stem cell lines-derived CM were identified and cell aggregate size, agitation rate and other parameters were optimized reaching 80-99% efficiency of cardiac differentiation in bioreactor prototype for automation of cell manufacturing and drug testing assays (Chen et al. 2015). Human pluripotent stem cells were also successfully used to generate cardio spheroid-on-a-chip model using microfluidic channel slide system and Wnt pathway modulators. This system allowed to generate cardiac spheroids of uniform structure, each consisting of approximately 2500 cells (~250 µm in diameter) for further differentiation to functional cardiomyocytes (Christoffersson et al. 2018). However, the fluidic system-based production of CM can have some disadvantages: flow-induced shear stress effects as well as production of nonuniform size spheroids in bioreactors (Ting et al. 2014).

Low Adherent Surfaces Cellular aggregates may be produced by cultivation of cell suspension ultra-low commercially available on or non-adherent U or V shape bottom plates or surfaces, precoated with not adherent chemicals (Archer et al. 2018). It was shown that beating spheroids might be produced as early as in 3 days by mixing cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, fibroblasts by 3D printing and culturing in media mixtures on commercially available low adhesion dishes (Ong et al. 2017). CM and/or cardiac fibroblasts can be used as building blocks to form larger microtissues by fusing homotypic and heterotypic spheroids and seeding them in low-binding wells, i.e. coated by agarose (Kim et al. 2018). Human cardiac microvascular endothelial cells. rat neonatal ventricular cardiomyocytes and human normal dermal fibroblasts and human coronary artery endothelial cells were cultured in low binding plates prior to the successful transplantation into rat hearts (Noguchi et al. 2016). Self-organization method

has been also applied for long-term culturing of rat cardiomyocytes and fibroblasts on the laminin. Approximately 180 h after plating, the monolayer of cells began to detach from the periphery of the laminin substrate and contractile cardiac tissue started to form (Baar et al. 2005). Self-organized microtissues have been reported to express α and β -tropomyosin, but little or no SERCA2a expression was detected. Production of cardiomyocyte cultures from rat iPSC and rat EC cultivated on feeder-free surface coated with low binding agarose surface and stimulated by ascorbic acid and Wnt pathway modulators was also reported (Dahlmann et al. 2018).

Cell-Feeder-Layer-Based Spheres The potential of ESC and iPSC to differentiate into functional cardiomyocytes depends on growth conditions, various types of differentiation inducers and feeder layers. It was shown that highly contractile cardiomyocytes may be obtained from iPSC by growing them on human gingival fibroblasts as a feeder cells in vitro (Matsuda et al. 2018). Feeder layer-based cardiomyocytes increased expression of troponin T (cTnT), decreased levels of pluripotent markers, exhibited robust sarcomere structure and significantly stronger contractility in comparison to feederless cardiomyocytes (Matsuda et al. 2018). Mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and human foreskin fibroblasts (hFFs) also have been used as feeder layers for the cardiac differentiation of human EC and iPSC (Pekkanen-Mattila et al. 2012). However, certain feeder layers can contaminate human cells with animal cell components and impair cell homogeneity, induce spontaneous differentiation and negatively affect final cardio differentiation response.

3.2 Native Compound-Based 3D Matrices for Cardio Regeneration

Matrices for the 3D cardiac tissue engineering and regenerative purposes may be comprised of natural biomaterials such as collagen, fibronectin, chitosan, alginate, hyaluronic acid, and albumin (Srinivasan and Sehgal 2010), synthetic fibers, like poly-ε-caprolactone (PCL), poly-lactic acid (PLA), poly-glycolide (PGA) (Jenkins and Little 2019; Mani et al. 2019; Zong et al. 2005) and their combinations (Ravichandran et al. 2013; de Pinho et al. 2019). In addition, decellularized native eukaryotic (Hata et al. 2010) as well as plant origin (Gershlak et al. 2017) matrices are also used as a scaffolds for cardio cell cultures. All types of scaffolds should be designed focusing on their biocompatibility, biodegradability and capabilities to be used in combination with conductive or other bioactive materials (Fig. 4).

In general, native compound-based scaffolds offer possibilities to recapitulate myocardial architecture, size and shape required for cell cultivation, high-precision surface topography and functionality. Increasingly rapid development of biomaterials provides growing number of fiber types that can be employed to make scaffolds as well as methods, including electrospinning, lithography, micro-photopatterning, melt-blowing and microfluidics adopted scaffolds (Amand and Esmaeili 2020; Macadangdang et al. 2014; Huang et al. 2018; Jenkins and Little 2019). Injectable type of hydrogel-based 3D technique is also popular mode of cardiac regeneration strategies *both in vivo* and *in vitro* and already has a therapeutic application. Hydrogels, similar to scaffolds, can be made from natural or synthetic polymers and/or their combination for tailored, tissue specific, applications.

The expertise on cell-loaded-hydrogel application, i.e. direct cell injection to the specific sites requiring treatment, comes from successful application in anti-tumor treatment (Liang et al. 2019). Many traditional hydrogels, that perform well in the *in vitro* studies, cannot be applied for minimally invasive catheter-based stem cell delivery to the heart tissue *in vivo* due to high viscosity and rapid gelation. To increase efficiency of functional engraftment of scaffolds/hydrogels based cells, the appropriate balance between cell type, their carriers and delivery methods should be taken into account.

Collagen Among natural biomaterials, collagen type I and III are the major heart ECM



Fig. 4 Scaffolds- and hydrogels-based matrices for cardio regeneration

components used in heart tissue engineering with great biocompatibility, adhesiveness, porosity, mechanical support and integration needed for natural scaffolds (Srinivasan and Sehgal 2010). Collagen I is a main component of connective tissue and the most abundant protein in mammals (up to 25-30% of whole-body proteins), which mutations are strongly associated with human connective tissue disorders (Di Lullo et al. 2002). Collagen by itself may prevent cardiac remodeling, promote angiogenesis and inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis (Serpooshan et al. 2013). When combined with growth factors and cells collagen constructs are even more beneficial (Shi et al. 2011). It was shown that cardio progenitors cultured in 3D collagen/matrigel constrained hydrogels became readily mechanosensitive, had a rod-shaped morphology and oriented growth direction, increased expression of ECM components such as collagen I, colfibronectin lagen III. elastin and and cardiomyogenic differentiation markers (van Marion et al. 2015). The neonatal rats heartderived cells cultivated on collagen I-based hydrogels improved cardio cell differentiation and functioning of post-infarcted rat heart (Zimmermann et al. 2006). Furthermore, the addition of collagen I to Matrigel-based hydrogels enhanced matrix stiffness and maturation of H9 embryonic stem-cell line-derived ventricular cardiomyocytes (Edalat et al. 2019). Addition of collagen within synthetic scaffolds also gave positive effects to cardioregeneration (Ravichandran et al. 2013).

Fibronectin and its polymerization product fibrin is another attractive natural material due to good biocompatibility with the cells, availability from patient's circulation (autologous whenever needed), plasticity to combine with other polymers, incorporate small peptides and growth factors, and fibrin's neovascularization and cardio regeneration properties (Ardila et al. 2019; Xiong et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2006). Fibronectin is one of ECM proteins responsible for cell adhesion, survival, migration and, importantly, differentiation (Jung et al. 2016). Among five different ECM proteins used in cardiac engineering: collagen I, fibronectin, gelatin, laminin and a gelatin/fibronectin mixture, fibronectin is the best in supporting cell adhesion and proliferation, whereas gelatin - in the cardiomyogenic differentiation (Choi et al. 2013). Human MSC grown on micropatterned prolonged fibronectin strips exhibited activated mechanotransduction pathways and improved cardiomyogenic differentiation (Tijore et al. 2015). Human ADSC were also able to differentiate into cardiac cells on fibrin as well as myoblasts injected with fibrin glue improved decreased infarct size (Bagheri-Hosseinabadi et al. 2017; Christman et al. 2004). The human iPSC-derived cardiac cell transferred from temperature responsive silicone gels to fibrin gel allowed to generate cardiac cell sheet-tissues with dynamically beating properties. The contractile force of such cardiac cell sheettissues was around 1mN and the mean force value per cross-sectional area of 3.3 mN/mm2 (Sasaki et al. 2018). Fibronectin is often substituted by RGD peptide that binds cell's cytoskeleton and thus promotes cell adhesion and differentiation just like full length protein does (Sondermeijer et al. 2008). However, the full-length fibronectin protein was shown having better effect on cardiomyogenic differentiation than its RGD fragment.

Laminin is a high a high-molecular weight (400-900 kDa) protein of the ECM. It is a major component of basal lamina and regulates cell adhesion, migration and differentiation trough different expression of laminin-binding integrins (Shibata et al. 2020). Preclinical studies have shown that human ADSC grown on 3D biodegradable microcarriers that could release growth factors in a prolonged manner undergo cardiomyogenic differentiation environment and subsequently improve heart function (Karam et al. 2015). Precoating of microcarriers with laminin stimulated the expression of cardiac markers more effectively in comparison to fibronectin (Karam et al. 2015). Replacement of fulllength laminin with its fragment YIGSR (represents amino acids Tyr-Ile-Gly-Ser-Arg) was also used with similar success (Boateng et al. 2005). Peptide-enriched scaffolds may promote contractility and functional capacity of the seeded cells even more efficiently than proteins do, without side effects and costs associated with proteins (Gandaglia et al. 2012). Scaffold modifications and their effects on the quality of engineered heart tissue are widely researched not only *in vitro* but *in vivo* as well (Yu et al. 2009, 2010).

Albumin is the most abundant plasma protein with molecular weight of 66.5 kDa. Solution of albumin has native globular conformation and need chemical modification for example with trifluoroethanol to become spinnable (Regev et al. 2010). Similar collagen and fibronectin, albumin is inexpensive and biocompatible. Three-dimensional cardiac patch fabricated from albumin fibers was more suitable for the generation of the functional cardiac tissue with higher beating rate and better contraction compared to synthetic poly(e-caprolactone) fibrous scaffolds (Fleischer et al. 2014). The multifunctional scaffolds were composed of electrospun albumin fibers that served as both a substrate and a passivation layer for cardiomyocytes seeded that organized into a functional cardiac tissue (Feiner et al. 2018). Cardiac cells were able to assembled into a functioning patch on nanocomposite scaffolds comprised of albumin electrospun fibers and gold nanorods (AuNRs) (Malki et al. 2018). The scaffolds were able to absorb light, change it to thermal energy and positively affect functioning of cardiac cells. Bovine serum albumin microbubbles incorporated in the polyethylene glycol-fibrinogen hydrogel (PFHy) scaffold improved H₂S release and favored the proliferation and differentiation of human Sca-1(pos) cardiac progenitor cells (hCPCs) (Mauretti et al. 2016). Such albumin microbubbles can be used as carriers of various bioactive compounds.

Hyaluronan (HA) also known as hyaluronic acid, is an anionic, nonsulfated glycosaminoglycan and is one of the most abundantly natural component of connective, epithelial and neural tissues (Garcia et al. 2019). HA, similarly to collagen, is one of the most abundant components of ECM and was shown to be involved in cardiac cell adhesion, healing of infarcted cardiac tissue and regulation of inflammatory responses in porcine model (Chen et al. 2014), rats (Chen et al. 2013) and in humans (Bonafe et al. 2014). Human CDC seeded onto hyaluronan and porcine gelatin hydrogels were tested in a mouse model of myocardial infarction and have improved cell retention, engraftment and efficacy in preclinical studies (Cheng et al. 2012). The pre-transplantational encapsulation of CDC cells stem cells into the HA-succinimidyl succinate hydrogels promoted cell viability and attachment, reduced cell apoptosis and improved angiogenesis (Chan et al. 2015). Chemical modifications of native materials for cardiac regeneration are widely popular. For the development of the heart tissue models in vitro native hydrogels are often modified by synthetic compounds, e.g. HA-based hydrogels might be enriched with synthetic ECM molecules for bioprinting techniques (Prestwich 2011), thiolated hyaluronic acid-based hydrogels might be crosslinked with poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate for better stiff-(Young ness and Engler 2011). Pre-transplantational encapsulation of CDC into the HA succinimidyl succinate reduces cell loss during injection procedure due to apoptosis, improved cells attachment and engraftment in the target area (Chan et al. 2015). Hyaluronic acid can also promote heart tissue healing and regulate inflammation in infarcted myocardium (Abdalla et al. 2013).

Alginate a natural hydrophilic polysaccharide, is a component resembling glycol part of cardio ECM. Alginate can be obtained with wide range of molecular weight (32–400 kDa) and have two long chains (Kong et al. 2003). Alginate is mainly used as a drug or cell carrier and is one of the main components of injectable hydrogels. The first-in-man pilot study showed improved revascularization and functioning of pot-infarcted man heart after injection of alginate and calcium gluconate-based hydrogels (Frey et al. 2014). Patients with advanced chronic heart failure were successfully treated with alginate-based hydrogels injected into the left ventricle heart muscle in addition to standard medical therapy and showed better results compared to patients receiving only standard medical therapy alone (Anker et al. 2015). The combination of alginate with graphene oxide showed high anti-oxidant activities of hydrogel and was used to decrease a shear stress during MSC transplantation into post infarcted hearts (Choe et al. 2019a). Alginate is also used as a matrix for cells that prevents cell emigration while supporting secretory phenotype (Karpov et al. 2019). The RGD peptide-modified alginate micro-hydrogels protected encapsulated hMSC against oxidative stress (Choe et al. 2019b). The conductive properties of injectable alginate-based hydrogels to restore cardio electrical impulses can be also improved by its combination of alginate with nontoxic polypyrrole (Ketabat et al. 2017).

Some of the natural scaffolds mentioned above are already in clinical trials and about to enter clinical practice, i.e. cell-loaded collagen patches significantly improved post myocardial thickness of the infarct scar and helped to normalize cardiac wall stress in injured regions in comparison to the cells only group (Chachques et al. 2007) or alginate scaffolds that are used to treat myocardium remodeling after infarction (Frey et al. 2014).

Chitosan is a glycosaminoglycan composed of alternating units of N-acetyl-d-galactosamine and d-glucuronic acid and was reported to be able to maintain high concentration of growth factors and strong cellular receptor adhesion due to its hydrophilicity providing long-term release of bioactive molecules within the injection sites (Hussain et al. 2013). Chitosan is the partial deacetylated cationic polymer derived from chitin, which is obtained from the shells of crabs and shrimp. Chitosan-based hydrogel also improved the microenvironment and enhanced the retention and engraftment of rat ADSC transplanted into infarcted rat hearts (Wang et al. 2014). Chitosan provides good hydrophilicity and cell adhesion properties (Amand and Esmaeili 2020; Hussain et al. 2013), whereas alginate and gelatin

nanofibers provides superior cell motility, proliferation and ventricular cardiomyocyte maturation (Majidi et al. 2018). The adhesion and migration properties of cardiac cell co-cultures on chitosan scaffold were further improved by precoating the scaffold with fibronectin (Hussain et al. 2013) as well as by the addition of RGD fragments which increased adhesion of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes, prevented cell apoptosis and accelerated cardiac tissue regeneration (Shachar et al. 2011).

Combined-Type Scaffolds The contractile force of engineered cardio cells depends not only on cellular content within the scaffolds, cell alignment and/or maturation level, but also on the mechanical and electrical properties of used scaffold and good biocompatibility with the cells. To obtain such results with one type of scaffold material is impossible, therefore, increasing number of studies investigate combined types of scaffolds from various components. Pure synthetic polymeric scaffolds are usually stiffer, easier to process, they provide better properties needed for heart biomechanics and contraction studies in vitro, but they are less biocompatible and have low cell adherence properties compared to the natural scaffolds (Jenkins and Little 2019). In order to get artificial polymers more biocompatible with the cardiac cells, precoating of scaffolds with ECM proteins or their components are broadly used.

The most popular synthetic scaffold in cardiac field poly(ε -caprolactone) (PCL) scaffold made of spring-like structure and coated with fibronectin better mitigated mechanical properties of rat left ventricle-derived CM compared to the linear ones (Fleischer et al. 2013). For the better stimulation cardiomyogenic differentiation, PCL can be also mixed with the conductive carbon nano particles (Crowder et al. 2013). The aligned poly(- ε -caprolactone)/gelatin (PG) composite closer matched the requirements of native cardiac anisotropy than random PG scaffolds (Kai et al. 2011). PG fibers increased hydrophilicity and lower stiffness compared to electrospun PCL nanofibers. Humans MSC cultivated on 3D aligned PCL scaffolds precoated with different ECM proteins revealed collagen coating to be the best for the cardiomyogenesis (Ghosh et al. 2019). Combination of two poly(L-lactic acid) (PLA) and PCL, scaffolds with gelatin and vascular endothelial growth factor improved cardiomyogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) (Tian et al. 2013). Thermoformed PCL/gelatin/fibrinogen scaffolds, precoated with fibronectin and collagen IV were also used in order to develop human tissueengineered vascular grafts (Ardila et al. 2019). The mixture of synthetic (poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLG) and natural proteins (gelatin, alpha elastin and/or fibrin) showed good cytocompatibility with myoblasts and bone marrow MSC for cardiomyogenic differentiation (Li et al. 2006). Mixture of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)/NCO-sP(EO-stat-PO) polymers can be used as carriers of cardioactive growth factor Neuregulin-1 (Nrg) regenerating rat heart after myocardial ischemia (Simon-Yarza et al. 2015).

Other types of composed scaffolds such as electrospun chitosan nanofibers with gelatin and polyurethane have been proposed to be suitable material for cardiac valves, i.e. endothelial cells grown on the scaffold withstood shear stress and showed good cell retention properties (Cynthia et al. 2010). It was also shown that different stiffness and Young's modulus of collagen I-laminated polyacrylamide gels can change cytoskeletal structure of fibroblasts, endothelial cells and neutrophils, i.e. softer than 1600 Pa scaffold prohibited expression of actin fibers (Yeung et al. 2005). The application of collagen-like synthetic self-assembling nanofibers hydrogels in combination with hyaluronic acid supported growth of human cardiomyocytes (Ikonen et al. 2013). In order to avoid biocompatibility problems, the direct injection of nanofiber gel with glycosaminoglycan (GAG) mimetic peptide in the post MI rodent heart also improved heart functioning (Rufaihah et al. 2017). The surface glycosylation such as sialo-glycoproteins, N-glycans and fucosylation are also being employed in hiPSCs cardio differentiation revealing the N-acetyl-Dglucosamine structures emerging on immature hiPSC-derived cardiomyocytes (Konze et al. 2017).

Altogether, different types of synthetic polymers in cardio regeneration have generated positive results only when used in combination with natural components.

Other Bioactive **Components** Bioactive compounds are used not only to promote cardiomyocytes' adhesion but also proliferation, differentiation and angiogenesis and can be incorporated into engineered scaffolds and hydrogel substrates. Variety of methods are used to introduce functional groups into the scaffolds and hydrogels, including chemical reactions, photo-induced grafting, plasma treatment, physical adsorption, bulk mixing in, molecular imprinting and combinations thereof (Tallawi et al. 2015). Biomolecules such as, growth factors, cytokines, chemokines, peptides and their combinations with scaffolds' surface topography, porosity and other morphological modifications thereof are used to improve cardiomyogenic differentiation. Growth factors are small, soluble, signaling molecules with specific locally supporting roles, receptors and distribution. They are important players in post-myocardial infarction healing, including granulocyte colonystimulating factor (G-CSF) (Minatoguchi et al. 2004); stromal-derived growth factor (SDF-1) (Gong et al. 2019); leukemia inhibitory factor (Zou et al. 2003); insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) (Musaro et al. 2004); members of TGF- β superfamily such as TGF- β 1 and GDF11 (Su et al. 2019); vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Chen et al. 2006), erythropoietin (Calvillo et al. 2003), neuregulin-1 (Simon-Yarza et al. 2015). Many chemical compounds and their combinations are also used to induce cardiomyogenic differentiation such 1H-pyrrole,2,2'-(phenylmethylene)bis compound named 31,002 (Kim et al. 2011); DNA methylase inhibitors (Gasiuniene et al. 2019); inhibitors of WNT pathway such as KY02111 (Minami et al. 2012), deletion of GSC-3 β pathway (Gupte et al. 2020), ascorbic acid and other. However, the science of stem cells and tissue engineering still

drives the cardiac research to search for the best combination of bioactive compounds and scaffolds for better cell adhesion, proliferation and cardio differentiation properties.

3.3 Hydrogels and Scaffolds with Special Functions

Successful regeneration and engineering of cardiac tissue requires a functional scaffold to support cells and mimic heart tissues. Often modifications are essential for cell attachment, growth and differentiation. A combination of different techniques is often necessary for the achievement of optimal results.

3.3.1 pH Sensitive Hydrogels

It is known, that local pH in the area of myocardial injury is lower than in normal cardiac tissues due to the inflammation (Lin et al. 2005). Therefore, a hydrogel that is responsive to the specific pH can be employed while targeting infarction area. Based on these findings, several injectable and pH hydrogels suitable for the delivery of cellular content via myocardial injection has been developed and tested (Li et al. 2011). These hydrogels solidify at the lower pH at the infarcted heart sites but do not solidify in the blood stream. Thus, they can be injected via minimally invasive procedures. N-isopropylacrylamide, propylacrylic acid, methacrylate poly (ethylene oxide) methoxy ester or similar polymers might be used. In addition, hydrogels degrade in pH-dependent manner and their effect to the growth of cells and expression of cardiac markers, like cardiac troponin T, myosin heavy chain α , calcium channel CACNA1c, cardiac troponin I, and connexin 43, varies accordingly. Furthermore, another promising finding showed that the pH (low) insertion peptide (pHLIP) coated liposomes enable targeting cells in tissues with low pH (Sosunov et al. 2013). The pH sensitive liposomes were tested in regional and ischemic murine ischemia models revealing the pH sensitive compounds being promising in targeted delivery of cardio treatment strategies (Sosunov et al. 2013). Chitosan-based pH-sensitive injectable hydrogel with instant gelation can be also developed and improved myocardial regeneration via injected ADSC (Alimirzaei et al. 2017). The pH- and temperature-responsive random copolymer, poly(N-isopropylacrylamide-copropylacrylic acid-co-butyl acrylate) can be used to carry fibroblast or other growth factor to the ischemia rat model improving therapeutic effects (Garbern et al. 2011).

3.3.2 Photo-Reactive Hydrogels

Another group of hydrogels that recently have been used for the cardiac regeneration are photoreactive hydrogels. Kang et al. tested various photo crosslinked hydrogels composed of gelatin/poly-ethylene methacrylated glycol diacrylate/alginate for their effects on encapsulated human ADSCs, aortic valve interstitial cells and aortic valve sinus smooth muscle cells. Authors have reported that oxidative stress increased during photo crosslinking procedure, which resulted in lower cell viability (Kang et al. 2017). However, acellular cytocompatible photo-crosslinked hydrogels loaded with chemokines were employed to promote cellular immigration in the tissue and regeneration. Controlled and sustained release of SDF1 was demonstrated. controlled by density of crosslinking showing preserved functional activity of SDF1 (Schesny et al. 2014). This system can be used also as a drug or other compound delivery mean to the heart during treatment of cardiovascular ischemic disease (Schesny et al. 2014). In situ photopolymerizable PEGylated fibrinogen (PF) hydrogels also showed better maturation of human embryonic stem cells and rat neonatal cardiomyocytes (Shapira-Schweitzer et al. 2009). The employment of photo-reactive hydrogels in human cardiac tissue engineering brings a promise of tunable mechanical properties in a very precise location as reviewed by Choi et al. (Choi et al. 2019).

3.3.3 Temperature Responsive Hydrogels

Temperature responsive polymers were successfully used to prepare 2D and 3D cell sheets for transplantation (Masumoto and Yamashita 2018). Pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiac tissue 3D sheets with several cardiac cell lineages were stacked and clues for functional vascular network were included. After transplantation of iPSC within temperature-responsive hydrogels resulted in successful development of vascular network and long-term survival of transplanted constructs (Masumoto and Yamashita 2018). Using poly (N-isopropylacrylamide) (PIPAAm), а temperature-responsive polymer, which changes the property of culture surface from hydrophilic to hydrophobic with the temperature change, iPSC cell-derived CM, endothelial and mural cells' sheets were created. These heterogenic cell sheets regenerated human myocardium and functionally recovered rat infarcted heart functions mainly by paracrine mechanisms (Masumoto et al. 2014). The combination of temperature responsive silicone with fibrin gels allowed to generate human iPSC-derived cardiac cell sheets with dynamically beating properties (Sasaki et al. 2018).

3D cardiac tissues were also fabricated by stacking multicellular sheets on thermo-responsive polymers that spontaneously contracted and synchronically pulsated. 3D heterogeneous cell sheets can be also used to fabricate capillary-like network making transplantation and other manipulations more feasible (Haraguchi et al. 2012). Recently, poly-L-lysine- or laminin-coated reverse thermal gels were used to engineer cardiac-like tissue. The biopolymers provided a liquid-based cardiac cells delivery vehicle, which transitioned into hydrogel matrix shortly after reaching body temperature and supported cardiomyocyte phenotype (Pena et al. 2016). The laminin-based reverse thermal gels showed better heart regeneration properties than poly-L-lysine-based. Moreover, thermosensitive and highly flexible poly(N-isopropylamide) (PNIPAAm)-based hydrogels can be used in static and dynamic stretching conditions (11-40 kPa) and improve cardiac differentiation of CDC (Li et al. 2016). Altogether, temperature responsive hydrogels enable growth and easy collection of homo- or heterogenic 3D cellular constructs while preserving cell-cell and cell-ECM proteins connections.

3.3.4 Electroconductive Hydrogels

Electroconductive hydrogels have very promising implications in heart tissue regeneration since rhythm generation, support and/or its regulation technologies are of special importance for proper functioning of heart biomatrices (Hosoyama et al. 2019). It has become increasingly clear, that not only muscle defect but also electrophysiological function of the heart tissue might be restored with some currently used hydrogels. The electrophysiological function of human iPS-derived cardiomyocytes grown attached to gelatin-gellan gum hydrogels recovered their spontaneous beating in 24 h (Koivisto et al. 2019). The beating is a crucial characteristic of the heart tissue and proper connection between the heart cells is critical moment for proper cell electrical signal conductance. Therefore, use of hydrogels with electroconductive properties could significantly improve beating properties of engineered tissues. Modified chitosan hydrogels with polyaniline, as an electroactive polymer, was used for cardiac and/or neuronal tissue engineering applications, i.e. for tissues that require biocompatibility and conductivity (Guo et al. 2011; Bidez et al. 2006). In another study, oligo(polyethylene glycol) fumarate was successfully modified by polypyrrole to improve the neuronal differentiation which application can be extended to the field of cardiac engineering (Runge et al. 2010). It was also shown that carbon nanotubes (CNT) incorporated into gelatin hydrogels increase electrical conductivity of the neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes (Shin et al. 2013).

In a more recent report, CNT were embedded within gelatin/chitosan-based hydrogels to yield hybrid biomaterials with improved mechanical properties and electrical signals between neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes (Pok et al. 2014). To improve conductivity, necessary for the cardiac cell maturation and functions, artificial scaffolds such as poly(glycerol sebacate):gelatin (PG) electrospun nanofibers combined with CNT increased fiber alignment and improved the electrical conductivity and toughness of the scaffolds and notably enhanced CM viability, retention and contractile activities, compared to those cultured on PG scaffold (Kharaziha et al. 2014). CNT-based methacrylate anhydride hydrogels better supported functioning and growth of neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes, helped to enhance the formation of cardiac tissue, induced upregulation of mechanical and electrical junction proteins and contraction of neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes compared to collagenbased hydrogel (Sun et al. 2017). CNT can also be incorporated into gelatin methacryloyl hydrogels, resulting in improved cardiac differentiation of mouse embryoid bodies compared to hydrogel without CNT (Ahadian et al. 2016). Modern cardiac muscle engineering requires reproduction of the intricate coordination mechanisms for synchronized cardiac cell beating. Therefore, strategies are being increasingly focused upon the complex delivery of mechanical, electrical and biochemical cues to the engineered tissue. The biomimetic myocardium is expected to be contractile, active tissue with polarization and depolarization cycles and these criteria are driving design and employment of conductive materials cardiac in tissue engineering.

4 Conclusions

The extracellular environment that supports cells is crucial for proper development and function of tissues and organs. Recreation of optimal native extracellular matrix by cardiac tissue engineering is still in process. Undoubtedly, there is still a significant unmet necessity to identify the best cells types or populations suitable for cardiac therapies with long-term survival, full functional adaptation and clinical safety in order to successfully recover heart tissue. So far, the most promising stem cells for the cardioregenerative purposes in vitro and in vivo seems to be cardio progenitors, pluripotent, and adult mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. As a rule, the different stem cell types require different cultivation protocols, scaffolds and compositions with carrying biomolecules in order to stimulate cardiomyogenic differentiation, production of ECM and heart tissue regeneration. This partially explains a huge variety of recently known biomatrices for cardio tissue engineering. However, most promising and safe cardio regenerative potential in humans seems to have cardiac progenitors predifferentiated to CM in combination with various hydrogels/scaffolds mimicking natural heart tissue environment. The iPSC and iPSC-derived have also promising results in model animal and *in vitro* systems. For clinical investigations iPSC needs additional safety studies.

Due to the strong contracting nature of the heart tissue, biomatrices used for cardioregeneration should be strong enough, elastic, biocompatible and biodegradable in order to survive electrical and mechanical stimuli. Data acquired until today demonstrate various types of customized hydrogels and scaffolds as attractive 3D cell carrier systems for in vitro cardio tissue engineering and therapeutic studies. The limitation of pure synthetic scaffolds is their lower biocompatibility, low cell surviving and provoked higher immunological response compared to the native biomaterials. On the other hand, the native, cardio ECM-based biomatrices, are expensive, quickly biodegradable and not strong enough for cardio tissue regeneration purposes. Therefore, the various combinations of synthetic scaffolds together native origin and/or bioactive components are increasingly applied in cardioregenerative studies. It is still difficult unanimously to say, which type of 3D system is the best for the cardiac regeneration purposes, however, data suggest that injectable native compound-based 3D hydrogels and/or smart, environment-responsive hydrogels better suits for therapeutic purposes, due to easy cell delivery way, whereas synthetic polymers-based scaffolds better suits for the investigation of the mechanical and electrical purposes of cardiomyocyte maturation and functioning both in vitro and animal models.

Altogether, most of the research *in vivo* have been done small animal models, while studies applying engineered myocardium therapies on larger primates and humans are still lacking. In addition, the more complex cardiac investigation systems including, mechanic, metabolic and electrical cell-based sensing systems are still required. Nevertheless, functional cell-loaded biomatrices with therapeutically targeted characteristics still remain a major goal for cardiac tissue engineering.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by the project: Studies of the regenerative potential and mechanoptosis of the human heart primary cardiospheres, (No. S-MIP-17-13).

References

- Abdalla S, Makhoul G, Duong M, Chiu RCJ, Cecere R (2013) Hyaluronic acid-based hydrogel induces neovascularization and improves cardiac function in a rat model of myocardial infarction. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 17(5):767–772. https://doi.org/10.1093/ icvts/ivt277
- Abou-Saleh H, Zouein FA, El-Yazbi A, Sanoudou D, Raynaud C, Rao C, Pintus G, Dehaini H, Eid AH (2018) The march of pluripotent stem cells in cardiovascular regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Res Ther 9 (1):201. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-0947-5
- Achilli TM, Meyer J, Morgan JR (2012) Advances in the formation, use and understanding of multi-cellular spheroids. Expert Opin Biol Ther 12(10):1347–1360. https://doi.org/10.1517/14712598.2012.707181
- Ahadian S, Yamada S, Ramon-Azcon J, Estili M, Liang X, Nakajima K, Shiku H, Khademhosseini A, Matsue T (2016) Hybrid hydrogel-aligned carbon nanotube scaffolds to enhance cardiac differentiation of embryoid bodies. Acta Biomater 31:134–143. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.actbio.2015.11.047
- Alimirzaei F, Vasheghani-Farahani E, Ghiaseddin A, Soleimani M, Pouri N-GZ (2017) pH-sensitive chitosan hydrogel with instant gelation for myocardial regeneration. J Tissue Sci Eng 8(3). https://doi.org/10. 4172/2157-7552.1000212
- Amand FK, Esmaeili A (2020) Investigating the properties of electrospun nanofibers made of hybride polymer containing anticoagulant drugs. Carbohydr Polym 228:UNSP 115397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol. 2019.115397
- Amini H, Rezaie J, Vosoughi A, Rahbarghazi R, Nouri M (2017) Cardiac progenitor cells application in cardiovascular disease. J Cardiovasc Thorac Res 9 (3):127–132. Pmid 29118944. https://doi.org/10. 15171/Jcvtr.2017.22
- Anker SD, Coats AJS, Cristian G, Dragomir D, Pusineri E, Piredda M, Bettari L, Dowling R, Volterrani M, Kirwan BA, Filippatos G, Mas JL, Danchin N, Solomon SD, Lee RJ, Ahmann F, Hinson A, Sabbah HN, Mann DL (2015) A prospective comparison of alginate-hydrogel with standard medical therapy to determine impact on functional capacity and clinical outcomes in patients with advanced heart failure (AUGMENT-HF trial). Eur Heart J 36

(34):2297–2309. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehv259

- Archer CR, Sargeant R, Basak J, Pilling J, Barnes JR, Pointon A (2018) Characterization and validation of a human 3D cardiac microtissue for the assessment of changes in cardiac pathology. Sci Rep 8:10160. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-28393-y
- Ardila DC, Liou JJ, Maestas D, Slepian MJ, Badowski M, Wagner WR, Harris D, Vande Geest JP (2019) Surface modification of electrospun scaffolds for Endothelialization of tissue-engineered vascular grafts using human cord blood-derived endothelial cells. J Clin Med 8(2):185. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8020185
- Arminan A, Gandia C, Bartual M, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Lledo E, Mirabet V, Llop M, Barea J, Montero JA, Sepulveda P (2009) Cardiac differentiation is driven by NKX2.5 and GATA4 nuclear translocation in tissuespecific mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 18 (6):907–918. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2008.0292
- Ashur C, Frishman WH (2018) Cardiosphere-derived cells and ischemic heart failure. Cardiol Rev 26(1):8–21. https://doi.org/10.1097/CRD.000000000000173
- Baar K, Birla R, Boluyt MO, Borschel GH, Arruda EM, Dennis RG (2005) Self-organization of rat cardiac cells into contractile 3-D cardiac tissue. FASEB J 19 (2):275–277. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.04-2034fje
- Bagheri-Hosseinabadi Z, Salehinejad P, Mesbah-Namin SA (2017) Differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells into cardiomyocyte-like cells in fibrin scaffold by a histone deacetylase inhibitor. Biomed Eng Online 16:134. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12938-017-0423-y
- Bagno L, Hatzistergos KE, Balkan W, Hare JM (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disease: Progress and challenges. Mol Ther 26 (7):1610–1623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2018. 05.009
- Banerjee MN, Bolli R, Hare JM (2018) Clinical studies of cell therapy in cardiovascular medicine recent developments and future directions. Circ Res 123 (2):266–287. https://doi.org/10.1161/Circresaha.118. 311217
- Bartolucci J, Verdugo FJ, Gonzalez PL, Larrea RE, Abarzua E, Goset C, Rojo P, Palma I, Lamich R, Pedreros PA, Valdivia G, Lopez VM, Nazzal C, Alcayaga-Miranda F, Cuenca J, Brobeck MJ, Patel AN, Figueroa FE, Khoury M (2017) Safety and efficacy of the intravenous infusion of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in patients with heart failure: a phase 1/2 randomized controlled trial (RIMECARD trial [Randomized clinical trial of intravenous infusion umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells on Cardiopathy]). Circ Res 121(10):1192–1204. https://doi.org/10. 1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310712
- Bearzi C, Rota M, Hosoda T, Tillmanns J, Nascimbene A, De Angelis A, Yasuzawa-Amano S, Trofimova I, Siggins RW, Lecapitaine N, Cascapera S, Beltrami AP, D'Alessandro DA, Zias E, Quaini F, Urbanek K, Michler RE, Bolli R, Kajstura J, Leri A, Anversa P

(2007) Human cardiac stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(35):14068–14073

- Behfar A, Zingman LV, Hodgson DM, Rauzier JM, Kane GC, Terzic A, Puceat M (2002) Stem cell differentiation requires a paracrine pathway in the heart. FASEB J 16(12):1558–1566. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.02-0072com
- Beitnes JO, Oie E, Shandadfar A, Karlsen T, Muller RMB, Aakhus S, Reinholt FP, Brinchmann JE (2012) Intramyocardial injections of human mesenchymal stem cells following acute myocardial infarction modulate scar formation and improve left ventricular function. Cell Transplant 21(8):1697–1709. https://doi.org/ 10.3727/096368911X627462
- Beltrami AP, Urbanek K, Kajstura J, Yan SM, Finato N, Bussani R, Nadal-Ginard B, Silvestri F, Leri A, Beltrami CA, Anversa P (2001) Evidence that human cardiac myocytes divide after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 344(23):1750–1757. https://doi.org/10. 1056/Nejm200106073442303
- Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabé-Heider F, Walsh S, Zupicich J, Alkass K, Buchholz BA, Druid H, Jovinge S, Frisén J (2009 Apr 3) Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324(5923):98–102. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1164680
- Bergmann O, Zdunek S, Felker A, Salehpour M, Alkass K, Bernard S, Sjostrom SL, Szewczykowska M, Jackowska T, Dos Remedios C, Malm T, Andra M, Jashari R, Nyengaard JR, Possnert G, Jovinge S, Druid H, Frisen J (2015) Dynamics of cell generation and turnover in the human heart. Cell 161 (7):1566–1575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.05. 026
- Bidez PR 3rd, Li S, Macdiarmid AG, Venancio EC, Wei Y, Lelkes PI (2006) Polyaniline, an electroactive polymer, supports adhesion and proliferation of cardiac myoblasts. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 17(1–2):199–212. https://doi.org/10.1163/156856206774879180
- Boateng SY, Lateef SS, Mosley W, Hartman TJ, Hanley L, Russell B (2005) RGD and YIGSR synthetic peptides facilitate cellular adhesion identical to that of laminin and fibronectin but alter the physiology of neonatal cardiac myocytes. Am J Phys Cell Physiol 288(1): C30–C38. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpcell.00199.2004
- Bolli R, Chugh AR, D'Amario D, Loughran JH, Stoddard MF, Ikram S, Beache GM, Wagner SG, Leri A, Hosoda T, Sanada F, Elmore JB, Goichberg P, Cappetta D, Solankhi NK, Fahsah I, Rokosh DG, Slaughter MS, Kajstura J, Anversa P (2011) Cardiac stem cells in patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy (SCIPIO): initial results of a randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 378(9806):1847–1857. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(11)61590-0
- Bonafe F, Govoni M, Giordano E, Caldarera CM, Guarnieri C, Muscari C (2014) Hyaluronan and cardiac regeneration. J Biomed Sci 21:100. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12929-014-0100-4

- Calvillo L, Latini R, Kajstura J, Leri A, Anversa P, Ghezzi P, Salio M, Cerami A, Brines M (2003) Recombinant human erythropoietin protects the myocardium from ischemia-reperfusion injury and promotes beneficial remodeling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(8):4802–4806. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0630444100
- Cao N, Liang H, Huang J, Wang J, Chen Y, Chen Z, Yang HT (2013) Highly efficient induction and long-term maintenance of multipotent cardiovascular progenitors from human pluripotent stem cells under defined conditions. Cell Res 23(9):1119–1132. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/cr.2013.102
- Caplan AI (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells: time to change the name! Stem Cells Transl Med 6(6):1445–1451. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0051
- Caplan AI, Dennis JE (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. J Cell Biochem 98(5):1076–1084. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.20886
- Caspi O, Huber I, Kehat I, Habib M, Arbel G, Gepstein A, Yankelson L, Aronson D, Beyar R, Gepstein L (2007) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes improves myocardial performance in infarcted rat hearts. J Am Coll Cardiol 50 (19):1884–1893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2007. 07.054
- Castro L, Geertz B, Reinsch M, Aksehirlioglu B, Hansen A, Eschenhagen T, Reichenspurner H, Weinberger F, Pecha S (2019) Implantation of hiPSC-derived cardiac-muscle patches after myocardial injury in a Guinea Pig Model. J Vis Exp 145. https://doi.org/10.3791/58810
- Chachques JC, Trainini JC, Lago N, Masoli OH, Barisani JL, Cortes-Morichetti M, Schussler O, Carpentier A (2007) Myocardial assistance by grafting a new bioartificial upgraded myocardium (MAGNUM clinical trial): one year follow-up. Cell Transplant 16 (9):927–934. https://doi.org/10.3727/096368907783338217
- Chakravarty T, Makkar RR, Ascheim DD, Traverse JH, Schatz R, DeMaria A, Francis GS, Povsic TJ, Smith RR, Lima JA, Pogoda JM, Marban L, Henry TD (2017) ALLogeneic heart STem cells to achieve myocardial regeneration (ALLSTAR) trial: rationale and design. Cell Transplant 26(2):205–214. https:// doi.org/10.3727/096368916X692933
- Chakravarty T, Henry TD, Kittleson M, Lima J, Siegel RJ, Slipczuk L, Pogoda JM, Smith RR, Malliaras K, Marban L, Ascheim DD, Marban E, Makkar RR (2019) Allogeneic Cardiosphere-derived cells for the treatment of heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: results of the dilated cardiomYopathy iNtervention with allogeneic Myocardially-regeneratIve cells (DYNAMIC) trial. EuroIntervention. https://doi.org/ 10.4244/EIJ-D-19-00035
- Chan AT, Karakas MF, Vakrou S, Afzal J, Rittenbach A, Lin X, Wahl RL, Pomper MG, Steenbergen CJ, Tsui BMW, Elisseeff JH, Abraham MR (2015) Hyaluronic

acid-serum hydrogels rapidly restore metabolism of encapsulated stem cells and promote engraftment. Biomaterials 73:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2015.09.001

- Chen Y, Amende I, Hampton TG, Yang YK, Ke QG, Min JY, Xiao YF, Morgan JP (2006) Vascular endothelial growth factor promotes cardiomyocyte differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 291(4):H1653–H1658. https://doi.org/10. 1152/ajpheart.00363.2005
- Chen CH, Wang SS, Wei EIH, Chu TY, Hsieh PCH (2013) Hyaluronan enhances bone marrow cell therapy for myocardial repair after infarction. Mol Ther 21 (3):670–679. https://doi.org/10.1038/mt.2012.268
- Chen CH, Chang MY, Wang SS, Hsieh PCH (2014) Injection of autologous bone marrow cells in hyaluronan hydrogel improves cardiac performance after infarction in pigs. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 306(7):H1078–H1086. https://doi.org/10. 1152/ajpheart.00801.2013
- Chen VC, Ye J, Shukla P, Hua G, Chen D, Lin Z, Liu JC, Chai J, Gold J, Wu J, Hsu D, Couture LA (2015) Development of a scalable suspension culture for cardiac differentiation from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cell Res 15(2):365–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scr.2015.08.002
- Cheng K, Blusztajn A, Shen D, Li TS, Sun B, Galang G, Zarembinski TI, Prestwich GD, Marban E, Smith RR, Marban L (2012) Functional performance of human cardiosphere-derived cells delivered in an in situ polymerizable hyaluronan-gelatin hydrogel. Biomaterials 33(21):5317–5324. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biomaterials.2012.04.006
- Chimenti I, Smith RR, Li TS, Gerstenblith G, Messina E, Giacomello A, Marban E (2010) Relative roles of direct regeneration versus paracrine effects of human Cardiosphere-derived cells transplanted into infarcted mice. Circ Res 106(5):971–U304. https://doi.org/10. 1161/Circresaha.109.210682
- Choe G, Kim SW, Park J, Park J, Kim S, Kim YS, Ahn Y, Jung DW, Williams DR, Lee JY (2019a) Anti-oxidant activity reinforced reduced graphene oxide/alginate microgels: mesenchymal stem cell encapsulation and regeneration of infarcted hearts. Biomaterials 225:119513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2019.119513
- Choe G, Park J, Jo H, Kim YS, Ahn Y, Lee JY (2019b) Studies on the effects of microencapsulated human mesenchymal stem cells in RGD-modified alginate on cardiomyocytes under oxidative stress conditions using in vitro biomimetic co-culture system. Int J Biol Macromol 123:512–520. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ijbiomac.2018.11.115
- Choi S, Hong Y, Lee I, Huh D, Jeon TJ, Kim SM (2013) Effects of various extracellular matrix proteins the growth of HL-1 cardiomyocytes. Cells Tissues Organs 198(5):349–356. https://doi.org/10.1159/000358755
- Choi JR, Yong KW, Choi JY, Cowie AC (2019) Recent advances in photo-crosslinkable hydrogels for

biomedical applications. BioTechniques 66(1):40–53. https://doi.org/10.2144/btn-2018-0083

- Chong JJ, Yang X, Don CW, Minami E, Liu YW, Weyers JJ, Mahoney WM, Van Biber B, Cook SM, Palpant NJ, Gantz JA, Fugate JA, Muskheli V, Gough GM, Vogel KW, Astley CA, Hotchkiss CE, Baldessari A, Pabon L, Reinecke H, Gill EA, Nelson V, Kiem HP, Laflamme MA, Murry CE (2014) Human embryonic-stem-cellderived cardiomyocytes regenerate non-human primate hearts. Nature 510(7504):273–277. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature13233
- Christman KL, Vardanian AJ, Fang Q, Sievers RE, Fok HH, Lee RJ (2004) Injectable fibrin scaffold improves cell transplant survival, reduces infarct expansion, and induces neovasculature formation in ischemic myocardium. J Am Coll Cardiol 44(3):654–660. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jacc.2004.04.040
- Christoffersson J, Meier F, Kempf H, Schwanke K, Coffee M, Beilmann M, Zweigerdt R, Mandenius CF (2018) A cardiac cell outgrowth assay for evaluating drug compounds using a cardiac spheroid-on-a-Chip device. Bioengineering (Basel) 5(2). https://doi.org/10. 3390/bioengineering5020036
- Cohen IS, Gaudette G (2009) Regenerating the heart: new progress in gene/cell therapy to restore normal mechanical and electrical function. Dialogues Cardiovasc Med 14:7–28
- Crowder SW, Liang Y, Rath R, Park AM, Maltais S, Pintauro PN, Hofmeister W, Lim CC, Wang XT, Sung HJ (2013) Poly(epsilon-caprolactone)-carbon nanotube composite scaffolds for enhanced cardiac differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. Nanomedicine 8(11):1763–1776. https://doi.org/10. 2217/nnm.12.204
- Cunningham CJ, Redondo-Castro E, Allan SM (2018) The therapeutic potential of the mesenchymal stem cell secretome in ischaemic stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 38(8):1276–1292. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0271678X18776802
- Cynthia W, Shital P, Rui C, Owida A, Morsi Y (2010) Biomimetic electrospun gelatin-chitosan polyurethane for heart valve leaflets. J Mech Med Biol 10 (4):563–576. https://doi.org/10.1142/ S0219519410003551
- Czarna A, Sanada F, Matsuda A, Kim J, Signore S, Pereira JD, Sorrentino A, Kannappan R, Cannata A, Hosoda T, Rota M, Crea F, Anversa P, Leri A (2017) Single-cell analysis of the fate of c-kit-positive bone marrow cells. Npj Regen Med 2:27. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41536-017-0032-1
- Dahlmann J, Awad G, Dolny C, Weinert S, Richter K, Fischer KD, Munsch T, Lessmann V, Volleth M, Zenker M, Chen Y, Merkl C, Schnieke A, Baraki H, Kutschka I, Kensah G (2018) Generation of functional cardiomyocytes from rat embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells using feeder-free expansion and differentiation in suspension culture. PLoS One 13 (3):e0192652. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0192652

- Davis DR, Zhang Y, Smith RR, Cheng K, Terrovitis J, Malliaras K, Li TS, White A, Makkar R, Marban E (2009) Validation of the cardiosphere method to culture cardiac progenitor cells from myocardial tissue. PLoS One 4(9):e7195. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0007195
- Davis DR, Smith RR, Marban E (2010) Human Cardiospheres are a source of stem cells with Cardiomyogenic potential. Stem Cells 28(5):903–904. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.413
- de Pinho ARG, Odila I, Leferink A, van Blitterswijk C, Camarero-Espinosa S, Moroni L (2019) Hybrid polyester-hydrogel electrospun scaffolds for tissue engineering applications. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 7:231. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00231
- Denu RA, Nemcek S, Bloom DD, Goodrich AD, Kim J, Mosher DF, Hematti P (2016) Fibroblasts and mesenchymal stromal/stem cells are phenotypically indistinguishable. Acta Haematol (Basel) 136(2):85–97. https://doi.org/10.1159/000445096
- Di Lullo GA, Sweeney SM, Korkko J, Ala-Kokko L, San Antonio JD (2002) Mapping the ligand-binding sites and disease-associated mutations on the most abundant protein in the human, type I collagen. J Biol Chem 277 (6):4223–4231. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M110709200
- Dutton LC, Dudhia J, Catchpole B, Hodgkiss-Geere H, Werling D, Connolly DJ (2018) Cardiosphere-derived cells suppress allogeneic lymphocytes by production of PGE2 acting via the EP4 receptor. Sci Rep 8(1):13351. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31569-1
- Edalat SG, Jang Y, Kim J, Park Y (2019) Collagen type I containing hybrid hydrogel enhances cardiomyocyte maturation in a 3D cardiac model. Polymers (Basel) 11(4):687. https://doi.org/10.3390/Polym11040687
- Edmondson R, Broglie JJ, Adcock AF, Yang L (2014) Three-dimensional cell culture systems and their applications in drug discovery and cell-based biosensors. Assay Drug Dev Technol 12(4):207–218. https://doi.org/10.1089/adt.2014.573
- Ellison GM, Vicinanza C, Smith AJ, Aquila I, Leone A, Waring CD, Henning BJ, Stirparo GG, Papait R, Scarfo M, Agosti V, Viglietto G, Condorelli G, Indolfi C, Ottolenghi S, Torella D, Nadal-Ginard B (2013) Adult c-kit(pos) cardiac stem cells are necessary and sufficient for functional cardiac regeneration and repair. Cell 154(4):827–842. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cell.2013.07.039
- Emmert MY, Wolint P, Wickboldt N, Gemayel G, Weber B, Brokopp CE, Boni A, Falk V, Bosman A, Jaconi ME, Hoerstrup SP (2013) Human stem cellbased three-dimensional microtissues for advanced cardiac cell therapies. Biomaterials 34 (27):6339–6354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2013.04.034
- Engler AJ, Sen S, Sweeney HL, Discher DE (2006) Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. Cell 126(4):677–689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006. 06.044

- Eschenhagen T, Fink C, Remmers U, Scholz H, Wattchow J, Weil J, Zimmermann W, Dohmen HH, Schafer H, Bishopric N, Wakatsuki T, Elson EL (1997) Three-dimensional reconstitution of embryonic cardiomyocytes in a collagen matrix: a new heart muscle model system. FASEB J 11(8):683–694. https:// doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.11.8.9240969
- Fang CH, Jin JY, Joe JH, Song YS, So BI, Lim SM, Cheon GJ, Woo SK, Ra JC, Lee YY, Kim KS (2012) In vivo differentiation of human amniotic epithelial cells into cardiomyocyte-like cells and cell transplantation effect on myocardial infarction in rats: comparison with cord blood and adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Transplant 21(8):1687–1696. https://doi. org/10.3727/096368912X653039
- Fang ZH, Yin XG, Wang JZ, Tian N, Ao Q, Gu YQ, Liu Y (2016) Functional characterization of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of systolic heart failure. Exp Ther Med 12(5):3328–3332. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2016.3748
- Feiner R, Fleischer S, Shapira A, Kalish O, Dvir T (2018) Multifunctional degradable electronic scaffolds for cardiac tissue engineering. J Control Release 281:189–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018. 05.023
- Fennema E, Rivron N, Rouwkema J, van Blitterswijk C, de Boer J (2013) Spheroid culture as a tool for creating 3D complex tissues. Trends Biotechnol 31 (2):108–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2012. 12.003
- Fiarresga A, Mata MF, Cavaco-Goncalves S, Selas M, Simoes IN, Oliveira E, Carrapico B, Cardim N, Cabral JM, Ferreira RC, da Silva CL (2015) Intracoronary delivery of human mesenchymal/stromal stem cells: insights from coronary microcirculation invasive assessment in a swine model. PLoS One 10(10):e0139870. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0139870
- Fisher SA, Zhang HJ, Doree C, Mathur A, Martin-Rendon E (2015) Stem cell treatment for acute myocardial infarction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 9:CD006536. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006536.pub4
- Fleischer S, Feiner R, Shapira A, Ji J, Sui XM, Wagner HD, Dvir T (2013) Spring-like fibers for cardiac tissue engineering. Biomaterials 34(34):8599–8606. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.07.054
- Fleischer S, Shapira A, Regev O, Nseir N, Zussman E, Dvir T (2014) Albumin Fiber scaffolds for engineering functional cardiac tissues. Biotechnol Bioeng 111 (6):1246–1257. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.25185
- Forte G, Pietronave S, Nardone G, Zamperone A, Magnani E, Pagliari S, Pagliari F, Giacinti C, Nicoletti C, Musaro A, Rinaldi M, Ribezzo M, Comoglio C, Traversa E, Okano T, Minieri M, Prat M, Di Nardo P (2011) Human cardiac progenitor cell grafts as unrestricted source of supernumerary cardiac cells in healthy murine hearts. Stem Cells 29 (12):2051–2061. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.763
- Foster BM, Zaidi D, Young TR, Mobley ME, Kerr BA (2018) CD117/c-kit in Cancer stem cell-mediated
progression and therapeutic resistance. Biomedicine 6 (1). https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines6010031

- Frey N, Linke A, Suselbeck T, Muller-Ehmsen J, Vermeersch P, Schoors D, Rosenberg M, Bea F, Tuvia S, Leor J (2014) Intracoronary delivery of injectable bioabsorbable scaffold (IK-5001) to treat left ventricular remodeling after ST-elevation myocardial infarction a first-in-man study. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 7(6):806–812. https://doi.org/10. 1161/Circinterventions.114.001478
- Freyman T, Polin G, Osman H, Crary J, Lu MM, Cheng L, Palasis M, Wilensky RL (2006) A quantitative, randomized study evaluating three methods of mesenchymal stem cell delivery following myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 27(9):1114–1122. https://doi.org/10. 1093/eurheartj/ehi818
- Gandaglia A, Huerta-Cantillo R, Comisso M, Danesin R, Ghezzo F, Naso F, Gastaldello A, Schittullo E, Buratto E, Spina M, Gerosa G, Dettin M (2012) Cardiomyocytes in vitro adhesion is actively influenced by biomimetic synthetic peptides for cardiac tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part A 18 (7–8):725–736. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.tea.2011. 0254
- Garbern JC, Minami E, Stayton PS, Murry CE (2011) Delivery of basic fibroblast growth factor with a pH-responsive, injectable hydrogel to improve angiogenesis in infarcted myocardium. Biomaterials 32 (9):2407–2416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2010.11.075
- Garcia JMS, Panitch A, Calve S (2019) Functionalization of hyaluronic acid hydrogels with ECM-derived peptides to control myoblast behavior. Acta Biomater 84:169–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2018.11. 030
- Gasiuniene M, Zentelyte A, Wojtas B, Baronaite S, Krasovskaja N, Savickiene J, Gielniewski B, Kaminska B, Utkus A, Navakauskiene R (2019) DNA methyltransferases inhibitors effectively induce gene expression changes suggestive of cardiomyogenic differentiation of human amniotic fluid-derived mesenchymal stem cells via chromatin remodeling. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 13(3):469–481. https://doi.org/10.1002/term.2800
- Gathier WA, van Ginkel DJ, van der Naald M, van Slochteren FJ, Doevendans PA, Chamuleau SAJ (2018) Retrograde coronary venous infusion as a delivery strategy in regenerative cardiac therapy: an overview of preclinical and clinical data. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 11(3):173–181. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12265-018-9785-1
- Ge Z, Lal S, Le TYL, Dos Remedios C, Chong JJH (2015) Cardiac stem cells: translation to human studies. Biophys Rev 7(1):127–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12551-014-0148-0
- Gershlak JR, Hernandez S, Fontana G, Perreault LR, Hansen KJ, Larson SA, Binder BY, Dolivo DM, Yang T, Dominko T, Rolle MW, Weathers PJ, Medina-Bolivar F, Cramer CL, Murphy WL, Gaudette

GR (2017) Crossing kingdoms: using decellularized plants as perfusable tissue engineering scaffolds. Biomaterials 125:13–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2017.02.011

- Ghosh LD, Ravi V, Jain A, Panicker AG, Sundaresan NR, Chatterjee K (2019) Sirtuin 6 mediated stem cell cardiomyogenesis on protein coated nanofibrous scaffolds. Nanomedicine 19:145–155. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.nano.2019.03.005
- Gong XH, Liu H, Wang SJ, Liang SW, Wang GG (2019) Exosomes derived from SDF1-overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells inhibit ischemic myocardial cell apoptosis and promote cardiac endothelial microvascular regeneration in mice with myocardial infarction. J Cell Physiol 234(8):13878–13893. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jcp.28070
- Gronthos S, Zannettino AC, Hay SJ, Shi S, Graves SE, Kortesidis A, Simmons PJ (2003) Molecular and cellular characterisation of highly purified stromal stem cells derived from human bone marrow. J Cell Sci 116(Pt 9):1827–1835. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs. 00369
- Guo B, Finne-Wistrand A, Albertsson AC (2011) Facile synthesis of degradable and electrically conductive polysaccharide hydrogels. Biomacromolecules 12 (7):2601–2609. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm200389t
- Guo X, Bai Y, Zhang L, Zhang B, Zagidullin N, Carvalho K, Du Z, Cai B (2018) Cardiomyocyte differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow: new regulators and its implications. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):44. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13287-018-0773-9
- Gupte M, Umbarkar P, Singh AP, Zhang Q, Tousif S, Lal H (2020) Deletion of cardiomyocyte glycogen synthase Kinase-3 Beta (GSK-3beta) improves systemic glucose tolerance with maintained heart function in established obesity. Cells (Basel) 9(5). https://doi. org/10.3390/cells9051120
- Haraguchi Y, Shimizu T, Sasagawa T, Sekine H, Sakaguchi K, Kikuchi T, Sekine W, Sekiya S, Yamato M, Umezu M, Okano T (2012) Fabrication of functional three-dimensional tissues by stacking cell sheets in vitro. Nat Protoc 7(5):850–858. https://doi. org/10.1038/nprot.2012.027
- Hata H, Bar A, Dorfman S, Vukadinovic Z, Sawa Y, Haverich A, Hilfiker A (2010) Engineering a novel three-dimensional contractile myocardial patch with cell sheets and decellularised matrix. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 38(4):450–455. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ejcts.2010.02.009
- Henry TD, Pepine CJ, Lambert CR, Traverse JH, Schatz R, Costa M, Povsic TJ, Anderson RD, Willerson JT, Kesten S, Perin EC (2017) The Athena trials: autologous adipose-derived regenerative cells for refractory chronic myocardial ischemia with left ventricular dysfunction. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 89(2):169–177. https://doi.org/10.1002/ccd.26601
- Horwitz EM, Le Blanc K, Dominici M, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini FC, Deans RJ, Krause DS,

Keating A, International Society for Cellular T (2005) Clarification of the nomenclature for MSC: the International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 7(5):393–395. https://doi.org/10. 1080/14653240500319234

- Hosoyama K, Ahumada M, Goel K, Ruel M, Suuronen EJ, Alarcon EI (2019) Electroconductive materials as biomimetic platforms for tissue regeneration. Biotechnol Adv 37(3):444–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biotechadv.2019.02.011
- Huang Y, Harrison MR, Osorio A, Kim J, Baugh A, Duan CM, Sucov HM, Lien CL (2013) Igf signaling is required for cardiomyocyte proliferation during zebrafish heart development and regeneration. PLoS One 8(6):e67266. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0067266
- Huang SX, Yang Y, Yang Q, Zhao Q, Ye XF (2018) Engineered circulatory scaffolds for building cardiac tissue. J Thorac Dis 10:S2312–S2328. https://doi.org/ 10.21037/jtd.2017.12.92
- Huebsch N, Loskill P, Deveshwar N, Spencer CI, Judge LM, Mandegar MA, Fox CB, Mohamed TMA, Ma Z, Mathur A, Sheehan AM, Truong A, Saxton M, Yoo J, Srivastava D, Desai TA, So PL, Healy KE, Conklin BR (2016) Miniaturized iPS-cell-derived cardiac muscles for physiologically relevant drug response analyses. Sci Rep 6:24726. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep24726
- Hussain A, Collins G, Yip D, Cho CH (2013) Functional 3-D cardiac co-culture model using bioactive chitosan nanofiber scaffolds. Biotechnol Bioeng 110 (2):637–647. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.24727
- Ikonen L, Kerkela E, Metselaar G, Stuart MCA, de Jong MR, Aalto-Setala K (2013) 2D and 3D self-assembling nanofiber hydrogels for cardiomyocyte culture. Biomed Res Int 2013:285678. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2013/285678
- Jackson R, Mount S, Ye B, Mayfield AE, Chan V, Boodhwani M, Davies RA, Haddad H, Davis DR (2017) Isolation of human explant derived cardiac stem cells from cryopreserved heart tissue. PLoS One 12(4):e0176000. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0176000
- Jenkins TL, Little D (2019) Synthetic scaffolds for musculoskeletal tissue engineering: cellular responses to fiber parameters. Npj Regen Med 4:UNSP 15. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41536-019-0076-5
- Johnston PV, Sasano T, Mills K, Evers R, Lee ST, Smith RR, Lardo AC, Lai S, Steenbergen C, Gerstenblith G, Lange R, Marban E (2009) Engraftment, differentiation, and functional benefits of autologous cardiosphere-derived cells in porcine ischemic cardiomyopathy. Circulation 120(12):1075–1083. https:// doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.816058. 1077 p following 1083
- Jung JP, Bache-Wiig MK, Provenzano PP, Ogle BM (2016) Heterogeneous differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells in 3D extracellular matrix composites. Biores Open Access 5(1):37–48. https:// doi.org/10.1089/biores.2015.0044

- Kai D, Prabhakaran MP, Jin GR, Ramakrishna S (2011) Guided orientation of cardiomyocytes on electrospun aligned nanofibers for cardiac tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res Part B 98b(2):379–386. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.31862
- Kang LH, Armstrong PA, Lee LJ, Duan B, Kang KH, Butcher JT (2017) Optimizing photo-encapsulation viability of heart valve cell types in 3D printable composite hydrogels. Ann Biomed Eng 45(2):360–377. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-016-1619-1
- Kapelios CJ, Nanas JN, Malliaras K (2016) Allogeneic cardiosphere-derived cells for myocardial regeneration: current progress and recent results. Futur Cardiol 12(1):87–100. https://doi.org/10.2217/fca.15.72
- Karam JP, Bonafe F, Sindji L, Muscari C, Montero-Menei CN (2015) Adipose-derived stem cell adhesion on laminin-coated microcarriers improves commitment toward the cardiomyogenic lineage. J Biomed Mater Res A 103(5):1828–1839. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm. a.35304
- Karbassi E, Fenix A, Marchiano S, Muraoka N, Nakamura K, Yang X, Murry CE (2020) Cardiomyocyte maturation: advances in knowledge and implications for regenerative medicine. Nat Rev Cardiol. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41569-019-0331-x
- Karpov AA, Puzanov MV, Ivkin DY, Krasnova MV, Anikin NA, Docshin PM, Moiseeva OM, Galagudza MM (2019) Non-inferiority of microencapsulated mesenchymal stem cells to free cells in cardiac repair after myocardial infarction: a rationale for using paracrine factor(s) instead of cells. Int J Exp Pathol 100 (2):102–113. https://doi.org/10.1111/iep.12312
- Kasai-Brunswick TH, Costa AR, Barbosa RA, Farjun B, Mesquita FC, Silva Dos Santos D, Ramos IP, Suhett G, Brasil GV, Cunha ST, Brito JO, Passipieri JD, Carvalho AB, Campos de Carvalho AC (2017) Cardiosphere-derived cells do not improve cardiac function in rats with cardiac failure. Stem Cell Res Ther 8(1):36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-017-0481-x
- Kattman SJ, Witty AD, Gagliardi M, Dubois NC, Niapour M, Hotta A, Ellis J, Keller G (2011) Stagespecific optimization of activin/nodal and BMP signaling promotes cardiac differentiation of mouse and human pluripotent stem cell lines. Cell Stem Cell 8 (2):228–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2010.12. 008
- Keith MCL, Bolli R (2015) "String theory" of c-kit(pos) cardiac cells a new paradigm regarding the nature of these cells that may reconcile apparently discrepant results. Circ Res 116(7):1216–1230. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/Circresaha.116.305557
- Kempf H, Olmer R, Kropp C, Ruckert M, Jara-Avaca M, Robles-Diaz D, Franke A, Elliott DA, Wojciechowski D, Fischer M, Roa Lara A, Kensah G, Gruh I, Haverich A, Martin U, Zweigerdt R (2014) Controlling expansion and cardiomyogenic differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells in scalable suspension culture. Stem Cell Rep 3

(6):1132–1146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2014. 09.017

- Ketabat F, Karkhaneh A, Aghdam RM, Tafti SHA (2017) Injectable conductive collagen/alginate/polypyrrole hydrogels as a biocompatible system for biomedical applications. J Biomater Sci Polym Ed 28(8):794–805. https://doi.org/10.1080/09205063.2017.1302314
- Kharaziha M, Shin SR, Nikkhah M, Topkaya SN, Masoumi N, Annabi N, Dokmeci MR, Khademhosseini A (2014) Tough and flexible CNT-polymeric hybrid scaffolds for engineering cardiac constructs. Biomaterials 35(26):7346–7354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.05.014
- Kim EK, Son MY, Kang Y, Lee CH, Kim HR, Won Y, Yoon W, Kim HC, Nam KH (2011) Chemical compound 31002 stimulates cardiomyogenic differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Lab Anim Res 27 (3):205–212. https://doi.org/10.5625/lar.2011.27.3. 205
- Kim TY, Kofron CM, King ME, Markes AR, Okundaye AO, Qu ZL, Mende U, Choi BR (2018) Directed fusion of cardiac spheroids into larger heterocellular microtissues enables investigation of cardiac action potential propagation via cardiac fibroblasts. PLoS One 13(5):e0196714. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0196714
- Kodama H, Inoue T, Watanabe R, Yasuoka H, Kawakami Y, Ogawa S, Ikeda Y, Mikoshiba K, Kuwana M (2005) Cardiomyogenic potential of mesenchymal progenitors derived from human circulating CD14+ monocytes. Stem Cells Dev 14(6):676–686. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2005.14.676
- Koivisto JT, Gering C, Karvinen J, Maria Cherian R, Belay B, Hyttinen J, Aalto-Setala K, Kellomaki M, Parraga J (2019) Mechanically biomimetic gelatin-Gellan gum hydrogels for 3D culture of beating human cardiomyocytes. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 11(23):20589–20602. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami. 8b22343
- Kong HJ, Smith MK, Mooney DJ (2003) Designing alginate hydrogels to maintain viability of immobilized cells. Biomaterials 24(22):4023–4029. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0142-9612(03)00295-3
- Konze SA, Cajic S, Oberbeck A, Hennig R, Pich A, Rapp E, Buettner FFR (2017) Quantitative assessment of sialo-glycoproteins and NGlycans during Cardiomyogenic differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells. Chembiochem 18(13):1317–1331. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbic.201700100
- Laflamme MA, Chen KY, Naumova AV, Muskheli V, Fugate JA, Dupras SK, Reinecke H, Xu C, Hassanipour M, Police S, O'Sullivan C, Collins L, Chen Y, Minami E, Gill EA, Ueno S, Yuan C, Gold J, Murry CE (2007) Cardiomyocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells in pro-survival factors enhance function of infarcted rat hearts. Nat Biotechnol 25(9):1015–1024. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nbt1327

- LaNasa SM, Bryant SJ (2009) Influence of ECM proteins and their analogs on cells cultured on 2-D hydrogels for cardiac muscle tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 5 (8):2929–2938. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2009. 05.011
- Lee ST, White AJ, Matsushita S, Malliaras K, Steenbergen C, Zhang Y, Li TS, Terrovitis J, Yee K, Simsir S, Makkar R, Marban E (2011) Intramyocardial injection of autologous cardiospheres or cardiospherederived cells preserves function and minimizes adverse ventricular remodeling in pigs with heart failure postmyocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 57 (4):455–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2010.07. 049
- Li MY, Mondrinos MJ, Chen XS, Lelkes PI (2006) Co-electrospun poly (lactide-co-glycolide), gelatin, and elastin blends for tissue engineering scaffolds. Tissue Eng 12(4):989–989
- Li JH, Zhang N, Wang JA (2008) Improved anti-apoptotic and anti-remodeling potency of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells by anoxic pre-conditioning in diabetic cardiomyopathy. J Endocrinol Investig 31 (2):103–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03345575
- Li Z, Guo X, Matsushita S, Guan J (2011) Differentiation of cardiosphere-derived cells into a mature cardiac lineage using biodegradable poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) hydrogels. Biomaterials 32(12):3220–3232. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.01.050
- Li ZQ, Fan ZB, Xu YY, Lo WS, Wang X, Niu H, Li XF, Xie XY, Khan M, Guan JJ (2016) pH-sensitive and thermosensitive hydrogels as stem-cell carriers for cardiac therapy. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8 (17):10752–10760. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami. 6b01374
- Li Y, Tian S, Lei I, Liu L, Ma P, Wang Z (2017) Transplantation of multipotent Isl1+ cardiac progenitor cells preserves infarcted heart function in mice. Am J Transl Res 9(3):1530–1542
- Liang Y, Zhao X, Ma PX, Guo B, Du Y, Han X (2019) pH-responsive injectable hydrogels with mucosal adhesiveness based on chitosan-grafted-dihydrocaffeic acid and oxidized pullulan for localized drug delivery. J Colloid Interface Sci 536:224–234. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jcis.2018.10.056
- Lin CR, Ke XG, Cvetanovic I, Ranade V, Somberg J (2005) The influence of extracellular acidosis on the effect of IKr Blockers. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 10(1):67–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 107424840501000108
- Lipinski MJ, Biondi-Zoccai GGL, Abbate A, Khianey R, Sheiban I, Bartunek J, Vanderheyden M, Kim HS, Kang HJ, Strauer BE, Vetrovec GW (2007) Impact of intracoronary cell therapy on left ventricular function in the setting of acute myocardial infarction: a collaborative systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 50 (18):1761–1767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2007. 07.041

- Macadangdang J, Lee HJ, Carson D, Jiao A, Fugate J, Pabon L, Regnier M, Murry C, Kim DH (2014) Capillary Force lithography for cardiac tissue engineering. J Vis Exp: JoVE 88:e50039. https://doi.org/10.3791/ 50039
- Majidi SS, Slemrning-Adamsen P, Hanif M, Zhang ZY, Wang ZM, Chen ML (2018) Wet electrospun alginate/ gelatin hydrogel nanofibers for 3D cell culture. Int J Biol Macromol 118:1648–1654. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.07.005
- Makkar RR, Smith RR, Cheng K, Malliaras K, Thomson LE, Berman D, Czer LS, Marban L, Mendizabal A, Johnston PV, Russell SD, Schuleri KH, Lardo AC, Gerstenblith G, Marban E (2012) Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): a prospective, randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 379(9819):895–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60195-0
- Maleki M, Ghanbarvand F, Reza Behvarz M, Ejtemaei M, Ghadirkhomi E (2014) Comparison of mesenchymal stem cell markers in multiple human adult stem cells. Int J Stem Cells 7(2):118–126. https://doi.org/10. 15283/ijsc.2014.7.2.118
- Malki M, Fleischer S, Shapira A, Dvir T (2018) Gold Nanorod-based engineered cardiac patch for suturefree engraftment by near IR. Nano Lett 18 (7):4069–4073. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett. 7b04924
- Malliaras K, Smith RR, Kanazawa H, Yee K, Seinfeld J, Tseliou E, Dawkins JF, Kreke M, Cheng K, Luthringer D, Ho CS, Blusztajn A, Valle I, Chowdhury S, Makkar RR, Dharmakumar R, Li D, Marban L, Marban E (2013) Validation of contrastenhanced magnetic resonance imaging to monitor regenerative efficacy after cell therapy in a porcine model of convalescent myocardial infarction. Circulation 128(25):2764–2775. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.113.002863
- Mani MP, Jaganathan SK, Faudzi AA, Sunar MS (2019) Engineered electrospun polyurethane composite patch combined with bi-functional components rendering high strength for cardiac tissue engineering. Polymers (Basel) 11(4):705. https://doi.org/10.3390/ Polym11040705
- Marban E, Malliaras K, Smith RR, Makkar R, Mendizabal A (2012) Cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration reply. Lancet 379(9835):2426–2427. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61064-2
- Marino F, Scalise M, Cianflone E, Mancuso T, Aquila I, Agosti V, Torella M, Paolino D, Mollace V, Nadal-Ginard B, Torella D (2019) Role of c-kit in myocardial regeneration and aging. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 10:371. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00371
- Martin GR (1981) Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78(12):7634–7638. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.78. 12.7634

- Marunouchi T, Yano E, Tanonaka K (2018) Effects of cardiosphere-derived cell transplantation on cardiac mitochondrial oxygen consumption after myocardial infarction in rats. Biomed Pharmacother 108:883–892. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018. 09.117
- Masumoto H, Yamashita JK (2018) Human iPS cellengineered three-dimensional cardiac tissues perfused by capillary networks between host and graft. Inflamm Regen 38:UNSP 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41232-018-0084-7
- Masumoto H, Ikuno T, Takeda M, Fukushima H, Marui A, Katayama S, Shimizu T, Ikeda T, Okano T, Sakata R, Yamashita JK (2014) Human iPS cell-engineered cardiac tissue sheets with cardiomyocytes and vascular cells for cardiac regeneration. Sci Rep 4:6716. https:// doi.org/10.1038/srep06716
- Mathur A, Ma Z, Loskill P, Jeeawoody S, Healy KE (2016) In vitro cardiac tissue models: current status and future prospects. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 96:203–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2015.09. 011
- Matsa E, Burridge PW, Wu JC (2014) Human stem cells for modeling heart disease and for drug discovery. Sci Transl Med 6(239):239ps6. https://doi.org/10.1126/ scitranslmed.3008921
- Matsuda Y, Takahashi K, Kamioka H, Naruse K (2018) Human gingival fibroblast feeder cells promote maturation of induced pluripotent stem cells into cardiomyocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 503 (3):1798–1804. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2018. 07.116
- Mauretti A, Neri A, Kossover O, Seliktar D, Nardo PD, Melino S (2016) Design of a novel composite H2 S-releasing hydrogel for cardiac tissue repair. Macromol Biosci 16(6):847–858. https://doi.org/10. 1002/mabi.201500430
- Menasche P, Hagege AA, Scorsin M, Pouzet B, Desnos M, Duboc D, Schwartz K, Vilquin JT, Marolleau JP (2001) Myoblast transplantation for heart failure. Lancet 357(9252):279–280. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03617-5
- Menasche P, Vanneaux V, Hagege A, Bel A, Cholley B, Parouchev A, Cacciapuoti I, Al-Daccak R, Benhamouda N, Blons H, Agbulut O, Tosca L, Trouvin JH, Fabreguettes JR, Bellamy V, Charron D, Tartour E, Tachdjian G, Desnos M, Larghero J (2018) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiovascular progenitors for severe ischemic left ventricular dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 71 (4):429–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11. 047
- Minami I, Yamada K, Otsuji TG, Yamamoto T, Shen Y, Otsuka S, Kadota S, Morone N, Barve M, Asai Y, Tenkova-Heuser T, Heuser JE, Uesugi M, Aiba K, Nakatsuji N (2012) A small molecule that promotes cardiac differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells under defined, cytokine- and Xeno-free conditions.

Cell Rep 2(5):1448–1460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2012.09.015

- Minatoguchi S, Takemura G, Chen XH, Wang NY, Uno Y, Koda M, Arai M, Misao Y, Lu CJ, Suzuki K, Goto K, Komada A, Takahashi T, Kosai K, Fujiwara T, Fujiwara H (2004) Acceleration of the healing process and myocardial regeneration may be important as a mechanism of improvement of cardiac function and remodeling by postinfarction granulocyte colonystimulating factor treatment. Circulation 109 (21):2572–2580. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.Cir. 0000129770.93985.3e
- Mitcheson JS, Hancox JC, Levi AJ (1998) Cultured adult cardiac myocytes: future applications, culture methods, morphological and electrophysiological properties. Cardiovasc Res 39(2):280–300. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0008-6363(98)00128-x
- Moshksayan K, Kashaninejad N, Warkiani ME, Lock JG, Moghadas H, Firoozabadi B, Saidi MS, Nguyen NT (2018) Spheroids-on-a-chip: recent advances and design considerations in microfluidic platforms for spheroid formation and culture. Sensors Actuators B Chem 263:151–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb. 2018.01.223
- Musaro A, Giacinti C, Borsellino G, Dobrowolny G, Pelosi L, Cairns L, Ottolenghi S, Cossu G, Bernardi G, Battistini L, Molinaro M, Rosenthal N (2004) Stem cell-mediated muscle regeneration is enhanced by local isoform of insulin-like growth factor 1. P Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(5):1206–1210. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0303792101
- Niu H, Li X, Li H, Fan Z, Ma J, Guan J (2019) Thermosensitive, fast gelling, photoluminescent, highly flexible, and degradable hydrogels for stem cell delivery. Acta Biomater 83:96–108. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.actbio.2018.10.038
- Noguchi R, Nakayama K, Itoh M, Kamohara K, Furukawa K, Oyama J, Node K, Morita S (2016) Development of a three-dimensional pre-vascularized scaffold-free contractile cardiac patch for treating heart disease. J Heart Lung Transplant 35(1):137–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2015.06.001
- Oikonomopoulos A, Kitani T, Wu JC (2018) Pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes as a platform for cell therapy applications: Progress and hurdles for clinical translation. Mol Ther 26(7):1624–1634. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.02.026
- Olivetti G, Capasso JM, Meggs LG, Sonnenblick EH, Anversa P (1991) Cellular basis of chronic ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction in rats. Circ Res 68(3):856–869. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.res.68.3. 856
- Ong CS, Fukunishi T, Nashed A, Blazeski A, Zhang HT, Hardy S, DiSilvestre D, Vricella L, Conte J, Tung L, Tomaselli G, Hibino N (2017) Creation of cardiac tissue exhibiting mechanical integration of spheroids using 3D bioprinting. J Vis Exp: JoVE 125:e55438. https://doi.org/10.3791/55438

- Peischard S, Piccini I, Strutz-Seebohm N, Greber B, Seebohm G (2017) From iPSC towards cardiac tissue-a road under construction. Pflugers Arch 469 (10):1233–1243. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-017-2003-1
- Pekkanen-Mattila M, Ojala M, Kerkela E, Rajala K, Skottman H, Aalto-Setala K (2012) The effect of human and mouse fibroblast feeder cells on cardiac differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Int 2012:875059. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/ 875059
- Pena B, Martinelli V, Jeong M, Bosi S, Lapasin R, Taylor MRG, Long CS, Shandas R, Park D, Mestroni L (2016) Biomimetic polymers for cardiac tissue engineering. Biomacromolecules 17(5):1593–1601. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac.5b01734
- Pinto AR, Ilinykh A, Ivey MJ, Kuwabara JT, D'Antoni ML, Debuque R, Chandran A, Wang L, Arora K, Rosenthal NA, Tallquist MD (2016) Revisiting cardiac cellular composition. Circ Res 118(3):400–409. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.307778
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA, Simonetti DW, Craig S, Marshak DR (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284(5411):143–147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 284.5411.143
- Pok S, Vitale F, Eichmann SL, Benavides OM, Pasquali M, Jacot JG (2014) Biocompatible carbon nanotube-chitosan scaffold matching the electrical conductivity of the heart. ACS Nano 8 (10):9822–9832. https://doi.org/10.1021/nn503693h
- Polonchuk L, Chabria M, Badi L, Hoflack JC, Figtree G, Davies MJ, Gentile C (2017) Cardiac spheroids as promising in vitro models to study the human heart microenvironment. Sci Rep 7:7005. https://doi.org/10. 1038/S41598-017-06385-8
- Ponikowski P, Anker SD, AlHabib KF, Cowie MR, Force TL, Hu S, Jaarsma T, Krum H, Rastogi V, Rohde LE, Samal UC, Shimokawa H, Budi Siswanto B, Sliwa K, Filippatos G (2014) Heart failure: preventing disease and death worldwide. ESC Heart Fail 1(1):4–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/ehf2.12005
- Prestwich GD (2011) Hyaluronic acid-based clinical biomaterials derived for cell and molecule delivery in regenerative medicine. J Control Release 155 (2):193–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011. 04.007
- Qiao Y, Dong Q, Li BC, Obaid S, Miccile C, Yin RT, Talapatra T, Lin ZX, Li SH, Li ZY, Efimov IR (2019) Multiparametric slice culture platform for the investigation of human cardiac tissue physiology. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 144:139–150. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.pbiomolbio.2018.06.001
- Ravichandran R, Venugopal JR, Sundarrajan S, Mukherjee S, Ramakrishna S (2013) Cardiogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells on elastomeric poly (glycerol sebacate)/collagen core/shell fibers.

World J Cardiol 5(3):28–41. https://doi.org/10.4330/ wjc.v5.i3.28

- Regev O, Khalfin R, Zussman E, Cohen Y (2010) About the albumin structure in solution and related electrospinnability issues. Int J Biol Macromol 47 (2):261–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2010. 04.012
- Reinecke H, MacDonald GH, Hauschka SD, Murry CE (2000) Electromechanical coupling between skeletal and cardiac muscle. Implications for infarct repair. J Cell Biol 149(3):731–740. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb. 149.3.731
- Roth GA, Johnson C, Abajobir A, Abd-Allah F, Abera SF, Abyu G, Ahmed M, Aksut B, Alam T, Alam K, Alla F, Alvis-Guzman N, Amrock S, Ansari H, Arnlov J, Asayesh H, Atey TM, Avila-Burgos L, Awasthi A, Banerjee A, Barac A, Barnighausen T, Barregard L, Bedi N, Ketema EB, Bennett D, Berhe G, Bhutta Z, Bitew S, Carapetis J, Carrero JJ, Malta DC, Castaneda-Orjuela CA, Castillo-Rivas J, Catala-Lopez F, Choi JY, Christensen H, Cirillo M, Cooper L, Criqui M, Cundiff D, Damasceno A, Dandona L, Dandona R, Davletov K, Dharmaratne S, Dorairaj P, Dubey M, Ehrenkranz R, Zaki ME, Faraon EJA, Esteghamati A, Farid T, Farvid M, Feigin V, Ding EL, Fowkes G, Gebrehiwot T, Gillum R, Gold A, Gona P, Gupta R, Habtewold TD, Hafezi-Nejad N, Hailu T, Hailu GB, Hankey G, Hassen HY, Abate KH, Havmoeller R, Hay SI, Horino M, Hotez PJ, Jacobsen K, James S, Javanbakht M, Jeemon P, John D, Jonas J, Kalkonde Y, Karimkhani C, Kasaeian A, Khader Y, Khan A, Khang YH, Khera S, Khoja AT, Khubchandani J, Kim D, Kolte D, Kosen S, Krohn KJ, Kumar GA, Kwan GF, Lal DK, Larsson A, Linn S, Lopez A, Lotufo PA, Abd El Razek HM, Malekzadeh R, Mazidi M, Meier T, Meles KG, Mensah G, Meretoja A, Mezgebe H, Miller T, Mirrakhimov E, Mohammed S, Moran AE, Musa KI, Narula J, Neal B, Ngalesoni F, Nguyen G, Obermeyer CM, Owolabi M, Patton G, Pedro J, Qato D, Qorbani M, Rahimi K, Rai RK, Rawaf S, Ribeiro A, Safiri S, Salomon JA, Santos I, Milicevic MS, Sartorius B, Schutte A, Sepanlou S, Shaikh MA, Shin MJ, Shishehbor M, Shore H, Silva DAS, Sobngwi E, Stranges S, Swaminathan S, Tabares-Seisdedos R, Atnafu NT, Tesfay F, Thakur JS, Thrift A, Topor-Madry R, Truelsen T, Tyrovolas S, Ukwaja KN, Uthman O, Vasankari T, Vlassov V, Vollset SE, Wakayo T, Watkins D, Weintraub R, Werdecker A, Westerman R, Wiysonge CS, Wolfe C, Workicho A, Xu GL, Yano Y, Yip P, Yonemoto N, Younis M, Yu CH, Vos T, Naghavi M, Murray C (2017) Global, regional, and National Burden of cardiovascular diseases for 10 causes, 1990 to 2015. J Am Coll Cardiol 70(1):1-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc. 2017.04.052
- Rufaihah AJ, Yasa IC, Ramanujam VS, Arularasu SC, Kofidis T, Guler MO, Tekinay AB (2017) Angiogenic peptide nanofibers repair cardiac tissue defect after

myocardial infarction. Acta Biomater 58:102–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2017.06.009

- Runge MB, Dadsetan M, Baltrusaitis J, Ruesink T, Lu L, Windebank AJ, Yaszemski MJ (2010) Development of electrically conductive oligo(polyethylene glycol) fumarate-polypyrrole hydrogels for nerve regeneration. Biomacromolecules 11(11):2845–2853. https:// doi.org/10.1021/bm100526a
- Sachlos E, Auguste DT (2008) Embryoid body morphology influences diffusive transport of inductive biochemicals: a strategy for stem cell differentiation. Biomaterials 29(34):4471–4480. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biomaterials.2008.08.012
- Sanganalmath SK, Bolli R (2013) Cell therapy for heart failure a comprehensive overview of experimental and clinical studies, current challenges, and future directions. Circ Res 113(6):810–834. https://doi.org/ 10.1161/Circresaha.113.300219
- Sasaki D, Matsuura K, Seta H, Haraguchi Y, Okano T, Shimizu T (2018) Contractile force measurement of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiac cell sheet-tissue. PLoS One 13(5):e0198026. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198026
- Savarese G, Lund LH (2017) Global public health burden of heart failure. Card Fail Rev 3(1):7–11. https://doi. org/10.15420/cfr.2016:25:2
- Schesny MK, Monaghan M, Bindermann AH, Freund D, Seifert M, Eble JA, Vogel S, Gawaz MP, Hinderer S, Schenke-Layland K (2014) Preserved bioactivity and tunable release of a SDF1-GPVI bi-specific protein using photo-crosslinked PEGda hydrogels. Biomaterials 35(25):7180–7187. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biomaterials.2014.04.116
- Schwach V, Passier R (2019) Native cardiac environment and its impact on engineering cardiac tissue. Biomater Sci 7(9):3566–3580. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c8bm01348a
- Sekine H, Shimizu T, Dobashi I, Matsuura K, Hagiwara N, Takahashi M, Kobayashi E, Yamato M, Okano T (2011) Cardiac cell sheet transplantation improves damaged heart function via superior cell survival in comparison with dissociated cell injection. Tissue Eng A 17(23–24):2973–2980. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten. tea.2010.0659
- Senyo SE, Steinhauser ML, Pizzimenti CL, Yang VK, Cai L, Wang M, Wu TD, Guerquin-Kern JL, Lechene CP, Lee RT (2013) Mammalian heart renewal by pre-existing cardiomyocytes. Nature 493 (7432):433–436. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11682
- Serpooshan V, Zhao MM, Metzler SA, Wei K, Shah PB, Wang A, Mahmoudi M, Malkovskiy AV, Rajadas J, Butte MJ, Bernstein D, Ruiz-Lozano P (2013) The effect of bioengineered acellular collagen patch on cardiac remodeling and ventricular function post myocardial infarction. Biomaterials 34 (36):9048–9055. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2013.08.017
- Seshi B, Kumar S, Sellers D (2000) Human bone marrow stromal cell: coexpression of markers specific for

multiple mesenchymal cell lineages. Blood Cells Mol Dis 26(3):234–246. https://doi.org/10.1006/bcmd. 2000.0301

- Shachar M, Tsur-Gang O, Dvir T, Leor J, Cohen S (2011) The effect of immobilized RGD peptide in alginate scaffolds on cardiac tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 7(1):152–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2010. 07.034
- Shapira-Schweitzer K, Habib M, Gepstein L, Seliktar D (2009) A photopolymerizable hydrogel for 3-D culture of human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes and rat neonatal cardiac cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 46 (2):213–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2008.10. 018
- Shi CY, Li QG, Zhao YN, Chen W, Chen B, Xiao ZF, Lin H, Nie L, Wang DJ, Dai JW (2011) Stem-cellcapturing collagen scaffold promotes cardiac tissue regeneration. Biomaterials 32(10):2508–2515. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.12.026
- Shibata S, Hayashi R, Kudo Y, Okubo T, Imaizumi T, Katayama T, Ishikawa Y, Kobayashi Y, Toga J, Taniguchi Y, Honma Y, Sekiguchi K, Nishida K (2020) Cell-type-specific adhesiveness and proliferation propensity on laminin isoforms enable purification of iPSC-derived corneal epithelium. Stem Cell Rep 14 (4):663–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2020.02. 008
- Shin SR, Jung SM, Zalabany M, Kim K, Zorlutuna P, Kim SB, Nikkhah M, Khabiry M, Azize M, Kong J, Wan KT, Palacios T, Dokmeci MR, Bae H, Tang XS, Khademhosseini A (2013) Carbon-nanotube-embedded hydrogel sheets for engineering cardiac constructs and bioactuators. ACS Nano 7(3):2369–2380. https:// doi.org/10.1021/nn305559j
- Siegel G, Krause P, Wohrle S, Nowak P, Ayturan M, Kluba T, Brehm BR, Neumeister B, Kohler D, Rosenberger P, Just L, Northoff H, Schafer R (2012) Bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells express cardiomyogenic proteins but do not exhibit functional cardiomyogenic differentiation potential. Stem Cells Dev 21(13):2457–2470. https://doi.org/10. 1089/scd.2011.0626
- Simon-Yarza T, Rossi A, Heffels KH, Prosper F, Groll J, Blanco-Prieto MJ (2015) Polymeric electrospun scaffolds: neuregulin encapsulation and biocompatibility studies in a model of myocardial ischemia. Tissue Eng A 21(9–10):1654–1661. https://doi.org/10.1089/ ten.TEA.2014.0523
- Simpson DL, Mishra R, Sharma S, Goh SK, Deshmukh S, Kaushal S (2012) A strong regenerative ability of cardiac stem cells derived from neonatal hearts. Circulation 126(11):S46–S53. https://doi.org/10.1161/ Circulationaha.111.084699
- Smith RR, Barile L, Cho HC, Leppo MK, Hare JM, Messina E, Giacomello A, Abraham MR, Marban E (2007) Regenerative potential of cardiosphere-derived cells expanded from percutaneous endomyocardial biopsy specimens. Circulation 115(7):896–908. https://doi.org/10.1161/Circulationaha.106.655209

- Soares CP, Midlej V, de Oliveira MEW, Benchimol M, Costa ML, Mermelstein C (2012) 2D and 3D-organized cardiac cells shows differences in cellular morphology, adhesion junctions, presence of myofibrils and protein expression. PLoS One 7(5): e38147. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038147
- Sondermeijer HP, See F, Seki T, Witkowski P, Woodland DC, Hardy MA, Itescu S (2008) Biocompatible 3-dimensional RGD-modified alginate scaffold designed to enhance cell transplantation to infarcted myocardium. Circulation 118(18):S322–S322
- Song YS, Joo HW, Park IH, Shen GY, Lee Y, Shin JH, Kim H, Kim KS (2017) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived vascular endothelial growth factor attenuates cardiac apoptosis via regulation of cardiac miRNA-23a and miRNA-92a in a rat model of myocardial infarction. PLoS One 12(6):e0179972. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179972
- Soonpaa MH, Koh GY, Klug MG, Field LJ (1994) Formation of nascent intercalated disks between grafted fetal cardiomyocytes and host myocardium. Science 264(5155):98–101. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 8140423
- Sosunov EA, Anyukhovsky EP, Sosunov AA, Moshnikova A, Wijesinghe D, Engelman DM, Reshetnyak YK, Andreev OA (2013) pH (low) insertion peptide (pHLIP) targets ischemic myocardium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(1):82–86. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1220038110
- Srinivasan A, Sehgal PK (2010) Characterization of biocompatible collagen fibers--a promising candidate for cardiac patch. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 16 (5):895–903. https://doi.org/10.1089/ten.TEC.2009. 0475
- Su HH, Liao JM, Wang YH, Chen KM, Lin CW, Lee IH, Li YJ, Huang JY, Tsai SK, Yen JC, Huang SS (2019) Exogenous GDF11 attenuates non-canonical TGF-beta signaling to protect the heart from acute myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. Basic Res Cardiol 114 (3):20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00395-019-0728-z
- Sun H, Zhou J, Huang Z, Qu L, Lin N, Liang C, Dai R, Tang L, Tian F (2017) Carbon nanotube-incorporated collagen hydrogels improve cell alignment and the performance of cardiac constructs. Int J Nanomedicine 12:3109–3120. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S128030
- Tachibana A, Santoso MR, Mahmoudi M, Shukla P, Wang L, Bennett M, Goldstone AB, Wang M, Fukushi M, Ebert AD, Woo YJ, Rulifson E, Yang PC (2017) Paracrine effects of the pluripotent stem cellderived cardiac myocytes salvage the injured myocardium. Circ Res 121(6):E22-+. https://doi.org/10.1161/ Circresaha.117.310803
- Tallawi M, Rosellini E, Barbani N, Cascone MG, Rai R, Saint-Pierre G, Boccaccini AR (2015) Strategies for the chemical and biological functionalization of scaffolds for cardiac tissue engineering: a review. J R Soc Interface 12(108):20150254. https://doi.org/10. 1098/rsif.2015.0254

- Tang Y, Nyengaard JR, Andersen JB, Baandrup U, Gundersen HJ (2009) The application of stereological methods for estimating structural parameters in the human heart. Anat Rec 292(10):1630–1647. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ar.20952
- Tian LL, Prabhakaran MP, Ding X, Kai D, Ramakrishna S (2013) Emulsion electrospun nanofibers as substrates for cardiomyogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. J Mater Sci Mater Med 24 (11):2577–2587. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-013-5003-5
- Tijore A, Cai PQ, Nai MH, Li ZY, Yu W, Tay CY, Lim CT, Chen XD, Tan LP (2015) Role of cytoskeletal tension in the induction of Cardiomyogenic differentiation in micropatterned human mesenchymal stem cell. Adv Healthc Mater 4(9):1399–1407. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/adhm.201500196
- Ting S, Chen A, Reuveny S, Oh S (2014) An intermittent rocking platform for integrated expansion and differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells to cardiomyocytes in suspended microcarrier cultures. Stem Cell Res 13(2):202–213. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scr.2014.06.002
- van den Akker F, Feyen DAM, van den Hoogen P, van Laake L, van Eeuwijk ECM, Hoefer I, Pasterkamp G, Chamuleau SAJ, Grundeman PF, Doevendans PA, Sluijter JPG (2017) Intramyocardial stem cell injection: go(ne) with the flow. Eur Heart J 38 (3):184–186. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw056
- van Marion MH, Bax NAM, van Turnhout MC, Mauretti A, van der Schaft DWJ, Goumans MJTH, Bouten CVC (2015) Behavior of CMPCs in unidirectional constrained and stress-free 3D hydrogels. J Mol Cell Cardiol 87:79–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yjmcc.2015.08.010
- Veltman CE, Soliman OII, Geleijnse ML, Vletter WB, Smits PC, ten Cate FJ, Jordaens LJ, Balk AHHM, Serruys PW, Boersma E, van Domburg RT, van der Giessen WJ (2008) Four-year follow-up of treatment with intramyocardial skeletal myoblasts injection in patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 29(11):1386–1396. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ ehn171
- Vicinanza C, Aquila I, Scalise M, Cristiano F, Marino F, Cianflone E, Mancuso T, Marotta P, Sacco W, Lewis FC, Couch L, Shone V, Gritti G, Torella A, Smith AJ, Terracciano CM, Britti D, Veltri P, Indolfi C, Nadal-Ginard B, Ellison-Hughes GM, Torella D (2017) Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and robustly myogenic: c-kit expression is necessary but not sufficient for their identification. Cell Death Differ 24(12):2101–2116. https://doi.org/10.1038/cdd.2017. 130
- Vukusic K, Jonsson M, Brantsing C, Dellgren G, Jeppsson A, Lindahl A, Asp J (2013) High density sphere culture of adult cardiac cells increases the levels of cardiac and progenitor markers and shows signs of vasculogenesis. Biomed Res Int 2013:696837. https:// doi.org/10.1155/2013/696837

- Wang HB, Shi JX, Wang Y, Yin YJ, Wang LM, Liu JF, Liu ZQ, Duan CM, Zhu P, Wang CY (2014) Promotion of cardiac differentiation of brown adipose derived stem cells by chitosan hydrogel for repair after myocardial infarction. Biomaterials 35 (13):3986–3998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2014.01.021
- Wang LJ, Meier EM, Tian S, Lei I, Liu L, Xian SX, Lam MT, Wang Z (2017) Transplantation of Isl1(+) cardiac progenitor cells in small intestinal submucosa improves infarcted heart function. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:230. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13287-017-0675-2
- Wang SY, Chen WD, Ma L, Zou MH, Dong WY, Yang HL, Sun L, Chen XX, Duan JZ (2019) Infant cardiosphere-derived cells exhibit non-durable heart protection in dilated cardiomyopathy rats. Cytotechnology 71(6):1043–1052. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10616-019-00328-z
- Weinberger F, Breckwoldt K, Pecha S, Kelly A, Geertz B, Starbatty J, Yorgan T, Cheng KH, Lessmann K, Stolen T, Scherrer-Crosbie M, Smith G, Reichenspurner H, Hansen A, Eschenhagen T (2016) Cardiac repair in guinea pigs with human engineered heart tissue from induced pluripotent stem cells. Sci Transl Med 8(363):363ra148. https://doi.org/10.1126/ scitranslmed.aaf8781
- Williams AR, Hatzistergos KE, Addicott B, McCall F, Carvalho D, Suncion V, Morales AR, Da Silva J, Sussman MA, Heldman AW, Hare JM (2013) Enhanced effect of combining human cardiac stem cells and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to reduce infarct size and to restore cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Circulation 127 (2):213–223. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.112.131110
- Wollert KC, Meyer GP, Lotz J, Ringes-Lichtenberg S, Lippolt P, Breidenbach C, Fichtner S, Korte T, Hornig B, Messinger D, Arseniev L, Hertenstein B, Ganser A, Drexler H (2004) Intracoronary autologous bone-marrow cell transfer after myocardial infarction: the BOOST randomised controlled clinical trial. Lancet 364(9429):141–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(04)16626-9
- Xiong QA, Hill KL, Li QL, Suntharalingam P, Mansoor A, Wang XH, Jameel MN, Zhang PY, Swingen C, Kaufman DS, Zhang JY (2011) A fibrin patch-based enhanced delivery of human embryonic stem cell-derived vascular cell transplantation in a porcine model of Postinfarction left ventricular remodeling. Stem Cells 29(2):367–375. https://doi. org/10.1002/stem.580
- Xu C, Inokuma MS, Denham J, Golds K, Kundu P, Gold JD, Carpenter MK (2001) Feeder-free growth of undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 19(10):971–974. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nbt1001-971
- Xu JY, Lee YK, Ran XR, Liao SY, Yang J, Au KW, Lai WH, Esteban MA, Tse HF (2016) Generation of

induced Cardiospheres via reprogramming of skin fibroblasts for myocardial regeneration. Stem Cells 34 (11):2693–2706. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2438

- Xuan W, Khan M, Ashraf M (2020) Extracellular vesicles from Notch activated cardiac mesenchymal stem cells promote myocyte proliferation and Neovasculogenesis. Front Cell Dev Biol 8:11. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fcell.2020.00011
- Yeung T, Georges PC, Flanagan LA, Marg B, Ortiz M, Funaki M, Zahir N, Ming WY, Weaver V, Janmey PA (2005) Effects of substrate stiffness on cell morphology, cytoskeletal structure, and adhesion. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 60(1):24–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/cm. 20041
- Yoshida Y, Yamanaka S (2017) Induced pluripotent stem cells 10 years later: for cardiac applications. Circ Res 120(12):1958–1968. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.117.311080
- Young JL, Engler AJ (2011) Hydrogels with timedependent material properties enhance cardiomyocyte differentiation in vitro. Biomaterials 32(4):1002–1009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.10.020
- Youssef A, Aboalola D, Han VKM (2017) The roles of insulin-like growth factors in mesenchymal stem cell niche. Stem Cells Int 2017:9453108. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2017/9453108
- Yu J, Gu Y, Du KT, Mihardja S, Sievers RE, Lee RJ (2009) The effect of injected RGD modified alginate on angiogenesis and left ventricular function in a chronic rat infarct model. Biomaterials 30 (5):751–756. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2008.09.059
- Yu JS, Du KT, Fang QZ, Gu YP, Mihardja SS, Sievers RE, Wu JC, Lee RJ (2010) The use of human mesenchymal stem cells encapsulated in RGD modified alginate microspheres in the repair of myocardial infarction in the rat. Biomaterials 31(27):7012–7020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.05.078

- Zhang G, Wang XH, Wang ZL, Zhang JY, Suggs L (2006) A PEGylated fibrin patch for mesenchymal stem cell delivery. Tissue Eng 12(1):9–19. https://doi.org/10. 1089/ten.2006.12.9
- Zhang D, Shadrin IY, Lam J, Xian HQ, Snodgrass HR, Bursac N (2013) Tissue-engineered cardiac patch for advanced functional maturation of human ESC-derived cardiomyocytes. Biomaterials 34 (23):5813–5820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2013.04.026
- Zhang JH, Wu Z, Fan ZP, Qin ZX, Wang YW, Chen JY, Wu MX, Chen YX, Wu CH, Wang JF (2018) Pericardial application as a new route for implanting stem-cell cardiospheres to treat myocardial infarction. J Physiol Lond 596(11):2037–2054. https://doi.org/10.1113/ Jp275548
- Zimmermann WH, Melnychenko I, Wasmeier G, Didie M, Naito H, Nixdorff U, Hess A, Budinsky L, Brune K, Michaelis B, Dhein S, Schwoerer A, Ehmke H, Eschenhagen T (2006) Engineered heart tissue grafts improve systolic and diastolic function in infarcted rat hearts. Nat Med 12(4):452–458. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nm1394
- Zong XH, Bien H, Chung CY, Yin LH, Fang DF, Hsiao BS, Chu B, Entcheva E (2005) Electrospun finetextured scaffolds for heart tissue constructs. Biomaterials 26(26):5330–5338. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biomaterials.2005.01.052
- Zou YZ, Takano H, Mizukami M, Akazawa H, Qin YJ, Toko H, Sakamoto M, Minamino T, Nagai T, Komuro I (2003) Leukemia inhibitory factor enhances survival of cardiomyocytes and induces regeneration of myocardium after myocardial infarction. Circulation 108 (6):748–753. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.Cir. 0000081773.76337.44
- Zuppinger C (2016) 3D culture for cardiac cells. BBA-Mol Cell Res 1863(7):1873–1881. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.bbamcr.2015.11.036



Dentin-Pulp Tissue Regeneration Approaches in Dentistry: An Overview and Current Trends

Soner Sismanoglu and Pinar Ercal

Abstract

Conventional treatment approaches in irreversible pulpitis and apical periodontitis include the disinfection of the pulp space followed by filling with various materials, which is commonly known as the root canal treatment. Disadvantages including the loss of tooth vitality and defense mechanism against carious lesions, susceptibility to fractures, discoloration and microleakage led to the development of regenerative therapies for the dentin pulp-complex. The goal of dentin-pulp tissue regeneration is to reestablish the physiological pulp function such as pulp sensibility, pulp repair capability by mineralization and pulp immunity. Recent dentin-pulp tissue regeneration approaches can be divided into cell homing and cell transplantation. Cell based approaches include a suitable scaffold for the delivery of potent stem cells with or without bioactive molecules into the root canal system while cell homing is based on the recruitment of host endogenous stem cells from the resident tissue including periapical region or dental pulp. This review discusses the recent treatment modalities in dentin-pulp tissue

S. Sismanoglu

P. Ercal (🖂)

regeneration through tissue engineering and current challenges and trends in this field of research.

Keywords

Dental pulp · Dentin · Dentistry · Mesenchymal stem cells · Regeneration · Tissue engineering

Abbreviations

3D	Three dimensional		
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase		
BMMSCs	Bone marrow derived mesenchymal		
	stem cells		
BMP	Bone morphogenic protein		
DPSCs	Dental pulp stem cells		
DSP	Dentin sialoprotein		
ECM	Extracellular matrix		
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid		
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor		
G-CSF	Granulocyte-colony stimulating		
	factor		
IGF	Insulin growth factor		
L-PRF	Leukocyte-platelet rich plasma		
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells		
MTA	Mineral trioxide aggregate		
NF-κβ	Nuclear factor kappa beta		
NGF	Nerve growth factor		
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor		

Department of Restorative Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, Altinbas University, Istanbul, Turkey

Department of Oral Surgery, Faculty of Dentistry, Altinbas University, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: pinar.ercal@altinbas.edu.tr

PDL	Periodontal ligament
PDLSCs	Periodontal ligament stem cells
PRF	Platelet rich fibrin
PRP	Platelet rich plasma
SCAP	Stem cells from apical papilla
SDF-1	Stromal-derived factor-1
SHED	Stem cells from human exfoliated
	deciduous teeth
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

1 Introduction

Dental pulp is a soft tissue, whose main function is to create the dentin tissue and provide its biological and physiological continuity. Since the dental pulp is surrounded by dentin, its blood supply can only be provided from the root apex, and thereby it does not have good collateral vascularization compared to that of other soft tissues of the oral mucosa. Therefore, it is very sensitive to external stimuli and infection, and its capacity to eliminate inflammation is relatively low. The current approach in the treatment of pulp inflammation is the complete removal of the pulp tissue from the root canal followed by the mechanical debridement and chemical disinfection procedures, and then obturation of the root canals with thermoplastic filling materials.

The root canal treatment is a dental procedure with a high success rate (up to 98%); however, there are several drawbacks including the loss of tooth vitality and defense mechanism against carious lesions, susceptibility to fractures, discoloration and microleakage (Siqsueira 2001; Imura et al. 2007). Furthermore, complications due to iatrogenic factors during endodontic procedures such as fractured root canal instruments and perforation, may lead to the extraction of the tooth. Regarding immature teeth whose root development is not completed, although root canal treatment can be applied, root development cannot be completed after the treatment (Pace et al. 2007). In order to overcome such shortcomings of the current endodontic treatment approach, the preservation of the dentin-pulp complex may be the most plausable option. However, it is not possible to apply a preventive treatment when the pulp tissue is extensively exposed as a result of damage to the tooth, rendering the development of regenerative therapies for the dentin-pulp complex of crucial importance.

2 Inflammation in Dental Pulp

Unlike other soft tissues of the human body, dental pulp is enclosed by the dentin, which is a highly calcified and inextensible tissue (Giraud et al. 2018; Goldberg et al. 2015; Jeanneau et al. 2017). When the dental pulp is injured due to caries and physical trauma, an inflammatory reaction begins at the remaining healthy pulp tissue (da Rosa et al. 2018; Goldberg et al. 2015; Jeanneau et al. 2017). Inflammatory reactions with increased vascularization and blood flow at other tissues of the human body do not lead to serious consequences, whereas an inflammation in the pulp can lead to destruction and necrosis of the dental pulp. If inflammation continues, the resulting chronic inflammation prevents regenerative processes, and eventually pulp necrosis occurs (Giraud et al. 2018).

Odontoblasts are dentin-forming cells (also known as dentin-producing cells) located around the pulp that first encounter pathogens (da Rosa et al. 2018). Furthermore, odontoblasts are called immunocompetent cells that can regulate the inflammatory response (Chmilewsky et al. 2014b; Cooper et al. 2014). It has been reported that odontoblasts can detect pathogens at the dentin-pulp interface and release antimicrobial agents targeting the elimination of pathogens as well as autocrine and paracrine signaling factors such as proinflammatory chemokines and cytokines (di Nardo Di Maio et al. 2007).

Studies have shown that the inflammatory response developed against pathogens is locally regulated by the dentin-pulp complex (Giraud et al. 2018; Jeanneau et al. 2017). The first step of this localized defense system begins with odontoblasts and pulp cells under the dentin barrier expressing pattern recognition receptors

(Chang et al. 2005). Pattern recognition receptors contain Toll-like receptors that can recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns on the surface of bacteria. After the recognition, pro-inflammatory cytokines are produced and pathways that launch the inflammatory cascade (Chang et al. 2005; Cooper et al. 2010), such as the nuclear factor kappa beta (NF- $\kappa\beta$) and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases (p38 MAPK) are activated (Botero et al. 2010; Cvikl et al. 2016). After a number of inflammatory steps, leukocytes which eliminate pathogens and cell debris, are located at the inflammatory site (Giraud et al. 2019).

Mild to severe inflammation is observed at the dentin-pulp interface after the pulp tissue is exposed to pathogens or during and after dental operations. A recent review stated that inflammatory responses should be a prerequisite for dental tissue healing (Goldberg et al. 2015). As a result of the interactive balance between pro and antiinflammatory responses, cell necrosis, apoptosis, resorption, calcification or vascularization can be observed (Shah et al. 2020). Low levels of proinflammatory signals trigger differentiation and mineralization, while high levels of proinflammatory signals accelerate the inflammatory response by allowing more inflammatory cells to be involved (Goldberg et al. 2015). Hence, low level of cytokine secretion enables mesenchymal stem cells to exhibit healing and anti-inflammatory functions, while high level of cytokine secretion may inhibit the involvement of stem cells (Li et al. 2014; Miller et al. 2008; Murdoch 2000).

Inflammation has been considered to be a mere undesirable effect in pulp healing for a long time (Goldberg et al. 2015). Today, it has been shown that inflammation and tissue regeneration are involved in an interaction in human body, which applies to the pulp tissue as well. The microenvironment of the inflamed pulp differs from that of the healthy pulp, and it releases various signals necessary to continue regeneration (Rombouts et al. 2016). Mild or moderate inflammation is shown to stimulate the regeneration, yet; severe or chronic inflammation can be detrimental to the pulp (da Rosa et al. 2018; Jeanneau et al. 2017).

Pulp fibroblasts are capable of the synthesis of all complement proteins that initiate pulp and nerve regeneration processes and act in the destruction of cariogenic bacteria (Chmilewsky et al. 2013, 2014b, 2016; Jeanneau et al. 2015). Traumatic injuries to the dentin-pulp complex, carious decay and biomaterial applications can prompt complement activation, which is involved in inflammation and regeneration processes (Chmilewsky et al. 2014a). Complement cascade involves formation of anaphylatoxins, C3a, C4a and C5a, which leads to the recruitment of inflammatory cells and the release of inflammatory mediators. These anaphylatoxins have been studied in regard to their applications in tissue regeneration. In particular, C5a shows the potential to stimulate pulp tissue regeneration (Giraud et al. 2018; Rombouts et al. 2016). C5a is capable of activating pulp progenitor cells to migrate towards injured site to induce the regeneration of the dentin-pulp complex (Chmilewsky et al. 2014a). It has also been shown that the pulp capping materials can regulate the C5a secretion (Giraud et al. 2018).

Deep cavity preparations or severe carious lesions, which disrupt the integrity of dentinpulp complex, may impair odontoblasts, leading to their apoptosis (Mitsiadis et al. 2008). This stimulates dentin-pulp tissue repair through stimulation and proliferation of progenitor cells, which are recruited to the site of injury to differentiate towards odontoblast-like cells to replace injured dentin to reparative dentin tissue (Fitzgerald et al. 1990). Extra cellular matrix's components and growth factors have been shown to stimulate the migration of stem cells. In the dental pulp, transforming growth factorbeta (TGF-β1) promotes progenitor cell migration and odontoblast differentiation (Laurent et al. 2012). The schematic illustration dentin-pulp tissue regeneration via differantiation of the dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) into odontoblast-like cells can be seen in Fig. 1. Studies have shown that the dentin matrix contains TGF-β1 and other bioactive molecules that include angiogenic growth factors (Roberts-Clark and Smith 2000). During dentin demineralization caused by carious lesions or acid administration, these molecules



Fig. 1 Schematic illustration of the differentiation of DPSCs into odontoblast-like cells to induce reparative dentinogenesis. (a) Injury to the dentin pulp complex due to severe carious lesions and destruction of odontoblasts.

are released into the pulp tissue, where they can mediate the dentin regeneration process. In this regard, pulp capping materials such as calcium hydroxide and mineral trioxide aggregate (MTA) have been shown to induce formation of reparative dentin by modulation of TGF- β 1 secretion from pulp cells (Laurent et al. 2012). Dentin and pulp tissues are intensely exposed to pathogens and occlusal stresses due to their unique microenvironment, thereby, the pulp inflammation must be under control before regeneration of the dentin-pulp complex.

3 Tertiary Dentinogenesis

Regeneration is the formation of a physiologically similar dentin tissue, while repair is a new tissue formation that resembles the natural dentinpulp complex at the histological level with the expected physiological functions (Murray et al. 2007; Smith et al. 2016). Although vital pulp therapies' primary goal is the complete regeneration of tissues lost by carious or traumatic injuries, current treatments are unlikely to be able to stimulate natural dentin formation (Smith et al. 2016). In this context, two types of tertiary dentin formation can be described as reactive and reparative dentinogenesis which include primary odontoblasts and dental pulp stem cells with the capability of differentiation towards odontoblastlike cells. If primary odontoblasts are present, this type of tertiary dentin is called "reactionary

(b) Migration of progenitor cells to differentiate towards odontoblast-like cells. (c) The damaged dentin is replaced by a reparative dentin formed by newly differentiated odontoblast-like cells

dentinogenesis" and it occurs after mild to moderate dentin damage. However, localized tissue injury can cause necrosis or apoptosis of primary odontoblasts, and the formation of tertiary dentin by odontoblast-like cells is then called "reparative dentinogenesis" (Cooper et al. 2014).

Tertiary dentinogenesis is the result of a balance between the inflammatory response and irreversible pulpitis (Simon et al. 2010). Dentin has a permeable structure due to dentinal tubules (da Rosa et al. 2018; Hanks et al. 1994; Pashley 1988), and after dental injuries, through the diffusion of various molecules including bioactive proteins, bacteria and toxins, inflammation can commence (da Rosa et al. 2018). Although a mild inflammation stimulates tertiary dentinogenesis, inflamed pulp may impair tertiary dentinogenesis through necrosis and apoptosis (Cooper et al. 2010).

Reparative dentinogenesis requires differentiation of DPSCs into odontoblast-like cells to induce dentinogenesis signals (Smith et al. 2012). In the dental pulp, mesenchymal stem cells are mostly found at the perivascular area and cell rich region of Hohl adjacent to the odontoblastic layer. These sites act as a source of odontoblast replacement. Odontogenesis involves induction of peripheral cells of the dental papilla to differentiate towards odontoblasts with the release of various growth factors from the inner enamel epithelium, such as FGF-1, TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 3 (da Rosa et al. 2018).

Regenerative dentin-pulp treatment strategies investigated the role of a molecular approach through the application of growth factors in pulp capping and pulpotomy studies. Bioactive dentin matrix proteins are shown to enhance tertiary dentinogenesis with fewer initial inflammatory responses, TGF-\beta1and BMP-7 constituting the most extensively studied molecules (da Rosa et al. 2017). Although many studies have evaluated the effects of individual molecules, differentiation processes include interactions between various factors and their synergistic impact can differ significantly from their individual effects. Efforts in designing the correct combinations these molecules, as well as investigating their dynamics, can benefit the development of treatments focusing on tertiary dentinogenesis (Piva et al. 2014).

Considering the significant advances in the understanding of the cellular and molecular aspects of the dental pulp and dentin formation process, current approaches regarding regeneration of dentin-pulp complex are promising. The application of tissue engineering principles, using scaffolds loaded with multipotent stem cells and bioactive molecules to regenerate desired dental tissue might be the ideal treatment method as the preclinical studies are translated into prospective clinical treatments.

4 Dentin-Pulp Complex Regeneration

Regenerative endodontic treatment is defined as the biological-based processes that enable replacement of damaged structures of the dentinpulp complex (Murray et al. 2007). The main purpose behind the regenerative endodontic treatment is to regain normal physiological features such as innate immunity, tertiary dentinogenesis, sense of occlusal pressure and pain that the necrotic pulp does not have. Regaining such properties to the teeth would eliminate the disadvantages of conventional endodontic treatment and increase the long-term success rate, thus allowing patients to retain their natural dentition for longer periods. In this context, it is necessary to regenerate the dentin-pulp complex with its normal physiological functions, not just retain the vitality of the dental pulp. This can only be achieved through tissue engineering applications as opposed to conventional treatment. Tissue engineering is a multidisciplinary and continuously expanding application area that deals with tissues damaged by congenital disorders, cancer, trauma. infection, inflammation, iatrogenic injuries or other conditions to restore structures and physiology (Reddi 1998; Nakashima and Reddi 2003). Tissue engineering consists of three elements called tissue engineering triad, which generally include stem cells, scaffolds, and bioactive molecules (Alsberg et al. 2001; Nakashima 2005).

4.1 Stem Cells

Stem cells are undifferentiated clonogenic cells with self-renewal capability which can differentiate into various lineages (Rao 2004). Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) reside in adult tissues and can be recruited upon injury for tissue healing and regeneration. Ever since their first isolation from bone marrow (Friedenstein et al. 1970), MSCs can be isolated from a variety of tissues including dental tissue, adipose tissue and umbilical chord (Ding et al. 2011). Dental stem cell sources have gained popularity due to high accesibility, ease of cell isolation and reduced ethical concerns as these tissues can be obtained during routine dental procedures (Ercal et al. 2018).

Dental pulp is the first dental tissue to be used as a stem cell source, which showed the ability to form a dentin-pulp complex-like structure containing a well-mineralized tubule matrix *in vivo* (Gronthos et al. 2000). This discovery boosted subsequent studies in more MSC sources of dental origin, as well as investigations in stem cell mediated dentin-pulp regeneration.

Other dental MSCs have been identified and characterized: stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED) (Miura et al. 2003), periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs) (Seo et al. 2004), dental follicle stem cells (DFSCs) (Morsczeck et al. 2005), and stem cells from apical papilla (SCAP) (Sonoyama et al. 2006, 2008). First isolated by Miura et al. in 2003, SHED showed higher proliferation rate than DPSCs and bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells (BMMSCs) but were unable to regenerate a distinct dentin-pulp complex unlike DPSCs, rendering DPSCs a more favorable source for odontogenic differentiation (Miura et al. 2003). First isolated from third molars, PDLSCs have been reported to differentiate into cementoblast-like cells due to their expression of higher levels of tendon-specific transcription factors compared to DSPCs and BMMSCs (Seo et al. 2004). Although mineral deposition is observed in PDLSCs comparable to that of DSPCs and BMMSCs, newly formed tissue resembles cementum-PDL complex rather than dentin-pulp complex (Seo et al. 2004). First described by Sonoyama et al. in 2008, SCAP is isolated from the apical papilla of immature permanent teeth which evolve into the dental pulp. SCAP can transform into odontoblast-like cells capable of forming primary dentin. Proliferation rate and cell migration activity of SCAP were found to be higher than DPSCs isolated from the same tooth (Sonoyama et al. 2008).

In regard to dentin-pulp tissue regeneration approaches, the most suitable stem cell sources are DPSCs, SHED and SCAP as they are either derived from dental pulp tissue, including DPSCs and SHED, or from the pulp precursor, SCAP (Huang 2011). In terms of proliferation capacity, SHED is found to exhibit a higher proliferative activity and express increased levels of bFGF, which is involved in angiogenesis, compared to that of DPSCs and BMMSCs (Kunimatsu et al. 2018). Angiogenic properties of these cells are essential since newly formed dental pulp tissue requires sufficient vascularization considering the small size of the root apex. SCAP and DPSCs have shown to express various angiogenic proteins such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3, angiopoietin-1 (Hilkens et al. 2014). However, the same authors showed that in vivo transplantation of DPSCs and/or SCAP embedded in a hydrogel containing 3D hydroxyapatite scaffolds exhibit less vascularization in the newly

formed pulp-like tissue compared to control groups with only hydrogel. The authors suggested the role of transplantation period and the microenvironemt on the secretion of angiogenic factors in this unexpected outcome as well as the hard-tissue forming capacity of these cells, which can avert angiogenesis as they undergo osteo/ odontogenic differentiation (Hilkens et al. 2017). The selection of a proper scaffold is as critical as the differentiation potential of the stem cell sources to achieve the desired regeneration considering the impact of its properties on the microenvironment.

4.2 Scaffold

Tremendous efforts in biomaterial sciences contributed to the enhancement of regenerative dentistry by moving preclinical studies to clinical applications. Scaffold is one of the three basic elements of the tissue engineering. It acts as a three-dimensional structural skeleton supporting the organization and vascularization of cells (Demarco et al. 2011; Nakashima and Akamine 2005). The material and physiomechanical properties of scaffolds have critical effects on stem cells and tissue regeneration (Barnes et al. 2007; Demarco et al. 2010; Graziano et al. 2008; Yang et al. 2001). In addition, the scaffold design determines the microenvironment that enables efficient delivery of cells and bioactive molecules. Scaffold is an imitation of the extracellular matrix, which should contain growth factors to help proliferation and differentiation, nutrients, and antibiotics to prevent bacterial growth (Karande et al. 2004; Oringer 2002; Tabata 2005). In order to provide these features, it should have sufficient porosity and pore width (Sachlos and Czernuszka 2003). The scaffold must also be biocompatible, and have optimal physical and mechanical properties. One of the most important features of a scaffold is that it should be bioresorbable or biodegradable; not require additional operation after fulfilling its purpose (Nakashima 2005; Smith 2001).

Natural polymers offer a favorable environment for tissue engineering, while allowing partially controlled release of bioactive molecules (Galler et al. 2011c; Khayat et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2012). In contrast, production processes are challenging, and can trigger immune responses and consists pathogens (Galler et al. 2011c; Wang et al. 2010a). Natural polymers can originate from animals, algae, bacteria, plants, and host tissues (Chen et al. 2017; Galler et al. 2011c; Yang et al. 2012). Generally, decellularized host-derived/xenogeneic extracellular matrix (ECM) scaffolds are preferred for natural polymers in tissue engineering (Chen et al. 2017; Khayat et al. 2017).

Synthetic polymers can be designed in various geometries and porosities according to the application site, and their properties such as degredation rate, wettability and mechanical properties can be modified. It is much easier to add bioactive molecules to the structure of synthetic polymers that attract cells or are required in tissue engineering (Galler et al. 2011c). Synthetic polymers are divided into two as solid wall and nanofibrous structure according to their structure. Scaffolds with nanofibrous architecture were found to be more favourable than solid walled scaffolds in terms of cellular attachment, proliferation, differentiation and mineralization (Lee et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2010a, 2011).

Hydrogels are preferred due to their high biocompatibility and uniform encapsulation features (Galler et al. 2011c; Karakaya and Ulusoy). Gel formation dynamics, crosslink density, mechanical properties of the material, and degredation rates can be controlled. Synthetic hydrogels commonly used in dental pulp regeneration are polyethylene glycol (PEG) based hydrogels and selfassembling peptide hydrogels. Hybrid hydrogels such as fibrin/PEG aim overcome to shortcomings like rapid degredation of fibrin and is able to form a vascularized dental pulplike connective tissue (Galler et al. 2011a).

Bioceramics are biocompatible, biodegradable and osteoconductive materials, which stimulate mineralization. On the other hand, porosity is difficult to form in these materials because of their fragile structure, and their workability is insufficient (Galler et al. 2011c; Zheng et al. 2011). Various indications are present in dentistry for the use of bioceramics including root repair, apical fill, perforation and bone defect treatment. Bioceramics can be divided into two as phosphate-based and silicate-based (Karakaya and Ulusoy 2018). Tricalcium silicates are currently considered to be the preferred materials for the treatment of vital pulp, because histological studies show that they stimulate dentin-pulp tissue regeneration with no pulp inflammation (Khayat et al. 2017). Silicate bioceramics, as opposed to calcium phosphate bioceramics, can have enhanced physicochemical and biological properties with improved bone regeneration capabilities (Wu and Chang 2013).

In dentin-pulp tissue regeneration, considering the complex root anatomy and limited space for pulp tissue, injectable biomaterials can be more advantageous due to the ease of clinical handling, and transplantation of cells into the root canals (Fukushima et al. 2019). Natural scaffolds including collagen, ECM, chitosan, and hyaluronic acid in the presence of stem cells show some kind of tissue formation with or without bioactive molecules while the lack of cells result in no tissue formation. Synthetic and hybrid scaffolds overcome the shortcomings of natural scaffolds but hybrid scaffolds are unable to form pulp-like tissue without stem cell presence while synthethic scaffolds require growth factors combined with stem cells in addition to difficulties in attracting host stem cells (Fukushima et al. 2019).

4.3 Bioactive Molecules

Bioactive molecules are another indispensable element of the tissue engineering. It is known that bioactive molecules recruit cells necessary for the tissue regeneration with chemotactic effects and induce their proliferation and differentiation. Bioactive molecules can be delivered exogenously to the regeneration area in addition to be supplied endogenously by demineralization of the dentin. It has been reported that 17% ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) liberates bioactive molecules trapped in primary and secondary dentin (Becerra et al. 2014; Galler et al. 2011b, 2015; Martin et al. 2014). These molecules can be applied alone or in different combinations.

Transforming growth factor- β superfamily is among the most important growth factors in bioactive molecules. TGF- β has three isoforms, TGF-β1, TGF-β2 and TGF-β3. TGF-β1 is effective in primary odontoblastic differentiation and tertiary dentinogenesis (Cassidy et al. 1997). TGF-β3 induces ectopic mineralization in pulp tissue and increases osteocalcin and type1 collagen levels (Huojia et al. 2005). BMPs, members of the transforming growth factor- β superfamily, are involved in many biological activities including cell proliferation and differentiation. BMP-2, a growth factor approved for clinical use by the American Food and Drug Administration has shown to induce osteo/odontogenic differentiation and in vivo bone formation. The addition of BMP-2 to cell medium of DPSCs showed improved odontogenic differention as indicated by increased DSPP, DMP-1, MMP20 and Phex expression and osteo-dentin matrix tissue formation with vascularization in vivo (Atalayin et al. 2016).

Blood-derived growth factors such as plateletderived growth factor (PDGF), TGF-B, FGF-2, VEGF, and insulin growth factor (IGF) are found in blood clots. VEGF is regarded as a dominant signaling protein involved in lymphangiogenesis, vasculogenesis, and angiogenesis (Holmes et al. 2007). Aksel and Huang (2017), showed that the delivery of VEGF to DPSCs in the early proliferating stage enhances osteo/odontogenic differentiation in vitro when combined with a continious application of BMP-2. As VEGF can also inhibit BMP-2 expression leading to an undesired less bone formation (Schönmeyr et al. 2009), determination of the most appropiate timing in growth factor addition during differentation cascades is of critical importance in the resultant tissue formation.

IGF-1 is an essential peptide for new bone formation and mineralization. IGF-1 is a multifunctional peptide, which promotes osteogenic proliferation and differentiation of DPSCs and SCAPs, and promotes alkaline phosphatase production (Alkharobi et al. 2016; Feng et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2011). IGF-1 is needed for maximum growth during development.

Resolvines (RvE1 and RvD1) that provide anti-inflammatory effects are molecules derived from omega-3 polyinsatured fatty acids that provide anti-inflammatory effects (Serhan and Petasis 2011; Serhan et al. 2000). Considering the negative effects of prolonged inflammation on stem cells, resolvins may be favorable in the treatment of pulpal inflammation, and the preservation or regeneration of a vital dental pulp. RvE1 down-regulates NF-ĸβ, allowing macrophages in M1 stage to shift to M2 stage, thereby resolving initial inflamatory responses (Goldberg 2019). In spite of this, although the inflammatory resolving effect of resolvins is known, its effectiveness in dentin-pulp complex regeneration should be investigated further.

Wnt signaling molecule family plays critical roles in normal morphogenesis of oral tissues including taste buds, taste papillae and teeth. Wnt proteins are short-range ligands that activate canonical or the Wnt/β-catenin pathway and non-canonical signaling pathways (Liu and Millar 2010). Cell migration, proliferation and differentiation during tooth development is known to be regulated by Wnt3, Wnt4, Wnt7b and Wnt10b, which are expressed in the dental epithelium and mesenchyme (Wang et al. 2014). A study demonstrated that upon injury, pulp cells are shown to differentiate into secretory odontoblasts responding to an amplified Wtn stimulus, a liposome-reconstituted Wnt3a, resulting in enhanced dentin regeneration (Hunter et al. 2015). Furthermore, Wnt3a and BMP-9 is shown to synergistically induce alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity in immortalized SCAP and form a highly mineralized trabecular bone, indicating the importance of the crosstalk between Wnt and BMP signaling in osteo/ odontogenic differentation (Zhang et al. 2015a). However, Wnt1, a member of Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway, inhibits ALP activity and interferes with the differentiation of DPSCs into odontoblasts which might indicate its involvement in preserving MSCs in their undifferentiated state (Scheller et al. 2008). Nonetheless, as the Wnt/ β -catenin is involved in tooth initiation, approaches in manipulation of this signalling pathway for promotion of dentin-pulp complex must be explored in future studies.

5 Cell-Based Pulp-Dentin Complex Regeneration

Cell-based dentin-pulp complex regeneration is primarily based on the transplantation of exogenous stem cells into the disinfected root cavity. Stem cells can be obtained from the host (autologous) or can be obtained from different individuals (allogenic). These cells can be transplanted directly or expanded in cultures so that they can reach sufficient numbers under laboratory conditions. In the regeneration of cellbased dentin-pulp complex, the main goal is to produce a new dentin-pulp complex covering the root canals and pulp chamber, which has the capability of dentin formation. Various studies investigated cell-based approach to regenerate dentin-pulp complex over the last decade (Table 1).

5.1 De Novo Regeneration of Dentin-Pulp Complex

Approach for the regeneration of lost pulp tissue in the emptied root canal space is called *de novo* regeneration. Many studies in regenerative dentistry are focused on revascularization of the inflamed tooth with incomplete root formation. Although there are promising case studies, in which periapical inflammation is resolved and pulp-like and dentin-like tissues are formed, revascularization is indicated for tooth with open apice and incomplete root development (Banchs and Trope 2004; Ding et al. 2009; Nosrat et al. 2011; Peng et al. 2017). Considering the regenerative treatment of fully developed teeth, cellbased approaches should be developed. de novo regeneration approaches focus on stem cell sources including DPSCs, SCAP and SHED. Schematic illustration of the cell-based de novo regeneration approaches can be seen in Fig. 2.

Huang et al. (2010) isolated DPSCs and SCAP and inserted them on a poly-D, L-lactide/ glycolide scaffold to perform *de novo* regeneration in empty root canals for the first time. The prepared root canal fragments were subcutaneously transplanted into immunocompromised-SCID mice. As a result of histological analysis after 3-4 months, the root canal cavity was filled with pulp-like tissue and a good vascularization was established compared to scaffold alone groups which displayed fibrous tissue formation. Moreover, new dentin-like mineralized tissue formation by newly formed odontoblast-like cells was observed on the existing dentin wall located at the cavity periphery. Autologous transplantation of CD105positive dental pulp cells with stromal-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) in adult canine teeth after pulpectomy demonstrated complete pulp regeneration indicating the possibility to regenerate the entire pulp tissue for the first time (Iohara et al. 2011). Another canine in vivo study investigated dentin-pulp tissue regeneration in immature teeth with autologous DPSCs embedded in a chitosan hydrogel scaffold combined with various growth factors in an induced apical periodontitis model. Radiographic and histopathological evidence indicated significantly greater root lenghtening, higher apical closure and presence of a pulp-like tissue with stem cell groups whereas scaffolds loaded with only growth factors showed no soft tissue formation (el Ashiry et al. 2018). An in vivo study in swine included delivery of autologous or allogeneic DPSCs in hyaluronic acid or collagen gel into the root canals subjected to total pulpectomy and canal enlargement procedures, which were then closed with collagen or tricalcium phosphate/hydroxyapatite with MTA cement. Results indicated orthotopic pulp regeneration with dentin-like mineral tissue deposition and newly formed dentinal tubules, although newly formed hard tissue lacked natural dentin structure which is difficult to obtain in regeneration (Zhu et al. 2018). Studies indicate the necessity of the stem cell use to achieve a viable vascularized pulp tissue regeneration.

Succeeding promising *in vivo* data, clinical studies are initiated to translate these findings into daily practice. In a recent clinical pilot study with 5 cases, *de novo* regeneration was attempted in a tooth with irreversible pulpitis and no apical lesion (Nakashima and Iohara 2017; Nakashima et al. 2017). Mobilized DSPCs

			Scaffold/	
			bioactive	
Author	Cell	Method	molecule	Outcomes
Iohara et al. (2011)	DPSCs	In vivo	Collagen	Similar mRNA expression patterns in the regenerated pulp compared to that of normal pulp
				cells attached to dentinal wall extending into dentin tubules
				Neurogenesis and angiogenesis shown by immunostaining and complete regeneration of whole pulp after pulpectomy in mature teeth
Suzuki et al. (2011)	DPSCs	In vivo	Collagen gel SDF1, FGF-2, BMP-7	SDF1 and FGF-2 can recruit DPSCs into a 3D collagen scaffold whereas BMP-7 has minor effect on cell recruitment
				BMP-7 is effective in inducing mineralization in cell culture of DPSCs
				FGF-2 adsorbed collagen scaffold resulted in re-cellularization and tissue integration in human teeth implanted into the dorsum of the rats
Zhu et al. (2012)	DPSCs	In vivo	PRP	All canals filled with blood clot showed new vital tissue formation
				DPSCs and/or PRP transplantation groups indicated no improvement in new tissue formation compared to blood clot alone groups
Wang et al. (2013)	DPSCs	In vivo	Gelfoam	Formation of pulp-like tissues containing blood vessels and dentin-like tissue and thickening of dentinal wall in groups with DPSCs loaded gelfoam
Dissanayaka et al. (2014)	DPSCs	In vivo	No scaffold Prevascularized with HUVEC	Prevascularized microtissue spheroids of DPSCs can regenerate vascular dental pulp- like tissue in tooth-root slices
Zhu et al. (2014)	DPSCs	In vivo	PRP	Newly formed tissue is shown to be mainly cemental, bone and periodontal-like fibrous tissue instead of dentin-pulp tissue as indicated by positive staining for tartrate- resistant acid phosphatase, bone sialoprotein, periostin and osteocalcin
Chen et al. (2015)	DPSCs	In vivo	PRF	PRF promotes the proliferation and induces osteo/odontogenic differentiation of DPSCs
				Vascularized pulp-like tissue is formed and intracanal walls of root show deposition of regenerated dentin with DPSC cell sheets of DPSCs and PRF
Dissanayaka et al. (2015)	DPSCs	In vivo	Peptide hydrogel (PuraMatrix [™])	DPSCs promote remodeling of capillary structure established by HUVECs
			HUVEC co-culture	Hydrogel/cell constructs show partial regeneration of pulp-like tissue in root canals up to the middle to lower third
Hatab et al. (2015)	DPSCs	Clinical case study	Chitosan	Autologous transplantation of DPSCs in chitosan into the root canals shows pulp-like tissue as indicated by the presence of odontoblast-like cells aligning newly formed dentitie like tissue
				uchun-like ussue

 Table 1
 Cell-based approach studies (De novo regeneration)

(continued)

Author	Cell	Method	Scaffold/ bioactive molecule	Outcomes
Na et al. (2016)	SCAPs	In vivo	3D Scaffold-free stem-cell sheet- derived pellet	Scaffold-free stem-cell sheet-derived pellet transplantation in human treated dentin matrix fragments indicate presence of a vascularized pulp-like tissue and dentin-like tissue deposition
Hilkens et al. (2017)	DPSCs SCAP	In vivo	3D-printed hydroxyapatite Hydrogel	Constructs loaded with stem cells display pulp-like tissue with vascularization with a distinctively lower collagen content compared to dental pulp tissue DPSC+SCAP constructs show lower vascularization than negative control transplants due to osteo/odontogenic differentiation
Nakashima et al. (2017)	Human	Clinical	Atelocollagen G CSE	Human MDPSCs are safe and efficacious for
(2017)	DPSCs	study	0-051	Continued thickening of radicular walls.
				Electric pulp tester for evaluation of the sensibility of teeth: Positive response in 4 cases out of the 5 cases.
Xuan et al. (2018)	Autologous SHED	Clinical trial	-	Stem cell implantation to immature permanent traumatized teeth shows pulp regeneration, increased root length and reduced width of the apical foramen
Zhu et al. (2018)	DPSCs SCAP	In vivo	Collagen TE Hyaluronic acid	Autologous DPSCs transplantation shows vascularized pulp-like tissue in root canal space and new dentin-like tissue deposition along root canal walls in swine
el Ashiry (2018)	DPSCs	In vivo	Chitosan hydrogel VEGF FGF-2 PDGF NGF BMP-7	DPSCs transplants with growth factors in immature teeth show pulp-like tissue formation, greater root lengthening and higher apical closure compared to scaffolds loaded with only growth factors in apical periodontitis
Meza et al. (2019)	DPSCs	Case study	L-PRF	Autologous DPSCs transplantation combined with L-PRF in the treatment of irreversible pulpitis of a mature tooth shows healthy periapical bone, dentin bridge formation in the middle third of the root, calcification of the canal in the apical third and delayed response to thermal stimuli after 36 months follow-up
Brizuela et al. (2020)	Encapsulated human umbilical cord MSCs	Randomized clinical trial	Plasma derived biomaterial	After treatment in mature teeth with apical lesions, increased positive pulp response is observed after 12 months of follow up

3D three dimensional, *BMP* bone morphogenic protein, *FGF* fibroblast growth factor, *DPSCs* dental pulp stem cells, *G-CSF* granulocyte-colony stimulating factor, *L-PRF* leukocyte-platelet rich plasma, *MSCs* mesenchymal stem cells, *NGF* nerve growth factor, *PDGF* platelet-derived growth factor, *PRF* platelet rich fibrin, *PRP* platelet rich plasma, *SCAP* stem cells from apical papilla, *SDF-1* stromal-derived factor-1, *SHED* stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth, *VEGF* vascular endothelial growth factor

Table 1 (continued)



Fig. 2 Illustration of cell-based *de novo* approach for dentin-pulp tissue regeneration. This approach is based on the transplantation of isolated cells to the disinfected root canal system after cell harvesting by tissue biopsy.

The isolated stem cells are expanded under laboratory conditions and transplanted to the previously disinfected root canal space in combination with scaffolds and bioactive molecules

isolated from the patient's discarded tooth were transplanted into the empty root canal of the disinfected tooth and were followed for 24 weeks. After 4 weeks, the teeth responded positively to the electrical pulp test. In the magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) examination performed 24 weeks later, dental pulp tissue and functional dentin formation were observed similar to untreated control. As a result, researchers commented that human mobilized DPSCs are safe and efficacious for complete pulp regeneration. A recent and the only human clinical controlled study on treatment of injured permanent immature teeth with autologous decidous DPSCs, showed regeneration of the dental pulp as well as increased root length and reduced width of the apical foramen 12 months post-treatment (Xuan et al. 2018). Even at the follow-up of 24 months, the regenerated pulp tissue was still viable and no complications were noted, rendering this a promising approach to treat immature teeth with pulp trauma.

Regarding the necessity to regenerate the entire pulp tissue in cases with irreversible pulpitis, the availability of viable and multipotent MSCs in inflamed dental pulp might be critical in the treatment approach. Studies comparing the DPSCs and SHED harvested from normal and inflamed pulp tissue revealed that the diseased pulp contains cells with similar proliferation and differentiation potential to that of normal tissue (Alongi et al. 2010; Yu et al. 2014). With the aim to ameliorate properties of cells of inflamed pulp, application of FGF-2 to MSCs isolated from inflamed pulp tissue during ex vivo expansion was investigated. This study demonstrated enhanced proliferation and migration potential, increased formation of dentin-like material in vivo but showed reduced differentiation potential in vitro (Kim et al. 2014). However, an investigation on immunomodulatory properties of inflamed pulp deciduous tissue indicated that these cells do not posess typical MSC charateristics and show lower immunsupression properties compared to that of healthy tissue (Yazid et al. 2014). Although the use of inflamed pulp tissue for regeneration approaches might prove to be beneficial, more research is necessary before considering inflamed tissue as a reliable stem cell source for dentin-pulp tissue regeneration.

De novo regeneration is a promising method, but there are a number of question marks. The entire root canal system must be disinfected in order to perform the procedures of de novo regeneration. However, the root canal system contains many complex anatomical formations such as istmus, lateral canals and apical delta. Presence of residual bacteria in these formations may lead to persistent infections, which risk the de novo regeneration. As the conventional endodontic therapy is currently focused on the disinfection of persistent infections, developments in this regard will also contribute to de novo regeneration procedures. On the other hand, the root canal structure preferred in studies has a wide and simple anatomy, so it is an issue to perform de novo regeneration in teeth with complex anatomy.

6 Cell-Free Dentin-Pulp Complex Regeneration

Cell homing is a tissue regeneration approach based on recruitment of host stem cells into the defect site (Fig. 3). Concerning this appoach in dentin-pulp tissue regeneration, the scaffolds containing bioactive molecules are aimed to induce the chemotaxis, proliferation and differentiation of host endogenous stem cells from resident tissue including periapical region or dental pulp (Eramo et al. 2018; Kim et al. 2013; Mao et al. 2012). In the first study of cell-homing based dentin-pulp tissue regeneration, Kim et al. combined VEGF, FGF-2, PDGF with basal nerve growth factor (NGF) and BMP-7, and reported that after implantation into endodontically treated root canals, the entire cavity was regenerated with dentin-pulp-like tissue (Kim et al. 2010). Recent cell-free investigations in dentin-pulp tissue regeneration are listed in Table 2.

Host endogenous cells involved in this process are residual DPSCs, periapical tissue orginated cells such as SCAP and BMMSCs. Therefore, angiogenic and odontogenic differentiation capacity of these cells can play a key role in the treatment outcomes of this approach. In clinical scenarios with pulpitis where vital tissue still remains, host endogenous stem cells can still remain viable. A method for distinction between remaining healthy and damaged pulp tissue might serve beneficial for upcoming treatment modalities whereas in cases with pulp necrosis, promotion in recruitment of stem cells from periapical tissues and blood stream is necessary (Galler et al. 2014).

An important stem cell source in this regard is SCAP that can survive due to collateral blood supply during pulp necrosis (Yang et al. 2016). On the other hand, BMMSCs which are associated with the dentin-pulp complex, may be another source of cells (Yang et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2015b). Ostby's study on the importance of blood clot in wound healing can be considered as the first study to evaluate the local regeneration of pulp tissue in the root canal system (Ostby 1961). In this study, hemorrhage was attempted by laceration of periapical tissues through overenstrumentation with endodontic files following aseptic access to the root canal system and pulp removal. As a result of the study, it was reported that the apical inflammation caused by overinstrumantation resolves in 2 weeks and the clot in the root canal system is replaced by granulation tissue, and then fibrous tissue; however, dentin resorption was observed and no formation of new dentin was reported. Later on, it was shown that the revascularization in the root canal is important for root development, as indicated by the studies in the field of dental traumatology (Galler 2016; Skoglund et al. 1978). Today, this treatment modality is adopted by the American



Fig. 3 (a) Host endogenous cells involved in the cell homing process are residual DPSCs, SCAP and BMMSCs. SCAP and BMMSCs are located at the apical region of the tooth and can survive due to collateral blood

supply during pulp necrosis. (b) Recruitment of host stem cells from periapical tissues into the defect site. (c) Efficient regeneration of the dentin-pulp complex by cell homing

		Scaffold/bioactive	
Author	Method	molecule	Outcome
Torabinejad	In vivo	Blood clot/Gelfoam PRP	Bone-like and cementum-like hard tissue ingrowth in
et al. (2015)			Puip space
			Not lengthening was not detected
			groups in hard tissue formation or intracanal inflammation
Priya et al. (2016)	Case study	PRP	The use of PRP injection in avulsed mature tooth showed internal and external root resorption after 6 months with perianical radiolucency
			Antibiotic placement into root canal resolved periapical radiolucency at the 9 and 12 month radiographs with a positive response to pulp vitality tests
Alagl et al. (2017)	Clinical study	PRP	All treated immature teeth were asymptomatic and showed a decrease in periapical lesion size and increased bone density
			No difference between test and blood clot control groups except for increased root length in PRP groups
Palma et al. (2017)	In vivo	Chitosan hydrogel	Significantly more mineralized tissue formation inside root canal in blood clot groups
			New dentin formation in isolated areas of blood clot groups
			The use of chitosan scaffolds did not enhance regeneration
Shivashankar	Triple blind	PRP	PRP was superior than PRF and blood clot in
et al. (2017)	randomized	PRF	periapical wound healing after 6 months of follow-up
	clinical trial		No significant difference between groups in clinical and radiographic examination criteria
Alqahtani	In vitro	Decellularized ECM	Decellularized pulp ECM showed CD-31+ and
et al. (2018)	In vivo		DSP + pulp-like tissue formation in pulp space and deposition of mineralized tissue within the dental pulp
el Kalla et al. (2019)	In vivo	PRF	No significant difference in apical closure and new vital tissue formation in PRF groups and control groups (calcium hydroxide treatment) in contaminated immature teeth
			In non-contaminated root canals, cementoid tissue is formed in PRF treatment while fibrous tissue is seen in calcium hydroxide treatment
El Nasser et al. (2019)	In vivo	L-PRF	Enhanced vascularization and increased number of odontoblast-like cells in L-PRF treated groups compared to blood clot after 1 months
Nosrat et al. (2019)	Clinical study	Collagen- hydroxyapatite scaffold	SynOss Putty + blood showed mineralized tissue formation inside root canal while only SynOss Putty
Dizk at al	Randomized		Significant increase in root length, periopical hone
(2019)	controlled clinical trial	rkr	density and decreased apical diameter in groups treated with PRP compared to control groups with blood clot after 12 months
			No response to pulp sensibility tests
Tomer et al. (2019)	Case study	PRF and biodentine	PRF can be used for the treatment of immature permanent teeth with periapical lesion, as part of a regenerative endodontic procedures.

 Table 2
 Cell-free approach studies

(continued)

		Scaffold/bioactive	
Author	Method	molecule	Outcome
Ulusoy et al. (2019)	Prospective randomized trial	PRP PRF Platelet pellet	All treated immature teeth displayed similar outcomes in terms of periapical healing, root development and response to pulp sensitivity tests
			Root and root canal area was greater in blood clot groups than those of PRF, PRP and platelet pellet groups in radiographic examination
Mittal and Parashar (2019)	Clinical study	PRF Collagen Placentrex Chitosan	12 months after procedures, all groups demonstrated improvement without a significant difference in parameters including periapical healing, root lengthening and apical closure
			PRF and collagen scaffolds performed better in dentinal wall thickening
Alexander et al. (2020)	In vivo	Collagen- hydroxyapatite scaffold (SynOss Putty)	In groups treated with blood clot, mineralized tissue formation is observed in root canals while SynOss putty yields no regenerated tissue
Kandemir Demirci et al. (2020)	Case series	PRF	Treatment of immature permanent teeth with PRF indicated resolution of periapical lesions but no response to pulp sensibility tests after 36 months of follow-up
Yoshpe et al. (2020)	Case series	PRF	PRF treatment in necrotic immature teeth showed cessation of replacement resorption

Table 2 (continued)

DSP dentin sialoprotein, ECM extracellular matrix, PRF platelet rich fibrin, PRP platelet rich plasma, L-PRF leukocyteplatelet rich plasma

Dental Association since 2011, as the practice of evoked bleeding, also known as apical revascularization.

Revascularization has positive results in apical healing, mineralized tissue formation and completion of root development (Bose et al. 2009; Ding et al. 2009; Jeeruphan et al. 2012; Shah et al. 2008; Torabinejad and Turman 2011). MSCs can be recruited as a result of bleeding from the root canal from periapical tissues, and growth factors within the clot are important for local regeneration (Lovelace et al. 2011; Nosrat et al. 2012; Shah et al. 2008). Thus, intracanal bleeding provides the stem cell, scaffold, bioactive molecules required for the tissue engineering triad (Lovelace et al. 2011; Nosrat et al. 2012; Wigler et al. 2013). An investigation on MSCs gene expression in blood collected by intracanal evoked bleeding technique from mature teeth revealed upregulation of CD73, CD90, CD105 and CD146 while CD45, a negative marker for MSCs. was significantly downregulated, indicating the delivery of MSCs into root canal by this method (Chrepa et al. 2015). Schematic

illustration of revascularization procedure can be seen in Fig. 4. Another in vivo study showed that establishing a blood clot after pulpectomy displays similar new tissue formation in root canal compared to transplantation of DPSCs and/or platelet rich plasma (PRP) histologically (Zhu et al. 2012), rendering this approach a viable alternative as it involves no time consuming cell isolation procedures. Various studies investigate PRP injection into the pulp space due to its physiological concentration of growth factors to enhance homing of host stem cells (Alagl et al. 2017; Priya et al. 2016; Rizk et al. 2019; Shivashankar et al. 2017; Torabinejad et al. 2015; Ulusoy et al. 2019). However, there is no consensus on treatment protocols as the results vary in such investigations. The use of PRP in immature necrotic teeth show similar clinical and radiographic outcomes with blood clot, in periapical healing, root development and response to pulp sensitivity tests (Shivashankar et al. 2017; Ulusoy et al. 2019). On the other hand, in another randomized clinical trial, significant changes were noted in periapical bone



Fig. 4 Revascularization procedure of the inflamed tooth with incomplete root formation. (a) Inflamed tooth with open apices. (b) Endodontic access cavity preparation. (c) Irrigation of the root canal space using low concentration of NaOCl (less than 3%), followed by 17% EDTA. (d) Intracanal medicament (calcium hydroxide) placement with temporary filling material. E) After confirming the

density, root length and apical diameter for PRP treated teeth (Rizk et al. 2019). As the trials show comparable results, disadvantages including blood withdrawal and requirement of additional equipment must be considered when preferring PRP whereas blood clot method obtained by provoked bleeding includes risks such as progressive deposition of hard tissue or continious obliteration of root canals (Ulusoy et al. 2019).

resolution of inflammation, root canal system is irrigated with 17% EDTA followed by sterile saline. (f) Over instrumentation with precurved file to promote bleeding and formation of the blood clot. (g) Pulp capping materials such as Biodentine or MTA are placed over the blood clot. (h) Root develepment with apical closure and maintenance of viable pulp tissue are achieved

Although pulp vitalization and resolution of apical inflammation are achieved as a result of revascularization, there are still question marks if the revascularized tissue can perform the functions of the dentin-pulp complex. It has been reported that cementum aposition, ectopic bone formation, and fibrous tissue can be detected in the revascularized root canal, but dentin-pulp complex cannot be mentioned (Martin et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2010b). The formation of mineralized tissue inside newly formed pulp-like tissue is attributed to the differentiation of migrated PDLSC into cementoblasts, which can be prevented by the addition of cementogenesis inhibitor factors in pulp regeneration approaches (Alqahtani et al. 2018).

The residual DPSCs in the inflamed pulp tissue, which is reported to have similar MSC characteristics as the DPSCs in healthy pulp tissue, might serve as a potential source in dentinpulp regeneration (Alongi et al. 2010). However, Chang et al. (2013) reported that NF- $\kappa\beta$ had an inhibitory effect on the osteogenic differentiation of MSCs. In another study, it was stated that DPSCs lost their differentiation and mineralization abilities due to exposure to TNF-alpha, an inflammatory cytokine (Boyle et al. 2014). In order to increase the success of the local regeneration of the dentin-pulp complex, vital tissues need to be preserved as much as possible (Wigler et al. 2013). Therefore, it is expected that both the antimicrobial agents used in resolving the inflammation and the restorative materials used to provide coronal sealing should have a minimum cytotoxic effect on the viability and the proliferation of stem cells and fibroblasts (Thibodeau and Trope 2007). In conventional endodontic therapy, NaOCl is used as an irrigation solution in concentrations ranging from 0.5% to 6% (Kontakiotis et al. 2015). Studies have reported that NaOCl at a concentration above 3% shows cytotoxic effects on SCAP and interferes with the cell adhesion to the dentin surface (Chang et al. 2001; Martin et al. 2014; Ring et al. 2008). On the other hand, 17% EDTA application liberates bioactive molecules such as growth factors, which are fossilized in dentin tissue after primary and secondary dentinogenesis (Becerra et al. 2014; Galler et al. 2011b, 2015; Martin et al. 2014). For this reason, it is beneficial to irrigate with a 1.5% NaOCl solution, and 17% EDTA cam be used as the final irrigation agent for the protection of SCAP and the secretion of bioactive molecules from dentin.

Local regeneration using DPSCs is quite similar to conventional pulp capping therapies. Previous studies have reported that some bioactive molecules, such as BMPs, induce healing and reparative responses in inflamed pulp tissue (Nakamura et al. 2006; Rutherford and Gu 2000; Six et al. 2002). However, the application of only bioactive molecules without the use of a scaffold induces only reparative dentin synthesis, and is no different than vital pulp treatments such pulp capping. Nakashima (1994) used as inactivated demineralized dentin matrix as a natural scaffold, and found that BMPs increased the production of new dentin by inducing differentiation of pulp cells to odontoblasts. Also, the importance of blood supply for the success of regeneration cannot be ignored. Local regeneration of the dentin-pulp complex can occur in two situations: teeth with a pulp exposure as a result of carious dentin, where healthy pulp tissue is partially preserved, and teeth with open apicies, which root development is incomplete. Studies have reported that the healing rate decreases with a foramen apex width of less than 1.5 mm, whereas revascularization of the pulp cannot be achieved in those narrower than 1 mm (Huang et al. 2013).

In summary, local regeneration capacities of bone and dentin tissues are quite different from each other. Bone has a morrow space with stem cells responsible for new bone regeneration. Unfortunately, dentin does not have morrow space and regeneration is completely dependent on the condition of the pulp tissue. On the other side, revascularized pulpal tissue obtained using periodontal ligament and alveolar tissues is not similar to healthy pulp tissue. Therefore, preserving healthy pulp tissue as much as possible is very important for dentin tissue regeneration. The amount of the remaining healthy pulp tissue required for local regeneration is unknown. In cases where there is not enough healthy pulp tissue, vascularization or *de novo* regeneration approaches can be preferred for regeneration of the dentin-pulp complex.

7 Challenges and Future Perspectives

Today, a wide array of studies are carried out with various bioactive molecules, stem cells and scaffold combinations in order to provide the ideal microenvironment for regeneration of dentin-pulp complex. There are promising results from these studies, but it is still difficult to translate these findings into the clinical practice. As opposed to immense in vitro and in vivo evidence, clinical data is scarce. Although evidence indicates the transplantation of stem cells for pulpal regeneration a promising approach, publication bias and inconsistency in study outcomes pose a serious question regarding the success of this treatment modality (Fawzy El-Sayed et al. 2019). The only recent clinical study have shown that autologous transplantation of MSCs promote complete pulp regeneration and tooth recovery after 24 months. However, the follow-up period is still short to render this approach superior compared to the success of conventional treatment methods. Furthermore, there is still a lack of evidence on possible side effects of stem cell transplantation in pulp regeneration as the mechanisms regarding the regeneration process of the dental pulp in such treatment approaches remain unelucidated.

Regarding technical difficulties of cell-based approaches in dentin-pulp tissue regeneration, the ex vivo cell expansion period is time consuming considering the necessary steps including tooth extraction, extirpation of the pulp tissue, ex vivo cell expansion, selection of MSC populations, and the transfer and storage of the transplants. There is still the immune reaction problem in cell culture due to the presence of animal proteins in growth media or even in the use of allogeneic human serum. Autologous use of serum can eliminate such risks but the availability of necessary amounts to expand sufficient number of cells is limited. These processes are prone to contamination and the cost-efficiency is debateable.

Another issue in cell-based treatment modalities of dentin-pulp tissue regeneration is the availability of a suitable and affordable stem cell source. Although there is a wide use of umbilical cord stem cell banking, dental stem cell banking is still on the onset. Many dental stem cell banking services accept stem cells from decidous teeth enabling the use of only SHED and DPSCs (Zeitlin 2020), excluding promising dental stem cell sources including apical papilla, periodontal ligament and dental follicle. As there is a lack of studies on allogeneic transplantation of cells, current dental stem cell banking cannot wholly benefit adult or elderly patient population requiring pulpal regeneration. In addition, the efficiency of regenerative therapies in aged recipients is questionable. The regeneration of dental pulp was shown to be poor after autologous transplantation of aged DPSCs compared to that of the young DPSCs (Iohara et al. 2014), indicating the impact of reduced proliferation and differentiation abilities and age dependent host microenvironment.

A major drawback in the majority of the published studies is regarding their conduction in conditions not relevant to most probable and common clinical scenarios such as infected root canals and apical periodontitis. Ideal conditions were sought where cell transplants were applied to immature teeth with large apical foramina with removed healthy pulp tissue. Studies on permanent teeth with narrow canal openings are necessary as this is the most likely clinical scenario suffering from loss of pulp tissue in need of whole pulp regeneration. Pulp tissue usually has limited blood supply due to the presence of only one apical foramen in most cases, therefore enhancement strategies regarding angiogenesis are necessary.

Considering the cause of pulp tissue loss, infected root canal and apical periodontitis pose a risk to the success in dentin-pulp tissue regeneration when using cell/scaffold mediated pulp regeneration. Establishment of a sterile environment for regeneration is essential in survival and differentiation of stem cells towards formation of a healthy new dentin-pulp tissue. As the root canal system is complex with variations, remaining bacteria in persistent infections and possible toxic effects of disinfectant agents to stem cells might alter the necessary microenvironment for the stem cells to contribute to *de novo* regeneration process.

In conclusion, stem cell-based *de novo* dentinpulp tissue regeneration shows promising results though further investigations are necessary to regenerate a higher quality dentin and pulp tissue and to overcome difficulties such as mineralized tissue formation in the pulp, root canal calcification and regaining a physiologically functioning pulp. Steps to reduce the cost and the time consuming process of cell culture are necessary to propagate this approach to clinical practice.

Acknowledgements None.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no potential conflict of interest.

Ethical Approval The authors declare that this article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals.

References

- Aksel H, Huang GT (2017) Combined effects of vascular endothelial growth factor and bone morphogenetic protein 2 on odonto/osteogenic differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells in vitro. J Endod 43:930–935
- Alagl A, Bedi S, Hassan K, AlHumaid J (2017) Use of platelet-rich plasma for regeneration in non-vital immature permanent teeth: clinical and cone-beam computed tomography evaluation. J Int Med Res 45:583–593
- Alexander A, Torabinejad M, Vahdati SA, Nosrat A, Verma P, Grandhi A, Shabahang S (2020) Regenerative endodontic treatment in immature noninfected Ferret teeth using blood clot or SynOss Putty as scaffolds. J Endod 46:209–215
- Alkharobi H, Alhodhodi A, Hawsawi Y, Alkafaji H, Devine D, El-Gendy R, Beattie J (2016) IGFBP-2 and -3 co-ordinately regulate IGF1 induced matrix mineralisation of differentiating human dental pulp cells. Stem Cell Res 17:517–522
- Alongi DJ, Yamaza T, Song Y, Fouad AF, Romberg EE, Shi S, Tuan RS, Huang GT (2010) Stem/progenitor cells from inflamed human dental pulp retain tissue regeneration potential. Regen Med 5:617–631
- Alqahtani Q, Zaky SH, Patil A, Beniash E, Ray H, Sfeir C (2018) Decellularized swine dental pulp tissue for regenerative root canal therapy. J Dent Res 97:1460–1467
- Alsberg E, Hill EE, Mooney DJ (2001) Craniofacial tissue engineering. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 12:64–75
- Atalayin C, Tezel H, Dagci T, Yavasoglu NUK, Oktem G (2016) Medium modification with bone morphogenic protein 2 addition for odontogenic differentiation. Braz Oral Res 30:e20
- Banchs F, Trope M (2004) Revascularization of immature permanent teeth with apical periodontitis: new treatment protocol? J Endod 30:196–200
- Barnes CP, Sell SA, Boland ED, Simpson DG, Bowlin GL (2007) Nanofiber technology: designing the next

generation of tissue engineering scaffolds. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 59:1413–1433

- Becerra P, Ricucci D, Loghin S, Gibbs JL, Lin LM (2014) Histologic study of a human immature permanent premolar with chronic apical abscess after revascularization/revitalization. J Endod 40:133–139
- Bose R, Nummikoski P, Hargreaves K (2009) A retrospective evaluation of radiographic outcomes in immature teeth with necrotic root canal systems treated with regenerative endodontic procedures. J Endod 35:1343–1349
- Botero TM, Son JS, Vodopyanov D, Hasegawa M, Shelburne CE, Nör JE (2010) MAPK signaling is required for LPS-induced VEGF in pulp stem cells. J Dent Res 89:264–269
- Boyle M, Chun C, Strojny C, Narayanan R, Bartholomew A, Sundivakkam P, Alapati S (2014) Chronic inflammation and angiogenic signaling axis impairs differentiation of dental-pulp stem cells. PLoS One 9:e113419
- Brizuela C, Meza G, Urrejola D, Quezada MA, Concha G, Ramírez V, Angelopoulos I, Cadiz MI, Tapia-Limonchi R, Khoury M (2020) Cell-based regenerative endodontics for treatment of periapical lesions: a randomized, controlled phase I/II clinical trial. J Dent Res 99:523–529
- Cassidy N, Fahey M, Prime SS, Smith AJ (1997) Comparative analysis of transforming growth factor-β isoforms 1–3 in human and rabbit dentine matrices. Arch Oral Biol 42:219–223
- Chang YC, Huang FM, Tai KW, Chou MY (2001) The effect of sodium hypochlorite and chlorhexidine on cultured human periodontal ligament cells. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 92:446–450
- Chang J, Zhang C, Tani-Ishii N, Shi S, Wang CY (2005) NF-κB activation in human dental pulp stem cells by TNF and LPS. J Dent Res 84:994–998
- Chang J, Liu F, Lee M, Wu B, Ting K, Zara JN, Soo C, Al Hezaimi K, Zou W, Chen X, Mooney DJ, Wang CY (2013) NF-κB inhibits osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells by promoting β-catenin degradation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:9469–9474
- Chen YJ, Zhao YH, Zhao YJ, Liu NX, Lv X, Li Q, Chen FM, Zhang M (2015) Potential dental pulp revascularization and odonto-/osteogenic capacity of a novel transplant combined with dental pulp stem cells and platelet-rich fibrin. Cell Tissue Res 361:439–455
- Chen J, Cui C, Qiao X, Yang B, Yu M, Guo W, Tian W (2017) Treated dentin matrix paste as a novel pulp capping agent for dentin regeneration. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 11:3428–3436
- Chmilewsky F, Jeanneau C, Laurent P, Kirschfink M, About I (2013) Pulp progenitor cell recruitment is selectively guided by a C5a gradient. J Dent Res 92:532–539
- Chmilewsky F, Jeanneau C, Dejou J, About I (2014a) Sources of dentin-pulp regeneration signals and their modulation by the local microenvironment. J Endod 40:S19–S25
- Chmilewsky F, Jeanneau C, Laurent P, About I (2014b) Pulp fibroblasts synthesize functional complement

proteins involved in initiating dentin-pulp regeneration. Am J Pathol 184:1991-2000

- Chmilewsky F, About I, Chung SH (2016) Pulp Fibroblasts control nerve regeneration through complement activation. J Dent Res 95:913–922
- Chrepa V, Henry MA, Daniel BJ, Diogenes A (2015) Delivery of apical mesenchymal stem cells into root canals of mature teeth. J Dent Res 94:1653–1659
- Cooper PR, Takahashi Y, Graham LW, Simon S, Imazato S, Smith AJ (2010) Inflammationregeneration interplay in the dentine-pulp complex. J Dent 38:687–697
- Cooper PR, Holder MJ, Smith AJ (2014) Inflammation and regeneration in the dentin-pulp complex: a doubleedged sword. J Endod 40:S46–S51
- Cvikl B, Lussi A, Moritz A, Sawada K, Gruber R (2016) Differential inflammatory response of dental pulp explants and fibroblasts to saliva. Int Endod J 49:655–662
- da Rosa WLO, Machado da Silva T, Fernando Demarco F, Piva E, Fernandes da Silva A (2017) Could the application of bioactive molecules improve vital pulp therapy success? A systematic review. J Biomed Mater Res A 105:941–956
- da Rosa WLO, Piva E, da Silva AF (2018) Disclosing the physiology of pulp tissue for vital pulp therapy. Int Endod J 51:829–846
- Demarco FF, Casagrande L, Zhang Z, Dong Z, Tarquinio SB, Zeitlin BD, Shi S, Smith AJ, Nör JE (2010) Effects of morphogen and scaffold porogen on the differentiation of dental pulp stem cells. J Endod 36:1805–1811
- Demarco FF, Conde MCM, Cavalcanti BN, Casagrande L, Sakai VT, Nör JE (2011) Dental pulp tissue engineering. Braz Dent J 22:3–14
- di Nardo Di Maio F, Lohinai Z, D'Arcangelo C, Esposito De Fazio P, Speranza L, De Lutiis MA, Patruno A, Grilli A, Felaco M (2004) Nitric oxide synthase in healthy and inflamed human dental pulp. J Dent Res 83:312–316
- Ding RY, pan Cheung GS, Chen J, Yin XZ, Wang QQ, Zhang CF (2009) Pulp revascularization of immature teeth with apical periodontitis: a clinical study. J Endod 35:745–749
- Ding DC, Shyu WC, Lin SZ (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Transplant 20:5–14
- Dissanayaka WL, Zhu L, Hargreaves KM, Jin L, Zhang C (2014) Scaffold-free prevascularized microtissue spheroids for pulp regeneration. J Dent Res 93:1296–1303
- Dissanayaka WL, Hargreaves KM, Jin L, Samaranayake LP, Zhang C (2015) The interplay of dental pulp stem cells and endothelial cells in an injectable peptide hydrogel on angiogenesis and pulp regeneration in vivo. Tissue Eng Part A 21:550–563
- el Ashiry EA, Alamoudi NM, el Ashiry MK, Bastawy HA, el Derwi DA, Atta HM (2018) Tissue engineering of necrotic dental pulp of immature teeth with apical periodontitis in dogs: radiographic and histological evaluation. J Clin Pediatr Dent 42:373–382

- el Kalla IH, Salama NM, Wahba AH, Sallam NM (2019) Histological evaluation of platelet-rich fibrin for revascularization of immature permanent teeth in dogs. Pediatr Dent J 29:72–77
- El Nasser AKA, Khattab NMA, Elhamid ESA (2019) Evaluation of the success rate of revascularization technique using leukocyte-platelet-rich fibrin (L-PRF) concentrate compared to blood clot as a scaffold. EC Dent Sci 18:623–630
- Eramo S, Natali A, Pinna R, Milia E (2018) Dental pulp regeneration via cell homing. Int Endod J 51:405–419
- Ercal P, Pekozer GG, Kose GT (2018) Dental stem cells in bone tissue engineering: current overview and challenges. In: Advances in experimental medicine and biology, vol 1107. Springer, New York, pp 113–127
- Farges JC, Alliot-Licht B, Renard E, Ducret M, Gaudin A, Smith AJ, Cooper PR (2015) Dental pulp defence and repair mechanisms in dental caries. Mediat Inflamm 2015:230251
- Fawzy El-Sayed KM, Ahmed GM, Abouauf EA, Schwendicke F (2019) Stem/progenitor cell-mediated pulpal tissue regeneration: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Endod J 52:1573–1585
- Feng X, Huang D, Lu X, Feng G, Xing J, Lu J, Xu K, Xia W, Meng Y, Tao T, Li L, Gu Z (2014) Insulin-like growth factor 1 can promote proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells via mTOR pathway. Develop Growth Differ 56:615–624
- Fitzgerald M, Chiego DJ, Heys DR (1990) Autoradiographic analysis of odontoblast replacement following pulp exposure in primate teeth. Arch Oral Biol 35:707–715
- Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS (1970) The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet 3:393–403
- Fukushima KA, Marques MM, Tedesco TK, Carvalho GL, Gonçalves F, Caballero-Flores H, Morimoto S, Moreira MS (2019) Screening of hydrogel-based scaffolds for dental pulp regeneration-a systematic review. Arch Oral Biol 98:182–194
- Galler KM (2016) Clinical procedures for revitalization: current knowledge and considerations. Int Endod J 49:926–936
- Galler KM, Cavender AC, Koeklue U, Suggs LJ, Schmalz G, D'Souza RN (2011a) Bioengineering of dental stem cells in a PEGylated fibrin gel. Regen Med 6:191–200
- Galler KM, D'Souza RN, Federlin M, Cavender AC, Hartgerink JD, Hecker S, Schmalz G (2011b) Dentin conditioning codetermines cell fate in regenerative endodontics. J Endod 37:1536–1541
- Galler KM, D'Souza RN, Hartgerink JD, Schmalz G (2011c) Scaffolds for dental pulp tissue engineering. Adv Dent Res 23:333–339
- Galler KM, Eidt A, Schmalz G (2014) Cell-free approaches for dental pulp tissue engineering. J Endod 40:S41–S45

- Galler KM, Buchalla W, Hiller KA, Federlin M, Eidt A, Schiefersteiner M, Schmalz G (2015) Influence of root canal disinfectants on growth factor release from dentin. J Endod 41:363–368
- Giraud T, Jeanneau C, Bergmann M, Laurent P, About I (2018) Tricalcium silicate capping materials modulate pulp healing and inflammatory activity in vitro. J Endod 44:1686–1691
- Giraud T, Jeanneau C, Rombouts C, Bakhtiar H, Laurent P, About I (2019) Pulp capping materials modulate the balance between inflammation and regeneration. Dent Mater 35:24–35
- Goldberg M (2019) The healthy root pulp, degradation and regeneration. J Dent Health Oral Disord Ther 10:70–81
- Goldberg M, Njeh A, Uzunoglu E (2015) Is pulp inflammation a prerequisite for pulp healing and regeneration? Mediat Inflamm 2015:347649
- Graziano A, d'Aquino R, Cusella-De Angelis MG, De Francesco F, Giordano A, Laino G, Piattelli A, Traini T, De Rosa A, Papaccio G (2008) Scaffold's surface geometry significantly affects human stem cell bone tissue engineering. J Cell Physiol 214:166–172
- Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Robey PG, Shi S (2000) Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:13625–13630
- Hanks CT, Wataha JC, Parsell RR, Strawn SE, Fat JC (1994) Permeability of biological and synthetic molecules through dentine. J Oral Rehabil 21:475–487
- Hatab AT, Issa N, Nadra R, Rahmo A, Kochaji N, Rekab MS (2015) In vivo and immunohistochemical study of dentin and pulp tissue regeneration in the root canal. J Chem Pharm Res 7:302–310
- Hilkens P, Fanton Y, Martens W, Gervois P, Struys T, Politis C, Lambrichts I, Bronckaers A (2014) Pro-angiogenic impact of dental stem cells in vitro and in vivo. Stem Cell Res 12:778–790
- Hilkens P, Bronckaers A, Ratajczak J, Gervois P, Wolfs E, Lambrichts I (2017) The angiogenic potential of DPSCs and SCAPs in an in vivo model of dental pulp regeneration. Stem Cells Int 2017:2582080
- Holmes K, Roberts OL, Thomas AM, Cross MJ (2007) Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2: structure, function, intracellular signalling and therapeutic inhibition. Cell Signal 19:2003–2012
- Huang GT (2011) Dental pulp and dentin tissue engineering and regeneration: advancement and challenge. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 3:788–800
- Huang GT, Yamaza T, Shea LD, Djouad F, Kuhn NZ, Tuan RS, Shi S (2010) Stem/progenitor cell-mediated de novo regeneration of dental pulp with newly deposited continuous layer of dentin in an in vivo model. Tissue Eng Part A 16:605–615
- Huang GT, Al-Habib M, Gauthier P (2013) Challenges of stem cell-based pulp and dentin regeneration: a clinical perspective. Endod Topics 28:51–60
- Hunter DJ, Bardet C, Mouraret S, Liu B, Singh G, Sadoine J, Dhamdhere G, Smith A, Tran XV, Joy A, Rooker S, Suzuki S, Vuorinen A, Miettinen S, Chaussain C, Helms JA (2015) Wnt acts as a

prosurvival signal to enhance dentin regeneration. J Bone Miner Res 30:1150–1159

- Huojia M, Muraoka N, Yoshizaki K, Fukumoto S, Nakashima M, Akamine A, Nonaka K, Ohishi M (2005) TGF-β3 induces ectopic mineralization in fetal mouse dental pulp during tooth germ development. Develop Growth Differ 47:141–152
- Imura N, Pinheiro ET, Gomes BP, Zaia AA, Ferraz CC, Souza-Filho FJ (2007) The outcome of endodontic treatment: a retrospective study of 2000 cases performed by a specialist. J Endod 33:1278–1282
- Iohara K, Imabayashi K, Ishizaka R, Watanabe A, Nabekura J, Ito M, Matsushita K, Nakamura H, Nakashima M (2011) Complete pulp regeneration after pulpectomy by transplantation of CD105+ stem cells with stromal cell-derived factor-1. Tissue Eng Part A 17:1911–1920
- Iohara K, Murakami M, Nakata K, Nakashima M (2014) Age-dependent decline in dental pulp regeneration after pulpectomy in dogs. Exp Gerontol 52:39–45
- Jeanneau C, Rufas P, Rombouts C, Giraud T, Dejou J, About I (2015) Can pulp fibroblasts kill cariogenic bacteria? Role of complement activation. J Dent Res 94:1765–1772
- Jeanneau C, Lundy FT, el Karim IA, About I (2017) Potential therapeutic strategy of targeting pulp fibroblasts in dentin-pulp regeneration. J Endod 43: S17–S24
- Jeeruphan T, Jantarat J, Yanpiset K, Suwannapan L, Khewsawai P, Hargreaves KM (2012) Mahidol study 1: comparison of radiographic and survival outcomes of immature teeth treated with either regenerative endodontic or apexification methods: a retrospective study. J Endod 38:1330–1336
- Kandemir Demirci G, Guneri P, Caliskan MK (2020) Regenerative endodontic therapy with platelet rich fibrin: case series. J Clin Pediatr Dent 44:15–19
- Karakaya I, Ulusoy N (2018) Basics of dentin-pulp tissue engineering. AIMS Bioengineering 5:162–178
- Karande TS, Ong JL, Agrawal CM (2004) Diffusion in musculoskeletal tissue engineering scaffolds: design issues related to porosity, permeability, architecture, and nutrient mixing. Ann Biomed Eng 32:1728–1743
- Khayat A, Monteiro N, Smith EE, Pagni S, Zhang W, Khademhosseini A, Yelick PC (2017) GelMAencapsulated hDPSCs and HUVECs for dental pulp regeneration. J Dent Res 96:192–199
- Kim JY, Xin X, Moioli EK, Chung J, Lee CH, Chen M, Fu SY, Koch PD, Mao JJ (2010) Regeneration of dentalpulp-like tissue by chemotaxis-induced cell homing. Tissue Eng Part A 16:3023–3031
- Kim SG, Zheng Y, Zhou J, Chen M, Embree MC, Song K, Jiang N, Mao JJ (2013) Dentin and dental pulp regeneration by the patient's endogenous cells. Endod Top 28:106–117
- Kim J, Park JC, Kim SH, Im GI, Kim BS, Lee JB, Choi EY, Song JS, Cho KS, Kim CS (2014) Treatment of FGF-2 on stem cells from inflamed dental pulp tissue from human deciduous teeth. Oral Dis 20:191–204

- Kontakiotis EG, Filippatos CG, Tzanetakis GN, Agrafioti A (2015) Regenerative endodontic therapy: a data analysis of clinical protocols. J Endod 41:146–154
- Kunimatsu R, Nakajima K, Awada T, Tsuka Y, Abe T, Ando K, Hiraki T, Kimura A, Tanimoto K (2018) Comparative characterization of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth, dental pulp, and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 501:193–198
- Laurent P, Camps J, About I (2012) Biodentine TM induces TGF-β1 release from human pulp cells and early dental pulp mineralization. Int Endod J 45:439–448
- Lee W, Oh JH, Park JC, Shin HI, Baek JH, Ryoo HM, Woo KM (2012) Performance of electrospun poly(e-caprolactone) fiber meshes used with mineral trioxide aggregates in a pulp capping procedure. Acta Biomater 8:2986–2995
- Li Z, Jiang CM, An S, Cheng Q, Huang YF, Wang YT, Gou YC, Xiao L, Yu WJ, Wang J (2014) Immunomodulatory properties of dental tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells. Oral Dis 20:25–34
- Liu F, Millar SE (2010) Wnt/β-catenin signaling in oral tissue development and disease. J Dent Res 89:318–330
- Lovelace TW, Henry MA, Hargreaves KM, Diogenes A (2011) Evaluation of the delivery of mesenchymal stem cells into the root canal space of necrotic immature teeth after clinical regenerative endodontic procedure. J Endod 37:133–138
- Mao JJ, Kim SG, Zhou J, Ye L, Cho S, Suzuki T, Fu SY, Yang R, Zhou X (2012) Regenerative endodontics: barriers and strategies for clinical translation. Dent Clin N Am 56:639–649
- Martin G, Ricucci D, Gibbs JL, Lin LM (2013) Histological findings of revascularized/revitalized immature permanent molar with apical periodontitis using plateletrich plasma. J Endod 39:138–144
- Martin DE, De Almeida JF, Henry MA, Khaing ZZ, Schmidt CE, Teixeira FB, Diogenes A (2014) Concentration-dependent effect of sodium hypochlorite on stem cells of apical papilla survival and differentiation. J Endod 40:51–55
- Meza G, Urrejola D, Saint Jean N, Inostroza C, López V, Khoury M, Brizuela C (2019) Personalized cell therapy for pulpitis using autologous dental pulp stem cells and leukocyte platelet-rich fibrin: a case report. J Endod 45:144–149
- Miller RJ, Banisadr G, Bhattacharyya BJ (2008) CXCR4 signaling in the regulation of stem cell migration and development. J Neuroimmunol 198:31–38
- Mitsiadis TA, de Bari C, About I (2008) Apoptosis in developmental and repair-related human tooth remodeling: a view from the inside. Exp Cell Res 314:869–877
- Mittal N, Parashar V (2019) Regenerative evaluation of immature roots using PRF and artificial scaffolds in necrotic permanent teeth: a clinical study. J Contemp Dent Pract 20:720–726

- Miura M, Gronthos S, Zhao M, Lu B, Fisher LW, Robey PG, Shi S (2003) SHED: stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:5807–5812
- Morsczeck C, Götz W, Schierholz J, Zeilhofer F, Kühn U, Möhl C, Sippel C, Hoffmann KH (2005) Isolation of precursor cells (PCs) from human dental follicle of wisdom teeth. Matrix Biol 24:155–165
- Murdoch C (2000) CXCR4: chemokine receptor extraordinaire. Immunol Rev 177:175–184
- Murray PE, Garcia-Godoy F, Hargreaves KM (2007) Regenerative endodontics: a review of current status and a call for action. J Endod 33:377–390
- Na S, Zhang H, Huang F, Wang W, Ding Y, Li D, Jin Y (2016) Regeneration of dental pulp/dentine complex with a three-dimensional and scaffold-free stem-cell sheet-derived pellet. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 10:261–270
- Nakamura Y, Slaby I, Spahr A, Pezeshki G, Matsumoto K, Lyngstadaas SP (2006) Ameloblastin fusion protein enhances pulpal healing and dentin formation in porcine teeth. Calcif Tissue Int 78:278–284
- Nakashima M (2005) Bone morphogenetic proteins in dentin regeneration for potential use in endodontic therapy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 16:369–376
- Nakashima M, Akamine A (2005) The application of tissue engineering to regeneration of pulp and dentin in endodontics. J Endod 31:711–718
- Nakashima M, Iohara K (2017) Recent progress in translation from bench to a pilot clinical study on total pulp regeneration. J Endod 43:S82–S86
- Nakashima M, Reddi AH (2003) The application of bone morphogenetic proteins to dental tissue engineering. Nat Biotechnol 21:1025–1032
- Nakashima M, Nagasawa H, Yamada Y, Reddi AH (1994) Regulatory role of transforming growth factor-β, bone morphogenetic protein-2, and protein-4 on gene expression of extracellular matrix proteins and differentiation of dental pulp cells. Dev Biol 162:18–28
- Nakashima M, Iohara K, Murakami M, Nakamura H, Sato Y, Ariji Y, Matsushita K (2017) Pulp regeneration by transplantation of dental pulp stem cells in pulpitis: a pilot clinical study. Stem Cell Res Ther 8:61
- Nosrat A, Seifi A, Asgary S (2011) Regenerative endodontic treatment (revascularization) for necrotic immature permanent molars: a review and report of two cases with a new biomaterial. J Endod 37:562–567
- Nosrat A, Homayounfar N, Oloomi K (2012) Drawbacks and unfavorable outcomes of regenerative endodontic treatments of necrotic immature teeth: a literature review and report of a case. J Endod 38:1428–1434
- Nosrat A, Kolahdouzan A, Khatibi AH, Verma P, Jamshidi D, Nevins AJ, Torabinejad M (2019) Clinical, radiographic, and histologic outcome of regenerative endodontic treatment in Human teeth using a novel collagen-hydroxyapatite scaffold. J Endod 45:136–143
- Oringer RJ (2002) Biological mediators for periodontal and bone regeneration. Compend Contin Educ Dent 23:501–504

- Ostby BN (1961) The role of the blood clot in endodontic therapy. An experimental histologic study. Acta Odontol Scand 19:324–353
- Pace R, Giuliani V, Pini Prato L, Baccetti T, Pagavino G (2007) Apical plug technique using mineral trioxide aggregate: results from a case series. Int Endod J 40:478–484
- Palma PJ, Ramos JC, Martins JB, Diogenes A, Figueiredo MH, Ferreira P, Viegas C, Santos JM (2017) Histologic evaluation of regenerative endodontic procedures with the use of chitosan scaffolds in immature dog teeth with apical periodontitis. J Endod 43:1279–1287
- Pashley DH (1988) Consideration of dentine permeability in cytotoxicity testing. Int Endod J 21:143–154
- Peng C, Zhao Y, Wang W, Yang Y, Qin M, Ge L (2017) Histologic findings of a Human immature revascularized/regenerated tooth with symptomatic irreversible pulpitis. J Endod 43:905–909
- Piva E, Silva AF, Nör JE (2014) Functionalized scaffolds to control dental pulp stem cell fate. J Endod 40:S33– S40
- Priya MH, Tambakad PB, Naidu J (2016) Pulp and periodontal regeneration of an avulsed permanent mature incisor using platelet-rich plasma after delayed replantation: a 12-month clinical case study. J Endod 42:66–71
- Rao MS (2004) Stem sense: a proposal for the classification of stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 13:452–455
- Reddi AH (1998) Role of morphogenetic proteins in skeletal tissue engineering and regeneration. Nat Biotechnol 16:247–252
- Ring KC, Murray PE, Namerow KN, Kuttler S, Garcia-Godoy F (2008) The comparison of the effect of endodontic irrigation on cell adherence to root canal dentin. J Endod 34:1474–1479
- Rizk HM, AL-Deen MSS, Emam AA (2019) Regenerative endodontic treatment of bilateral necrotic immature permanent maxillary central incisors with platelet-rich plasma versus blood clot: a split mouth double-blinded randomized controlled trial. Int J Clin Pediatr Dent 12:332–339
- Roberts-Clark DJ, Smith AJ (2000) Angiogenic growth factors in human dentine matrix. Arch Oral Biol 45:1013–1016
- Rombouts C, Jeanneau C, Bakopoulou A, About I (2016) Dental pulp stem cell recruitment signals within injured dental pulp tissue. Dent J (Basel) 4:8
- Rutherford RB, Gu K (2000) Treatment of inflamed ferret dental pulps with recombinant bone morphogenetic protein-7. Eur J Oral Sci 108:202–206
- Sachlos E, Czernuszka JT (2003) Making tissue engineering scaffolds work. Review: the application of solid freeform fabrication technology to the production of tissue engineering scaffolds. Eur Cell Mater 5:29–39
- Scheller EL, Chang J, Wang CY (2008) Wnt/β-catenin inhibits dental pulp stem cell differentiation. J Dent Res 87:126–130
- Schönmeyr BH, Soares M, Avraham T, Clavin NW, Gewalli F, Mehrara BJ (2009) Vascular endothelial

growth factor inhibits bone morphogenetic protein 2 expression in rat mesenchymal stem cells. Tissue Eng Part A 16:658–662

- Seo BM, Miura M, Gronthos S, Bartold PM, Batouli S, Brahim J, Young M, Robey PG, Wang CY, Shi S (2004) Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human periodontal ligament. Lancet 364:149–155
- Serhan CN, Petasis NA (2011) Resolvins and protectins in inflammation resolution. Chem Rev 111:5922–5943
- Serhan CN, Clish CB, Brannon J, Colgan SP, Chiang N, Gronert K (2000) Novel functional sets of lipid-derived mediators with antiinflammatory actions generated from omega-3 fatty acids via cyclooxygenase 2-nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and transcellular processing. J Exp Med 192:1197–1204
- Shah N, Logani A, Bhaskar U, Aggarwal V (2008) Efficacy of revascularization to induce apexification/ apexogensis in infected, nonvital, immature teeth: a pilot clinical study. J Endod 34:919–925
- Shah D, Lynd T, Ho D, Chen J, Vines J, Jung HD, Kim JH, Zhang P, Wu H, Jun HW, Cheon K (2020) Clinical medicine pulp-dentin tissue healing response: a discussion of current biomedical approaches. J Clin Med 9:434
- Shivashankar VY, Johns DA, Maroli RK, Sekar M, Chandrasekaran R, Karthikeyan S, Renganathan SK (2017) Comparison of the effect of PRP, PRF and induced bleeding in the revascularization of teeth with necrotic pulp and open apex: a triple blind randomized clinical trial. J Clin Diagn Res 11:ZC34– ZC39
- Simon S, Smith AJ, Berdal A, Lumley PJ, Cooper PR (2010) The MAP kinase pathway is involved in odontoblast stimulation via p38 phosphorylation. J Endod 36:256–259
- Siqueira JF (2001) Aetiology of root canal treatment failure: why well-treated teeth can fail. Int Endod J 34:1–10
- Six N, Lasfargues JJ, Goldberg M (2002) Differential repair responses in the coronal and radicular areas of the exposed rat molar pulp induced by recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein 7 (osteogenic protein 1). Arch Oral Biol 47:177–187
- Skoglund A, Tronstad L, Wallenius K (1978) A microangiographic study of vascular changes in replanted and autotransplanted teeth of young dogs. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 45:17–28
- Smith AG (2001) Embryo-derived stem cells: of mice and men. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 17:435–462
- Smith AJ, Scheven BA, Takahashi Y, Ferracane JL, Shelton RM, Cooper PR (2012) Dentine as a bioactive extracellular matrix. Arch Oral Biol 57:109–121
- Smith AJ, Duncan HF, Diogenes A, Simon S, Cooper PR (2016) Exploiting the bioactive properties of the dentin-pulp complex in regenerative endodontics. J Endod 42:47–56
- Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Fang D, Yamaza T, Seo BM, Zhang C, Liu H, Gronthos S, Wang CY, Wang S, Shi

S (2006) Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated functional tooth regeneration in Swine. PLoS One 1:e79

- Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Yamaza T, Tuan RS, Wang S, Shi S, Huang GT (2008) Characterization of the apical papilla and its residing stem cells from human immature permanent teeth: a pilot study. J Endod 34:166–171
- Suzuki T, Lee CH, Chen M, Zhao W, Fu SY, Qi JJ, Chotkowski G, Eisig SB, Wong A, Mao JJ (2011) Induced migration of dental pulp stem cells for in vivo pulp regeneration. J Dent Res 90:1013–1018
- Tabata Y (2005) Nanomaterials of drug delivery systems for tissue regeneration. Methods Mol Biol 300:81–100
- Thibodeau B, Trope M (2007) Pulp revascularization of a necrotic infected immature permanent tooth: case report and review of the literature. Pediatr Dent 29:47–50
- Tomer DAK, Mangat DP, Behera DA, Kour DS, Gupta DA, Bhagat DV, Mittal DN (2019) Revascularization of an immature permanent tooth using platelet rich fibrin and biodentin as a matrix a case report. IJMBS 3:273–277
- Torabinejad M, Turman M (2011) Revitalization of tooth with necrotic pulp and open apex by using platelet-rich plasma: a case report. J Endod 37:265–268
- Torabinejad M, Milan M, Shabahang S, Wright KR, Faras H (2015) Histologic examination of teeth with necrotic pulps and periapical lesions treated with 2 scaffolds: an animal investigation. J Endod 41:846–852
- Ulusoy AT, Turedi I, Cimen M, Cehreli ZC (2019) Evaluation of blood clot, platelet-rich plasma, platelet-rich fibrin, and platelet pellet as scaffolds in regenerative endodontic treatment: a prospective randomized trial. J Endod 45:560–566
- Veerayutthwilai O, Byers MR, Pham TTT, Darveau RP, Dale BA (2007) Differential regulation of immune responses by odontoblasts. Oral Microbiol Immunol 22:5–13
- Wang J, Liu X, Jin X, Ma H, Hu J, Ni L, Ma PX (2010a) The odontogenic differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells on nanofibrous poly(l-lactic acid) scaffolds in vitro and in vivo. Acta Biomater 6:3856–3863
- Wang X, Thibodeau B, Trope M, Lin LM, Huang GT (2010b) Histologic characterization of regenerated tissues in canal space after the revitalization/revascularization procedure of immature dog teeth with apical periodontitis. J Endod 36:56–63
- Wang J, Ma H, Jin X, Hu J, Liu X, Ni L, Ma PX (2011) The effect of scaffold architecture on odontogenic differentiation of human dental pulp stem cells. Biomaterials 32:7822–7830
- Wang Y, Zhao Y, Jia W, Yang J, Ge L (2013) Preliminary study on dental pulp stem cell-mediated pulp regeneration in canine immature permanent teeth. J Endod 39:195–201
- Wang B, Li H, Liu Y, Lin X, Lin Y, Wang Y, Hu X, Zhang Y (2014) Expression patterns of Wnt/β-catenin signaling molecules during human tooth development. J Mol Histol 45:487–496

- Wigler R, Kaufman AY, Lin S, Steinbock N, Hazan-Molina H, Torneck CD (2013) Revascularization: a treatment for permanent teeth with necrotic pulp and incomplete root development. J Endod 39:319–326
- Wu C, Chang J (2013) A review of bioactive silicate ceramics. Biomed Mater 8:032001
- Xuan K, Li B, Guo H, Sun W, Kou X, He X, Zhang Y, Sun J, Liu A, Liao L, Liu S, Liu W, Hu C, Shi S, Jin Y (2018) Deciduous autologous tooth stem cells regenerate dental pulp after implantation into injured teeth. Sci Transl Med 10:eaaf3227
- Yang S, Leong KF, Du Z, Chua CK (2001) The design of scaffolds for use in tissue engineering. Part I. Traditional factors. Tissue Eng 7:679–689
- Yang B, Chen G, Li J, Zou Q, Xie D, Chen Y, Wang H, Zheng X, Long J, Tang W, Guo W, Tian W (2012) Tooth root regeneration using dental follicle cell sheets in combination with a dentin matrix – based scaffold. Biomaterials 33:2449–2461
- Yang J, Yuan G, Chen Z (2016) Pulp regeneration: current approaches and future challenges. Front Physiol 7:58
- Yazid FB, Gnanasegaran N, Kunasekaran W, Govindasamy V, Musa S (2014) Comparison of immunodulatory properties of dental pulp stem cells derived from healthy and inflamed teeth. Clin Oral Investig 18:2103–2112
- Yoshpe M, Einy S, Ruparel N, Lin S, Kaufman AY (2020) Regenerative endodontics: a potential solution for external root resorption (case series). J Endod 46:192–199
- Yu S, Diao S, Wang J, Ding G, Yang D, Fan Z (2014) Comparative analysis of proliferation and differentiation potentials of stem cells from inflamed pulp of deciduous teeth and stem cells from exfoliated deciduous teeth. Biomed Res Int 2014:930907
- Zeitlin BD (2020) Banking on teeth stem cells and the dental office. Biom J 43:124–133
- Zhang H, Wang J, Deng F, Huang E, Yan Z, Wang Z, Deng Y, Zhang Q, Zhang Z, Ye J, Qiao M, Li R, Wang J, Wei Q, Zhou G, Luu HH, Haydon RC, He TC, Deng F (2015a) Canonical Wnt signaling acts synergistically on BMP9-induced osteo/odontoblastic differentiation of stem cells of dental apical papilla (SCAPs). Biomaterials 39:145–154
- Zhang LX, Shen LL, Ge SH, Wang LM, Yu XJ, Xu QC, Yang PS, Yang CZ (2015b) Systemic BMSC homing in the regeneration of pulp-like tissue and the enhancing effect of stromal cell-derived factor-1 on BMSC homing. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 8:10261–10271
- Zheng L, Yang F, Shen H, Hu X, Mochizuki C, Sato M, Wang S, Zhang Y (2011) The effect of composition of calcium phosphate composite scaffolds on the formation of tooth tissue from human dental pulp stem cells. Biomaterials 32:7053–7059
- Zhu X, Zhang C, Huang GTJ, Cheung GSP, Dissanayaka WL, Zhu W (2012) Transplantation of dental pulp stem cells and platelet-rich plasma for pulp regeneration. J Endod 38:1604–1609

- Zhu X, Wang Y, Liu Y, Huang GT, Zhang C (2014) Immunohistochemical and histochemical analysis of newly formed tissues in root canal space transplanted with dental pulp stem cells plus platelet-rich plasma. J Endod 40:1573–1578
- Zhu X, Liu J, Yu Z, Chen CA, Aksel H, Azim AA, Huang GT (2018) A miniature Swine model for stem cellbased de novo regeneration of dental pulp and dentinlike tissue. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 24:108–120



Stem Cell Culture Under Simulated Microgravity

Muge Anil-Inevi, Oyku Sarigil, Melike Kizilkaya, Gulistan Mese, H. Cumhur Tekin, and Engin Ozcivici

Abstract

Challenging environment of space causes several pivotal alterations in living systems, especially due to microgravity. The possibility of simulating microgravity by ground-based systems provides research opportunities that may lead to the understanding of in vitro biological effects of microgravity bv eliminating the challenges inherent to spaceflight experiments. Stem cells are one of the most prominent cell types, due to their selfdifferentiation renewal and capabilities. Research on stem cells under simulated microgravity has generated many important findings, enlightening the impact of microgravity on molecular and cellular processes of stem cells with varying potencies. Simulation techniques including clinostat, random positioning machine, rotating wall vessel and magnetic levitation-based systems have improved our knowledge on the effects of microgravity on morphology, migration, proliferation and differentiation of stem cells. Clarification of the mechanisms underlying such changes offers exciting potential for

M. Anil-Inevi, O. Sarigil, M. Kizilkaya, H. C. Tekin, and E. Ozcivici (🖂) Department of Bioengineering, Izmir Institute of Technology, Izmir, Turkey e-mail: enginozcivici@iyte.edu.tr

G. Mese

various applications such as identification of putative therapeutic targets to modulate stem cell function and stem cell based regenerative medicine.

Keywords

In vitro model \cdot Simulated microgravity \cdot Stem cells

Abbreviations

Ad-	human adipose-derived mesenchy-			
hMSC	mal stem cell			
BDNF	brain derived-neurotrophic factor			
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor			
BMOL	bipotential murine oval liver			
BM	bone marrow			
cMSC	cranial bone derived-mesenchymal			
	stem cell			
CBSC	cord blood stem cells			
GDNF	glial-cell derived-neurotrophic factor			
GDNF	glial cell line-derived neurotrophic			
	factor			
hDPSC	human dental pulp stem cell			
HSCs	hematopoetic stem cells			
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor			
hEpSCs	human epidermal stem cells			
mBMSC	mouse bone marrow stem cell			
MG	(simulated) microgravity			
NG	normal gravity			

Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Izmir Institute of Technology, Izmir, Turkey

Rab-	rabbit bone marrow stem cell
BMSC	
RCCS	rotating cell culture system
RWV	rotating wall vessel
SSCs	spermatogonial stem cells
TGF-β	transforming growth factor
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor

1 Introduction

Space missions induce many changes in human health and physiology, and among many factors changes in gravitational loading is one of the major contributors to these changes (Garrett-Bakelman et al. 2019). Mechanical forces, including those governed by gravitational loading, act as regulatory signals that effect morphology and function of tissues (Benjamin and Hillen 2003; Buravkova et al. 2008; Ozcivici et al. 2010a). Therefore, lack of gravity causes several health problems such as bone loss (Vico et al. 2000), muscle atrophy (Fitts et al. 2001), cardiovascular deconditioning (Aubert et al. 2005) and immune system dysregulation (Crucian et al. 2008). Biomedical implications of gravitational alterations highlight the importance of microgravity research to ensure the possibility of extension of space flights duration for future missions and potential colonization efforts in space bodies with different gravity fields compared to that of earth.

Consistent with tissue-level changes, microgravity is known to induce structural and functional changes in various cell types (Buravkova et al. 2004; Kacena et al. 2003). For instance, even though immune cells in circulation were found to be increased in number during spaceflights (Mills et al. 2001), microgravity weakens host defense by decreasing phagocytic capacity of these immune cells (Kaur et al. 2005). As another example, in bone tissue microgravity reduces the number and function of osteoblasts involved in bone formation (Hughes-Fulford and Lewis 1996), reducing new bone formation as well as loss of regulation over bone resorption by osteoclasts (Nabavi et al. 2011), resulting in net bone loss. Although studies focusing on mature cells provide valuable biological information on adaptations to microgravity, tissue level implications of long-term spaceflight infer deterioration of different magnitudes (Buravkova 2010). aspect of long-term health An important considerations for space-flight focus on augmenting recovery through regeneration (Blaber et al. 2014). Stem cells with their vast capacity for self-renewal and differentiation carry a great regenerative potential for tissues (Roobrouck et al. 2008) and therefore they are considered as strong therapeutic candidates for space biomedicine.

Spaceflight technologies allow life sciences laboratory setups in orbit for the execution of in situ microgravity experiments, both in vivo (Sandonà et al. 2012) and in vitro (Tamma et al. 2009). However, opportunities on space-based experimentation are rare and expensive (Delikoyun et al. 2019a), highlighting the importance of earth-based models for microgravity research. It is possible to simulate reduced weight-bearing (Wagner et al. 2010) or complete lack of weight-bearing (Judex et al. 2013; Judex et al. 2016; Ozcivici et al. 2007; Ozcivici and Judex 2014; Ozcivici et al. 2014) in rodents however, these models are mostly specific to testing hypotheses on the musculoskeletal tissues (Morey-Holton and Globus 2002). Alternatively, several microgravity simulation devices have been developed to study molecular and cellular level adaptations in vitro. Here, we reviewed the available literature for the operating principals and findings of *in vitro* microgravity simulation devices with a specific emphasis on stem cells.

2 Earth-Based In Vitro Techniques That Simulate the Microgravity

In order to simulate effects of microgravity, that is also depicted as weightlessness to define the situation where a net sum of all forces is zero (cell surface binding, hydrostatic pressure etc.) (Anken 2013), several physical techniques were translated and developed into laboratory devices. These devices are (1) Clinostat; (2) Random
positioning machine (RPM); (3) Rotating wall vessel (RWV); and (4) Magnetic levitation-based systems.

2.1 Clinostat

Clinostat devices (Fig. 1) rotate samples (i.e. cells) perpendicular to the gravitational vector in order to counteract and negate gravitational acceleration on them (Briegleb 1967; Eiermann et al. 2013). These devices can reduce gravitational pull on samples to an average of 10^{-3} g $(1 \text{ g} = 9.81 \text{ m/s}^2)$. Clinostat systems were initially with slow rotation designed frequencies (<10 rpm, rpm: revolutions per minute) to study the gravity-related effects on the growth of plant specimens (Dedolph and Dipert 1971; Hasenstein et al. 2015). The system was then upgraded to reach faster rotational velocities to nullify the gravity vector on smaller objects including cells (Briegleb 1992). Basically, cells in the fastrotating clinostat system move on circular paths and the diameter of this path decreases as the rotation speed increases and finally relative liquid motion is canceled out in the system. This phenomenon occurs because the radially transferred velocity of the chamber wall and in turn cells in the device begin to rotate around their own center with their surrounding liquid boundary layers. In this condition, cell sedimentation stops and the gravitational pull becomes imperceptible by the cells (Dedolph and Dipert 1971; Klaus 2001).

Clinostats may be in different configurations depending on the number of rotation axes as 2D clinostats or 3D clinostats. Clinostats with the configuration providing rotation in one rotation axis are commonly referred as 2D clinostats (Eiermann et al. 2013; Shang et al. 2013) and sometimes as 1D clinostats (Uddin et al. 2013; Uddin and Qin 2013). 2D clinostats were mainly designed to expose cell suspensions to the simulated microgravity condition (Klaus et al. 1998), but then adapted for the culture of adherent cells (Eiermann et al. 2013). Most of the in vitro stem cell culture microgravity studies have been performed in adherent culture condition with varied designs of clinostats; such as a horizontally rotating sealed culture chamber with a medium chamber and a gas-permeable membrane (Chen et al. 2015) or horizontally rotating coverslips inserted into the fixture of chambers (Xue et al. 2017). Although clinostats offer simplicity in application, its rotating nature is an important limitation in design. Smaller centrifugal acceleration is generated on the cells located closer to the center of rotation and in order to minimize variations for accurate force balance, the diameter of the chamber should be kept minimal (~ a few mms), limiting clinostat working volume to accommodate samples of various sizes (Briegleb 1992; Grimm et al. 2014). Another clinostat design, referred as



Fig. 1 Principle of the fast-rotating clinostat system. Cells in the clinostat follow a circular trajectory. Increase in the frequency of rotation (t) will be resulted in a

decrease in perimeter of circular path (*c*) and microgravity is simulated when the cells eventually begin to rotate around its own axis. g: gravity vector, R: radial force

3D clinostat, has two rotation axes in a gimbal mount with an operation of constant direction of rotation (Hoson et al. 1997), offers a larger working capacity than single-axis clinostats (Hauslage et al. 2017). Despite the limited number of studies reporting stem cell culture in 3D clinostats, the effects of microgravity created with 3D clinostats on stem cells have been reported on different culture conditions; monolayer culture (Otsuka et al. 2018) and scaffold-based three-dimensional (3D) culture (Nishikawa et al. 2005). Approximately one third of the reports investigating the effect of microgravity on stem cells using Earthbased in vitro techniques were performed with various forms of clinostats.

2.2 **Random Positioning Machines** (RPM)

In addition to horizontal rotation, it is possible to add vertical rotation component in clinorotation-based devices to create a different magnitude of the outward acceleration for enhancing the resultant mechanical field (Hoson et al. 1997). Random positioning machine (RPM) rotates samples around two rotational axes in a gimbal mount similar to 3D clinostats. Unlike 3D clinostats however, RPMs operate with changing not only the velocity but also the direction of rotation randomly for constant reorientation of

2D Clinostat

Fig. 2 Working principles of the 2D clinostat (left) and RPM (right). Acceleration in a clinostat rotating around one axis is time independent and determined by the rotation velocity (ω_x) and distance of the cell from the center

g

of rotation (r), whereas acceleration in a RPM, that is rotating around two perpendicular axes, depends on time and position of the sample in space as well as the rotation velocities (ω_x, ω_y)

the gravity vector (Wuest et al. 2015). The region for the most effective microgravity is the center of the two rotation axes, this limits the preferred sample volume for RPMs (Grimm et al. 2014). Centrifugal acceleration of RPMs depends not only on rotation velocity and distance from the center of rotation, but also position of the sample in space and time due to the resultant force of two axes (Fig. 2). Therefore, these devices provide a better microgravity environment than clinostats, especially for larger samples.

Originally introduced for plant-based studies (van Loon 2007), RPMs have been adapted for environmental requirements (i.e. temperature, humidity and CO₂) of mammalian cell cultures. Currently RPMs are available with desktop configurations (Borst and van Loon 2009) and majority of stem cell related RPM studies were conducted on such devices (Gershovich et al. 2012; Ratushnyy et al. 2018). In alternative RPM designs, it has been shown that it is possible to increase the working volume greatly up to 14 L (Wuest et al. 2014), or algorithm based controlling of the motion to reach partial gravity rather than complete weightlessness (Benavides Damm et al. 2014).

2.3 Rotating Wall Vessel (RWV)

The rotating wall vessel (RWV) platform was

developed and commercialized by NASA







(National Aeronautics and Space Administration) to simulate microgravity for cell culture applications (Schwarz et al. 1992). RWV is basically a specialized clinostat that transfer rotational velocity onto the cells in fully fluid-filled vessel, allowing them to fall through circular paths (Klaus 2001). Unlike clinostats however, RWVs provide oxygenation by a coaxial tubular oxygenator, that aims to provide sufficient cell movement for an efficient nutrient, oxygen and waste transport and an enhanced cell-cell contact (Schwarz et al. 1992). RWV system (Fig. 3) ensures minimized turbulence in the flow by virtue of eliminating the need to use the internal mixer for transport and it makes the system suitable for in vivo-like 3D aggregate formation and growth (Goodwin et al. 1993), however on this system cells cannot be cultured as monolayers on glass slides unlike the clinostat. Instead, for adherent cell culture polymer microcarriers should be used as solid support materials (Gao et al. 1997).

Almost half of the studies investigating the effect of microgravity on stem cells have been performed with RWVs. Commercial RWV systems allow tunable velocities and for oxygenation they can be equipped with different types of gas transfer membranes; high-aspect ratio vessels (HARV, volume up to 50 mL), and/or autoclavable slow turning lateral vessels (STLV, volume up to 500 mL). Stem cells can be cultured in RWVs in different forms, such as pellets (Luo et al. 2011), adherent on scaffolds (Koç et al. 2008) or on microcarriers (Sheyn et al.

2010), in encapsulated form (Hwang et al. 2009) or in organoid form (Mattei et al. 2018).

2.4 Levitation by Negative Magnetophoresis

Application of mechanical rotation to create microgravity inherently creates additional mechanical forces on cells, such as shear stress vectors based on fluid motion (Leguy et al. 2011) but the acceptable limits for rotational speed and thus these mechanical forces have still not been fully elucidated. As an alternative, microgravity of cells may also be achieved by compensating the gravitational vector by a counteracting external force.

Diamagnetic materials such as water, cells and proteins tend to move away from strong magnetic fields to weaker ones (Beaugnon and Tournier 1991b; Zhao et al. 2016). Using this principle, non-living (Beaugnon and Tournier 1991a) and living (Berry and Geim 1997) objects were successfully levitated under strong magnetic fields. Living structures show homogeneity in terms of diamagnetic property and therefore the magnetic force acts homogeneously on the entire structure at the molecular level, providing a proper microgravity (Schenck 1992).

In principle, the magnitude of the magnetic force acting on the object is directly proportional to the magnetic susceptibility difference between the object and the surrounding environment, and



Fig. 4 Magnetic levitation of the cells in a paramagnetic medium. (a) Structure of the magnetic levitation device composed of two neodymium magnets, a microcapillary channel and two mirrors placed at 45°. (b) Forces acting on cells at the equilibrium position in the device, where F_{mag} : magnetic force, F_b : buoyancy force, V: cell volume, $\Delta \chi$: magnetic susceptibility difference between the paramagnetic medium and the cell, μ_0 : permeability of free space, B: magnetic induction, $\Delta \rho$: density difference between the paramagnetic medium and the cell, μ_0 : gravitational acceleration. (c) Levitated quiescent D1

magnitude of the magnetic field gradient (Yaman et al. 2018). In order to levitate diamagnetic objects, there is a need for stable substantially large magnetic field gradient; for example, superconducting magnets with large magnetic field intensity (i.e. ~ 12 Tesla) that were used to investigate the behavior of stem cells in microgravity (Meng et al. 2011; Shi et al. 2010). It is also possible to levitate objects with a moderate magnetic field gradient (<1 Tesla) in a medium that provides a high magnetic susceptibility difference (Mirica et al. 2009), and this principle can be applied to living cells in a microfluidic system consisting of two permanent magnets with the same poles facing each other (Tasoglu et al. 2015). This magnetic levitation system (Anil-Inevi et al. 2019b), that was initially used for cell separation based on single-cell density

ORL UVA cells (mouse bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells, green) and adipogenic differentiated 7F2 cells (mouse bone marrow osteoblasts, red). Reprinted from Sarigil et al. (2019b). (d) Confocal and conventional fluorescence microscopy (upper left) image showing self-assembled coculture clusters formed with magnetic levitation (100 mM Gd-BT-DO3A). MDA-MB-231^{dsRed} (human breast cancer cells) cells were seeded onto D1 ORL UVA^{eGFP} clusters formed with magnetic levitation and (total 50,000 cells in the device). Reprinted from Anil-Inevi et al. (2018). Scale bars: 200 µm

(Delikoyun et al. 2019b; Durmus et al. 2015; Sarigil et al. 2019a; Sarigil et al. 2019b), can also be used to apply microgravity condition on stem cell culture (Anil-Inevi et al. 2019a; Anil-Inevi et al. 2018) (Fig. 4). Although levitation approach is novel and at the initial stages in development, the system offers many advantages such as real time monitoring and rotation free application.

3 *In Vitro* Culture of Stem Cells in Simulated Microgravity

Studies on stem cell biology during microgravity exposure were conducted in various studies, which are reviewed below and summarized (Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4) based on the source of the stem cell used.

Culture		Cell	Culture period		
Method	Strategy	type	in MG	Results	Reference
2D clinostat	Pipette method	Mouse ESCs	3 days (60 rpm)	Disruption of genes expression especially in cytoskeleton and changes in the cardimyogenesis process	Shinde et al. (2016)
3D clinostat	LIF-free cell culture	Mouse ESCs	7 days (10^{-3} G)	Cell number ↑	Kawahara et al. (2009).
3D clinostat	Cell culture	Mouse ESCs	up to 7 days (10 ⁻³ G)	Cell number \downarrow (5 days)Adhesion rate \downarrow (8 h)Apoptosis \uparrow (2 days)Delayed DNA repair	Wang et al. (2011)
Rotating microgravity bioreactor	Hepatic cell differentiation on biodegradable scaffolds	Mouse ESCs	14 days (35 rpm)	Hepatic differentiation: Albumin ↑ α-fetoprotein ↑ Cytokeratin 18 ↑ Transthyretin ↑ Glucose-6-phosphatase ↑	Wang et al. (2012)
Rotating microgravity bioreactor	Alginate encapsulation and cell culture	Murine ESCs	After undifferentiated 3 days, cultured up to 21 days (25 rpm)	More realistic 3D structure and functional bone tissues Metabolic profile during culture in RWV: Glucose \downarrow Lactate \uparrow Ammonia \uparrow PH \downarrow Oct4 \downarrow Osteogenic differentiation: OSX \uparrow Cbfa-1/RUNX2 \uparrow	Hwang et al. (2009)

 Table 1
 Applications of microgravity simulation techniques for embryonic stem cell culture

Table 2	Applications of	f microgravity	simulation	techniques	for hemato	poietic stem	cell culture
---------	-----------------	----------------	------------	------------	------------	--------------	--------------

Culture					
method	Strategy	Cell type	Culture period in MG	Results	Reference
RWV	Cell culture	HSCs from human umbilical cord blood	8 days (6 rpm)	Total cell number ↑ CD34 ⁺ cells ↑	Liu et al. (2006)
RWV	Cell culture	HSCs from bone marrow of male mice	7 days (30 rpm)	Number of progenitor cells ↓ High-proliferative potential colony- forming cells ↑	McAuliffe et al. (1999)
RWV	Cell culture	Human BM CD34 ⁺ cells	4–6 days (8 rpm)	Rate to exit G_0/G_1 phases of cell cycle \downarrow Degree of hematopoietic potential \uparrow	Plett et al. (2001)
RWV	Cell culture	Human BM CD34 ⁺ cells	2 to 18 days (short term and long term), 10–12 rpm	F actin expression \downarrow Migration to SDF-1 α \downarrow Cell-cycle progression \downarrow Erythroid differentiation \downarrow	Plett et al. (2004)
RWV	Cell culture + growth factors and microcarrier beads	Human umbilical cord blood stem cells (CBSCs)	14 days (gradually increase from 8 to 20 rpm in 48 h)	Cellular proliferation with 3D tissue-like aggregates ↑	Chiu et al. (2005)

Culture method	Strategy	Cell type	Culture period in MG	Results	Reference
Rotary bioreactor	Cell culture on Cytodex-3 micro-carriers	Human epidermal stem cells (hEpSCs)	10–15 days (12 rpm-1 day, 22 rpm 14 day)	Proliferation ↑ Viability ↑ Higher percentage of ki67 positive cells Low expression of involucrin	Lei et al. (2011)
Rotating cell culture system (RCCS)	Cell culture with glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) growth factor and Sertoli cell feeder	Mouse spermatogonial stem cells (SSCs)	14 days (10–12 rpm)	Proliferation ↑ Aggregates are similar to native in vivo cells mRNA expression of Oct-4, GFRα1 and Bcl6b ↑	Zhang et al. (2014)
3D clinostat	Cell culture	Bipotential Murine Oval Liver (BMOL) stem cells	2 h (10 ⁻³ G)	Proliferation ↑ Induce hepatic differentiation Downregulation of Notch1, upregulation of BMP4	Majumder et al. (2011)

 Table 3
 Applications of microgravity simulation techniques for culture of other stem cell types

3.1 Embryonic Stem Cells

Studies investigating the effects of microgravity on embryonic stem cells (ESCs) are not as common compared to other types of stem cells. Most of the studies involving ESCs focused on using microgravity as a biotechnological tool for ESC expansion and differentiation. A study performed with 2D clinostats indicated that while microgravity had no effect on the distribution of ESCs in different cell cycle phases, it disrupted cytoskeletal gene expression and altered the process of cardiomyogenesis of ESCs (Shinde et al. 2016). Another study performed using 3D clinostats revealed that the need for feeder layer, serum and Leukemia-inhibitory factor (LIF) in the conventional method to prevent the mouse ESCs to spontaneously differentiate was eliminated by 3D clinostat culture (Kawahara et al. 2009). In another clinostat based study, ESC pluripotency markers Oct-4 and Nanog as well as ALP were found to be unaffected from 7 days of microgravity exposure (Wang et al. 2011). This study also suggested that, like 2D clinostats, with 3D

clinostat-based microgravity exposure cells showed no significant alteration in the cell cycle. However, mouse ESCs showed sensitivity to microgravity with increased apoptosis and delayed DNA repair processes.

In addition to basic cell biology, effect of microgravity in tissue engineering applications was also examined with ESCs. Hepatic cell differentiation and expansion on polymeric (nonaligned poly-L-lactic acid - poly-glycolic acid) scaffolds was achieved from mouse ESCs under induced microgravity using RWV (Wang et al. 2012). Alginate encapsulated mouse ESCs were also exposed to microgravity during osteogenesis, showing enhanced osteogenic differentiation in the absence of embryoid body formation (Hwang et al. 2009). Though number of ESC based studies are limited for earth-based microgravity applications. generation of novel pluripotency inducing pipelines (Okita et al. 2007; Yu et al. 2007) that are free of ethical considerations are expected to help addressing hypotheses regarding developmental pathways during microgravity.

3.2 Adult Stem Cells

3.2.1 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are present in various tissues such as bone marrow, umbilical cord, adipose tissue, dental pulp and they have the capability of differentiation into cells of mesenchymal origin such as bone, fat, cartilage, muscle and tendons (Ding et al. 2011; Pittenger et al. 1999). With their ease of handling and high capacity for differentiation, MSCs were studied extensively under microgravity to model spaceflight. For example, the relationship between adipogenesis and osteoblastogenesis in bone marrow is crucial for bone health (Abdallah 2017; Muruganandan et al. 2009) and lack of mechanical loading such as spaceflight, bed-rest and immobilization can enhance adipogenic differentiation in bone marrow and inhibit bone formation (Arfat et al. 2014; Nishikawa et al. 2005; Ozcivici et al. 2010a, b; Uddin and Qin 2013). Furthermore, MSC derived osteoblasts are important regulators of bone resorbing osteoclasts (Zhang et al. 2017), implying that microgravity not only may have bone formation suppressive effects, but also in turn inhibitory control over bone resorption process performed by osteoclasts (Chatani et al. 2015).

Earlier studies on clinostat-based microgravity showed that proliferation rate of the human MSCs (hMSCs) decreased and more flattened cells were observed by exposure to microgravity during 10 days in comparison to normal gravity (Merzlikina et al. 2004). Consistent with hMSCs, proliferation rate of rat bone marrow stem cells (rBMSCs) was inhibited and the response to growth factors such as IGF-1, EGF and bFGF was decreased by simulated microgravity via clinostat (Dai et al. 2007). This study also demonstrated that microgravity disturbed gene expression by upregulating negative regulators of cell cycle and proliferation and down-regulating cytoskeletal and osteogenic genes. Similarly, proliferation of rBMSCs was also shown to be suppressed with microgravity applied with clinorotation for 7 days (Huang et al. 2009). Prolonged exposure of hBMSCs to

microgravity for 20 days with clinostat revealed similar inhibition of cell proliferation as well as decreased expression of cell adhesion molecules with increased migration (Gershovich and Buravkova 2007). Moreover, it was reported that the changes of proliferation in MSCs of murine origin were related with the arrested cell cycle in G2/M phases and increased apoptosis after 48 h clinorotation treatment (Yan et al. 2015). Another study that applied simulated microgravity to primary mouse MSCs showed reduced cell proliferation and deteriorating cellular ultrastructure, which can be reversed by daily application of low intensity mechanical vibrations at 90 Hz (Touchstone et al. 2019), an exercise mimetic that was shown to be osteogenic (Demiray and Ozcivici 2015) and anti-adipogenic (Baskan et al. 2017) on mouse bone marrow MSCs previously.

Aside from cell proliferation and cell cycle, clinorotation systems were also used to investigate the effect of microgravity to osteogenic, adipogenic, cardiomyogenic, endothelial and neuronal commitment of rBMSCs (Chen et al. 2011, 2016; Chen et al. 2015; Huang et al. 2009; Uddin and Qin 2013; Xue et al. 2017; Yan et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013). As an example of effects of microgravity on osteogenic commitment, it was shown that expression of osteogenic markers such as Cbfa1, ALP and COL1A1 by rBMSCs cultured in induction medium was decreased via clinostat (Huang et al. 2009). In discordance, another study reported that microgravity exposure by clinostat decreased ALP expression at 3 days and increased ALP expression at 10 days for rBMSCs (Xue et al. 2017). Simulated microgravity also reduced expression of other osteogenic markers such as Runx2, OSX, OCN and OPN in MSCs derived from different origins (i.e. adipose tissue, bone marrow) (Chen et al. 2015; Uddin and Qin 2013). The suppressive effects of microgravity on osteogenic commitment can be reversed using external mechanical sources. For example, daily application (20 min/day for 5 days) of low intensity pulsed ultrasound to microgravity exposed adipose derived hMSCs increased ALP, Runx2, OSX, RANKL and decreased OPG gene

expression (Uddin and Qin 2013). Mechanistic studies linked the decrease in the expression of PDZ-binding motif (TAZ) gene to reduced expressions of Runx2 and ALP expression during microgravity and it was shown that TAZ activation by using lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) retained osteogenic differentiation of MSCs under microgravity (Chen et al. 2015). In a follow-up study, inhibition of osteogenic differentiation during microgravity was further linked to the depolymerization of F-actin related to Factin-TAZ pathway (Chen et al. 2016). Adipogenic differentiation of stem cells was also addressed under simulated microgravity. For example, expression of adipogenic marker PPAR γ was shown to be increased under microgravity (via clinostat) with or without adipogenic inducers in the culture media (Huang et al. 2009). Also, similar to that shown in ALP during osteogenesis, increased exposure time to microgravity exhibited reversed effect in adipogenic differentiation decreasing PPARy expression at 10 days of exposure (Xue et al. 2017).

The effects of simulated microgravity were also tested on neuronal and endothelial differentiation of the MSCs by using clinostat system. Neuronal markers such as MAP-2, TH and CHAT were shown to be upregulated in rBMSCs under microgravity with an increase in secretion of select neurophins, such as BDNF, CNTF (Chen et al. 2011) remarking the therapeutic potential of simulated microgravity for neural tissue engineering applications. Increase in short-term (72 h) microgravity treatment and decrease in long-term (10 days) treatment were observed for ability of MSCs to differentiate into endothelial lineage based on endotheliumspecific marker vWF (Xue et al. 2017). Furthermore, another study confirmed that vWF expression increased during culture with VEGF stimulation for 12 days when cells were pre-treated with a 72-h microgravity condition (Zhang et al. 2013). In that study, active level of RhoA marker was associated with lineage commitment during microgravity for adipogenic, endothelial, neural and osteogenic cell lines by regulating the cytoskeleton. In another study, it was demonstrated that exposure of rBMSCs to

microgravity for 3 days inhibited cardiomyogenic differentiation evidenced by specific markers including cTnT, GATA4 and β -MHC (Huang et al. 2009).

Clinostat system based on seeding cells on coverslips enables detection of morphological changes in MSCs when they are exposed to microgravity. For example, hMSC had more flattened morphology once they were exposed to microgravity simulated by clinostat system (Merzlikina et al. 2004), and in contrast rBMSCs appeared to have more rounded morphology after exposure to microgravity for 3 days (Chen et al. 2011; Zhang et al. 2013). Cytoskeleton is responsible for cell morphology and structure in addition to other functions (Fletcher and Mullins 2010) and microgravity may induce changes in cytoskeletal components based on exposure time. For example, rBMSCs cultured for 3 days under microgravity revealed that gene expression of cytoskeletal components such as actin and Cofilin1 was downregulated (Dai et al. 2007). When microgravity exposure time was prolonged to 10 days, microtubules (Chen et al. 2011) and microfilaments (Zhang et al. 2013) were shown to be re-organised. RhoA activity that is associated with cytoskeleton regulation showed similar trend and the decreased activity of RhoA after a short microgravity exposure was increased when exposure time was prolonged to 10 days (Xue et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2013). In addition to cytoskeletal components, migration capacity of rBMSC was inhibited during microgravity based on inhibition of actin reorganization (Mao et al. 2016).

Because of the limitation of 2D clinostats that cannot completely remove the gravity vector due to constant rotation in one direction, 3D clinostats are preferable for the proper simulation of microgravity based on multidirectional rotation. Human BMSCs that were cultured in 3D clinostat system showed increased cell proliferation during microgravity exposure (Yuge et al. 2006) in discordance with 2D clinostat (Gershovich and Buravkova 2007). The inconsistencies of these results may be caused by differences in mechanical environment caused by respective simulation techniques. 3D clinostats were also utilized to determine whether microgravity culture may augment therapeutic potential of MSCs in cellbased therapy strategies. Exposure to microgravity condition of mouse (Yuge et al. 2010) and rat (Mitsuhara et al. 2013) BMSCs has been shown to increase CXCR4 expression, which is an important factor of cell migration. In human BMSCs (Otsuka et al. 2018), HGF and TGF- β expression associated with cell migration and proliferation have been increased. These studies demonstrated that functional recovery was enhanced by transplantation of MSCs after microgravity culture, suggesting that this technique can be advantageous for cell-based therapies, with increased potential of neuroprotective and antiinflammatory gene expression.

Another alternative tool for microgravity simulation is RWV bioreactors, tested especially on osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of MSCs. When the expression of osteogenic (ALP, COL1A1, Runx2, OC, COL1, ON, BMP-2) (Li et al. 2015; Meyers et al. 2005; Meyers et al. 2004; Sheyn et al. 2010; Sun et al. 2008; Zayzafoon et al. 2004; Zheng et al. 2007) and adipogenic (PPARy, Adipsin, Leptin, Glut4) (Meyers et al. 2005; Sheyn et al. 2010; Sun et al. 2008; Zayzafoon et al. 2004; Zheng et al. 2007) specific genes and proteins were tested, in general simulated microgravity suppressed the osteogenic differentiation and induced adipogenic differentiation. Similar to clinostat studies, in RWV cultures adipogenic differentiation potential and lipid accumulation of MSCs were increased even if the cell culture was performed without adipogenic inducers (Li et al. 2015; Sun et al. 2008). Moreover decreased expression of osteogenic markers such as Runx2, OC, COL1, ON in hMSCs was not reversible even when the cells were removed from microgravity condition (Zayzafoon et al. 2004). In contrast to the studies demonstrated the decrease in osteogenic differentiation under microgravity conditions, another study reported increased ALP activity of rBMSCs cultured on 3D bovine bones during microgravity (Jin et al. 2010). Furthermore, to investigate potential molecular mechanisms, it has been shown that overexpression of active RhoA, which is a positive regulator of osteogenesis and a negative regulator of adipogenesis, restored stress fibers and the expression of osteogenic markers and suppressed adipogenic gene expression in hMSCs cultured in microgravity (Meyers et al. 2005). On the other hand, the telomerase activity which is known to be related with lineage commitment of stem cells (He et al. 2018; Kang et al. 2004) was found to decrease during microgravity (Sun et al. 2008). Effects of microgravity on MSC commitment to other mesenchymal lineages such as chondrocytes, were also addressed with RWV on rabbit bone marrow stem cells (rabBMSCs) (Wu et al. 2013), human mesenchmal stem cells (hMSCs) (Mayer-Wagner et al. 2014) and human adipose derived stem cells (Ad-hMSCs) (Weiss et al. 2017; Yu et al. 2011). It was shown that rabBMSCs had upregulated the expression of chondrogenesis specific markers, such as collagen II, aggrecan and SOX-9 during pellet culture in RWV (Luo et al. 2011; Wu et al. 2013). In contrast, another study suggested an opposite effect showing that microgravity downregulated the expression of COL10A1, COL2A1 and aggrecan in hMSCs (Mayer-Wagner et al. 2014).

RPM is one of the most realistic simulators of microgravity and it was largely applied to test effects of microgravity on cytoskeleton rearrangements and differentiation of stem cells. It was shown that RPM culture affected dimensional structures, position and amount of actin filaments very quickly (30 min), and organization of actin cytoskeleton was partially or completely restored at 120th h of exposure in hMSCs (Gershovich et al. 2009). Besides, the number of detached cells, which increased in the first 48 h, decreased after 120 h, possibly due to alterations in proteins related with cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions such as vinculin and integrins (Carisey and Ballestrem 2011; Ratushnyy and Buravkova 2017). In accordance with these findings, expression of structural and regulatory genes interacting with actin cytoskeleton, α -actin, y-actin, b-tubulin, cofilin, and small GTPase RhoA was altered after 48 h of microgravity exposure, and restoration of expression levels was observed after 120 h (Gershovich et al. 2012). Analysis of genes related to differentiation of stem cells revealed that prolonged RPM

exposure (10-20 days) showed an increased expression of adipogenic marker (PPAR γ) and decreased osteogenic marker genes (ALPL, OMD). It was also reported that inhibition of osteogenic differentiation and induction of adipogenic differentiation were accompanied by the up-regulation of genes specific for tumorigenesis in the later stages of RPM exposure (14 days) (Li et al. 2019). Another study showed that as a result of the microgravity exposure on human ad-MSCs for 96 h, angiogenesisrelated genes were up-regulated as well as genes associated with tumorigenesis (Ratushnyy et al. 2018). The effect of microgravity on stem cell morphology and viability was tested in rBMSC with RPM and it was seen that simulated microgravity (48 h) caused a decrease in cell area, an increase in cell aspect ratio and a reduction in viability (Monfaredi et al. 2017).

Environmental conditions in ground-based simulators can affect cellular properties. It was shown that oxygen concentration in RPM systems had a key role on cell adhesion, and signaling in hMSCs. (Versari et al. 2013). Besides, shear stress as a result of rotation in RWV bioreactors can affect osteogenic differentiation and mineralization (Grellier et al. 2009; Yeatts and Fisher 2011). The techniques working with rotation principle requires the adaptation of cells to the physical effects caused by rotation speed and fluid properties such as viscosity and density. A system that can cope with these challenges is magnetic levitation which is a novel technique for simulation of microgravity (Qian et al. 2009). Although the general interest towards this system has been increasing for the last decade, their use for testing stem cells is still rather limited. In a study that applied large gradient high magnetic field (LGHMF) to create a force against gravitational force on the cells and thus to simulate microgravity, it was shown that a 6-h treatment disrupted cytoskeletal filaments, and extending the treatment time (48 h) resulted in the death of almost all cells (Shi et al. 2010). In addition, by applying LGHMF-induced microgravity (6 h) at different stages of osteogenic induction process, postponement of treatment stage was shown to reduce the intensity of osteogenesis suppression. It was concluded that this treatment affects the

initiation stage of osteogenesis. Levels of signaling molecules involved in osteogenic differentiation, such as ERK, FAK and their phosphorylated forms, except ERK, were decreased for treatments in all stages. Another result noted in the study is that the adipogenesis-related gene, PPARy2, was not detected in any condition. Unlike studies reporting that clinorotation-induced microgravity had no effect on apoptosis of rat MSCs (Dai et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2014), a study examining the effect of LGHMF-induced microgravity on apoptosis showed that microgravity treatment (12 h) induced apoptosis associated with increased expression of p53 in hMSCs (Meng et al. 2011). Also, F-actin fibers disappeared mostly whereas α -tubulin was reorganized above nucleus, and nuclei shifted from center to one side of the cells under microgravity.

As 3D in vitro cultures play a key role in examining in vivo-like living structures (Anil-Inevi et al. 2020; Fatehullah et al. 2016; Yildiz-Ozturk et al. 2017), they can also be adapted to systems that simulate microgravity. As an example, it was observed that simulated microgravity by RWV enhanced chondro-induction and chondrogenesis in scaffold-based (type I collagen) coculture of MSCs and meniscus cells (Weiss et al. 2017). Another example is that RWV culture of the bone constructs resulted in better repair of the bone defects once transplanted compared to the static flask culture (Jin et al. 2010). In addition, magnetic levitation system can also be utilized for 3D cultures for tissue engineering studies. It was demonstrated that magnetic levitation could be used for microgravity culture and density measurement of MSCs (Anil-Inevi et al. 2019b). A recent study showed that magnetic levitation system enabled selfassembly of MSCs with label- and scaffold-free application under microgravity environment (Anil-Inevi et al. 2018). Also, this microgravity environment induced by diamagnetic levitation was capable of the detection of MSCs based on their densities (Sarigil et al. 2019b).

3.2.2 Hematopoietic Stem Cells

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are active regulators and participants of hematopoiesis and

they can be affected by microgravity conditions, causing anemia and hematopoietic disorders in astronauts exposed to the microgravity (Wang et al. 2019). These abnormalities related to spaceflight lead to research to understand the mechanosensitivity and mechanoresponse of HSCs to the microgravity condition in physiological and molecular basis. A study aimed to understand early hematopoiesis observed in space flights showed that treatment of mice HSCs with a 7-day RWV culture decreased the total number of progenitor cells, while increasing the highproliferative potential colony-forming cells compared to standard flask culture (McAuliffe et al. 1999). For human HSCs, simulated microgravity via RWV bioreactor caused the cells to exit G_0/G_1 phases at a slower rate and maintain higher hematopoietic potential shown by the ability to initiate and maintain secondary long-term suspension, compared to cells cultured in 1 g (Plett et al. 2001). Another study on human HSCs showed that RWV culture resulted in a significant reduction of migration to stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1 α), accompanied by decreased levels of F-actin and cell cyclin proteins. It was also reported that RWV culture inhibited overall progenitor proliferation and erythroid differentiation (Plett et al. 2004). In contrast, long-term RWV culture (for more than 8 days) provided a more suitable environment for expansion of hematopoietic stem cells collected from human umbilical cord blood compared to standard flask culture (Liu et al. 2006). Besides, human umbilical cord blood stem cells (CBSCs) showed increased proliferation as 3D tissue-like aggregates and developed vascular tubular assemblies in RWV culture (Chiu et al. 2005).

3.2.3 Other Types of Stem Cells

In addition to stem cells types classified and mentioned above, other stem cell types were also studied under microgravity conditions for several tissue engineering applications. A study aimed at providing better culture conditions for skin tissue engineering applications revealed that rotating cell culture system provided enhanced proliferation and viability for human epidermal stem cells (hEpSCs) and they were able to form multilayer 3D epidermis structures (Lei et al. 2011). Another study examined effects of the simulated microgravity on differentiation of the bipotential murine oval liver (BMOL) stem cells (Majumder et al. 2011). It was reported that prolonged culture (240 min) of BMOL stem cells in simulated microgravity condition (via 3D clinostat) increased cell death, while short exposure time (up to 2 h) did not have a negative effect on cell viability. Moreover, exposure of BMOL stem cells to microgravity condition for 2 h was alone able to induce the differentiation of stem cells to hepatocytes within 2-3 days, interplaying with BMP4/Notch1 signaling. Finally, a study that applied simulated microgravity on spermatogonial stem cells which are a subset of primitive germ cells, also showed that cell culture in a rotating cell culture system enhanced proliferation of these cells (Zhang et al. 2014). Furthermore, after simulated microgravity treatment the cells maintained clone-forming capacity and differentiation ability, and were able to differentiate into round spermatids with flagella. These results have been suggesting that the technique may be used to restore fertility for cancer patients after chemotherapy or irradiation.

4 Future Outlook

Increasing interest in long-term space flights has led to growing interest in understanding the functional and structural changes in living systems microgravity condition. Especially, under microgravity-triggered changes in stem cells have gained remarkable attention due to their potency. Real spaceflight experiments, which provide wide opportunities to study in vitro and in vivo biological effects of microgravity, are challenging due to limited availability, high cost and complexity of experimental condition. Although there are available ground-based simulating systems to investigate microgravityrelated in vivo effects such as rodent hindlimb unloading models, it is not possible to apply them for each type of tissue and to use for research at the cellular level. Ground-based simulated microgravity experiments for in vitro

Culture method	Strategy	Cell type	Culture period	Results	Reference
2D Clinostat	Cell culture	hBMSCs	1–10 h	Morphological changes: Flattened cells	Merzlikina et al. (2004)
2D Clinostat	Stem cells seeding on coverslips transferred to polyethylene (PE) culture bag	rBMSCs	30 rpm, 1–4 days	Proliferation fact \downarrow Proliferation: p-ERK1/2 \downarrow Akt \downarrow Response to growth factors (IGF-I, EGF, bFGF) \downarrow Apoptosis \rightarrow Cytoskeleton gene expression: Actin filaments \downarrow Cofilin1 \downarrow Osteogenic differentiaition: Cbfa1 \downarrow Gene expression profile: Among 413 expressed genes; 207 genes were down- regulated 206 genes were up-regulated Mostly genes acting negative regulation of cell cycle and cell proliferation were up-regulated, osteoblast differentiation related-genes were down- regulated (look reference for detail)	Dai et al. (2007)
2D Clinostat	Cell culture	hBMSCs	6 rpm, 20 days	Proliferation rate ↓ (between 2.5 and 6.5 fold depending on passage) Migration activity ↑ Immunophenotypic analysis (CD34, CD45, CD54, CD106, CD105, CD90 and class 1 HLA) with or without osteogenic induction medium	Gershovich and Buravkova (2007)
2D Clinostat	Coverslips transferred to PE culture bag	rBMSCs	30 rpm, 1, 3, 5 or 7 days	Reorganization of microfilaments Proliferation \downarrow Osteogenic differentiation: With and without inducer ALP, Cbfa1, COL1A1 \downarrow Cardiomyogenic differentiation: With and without inducer cTnT, β -MHC, GATA4 \downarrow Adipogenic differentiation: With and without inducer PPARY \uparrow p-ERK1/2 \downarrow	Huang et al. (2009)

 Table 4
 Applications of microgravity simulation techniques for mesenchymal stem cells

Culture			Culture period		
method	Strategy	Cell type	in MG	Results	Reference
2D Clinostat	Coverslips inserted into chamber	rBMSCs	30 rpm, 4 h, 72 h, 7 days, 10 days and 14 days	Cytoskeletal reorganization Ratio of length/width \downarrow (round-shaped cell morphology) Neuronal differentiation: MAP-2, TH, CHAT \uparrow Neurotrophins: BDNF \uparrow CNTF \uparrow NGF \downarrow Action potential: Membrane input resistance \uparrow	Chen et al. (2011)
				Membrane capacitance ↑	
2D Clinostat	Coverslips transferred into chamber	rBMSCs	30 rpm, 4 h, 72 h and 10 days	Morphological changes: Ratio of length/width \downarrow (round-shaped cell) Cytoskeletal reorganization: Decreased microfilament and cytoskeletal tension in 4 h and 72 h Recovered microflament and cytoskeletal tension in 10 days Activation of RhoA \downarrow in 72 h (80%, compared with 4 h) \uparrow in 10 days (tenfold, compared with 72 h) Differentiation capability: Flk-1 \rightarrow for 4 h \uparrow (1.71- fold) for 72 h – The most proper exposure time \uparrow (1.28-fold) for 10 days Endothelial differentiation: Removing MG after 72 h exposure and stimulation with VEGF for 12 days Flk-1 \uparrow (1.46-fold compared with NG) vWF \uparrow (1.31-fold compared with NG) Capillary formation \uparrow	Zhang et al. (2013)
2D Clinostat ^a	Opticell	Ad-hMSCs	15 rpm, 5 days	Osteogenic differentiation: Runx2, ALP, OSX (osterix) \downarrow RANKL \downarrow OPG \uparrow Collagen content (type I and III) \downarrow Calcification \downarrow Appliying low intensity pulsed ultrasound (LIPUS):	Uddin and Qin (2013)

Culture			Culture period		
method	Strategy	Cell type	in MG	Results	Reference
				ALP \uparrow (compared with MG and NG-u) Runx2 \uparrow (compared with MG and NG-u) OSX \uparrow (compared with MG and NG-u) RNAKL \uparrow (compared with MG and NG-u) OPG \uparrow (compared with NG-u) OPG \downarrow (compared with MG and NG) Collagen content \downarrow (compared with NG-u) Collagen content \uparrow (compared with MG and NG-u)	
2D Clinostat	Coverslips transferred into chamber	BMSCs	30 rpm, 48 h	Cell proportion in G1 phase \downarrow (0.04-fold, similar between the two groups) in S phase \downarrow (0.22-fold) in G2 phase \uparrow (1.0-fold) in comparison with control Apoptosis \uparrow Cell proliferation: PCNA \downarrow Osteogenic differentiation with inducer (BMP2) ALP, Cbfa1, SATB2 \downarrow Hoxa2 \uparrow Overexpression of SATB2 SATB2 \uparrow ALP \uparrow (in comparison with that without SATB2 overexpression)	Yan et al. (2015)
2D Clinostat	Flat chamber	rBMSCs	10 rpm, 48 h	Osteogenic differentiation: ALP, OPN, OCN, Runx2 ↓ Adipogenic differentiation: PPARy ↑ TAZ ↓ TAZ ↑ with LPA (lysophosphatidic acid) correspondingly Runx2 ↑ with LPA	Chen et al. (2015)
2D Clinostat	Flat chamber	rBMSCs	10 rpm, 48 h	Morphological changes: F-actin reorganization (thinner and disordered) Fractal dimension ↓ ALP activity ↓ Runx2 ↓ TAZ nuclear aggregation (TAZ activation) ↓ Jasplakinolide or LPA induction in MG:	Chen et al. (2016)

Culture	Strategy	Cell type	Culture period	Results	Reference
method				ALP activity ↑ Runx2 ↑	
2D Clinostat	Flat chamber	rBMSCs	10 rpm, 24 h	Null22 Migration ↓ F-actin remodeling (thicker) Cell stiffness ↑ (Young's modulus↑) Rock-F-actin pathway Bestering growing	Mao et al. (2016)
				Cell stiffness and migration -could not recover totally	
2D	Coverslips transferred into chamber	rBMSCs	30 x g 72 h and 10 days	$\begin{array}{l} \label{eq:action} Decreased microtubule formation and α-actin filaments at 72 h and reestablished microtubeles and actin filaments at 10 days \\ $	Xue et al. (2017)
3D Clinostat	Porous calcium hidroxyapatite ceramic blocks	rBMSCs	10^{-3} G, 2 weeks	ALP activity \downarrow ECM formation \downarrow Total protein content \rightarrow Proliferation \rightarrow	Nishikawa et al. (2005)
3D Clinostat	Culture flask	hBMSCs	10 ⁻³ G, 5 rpm, 7 days	International ConstraintsProliferation rate \uparrow (13-foldin a week)Cell proliferation in NG - 6.8% (d1), 8.3% (d3), 24.7% (d7)in MG - 23.5\% (d1), 48.7\%(d3), 85.5\% (d7)Chondrogenicdifferentiation	Yuge et al. (2006)

121

Culture	_		Culture period		
method	Strategy	Cell type	in MG	Results	Reference
				Aggregan: undetectable Collagen II: undetectable Telomere length \rightarrow Telomerase activity: undetectable	
3D Clinostat	Opticell	mBMSCs	10 ⁻³ G, 7 days	Morphological changes in growth and neural induction medium \rightarrow In growth medium: Oct-4 \rightarrow NF-H no expression In neural induction	Yuge et al. (2010)
				medium: Oct-4 ↑ (compared to NG in a week) NF-H no expression	
				Neural differentiation: MAP-2 \downarrow NF-H \downarrow CXCR4 \rightarrow	
				After transplantation CXCR4 ↑	
3D Clinostat	Opticell	rBMSCs	10^{-3} G, 7 days	Morphological changes: Round-shaped cell	Mitsuhara et al. (2013)
				$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{M} \\ \mathbf$	
				Functional recovery \uparrow NGF, BDNF \rightarrow	
3D Clinostat	Coverslips inserted into chamber	rBMSCs	30 rpm, 48 h, 72 h and 120 h	Ratio of width/length \uparrow in all time duration (compared to NG) Ratio of width/length \downarrow in 120 h (compared to 72 h) Apoptosis \rightarrow	Wang et al. (2014)
				Pluripotency: Oct-4 \uparrow in all time durations (compared to NG) Oct-4 \rightarrow in 120 h (compared to 72 h)	
				Endothelial differentiation: vWF↑	-
3D Clinostat	Culture flask tranferred into Gravite®	h-cMSCs	10 ⁻³ G, 5 days	CD31 ↑ Differentiation potential (adipogenic, osteogenic and neural) → Neurotrophic and anti- inflammatory factors: HGF, TGF- β ↑ BDNF, bFGF, GDNF, VEGF →	Otsuka et al. (2018)
				improvements after transplantation ↑	

122

Culture			Culture period		
method	Strategy	Cell type	in MG	Results	Reference
RWV	Plastic microcarrier beads	hBMSCs	7 days +30 days	$\frac{\text{During MG}}{\text{Actin}}$	Zayzafoon et al. (2004)
			(readaption) (MG-E)	Osteogenic differentiation: Runx2, ALP, OC, COL1, ON ↓	
				Adipogenic differentiation: PPARy, Adipsin, Leptin, Glut4↑	
				Removing MG Runx2, OC, COL1, ON ↓ ALP ↑	_
				PPARy, Adipsin, Leptin, Glut4↑	
RWV	Polystyrene microcarrier beads	hMSCs	Readjusted rotation regarding to	Osteogenic differentiation: Runx2, ALP, COL1 \downarrow	Meyers et al. (2004)
			growing constructs, 7 days	İntegrin↑ FAK↓ PYK2↓ GTP-Ras↓	
				$ \begin{array}{c} p-ERK1/2 \downarrow \\ Akt \rightarrow \end{array} $	
RWV	Polystyrene microcarrier beads	tyrene hMSCs carrier beads Transduction of hMSCs by adenoviral vector, RhoA- V14	Readjusted rotation regarding to growing constructs, 7 days	F-actin↓ G-actin↑ GTP-RhoA↓ p-cofilin↓	Meyers et al. (2005)
				Osteogenic differentiation: Runx2, ALP, COL1 ↓	-
				Adipogenic differentiation under MG:	
				Glut4 ↑ Lipid accumulation ↑	
				Introduction of an	
				expressing constitutively	
				active RhoA: Runx2, ALP, COL1 ↑ Leptin, Glut4↓	
RWV	Plastic microcarrier beads	hBMSCs	16 rpm, 14 days	ALP↓ Adipogenic potential ↑	Zheng et al. (2007)
RWV	Microcarrier beads	rBMSCs	15 rpm, 5 days/ 7 days	Osteogenic differentiation under MG: BMP-2 ↓	Sun et al. (2008)
				Osteogenic differentiation (by removing MG for 4 days): ALP activity and OC concentration↓	_
				Adipogenic differentiation under MG:	
				PPAR γ 2, adipocyte number \uparrow (without inducer)	_
				Telomerase activity \downarrow	

Culture			Culture period		
method	Strategy	Cell type	in MG	Results	Reference
RWV	Mineralized polymer foams	rBMSCs	20 rpm, 28 days	Feasibility of mineralized PLGA scaffolds for cell adhesion, cell viability and osteogenic differentiation	Koç et al. (2008)
RWV	Gelatin microcarrier	hBMSCs	16 rpm, 7 days	Cell viability → (compared with static condition) Adipogenic differentiation Lipid accumulation↑ Osteogenic differentiation ALP activity → Gene expression (>1,250 genes) in MG: Adipogenesis-related genes mostly upregulated Osteogenesis- and chondrogenesis-related genes mostly downregulated (look reference for detail)	Sheyn et al. (2010)
RWV	Ceramic bovine bone blocks	rBMSC	Readjusted rotation regarding to growing constructs, 15 days	3D bone constructs Cellularity of blocks ↑ (compared to static culture) New bone formation; thicker in MG condition ALP activity ↑	Jin et al. (2010)
RWV	Pellet culture	rabBMSC	6.5 rpm, 7 days	Size of pellets \uparrow Cell proliferation \uparrow Chondrogenic differentiation: S-GAG \uparrow Collagen II \uparrow Aggregan \uparrow SOX-9 \uparrow Aggregan/collagen \uparrow Cell culture with TGF- β 1 in MG (compared to condition without TGF- β 1 in MG): Cell proliferation, S-GAG, Collagen II, Aggregan, SOX-9 \uparrow Aggregan/collagen \downarrow	Luo et al. (2011)
RWV	Opticell	Ad-hMSC (hADSC)	Rotation speed varied between 11-25 rpm, 21 days	Size and weight of pellets \uparrow Chondrogenic differentiation: COL2A1 \uparrow COL10A1 \rightarrow Aggrecan \uparrow SOX-9 \uparrow p-p38 \uparrow	Yu et al. (2011)
RWV	Pellete culture	Rab-BMSC	20 rpm, 2 weeks	Chondrogenic differentiation: Collagen II ↑ Aggrecan ↑ Proteoglycan ↑	Wu et al. (2013)

Culture Culture period in MG method Cell type Results Reference Strategy RWV hMSC Rotation speed Chondrogenic Mayer-Pellet culture varied between differentiation: Wagner 4.2-7.2 rpm, last COL2A1 J et al. (2014) 7 days of 21 days COL10A1 ↓ differentiation COL2A1/COL10A1 J Aggrecan ↓ $SOX-9 \rightarrow$ RWV Microcarrier beads Mice-BMSC 10 rpm, 7 days PPARy \uparrow (without inducer) Li et al. Runx2 ↓ (2015)TAZ mRNA \rightarrow TAZ protein expression ↓ Localization of TAZ and Runx2: In nuclei in NG | localization in nuclei in MG RWV PLGA scaffold hDPSC Rotation speed Proliferation potential \uparrow (for He et al. varied between 72 h) (2016)15-25 rpm, 3 days Regulator proteins of the G1/S phase transition p27, p21 ↓ Cdk2, cyclin A, cyclin E↑ Actin ↓ Tubulin ↓ Migration 1 Cell adhesion: ITGA6, ITGAV, ITGB1, LAMB1, TNC ↑ MMP13 ↓ RWV Type I collagen Ad-hMSC 20-30 rpm, Coculture study Weiss et al. scaffolds 21 days (mesenchymal stem cells (2017)and meniscus cells) Cartilaginous matrix formation \uparrow Chondrogenesis: $GAG\uparrow$ Aggrecan ↑ COL10A1 ↑ $COL2A1 \rightarrow$ $COL1A2 \rightarrow$ SOX-9 \rightarrow GREM1 ↓ MMP-13 ↑ RPM Culture flask hBMSC 30 min, 6 h, 24 h, Reorganization of actin Gershovich 48 h, 120 h cytoskeleton et al. (2009) Redistribution of focal adhesion sites Expression of adhesion receptors: $CD29 \rightarrow$ CD49b, CD49d ↑ CD106 | Effect of passage number to CD54 expression

Table 4 (continued)

Culture			Culture period		
method	Strategy	Cell type	in MG	Results	Reference
				CD54 ↓ at passage 7 (compared with static condition, SC) CD54 ↑ at passage 8 (compared with SC) CD54 ↓ at passage 13 (compared with SC)	
RPM	Culture flask	hBMSC	10 ⁻³ G, 30 min, 6 h, 24 h, 48 h, 120 h	$\begin{array}{l} \alpha\text{-actin}\uparrow at~48~h\\ \beta\text{-actin}\rightarrow\\ \gamma\text{-actin}\downarrow at~48~h\\ \beta\text{-tubulin}\uparrow at~48~h and~120~h\\ \text{vinculin}\downarrow at~120h\\ \text{cofilin}\uparrow at~48h\\ \text{small GTP-ase RhoA}\\ (RhoA)\uparrow at~48h\\ Rho-kinase(ROCK1)\rightarrow\\ \hline\\ Expression~of~84~genes:\\ \uparrow~in~30~genes\\ \downarrow~in~24~genes~(look\\ reference~for~detail)\\ \end{array}$	Gershovich et al. (2012)
RPM	Opticell	Ad-hMSC	10^{-4} G, 14 days	Effect of oxygen concentration in SMG (look reference for detail)	Versari et al. (2013)
RPM	Culture flask	rBMSC	30 rpm, 12, 24 and 48 h	$ \begin{array}{c} \mbox{Cell morphology:} \\ \mbox{Cell area: } 12 \ h \rightarrow, 24 \ h \downarrow, \\ \mbox{48 } h \downarrow \\ \mbox{Cell aspect ratio: } 12 \ h \rightarrow, \\ \mbox{24 } h \uparrow, 48 \ h \uparrow \\ \mbox{Cell rotation angle: } 12 \ h \rightarrow, \\ \mbox{24 } h \rightarrow, 48 \ h \rightarrow \\ \hline \mbox{Cell viability: } 12 \ h \downarrow, 24 \ h \\ \mbox{\downarrow}, 48 \ h \downarrow \\ \end{array} $	Monfaredi et al. (2017)
RPM	Culture flask	Ad-hMSC	96 h	Expression of focal adhesion genes Changed expression levels of integrins, FAK-mediated signaling, G-protein- mediated signaling, integrin-associated signaling, AKT/PI3 signaling, caveolins, and actin binding proteins	Ratushnyy and Buravkova (2017)
RPM	Culture flask	Ad-hMSC	10 ⁻⁴ G, 96 h	Angiogenesis-related gene and protein expression; Genes: BDNF, CXCL1, VEGF-c, DKK1, FGF5, GDF10, VEGF-a ↑ Proteins: Serpin E1, Serpin F1, IGFBP-3, IL-8, VEGF ↑ TIMP-1 ↓ PTX3 and TSP-1 →	Ratushnyy et al. (2018)

126

Culture method	Strategy	Cell type	Culture period in MG	Results	Reference
				Capillary-like tube formation ↑ Wound healing ↑	
RPM	Culture flask	hBMSC	0.1–10 rpm, 0 days, 2 days, 7 days, 14 days	Altered expression profiles of different genes:	Li et al. (2019)
				837 genes at day 2	
				399 genes at day 7	
				894 genes at day 14 (look reference for detail)	
RPM	Culture flask	Ad-hMSC	53–65 deg./s, 6, 24, 48, and 96 h	Cell viability \rightarrow	Ratushnyy et al. (2019)
Levitation	Glass slide	hBMSC	0 g (magnetic field intensity: 12 tesla), 6, 12, 24 and 48 h	Actin filaments and tubulin ↓ Critically cell deaths at 48 h	Shi et al. (2010)
				6 h exposure in early stages of induction: Osteogenic differentiation: ALP, Runx2 ↓ Adipogenic differentiation: PPARγ2 not detected Leptin not detected	
				Integrin, FAK → p-FAK, ERK, p-ERK ↓ 6 h exposure in late stage of induction: ALP, Runx2 → Integrin, FAK, p-FAK,	-
				ERK, p-ERK \rightarrow	
Levitation	Coverslip	hBMSC	0 g (magnetic field intensity: 12 T), 12 h	Proliferation ↓	Meng et al. (2011)
				Cell viability ↓	
				Apoptosis rate ↑	
				Caspase-3/7 activity ↑	
				p53 ↑	
Levitation	Contact-free	mBMSC	0 g (magnetic field intensity: < 1 T), 24 and 48 h	Self-assembly 3D cell culture	Anil-Inevi et al. (2018)
				Coculture of mesenchymal stem cells and cancer cells	
Levitation	Contact-free	mBMSC	0 g (magnetic field intensity: < 1 T), 10 min	Density and cell size measurement	Sarigil et al. (2019b)

 \uparrow increasing

 \downarrow decreasing

 \rightarrow no significant difference ^aThis method was mentioned as 1D clinostat in the study NG-u: ultrasound exposure under NG

investigations have been applied to overcome these limitations for more than 20 years. The existing systems are notably useful for researches at the cellular level, however, there is still a need for technological innovations and improvements to generate and monitor more complex structures with an in vivo microenvironment. These groundbased systems that are equipped with state-of-theart devices for better monitoring and testing, may expand the knowledge in the field of gravitational biology. Technical evolution of devices to simulate microgravity and testing cells for new and partially unexplored scenarios may advance our understanding on molecular mechanisms underlying the alterations in stem cells under microgravity condition and on possibilities of managing them.

References

- Abdallah BM (2017) Marrow adipocytes inhibit the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into osteoblasts via suppressing BMP-signaling. J Biomed Sci 24:11
- Anil-Inevi M, Yaman S, Yildiz AA, Mese G, Yalcin-Ozuysal O, Tekin HC, Ozcivici E (2018) Biofabrication of in situ self assembled 3D cell cultures in a weightlessness environment generated using magnetic levitation. Sci Rep 8:7239. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-018-25718-9
- Anil-Inevi M, Yalcin-Ozuysal O, Sarigil O, Mese G, Ozcivici E, Yaman S, Tekin HC (2019a) Biofabrication of cellular structures using weightlessness as a biotechnological tool. In: 2019 9th international conference on recent advances in space technologies (RAST). IEEE, pp 929–931
- Anil-Inevi M, Yilmaz E, Sarigil O, Tekin HC, Ozcivici E (2019b) Single cell densitometry and weightlessness culture of mesenchymal stem cells using magnetic levitation
- Anil-Inevi M, Sağlam-Metiner P, Kabak EC, Gulce-Iz S (2020) Development and verification of a threedimensional (3D) breast cancer tumor model composed of circulating tumor cell (CTC) subsets. Mol Biol Rep 47:97–109
- Anken R (2013) Simulation of microgravity for studies in gravitational biology: principles, devices and applications. Curr Biotechnol 2:192–200
- Arfat Y et al (2014) Physiological effects of microgravity on bone cells. Calcif Tissue Int 94:569–579
- Aubert AE, Beckers F, Verheyden B (2005) Cardiovascular function and basics of physiology in microgravity. Acta Cardiol 60:129–151

- Baskan O, Mese G, Ozcivici E (2017) Low-intensity vibrations normalize adipogenesis-induced morphological and molecular changes of adult mesenchymal stem cells. Proc Inst Mech Eng Part H J Eng Med 231:160–168
- Beaugnon E, Tournier R (1991a) Levitation of organic materials. Nature 349:470
- Beaugnon E, Tournier R (1991b) Levitation of water and organic substances in high static magnetic fields. J de Phys III 1:1423–1428
- Benavides Damm T, Walther I, Wüest SL, Sekler J, Egli M (2014) Cell cultivation under different gravitational loads using a novel random positioning incubator. Biotechnol Bioeng 111:1180–1190
- Benjamin M, Hillen B (2003) Mechanical influences on cells, tissues and organs-'Mechanical Morphogenesis'. Eur J Morphol 41:3–7
- Berry MV, Geim AK (1997) Of flying frogs and levitrons. Eur J Phys 18:307
- Blaber E, Sato K, Almeida EA (2014) Stem cell health and tissue regeneration in microgravity. Stem Cells Dev 23:73–78
- Borst A, van Loon JJ (2009) Technology and developments for the random positioning machine. RPM Microgravity Sci Technol 21:287–292
- Briegleb W (1967) A model for weightlessness-simulation using microorganisms. Die Naturwissenschaften 54:167
- Briegleb W (1992) Some qualitative and quantitative aspects of the fast-rotating clinostat as a research tool. ASGSB Bull 5:23–30
- Buravkova L (2010) Problems of the gravitational physiology of a cell. Hum Physiol 36:746–753
- Buravkova L, Rykova M, Grigorieva V, Antropova E (2004) Cell interactions in microgravity: cytotoxic effects of natural killer cells in vitro. J Gravitational Physiol 11:P177–P180
- Buravkova L, Romanov YA, Konstantinova N, Buravkov S, Gershovich YG, Grivennikov I (2008) Cultured stem cells are sensitive to gravity changes. Acta Astronautica 63:603–608
- Carisey A, Ballestrem C (2011) Vinculin, an adapter protein in control of cell adhesion signalling. Eur J Cell Biol 90:157–163
- Chatani M et al (2015) Microgravity promotes osteoclast activity in medaka fish reared at the international space station. Sci Rep 5:14172
- Chen J et al (2011) The simulated microgravity enhances the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into neurons. Neurosci Lett 505:171–175
- Chen Z, Luo Q, Lin C, Song G (2015) Simulated microgravity inhibits osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells through down regulating the transcriptional co-activator TAZ. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 468:21–26
- Chen Z, Luo Q, Lin C, Kuang D, Song G (2016) Simulated microgravity inhibits osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells via depolymerizing F-actin to impede TAZ nuclear translocation. Sci Rep 6:30322

- Chiu B, Wan JZ, Abley D, Akabutu JJA (2005) Induction of vascular endothelial phenotype and cellular proliferation from human cord blood stem cells cultured in simulated microgravity. Acta Astronautica 56:918–922
- Crucian BE, Stowe RP, Pierson DL, Sams CF (2008) Immune system dysregulation following short-vs long-duration spaceflight. Aviat Space Environ Med 79:835–843
- Dai Z-Q, Wang R, Ling S, Wan Y, Li Y (2007) Simulated microgravity inhibits the proliferation and osteogenesis of rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Prolif 40:671–684
- Dedolph R, Dipert M (1971) The physical basis of gravity stimulus nullification by clinostat rotation. Plant Physiol 47:756–764
- Delikoyun K, Cine E, Anil-Inevi M, Ozuysal M, Ozcivici E, Tekin HC (2019a) Lensless digital in-line holographic microscopy for space biotechnology applications. In: 2019 9th international conference on recent advances in space technologies (RAST). IEEE, pp 937–940
- Delikoyun K, Yaman S, Anil-Inevi M, Ozcivici E, Tekin HC (2019b) Cell separation with hybrid magnetic levitation-based lensless holographic microscopy platform. In: 2019 Medical technologies congress (TIPTEKNO). IEEE, pp 1–4
- Demiray L, Ozcivici E (2015) Bone marrow stem cells adapt to low-magnitude vibrations by altering their cytoskeleton during quiescence and osteogenesis. Turk J Biol 39:88–97
- Ding D-C, Shyu W-C, Lin S-Z (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Transplant 20:5–14
- Durmus NG et al (2015) Magnetic levitation of single cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 112:E3661–E3668
- Eiermann P, Kopp S, Hauslage J, Hemmersbach R, Gerzer R, Ivanova K (2013) Adaptation of a 2-D clinostat for simulated microgravity experiments with adherent cells. Microgr Sci Technol 25:153–159
- Fatehullah A, Tan SH, Barker N (2016) Organoids as an in vitro model of human development and disease. Nat Cell Biol 18:246–254
- Fitts RH, Riley DR, Widrick JJ (2001) Functional and structural adaptations of skeletal muscle to microgravity. J Exp Biol 204:3201–3208
- Fletcher DA, Mullins RD (2010) Cell mechanics and the cytoskeleton. Nature 463:485
- Gao H, Ayyaswamy P, Ducheyne P (1997) Dynamics of a microcarrier particle in the simulated microgravity environment of a rotating-wall vessel. Microgr Sci Technol 10:154–165
- Garrett-Bakelman FE et al (2019) The NASA twins study: a multidimensional analysis of a year-long human spaceflight. Science 364:eaau8650
- Gershovich J, Buravkova L (2007) Morphofunctional status and osteogenic differentiation potential of human mesenchymal stromal precursor cells during in vitro modeling of microgravity effects. Bull Exp Biol Med 144:608–613

- Gershovich P, Gershovich J, Buravkova L (2009) Cytoskeleton structure and adhesion properties of human stromal precursors under conditions of simulated microgravity. Cell Tissue Biol 3:423
- Gershovich P, Gershovich J, Zhambalova A, Romanov YA, Buravkova L (2012) Cytoskeletal proteins and stem cell markers gene expression in human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells after different periods of simulated microgravity. Acta Astronautica 70:36–42
- Goodwin T, Prewett T, Wolf DA, Spaulding G (1993) Reduced shear stress: a major component in the ability of mammalian tissues to form three-dimensional assemblies in simulated microgravity. J Cell Biochem 51:301–311
- Grellier M, Bareille R, Bourget C, Amédée J (2009) Responsiveness of human bone marrow stromal cells to shear stress. J Tissue Eng Regenerat Med 3:302–309
- Grimm D et al (2014) Growing tissues in real and simulated microgravity: new methods for tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 20:555–566
- Hasenstein KH, van Loon J, Beysens D (2015) Clinostats and other rotating systems—design, function, and limitations. In: Generation and applications of extraterrestrial environments on earth. River Publishers, Aalborg, p 147
- Hauslage J, Cevik V, Hemmersbach R (2017) Pyrocystis noctiluca represents an excellent bioassay for shear forces induced in ground-based microgravity simulators (clinostat and random positioning machine). NPJ Microgr 3:12
- He L et al (2016) Increased proliferation and adhesion properties of human dental pulp stem cells in PLGA scaffolds via simulated microgravity. Int Endodontic J 49:161–173
- He B, Lin Z, Tan H (2018) Telomerase activity changes during the differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells into neuron-like cells. J Biomater Tissue Eng 8:1279–1287
- Hoson T, Kamisaka S, Masuda Y, Yamashita M, Buchen B (1997) Evaluation of the three-dimensional clinostat as a simulator of weightlessness. Planta 203:S187– S197
- Huang Y, Dai Z-Q, Ling S-K, Zhang H-Y, Wan Y-M, Li Y-H (2009) Gravity, a regulation factor in the differentiation of rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. J Biomed Sci 16:87
- Hughes-Fulford M, Lewis ML (1996) Effects of microgravity on osteoblast growth activation. Exp Cell Res 224:103–109
- Hwang Y-S et al (2009) The use of murine embryonic stem cells, alginate encapsulation, and rotary microgravity bioreactor in bone tissue engineering. Biomaterials 30:499–507
- Jin F et al (2010) Establishment of three-dimensional tissue-engineered bone constructs under microgravitysimulated conditions. Artif Organs 34:118–125
- Judex S, Zhang W, Donahue LR, Ozcivici E (2013) Genetic loci that control the loss and regain of

trabecular bone during unloading and reambulation. J Bone Miner Res 28:1537–1549

- Judex S, Zhang W, Donahue LR, Ozcivici E (2016) Genetic and tissue level muscle-bone interactions during unloading and reambulation. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 16:174
- Kacena MA, Todd P, Landis WJ (2003) Osteoblasts subjected to spaceflight and simulated space shuttle launch conditions. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 39:454–459
- Kang SK, Putnam L, Dufour J, Ylostalo J, Jung JS, Bunnell BA (2004) Expression of telomerase extends the lifespan and enhances osteogenic differentiation of adipose tissue–derived stromal cells. Stem Cells 22:1356–1372
- Kaur I, Simons ER, Castro VA, Ott CM, Pierson DL (2005) Changes in monocyte functions of astronauts. Brain Behav Immun 19:547–554
- Kawahara Y, Manabe T, Matsumoto M, Kajiume T, Matsumoto M, Yuge LJPO (2009) LIF-free embryonic stem cell culture in simulated microgravity. PLoS One 4:e6343
- Klaus DM (2001) Clinostats and bioreactors gravitational and space. Biol Bull 14:55–64
- Klaus D, Todd P, Schatz A (1998) Functional weightlessness during clinorotation of cell suspensions. Adv Space Res 21:1315–1318
- Koç A, Emin N, Elçin AE, Elçin YM (2008) In vitro osteogenic differentiation of rat mesenchymal stem cells in a microgravity bioreactor. J Bioact Compat Polym 23:244–261
- Leguy CA, Delfos R, Pourquie MJ, Poelma C, Krooneman J, Westerweel J, van Loon JJ (2011) Fluid motion for microgravity simulations in a random positioning machine. Gravit Space Res:25
- Lei X-h et al (2011) NASA-approved rotary bioreactor enhances proliferation of human epidermal stem cells and supports formation of 3D epidermis-like structure. PLoS One 6:e26603
- Li M-H, Chen Y-L, Lin K-T, Hsu S-W, Chen Y-H, Lee S-Y (2015) TAZ is associated with poor osteoblast differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells under simulated microgravity. J Med Sci 35:230
- Li L, Zhang C, Chen JL, Hong FF, Chen P, Wang JF (2019) Effects of simulated microgravity on the expression profiles of RNA during osteogenic differentiation of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Prolif 52:e12539
- Liu Y, Liu T, Fan X, Ma X, Cui Z (2006) Ex vivo expansion of hematopoietic stem cells derived from umbilical cord blood in rotating wall vessel. J Biotechnol 124:592–601
- Luo W, Xiong W, Qiu M, Lv Y, Li Y, Li F (2011) Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells towards a nucleus pulposus-like phenotype utilizing simulated microgravity in vitro. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technol [Med Sci] 31:199
- Majumder S et al (2011) Simulated microgravity promoted differentiation of bipotential murine oval liver stem

cells by modulating BMP4/Notch1 signaling. J Cell Biochem 112:1898–1908

- Mao X, Chen Z, Luo Q, Zhang B, Song G (2016) Simulated microgravity inhibits the migration of mesenchymal stem cells by remodeling actin cytoskeleton and increasing cell stiffness. Cytotechnology 68:2235–2243
- Mattei C, Alshawaf A, D'Abaco G, Nayagam B, Dottori M (2018) Generation of neural organoids from human embryonic stem cells using the rotary cell culture system: effects of microgravity on neural progenitor cell fate. Stem Cells Dev 27:848–857
- Mayer-Wagner S et al (2014) Simulated microgravity affects chondrogenesis and hypertrophy of human mesenchymal stem cells. Int Orthop 38:2615–2621
- McAuliffe C et al (1999) The effects of simulated microgravity on engraftable hematopoietic stem cells. In: 37th aerospace sciences meeting and exhibit, p 960
- Meng R, Xu H-Y, Di S-M, Shi D-Y, Qian A-R, Wang J-F, Shang P (2011) Human mesenchymal stem cells are sensitive to abnormal gravity and exhibit classic apoptotic features. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin 43:133–142
- Merzlikina N, Buravkova L, Romanov Y (2004) The primary effects of clinorotation on cultured human mesenchymal stem cells. J Gravit Physiol 11:P193– P194
- Meyers VE, Zayzafoon M, Gonda SR, Gathings WE, McDonald JM (2004) Modeled microgravity disrupts collagen I/integrin signaling during osteoblastic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. J Cell Biochem 93:697–707
- Meyers VE, Zayzafoon M, Douglas JT, McDonald JM (2005) RhoA and cytoskeletal disruption mediate reduced osteoblastogenesis and enhanced adipogenesis of human mesenchymal stem cells in modeled microgravity. J Bone Miner Res 20:1858–1866
- Mills PJ, Meck JV, Waters WW, D'Aunno D, Ziegler MG (2001) Peripheral leukocyte subpopulations and catecholamine levels in astronauts as a function of mission duration. Psychosom Med 63:886–890
- Mirica KA, Shevkoplyas SS, Phillips ST, Gupta M, Whitesides GM (2009) Measuring densities of solids and liquids using magnetic levitation: fundamentals. J Am Chem Soc 131:10049–10058
- Mitsuhara T et al (2013) Simulated microgravity facilitates cell migration and neuroprotection after bone marrow stromal cell transplantation in spinal cord injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 4:35
- Monfaredi S, Darabi S, Ahadi R, Rajaei F (2017) Investigating morphologic changes and viability of rats' bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in microgravity. Anat Sci J 14:99–106
- Morey-Holton ER, Globus RK (2002) Hindlimb unloading rodent model: technical aspects. J Appl Physiol 92:1367–1377
- Muruganandan S, Roman A, Sinal C (2009) Adipocyte differentiation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells: cross talk with the osteoblastogenic program. Cell Mol Life Sci 66:236–253

- Nabavi N, Khandani A, Camirand A, Harrison RE (2011) Effects of microgravity on osteoclast bone resorption and osteoblast cytoskeletal organization and adhesion. Bone 49:965–974
- Nishikawa M, Ohgushi H, Tamai N, Osuga K, Uemura M, Yoshikawa H, Myoui A (2005) The effect of simulated microgravity by three-dimensional clinostat on bone tissue engineering. Cell Transplant 14:829–835
- Okita K, Ichisaka T, Yamanaka S (2007) Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 448:313
- Otsuka T et al (2018) Simulated microgravity culture enhances the neuroprotective effects of human cranial bone-derived mesenchymal stem cells in traumatic brain injury. Stem Cells Dev 27:1287–1297
- Ozcivici E, Judex S (2014) Trabecular bone recovers from mechanical unloading primarily by restoring its mechanical function rather than its morphology. Bone 67:122–129
- Ozcivici E, Garman R, Judex S (2007) High-frequency oscillatory motions enhance the simulated mechanical properties of non-weight bearing trabecular bone. J Biomech 40:3404–3411
- Ozcivici E, Luu YK, Adler B, Qin Y-X, Rubin J, Judex S, Rubin CT (2010a) Mechanical signals as anabolic agents in bone. Nat Rev Rheumatol 6:50–59
- Ozcivici E, Luu YK, Rubin CT, Judex S (2010b) Low-level vibrations retain bone marrow's osteogenic potential and augment recovery of trabecular bone during reambulation. PloS One 5:e11178
- Ozcivici E, Zhang W, Donahue LR, Judex S (2014) Bone 64:25–32
- Pittenger MF et al (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284:143–147
- Plett PA, Frankovitz SM, Abonour R, Orschell-Traycoff CM (2001) Proliferation of human hematopoietic bone marrow cells in simulated microgravity. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 37:73–78
- Plett PA, Abonour R, Frankovitz SM, Orschell CMJE (2004) Impact of modeled microgravity on migration, differentiation, and cell cycle control of primitive human hematopoietic progenitor cells. Exp Hematol 32:773–781
- Qian A, Yin D, Yang P, Jia B, Zhang W, Shang P (2009) Development of a ground-based simulated experimental platform for gravitational biology. IEEE Trans Appl Superconduct 19:42–46
- Ratushnyy AY, Buravkova L (2017) Expression of focal adhesion genes in mesenchymal stem cells under simulated microgravity. In: Doklady biochemistry and biophysics, vol 1. Springer, pp 354–356
- Ratushnyy A, Ezdakova M, Yakubets D, Buravkova L (2018) Angiogenic activity of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells under simulated microgravity. Stem Cells Dev 27:831–837
- Ratushnyy A, Yakubets D, Andreeva E, Buravkova L (2019) Simulated microgravity modulates the mesenchymal stromal cell response to inflammatory stimulation. Sci Rep 9:9279

- Roobrouck VD, Ulloa-Montoya F, Verfaillie CM (2008) Self-renewal and differentiation capacity of young and aged stem cells. Exp Cell Res 314:1937–1944
- Sandonà D et al (2012) Adaptation of mouse skeletal muscle to long-term microgravity in the MDS mission. PloS One 7:e33232
- Sarigil O, Anil-Inevi M, Yilmaz E, Cagan M, Mese G, Tekin HC, Ozcivici E (2019a) Application of magnetic levitation induced weightlessness to detect cell lineage. In: 2019 9th international conference on recent advances in space technologies (RAST). IEEE, pp 933–935
- Sarigil O, Anil-Inevi M, Yilmaz E, Mese G, Tekin HC, Ozcivici E (2019b) Label-free density-based detection of adipocytes of bone marrow origin using magnetic levitation. Analyst 144:2942–2953
- Schenck JF (1992) Health and physiological effects of human exposure to whole-body four-tesla magnetic fields during MRI. Ann N Y Acad Sci 649:285–301
- Schwarz RP, Goodwin TJ, Wolf DA (1992) Cell culture for three-dimensional modeling in rotating-wall vessels: an application of simulated microgravity. J Tissue Cult Methods 14:51–57
- Shang P et al (2013) Bone cells under microgravity. J Mech Med Biol 13:1340006
- Sheyn D, Pelled G, Netanely D, Domany E, Gazit D (2010) The effect of simulated microgravity on human mesenchymal stem cells cultured in an osteogenic differentiation system: a bioinformatics study. Tissue Eng Part A 16:3403–3412
- Shi D et al (2010) Effects of microgravity modeled by large gradient high magnetic field on the osteogenic initiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Rev Rep 6:567–578
- Shinde V et al (2016) Simulated microgravity modulates differentiation processes of embryonic stem cells. Cell Physiol Biochem 38:1483–1499
- Sun L, Gan B, Fan Y, Xie T, Hu Q, Zhuang F (2008) Simulated microgravity alters multipotential differentiation of rat mesenchymal stem cells in association with reduced telomerase activity. Acta Astronautica 63:968–973
- Tamma R et al (2009) Microgravity during spaceflight directly affects in vitro osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption. FASEB J 23:2549–2554
- Tasoglu S, Khoory JA, Tekin HC, Thomas C, Karnoub AE, Ghiran IC, Demirci U (2015) Levitational image cytometry with temporal resolution. Adv Mater 27:3901–3908
- Touchstone H et al (2019) Recovery of stem cell proliferation by low intensity vibration under simulated microgravity requires LINC complex. NPJ Microgr 5:1–9
- Uddin SM, Qin Y-X (2013) Enhancement of osteogenic differentiation and proliferation in human mesenchymal stem cells by a modified low intensity ultrasound stimulation under simulated microgravity. PloS One 8: e73914
- Uddin SM, Hadjiargyrou M, Cheng J, Zhang S, Hu M, Qin Y-X (2013) Reversal of the detrimental effects of

simulated microgravity on human osteoblasts by modified low intensity pulsed ultrasound. Ultrasound Med Biol 39:804–812

- van Loon JJ (2007) Some history and use of the random positioning machine, RPM, in gravity related research. Adv Space Res 39:1161–1165
- Versari S, Klein-Nulend J, van Loon J, Bradamante S (2013) Influence of oxygen in the cultivation of human mesenchymal stem cells in simulated microgravity: an explorative study. Microgr Sci Technol 25:59–66
- Vico L, Collet P, Guignandon A, Lafage-Proust M-H, Thomas T, Rehailia M, Alexandre C (2000) Effects of long-term microgravity exposure on cancellous and cortical weight-bearing bones of cosmonauts. Lancet 355:1607–1611
- Wagner EB, Granzella NP, Saito H, Newman DJ, Young LR, Bouxsein ML (2010) Partial weight suspension: a novel murine model for investigating adaptation to reduced musculoskeletal loading. J Appl Physiol 109:350–357
- Wang Y, An L, Jiang Y, Hang H (2011) Effects of simulated microgravity on embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 6:e29214
- Wang Y et al (2012) Rotating microgravity-bioreactor cultivation enhances the hepatic differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells on biodegradable polymer scaffolds. Tissue Eng A 18:2376–2385
- Wang N et al (2014) The simulated microgravity enhances multipotential differentiation capacity of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Cytotechnology 66:119–131
- Wang P, Tian H, Zhang J, Qian J, Li L, Shi L, Zhao Y (2019) Spaceflight/microgravity inhibits the proliferation of hematopoietic stem cells by decreasing Kit-Ras/ cAMP-CREB pathway networks as evidenced by RNA-Seq assays. FASEB J 33:5903–5913
- Weiss WM, Mulet-Sierra A, Kunze M, Jomha NM, Adesida AB (2017) Coculture of meniscus cells and mesenchymal stem cells in simulated microgravity. NPJ Microgr 3:28
- Wu X, Li S-H, Lou L-M, Chen Z-R (2013) The effect of the microgravity rotating culture system on the chondrogenic differentiation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Mol Biotechnol 54:331–336
- Wuest SL, Richard S, Walther I, Furrer R, Anderegg R, Sekler J, Egli M (2014) A novel microgravity simulator applicable for three-dimensional cell culturing. Microgr Sci Technol 26:77–88
- Wuest SL, Richard S, Kopp S, Grimm D, Egli M (2015, 2015) Simulated microgravity: critical review on the use of random positioning machines for mammalian cell culture. BioMed Res Int
- Xue L, Li Y, Chen J (2017) Duration of simulated microgravity affects the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Mol Med Rep 15:3011–3018

- Yaman S, Anil-Inevi M, Ozcivici E, Tekin HC (2018) Magnetic force-based microfluidic techniques for cellular and tissue bioengineering. Front Bioeng Biotechnol:6
- Yan M et al (2015) The effects and mechanisms of clinorotation on proliferation and differentiation in bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 460:327–332
- Yeatts AB, Fisher JP (2011) Bone tissue engineering bioreactors: dynamic culture and the influence of shear stress. Bone 48:171–181
- Yildiz-Ozturk E, Gulce-Iz S, Anil M, Yesil-Celiktas O (2017) Cytotoxic responses of carnosic acid and doxorubicin on breast cancer cells in butterfly-shaped microchips in comparison to 2D and 3D culture. Cytotechnology 69:337–347
- Yu J et al (2007) Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 318:1917–1920
- Yu B et al (2011) Simulated microgravity using a rotary cell culture system promotes chondrogenesis of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells via the p38 MAPK pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 414:412–418
- Yuge L et al (2006) Microgravity potentiates stem cell proliferation while sustaining the capability of differentiation. Stem Cells Dev 15:921–929
- Yuge L et al (2010) Simulated microgravity maintains the undifferentiated state and enhances the neural repair potential of bone marrow stromal cells. Stem Cells Dev 20:893–900
- Zayzafoon M, Gathings WE, McDonald JM (2004) Modeled microgravity inhibits osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells and increases adipogenesis. Endocrinology 145:2421–2432
- Zhang X et al (2013) Model microgravity enhances endothelium differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Naturwissenschaften 100:125–133
- Zhang X, Li L, Bai Y, Shi R, Wei H, Zhang SJA (2014) Mouse undifferentiated spermatogonial stem cells cultured as aggregates under simulated microgravity. Andrologia 46:1013–1021
- Zhang S et al (2017) Osteoclast regulation of osteoblasts via RANK-RANKL reverse signal transduction in vitro. Mol Med Rep 16:3994–4000
- Zhao W, Cheng R, Miller JR, Mao L (2016) Label-free microfluidic manipulation of particles and cells in magnetic liquids. Adv Funct Mater 26:3916–3932
- Zheng Q et al (2007) Could the effect of modeled microgravity on osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells be reversed by regulation of signaling pathways? Biol Chem 388:755–763



Smart Polymeric Systems: A Biomedical Viewpoint

Afsaneh Adibfar, Samaneh Hosseini, and Mohamadreza Baghaban Eslaminejad

Abstract

Stimuli-responsive polymers (SRPs) are a recent innovative approach that has numerous biomedical applications. These smart polymers can be used in various industrial and medical areas. Smart polymeric hydrogels are a new class of biomedical materials that have attracted much attention in recent years. These hydrogels change their properties in response to alterations in the chemical, physical, or biochemical properties of their environment, and can be used for many biomedical applications. In this review, we discuss these novel materials with a focus on temperatureresponsive polymers as the most applicable type of SRPs. Different types of these polymeric systems and their thermodynamics, as well as challenges for their clinical translation, their combination with other biosystems such

as liposomes, and their applications are presented.

Keywords

Smart polymers · Stimuli-responsive polymers · Temperature-responsive polymers

Abbreviations

APS	Ammonium persulfate		
PDEAAM	Poly(N,N-diethylacrylamide)		
PDMAEMA	Poly(N,N-dimethylaminoethyl		
	methacrylate)		
PLGA	Poly(lactide-co-Glycolide) acid		
PNIPAM	Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide)		
PNIPMAM	Poly		
	(N-isopropylmethacrylamide)		
PNVIBA	Poly(vinylisobutyroamide)		
PVCL	Poly(vinylcaprolactam)		

1 Introduction

In recent years, there has been an increasing interest in stimuli-responsive (synthetic) polymers (SRPs) as a new class of biomaterials. These "stimuli-sensitive", "environmentally sensitive", "intelligent" or "smart" polymeric systems exhibit dramatic changes in their physical properties in response to small alterations in the

A. Adibfar and M. Baghaban Eslaminejad (🖂) Department of Stem Cells and Developmental Biology, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, 1665659911, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: eslami@royaninstitute.org

S. Hosseini (🖂)

Department of Stem Cells and Developmental Biology, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, 1665659911, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Department of Cell Engineering, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, 1665659911, ACECR, Tehran, Iran e-mail: hosseini.samaneh@royaninstitute.org

chemical, physical, or biochemical properties of their environment.

SRPs are generally categorized into three classes (physical, chemical or biomedical) based on the environmental stimuli. SRPs may also simultaneously respond to more than one special stimulus. Chemical and biomedical stimuli could influence the interaction between polymer chains as well as the interaction between polymer chains and solvent molecules. Similarly, physical stimuli impact molecular interactions and phase transitions of these systems (Kuckling et al. 2012). Each class of SRPs has different geometries and dimensions that include thin films, bulk materials, microgels, nanogels, and particles. Various structures and dimensions affect smart polymer properties (Kuckling et al. 2012). The applications of smart systems depend on the synthesis process, type of stimuli, structure, and architecture. These materials have been used as sensors, microfluidics elements, and semiconductors. Smart polymeric particles are a type of hydrogel that are potentially suitable candidates for biomedical applications. Drug delivery systems, biosensors, and smart scaffolds for tissue engineering, including cell sheet engineering, biomimetic devices, regenerative medicine and biomaterials for tissue engineering are examples of biomedical applications for SRPs. Nanotechnology has also assisted these novel systems and provides many other new applications and technological choices. Here, we review the basic aspects of SRPs and subsequently describe temperature-responsive polymer systems and their hybrid systems. We also discuss the biomedical applications and major barriers to future clinical use of these materials.

1.1 Physical Stimuli

Physical stimuli include temperature, ionic strength, solvent type, electromagnetic radiation (UV and light), magnetic and electric fields, sonic radiation, and mechanical deformations such as stress and strain (Roy et al. 2010). Temperature, light, and electric field alter the structural properties of polymeric systems (Cabane et al.

2012). Although physical stimuli are highly controllable and widely used in research, biological considerations limit their applications (Cabane et al. 2012). For example, the wavelength of the laser to stimulate photo-responsive polymers should be tuned to the near-infrared part of the electromagnetic spectrum rather than visible light to minimize the possibility of destruction and penetrate the deeper tissue layers. Electric fieldresponsive polymers can be obtained from a combination of liquid crystalline materials and electrically responsive polymers, which are conducting materials (Kuckling et al. 2012). Magnetic fields and ultrasound are suitable for the systems that are entrapped or encapsulated in a polymer (Cabane et al. 2012).

Shape memory, electroactive and color changing polymers, as well as some microgels are examples of physical stimuli-responsive systems. Flexible injection needles, drug delivery systems, new sensors and actuators, artificial muscles, elements of microfluidic devices, and micro-lens technology are examples of biomedical applications physical stimuli-responsive of systems. Physical-responsive polymers include poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAM) (Cheng et al. 2016; Hathaway et al. 2015), poly (N-isopropylmethacrylamide) (PNIPMAM) (Wei et al. 2017), poly(N,N-dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate) (PDMAEMA), poly(acrylic acid) (Zhao et al. 2011a), (PAAC) poly (N-(2-hydroxypropyl)-methacrylamide-lactate) (PHPMAm) (Korth et al. 2006; Ruiz-Hernandez et al. 2014), polythiophene (PT) (Valderrama-Garcia et al. 2016), and sulfonated-polystyrene (PSS) (Al-Sabagh et al. 2018). Antigenresponsive polymers have been developed based on physical stimuli. Different noncovalent interactions (electrostatic and hydrophobic), van der Waals forces, and hydrogen bonding (Roy et al. 2010) are factors that bind antigens and antibodies together. Among these novel stimuliresponsive smart hydrogels, temperatureresponsive polymers have attracted considerable attention in nanobioechnology researches because variations in temperature are relatively easy to record and control both in vitro and in vivo (Hoffman 2013). These types of smart hydrogels will be discussed in greater detail in the following sections.

1.2 Chemical Stimuli

Chemical stimuli such as pH, specific ions and chemical agents impact molecular interactions between solvents and polymers (Liu and Urban 2010). pH, an important chemical stimuli, is one of the fundamental parameters for biomedical applications that can be used for a specific tissue or in a cellular compartment to achieve a direct response. Attachment of specific ions, acidic or basic moieties to the backbone of a polymer is the main factor for pH responsive polymers. Indeed, pH-responsive mechanisms could be protonated or deprotonated by distribution of the charge over ionizable groups (carboxyl or amine) of the molecule (Cabane et al. 2012). These interactions, in turn, may alter the molecular structures of the chemical stimuli systems.

Dimensional changes, mobility and spatial limitations differ at the surfaces and boundaries of these polymeric hydrogels, which cause restricted mobility inside the network. Therefore, the type of polymer/copolymer chains and chemical-responsive polymer formulations determine how polymers respond to external or internal chemical stimuli. Greater challenges occur when mechanical integrity is needed for chemically cross-linked gels or solid polymeric networks. In order to obtain chemical-responsive polymeric systems for a certain application, it is essential to provide criteria such as designing a network that contains appropriate molecules (Liu and Urban 2010). Several chemical-stimuli responsive polymeric systems that have been used for biomedical applications include PAAC (Xiong et al. 2011), poly(methacrylic acid-g-ethylene glycol) (PMAA-g-EG) (Ye et al. 2006), poly(ethyleneimine) (PEI) (Inoue and Anzai 2005), albumin (Wang et al. 2017), chitosan (Fathi et al. 2017), and gelatin (Klotz et al. 2016). In most chemical-responsive polymeric systems, chemical stimuli are restricted to the creation or destruction of different non-covalent interactions such as hydrogen bonding,

hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions, and binding of moieties and chemical groups to the polymer backbone such as osmotic pressure and acid-base reactions. However, in some other systems, more severe changes in the polymer structure such as pendant cross-linking groups and reversible/irreversible bonding with the polymeric backbone can be observed.

Other examples for chemical stimuli responsive systems are the chemical conjugation of the antibody/antigen to a polymeric system or the use of antigen-antibody couples as reversible crosslinkers inside a hydrogel network (Roy et al. 2010).

1.3 Biomedical Stimuli

Biological-dependent stimuli typically include biochemical agents such as analytes and biomacromolecules, affinity ligands, glucose, glutathione, enzyme, receptors, antigens, and redox/thiol groups (Roy et al. 2010; Takashi et al. 2002). Similar to chemical stimuli, biomedical stimuli alter the interaction between polymer chains and solvent molecules or polymer chains (Kuckling et al. 2012). These interactions commonly occur between nucleic acids, proteins or polypeptides chains, their surroundings, or polymer chains (Roy et al. 2010).

Biomacromolecules respond to the presence of specific biochemical agents by changing their molecular structures or their degree of self-assembly (Roy et al. 2010). However, this mechanism may not precisely work in the presence of multiple common functional groups or under *in vivo* situations because of the presence of unwanted reactions *in vivo*, which makes the control of these reactions challenging. Therefore, functional biomedical-responsive polymers have been studied in an attempt to reduce unwanted biomedical reactions (Theato 2008).

The strategies for synthesis of biomedicalresponsive polymers such as glucose-sensitive hydrogels, enzymatically degradable hydrogels, and antigen-sensitive hydrogels should be investigated with respect to the applications and types of these materials (Takashi et al. 2002). Polymers responsive to glucose, enzymes, and inflammation are examples of biologicaldependent stimuli systems (Cabane et al. 2012). Engineered glucose sensitive polymers have attracted significant attention due to their applications for diabetic patients (Roy et al. 2010).

Glucose-sensitive polymeric systems are beneficial for the development of self-regulated insulin systems. These systems have the ability to sense and convert analytes into a physical/chemical change (Zhang et al. 2019; Rege et al. 2017).

Different types of glucose-sensitive polymeric systems use various sensing mechanisms. For instance, glucose-responsive systems that are based on glucose-glucose oxidase (GOx) rely on the GOx-catalyzed reaction of glucose with oxygen whereas glucose-responsive systems that are based on concanavalin A (ConA) exploit the competitive binding of glucose with glycopolymer-lectin complexes (Roy et al. 2010). The former systems are not based on direct interaction between glucose and the smart polymer. In these systems, the byproducts produced by enzymatic oxidation of glucose (gluconic acid and H_2O_2) could lead to the polymer's response. This enzymatic reaction (the action of GOx on the glucose molecule) is extremely specific; consequently, incorporation of a proper smart polymer that can respond to these small molecules within several unwanted reactions can indirectly lead to a glucose-responsive system.

Various biomedical-responsive systems such as GOx-conjugated PAAC (Chu 2011), PAAC and PAAC-grafted polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) (Chu et al. 2004), GOx conjugated chitosan (Qiu and Park 2001), DEXS/chitosan (Cabane et al. 2012), and PMAA-graft-EG (Huang et al. 2008) have been proposed.

2 Temperature-Responsive Polymers

Among the physical stimuli-responsive polymeric systems, temperature-responsive polymers have attracted considerable attention because temperature is relatively easier to recognize and control both in vitro and in vivo (Kuckling et al. 2012). Their mechanisms of action are explained by two behaviors, lower critical solution temperature (LCST) and upper critical solution temperature (UCST) (Milichovsky 2010). These materials have two stable thermodynamic states and a transition temperature, which is called the critical temperature (T_{cr}) or temperature of volume phase transition (TVPT). This reversible phase transition is based on several different intermolecular forces such as van der Waals and hydrophobic interactions as well as hydrogen bonding (Schmaljohann 2006).

Below the LCST. hydrogen-bonding interactions are dominant and polymeric chains are hydrophilic. Above the LCST, hydrophobic interactions are dominant and a reversible transition occurs from the coil to the globule (soluble chains to an insoluble state). Otherwise, systems which become soluble by increases in temperature show UCST behavior (Milichovsky 2010). Although certain types of polymeric systems show both LCST and UCST behaviors, they are not generally used for biomedical applications. LCST, or the solubility of a polymeric system in an aqueous solution, depends on the temperature, molecular weight, concentration of the co-solvent or co-polymer, surfactants, salts, and additives (Schmaljohann 2006). However, for certain polymer chains, the coil to globule transitions can be thermodynamically controlled by regulating polymer formulation or the process parameters. In recent years, synthesis, characterization and thermodynamics of many temperature-responsive polymers have been reported (Škvarla et al. 2014). We intend to discuss some aspects of temperature-responsive polymers in detail.

2.1 Thermodynamics

Thus far, most temperature-responsive polymers have shown LCST behavior (Milichovsky 2010). As mentioned earlier, structural changes in polymeric systems cause the polymer response. Hence, some physico-chemical requirements such as appropriate spatial and energetic system properties are essential and should be precisely investigated and designed to obtain proper responses to both external and internal stimuli. Maintaining the mechanical integrity in the presence of chemically/physically cross-linked gels and degree of restrictions on the mobility of polymeric chains are other crucial parameters. Characteristics such as surface chemistry of polymeric gels as well as solid networks considerably differ for various stimuli-responsive polymeric systems (Liu and Urban 2010).

Liu et al. (Liu and Urban 2010) reported a relationship between equilibrium energy, the corresponding stimuli energy input, and physical/chemical responses for different states of temperature-responsive systems, including solutions, surfaces and interfaces, as well as gels and solids. Figure 1 shows a schematic of the mechanism of action and the equilibrium energy for stimuli-responsive polymeric solutions. According to the literature, stimuli-responsive transition in solutions has two energy minima. A certain amount of energy (ΔE_{SR}) is essential for transition from a stable state, A, to B. For the temperature-sensitive polymer with LCST behavior, the corresponding energy (ΔE_{SR}) of this endothermic peak is provided by increasing the temperature from an ambient temperature to above the LCST.

Below LCST, *delta Gibbs free energy is negative and* hydrogen-bonding interactions between the polymer chains and solvent molecules cause the formation of a homogenous mixing phase. Above LCST, enthalpic energy (Δ H) overcomes the entropy (Δ S), which results in unfavorable *Gibbs* free energy of the entire system (Δ G > 0) and a phase separation occurs (Maeda 1966). The particle or aggregate size decreases during the hydrophilic coil to hydrophobic globule transition (Makhaeva et al. 2002).

Hydrophilic domains, along with more polar or ionic co-monomers and additional attractive polymer-water interactions, could increase LCST, whereas the presence of hydrophobic domains, less polar or hydrophobic monomers and more polymer-polymer interactions, could decrease LCST (Joshi et al. 2013). The structural changes in hydration layers (SCHL) theory was proposed to explain the hydration bonding concept and interaction mechanism in these hydrated systems. The SCHL theory is based on dipole orientation of water molecules. Two possible basic orientations around the hydrophilic sub-microdomains are assumed - orientation with the hydrogen or oxygen atoms of water molecules to the sub-microdomain with proton acceptor or proton donor activities, respectively. In terms of the water molecules' orientations, an intermolecular field is formed among hydrogen bonds that dissipates within the bulk system and reaches zero. This effect leads to the force action between domains of phase interfaces. If the orientations of the water molecules equal each of the interacting domains, repulsive hydration forces are formed, and hydration de-bonding is



Fig. 1 Schematic of the mechanism of action for temperature-responsive polymer with LCST behavior (**a**) and equilibrium energy for a stimuli-responsive polymer and its physical/chemical response in polymeric solutions (**b**)

overcome. However, for the opposite orientation, attractive forces are formed, and the hydration bonding system dominates.

According to this theory, hydrogen donor groups and molecules (secondary and primary amino amphoteric and groups), groups, molecules (partially primary amino groups) as well as H-acceptor groups (tertiary amino groups) can form hydrogen bonds with water molecules. Under the same conditions, repulsive forces are effective over a greater distance, whereas attractive forces overcome at short distances (approximately smaller than 4 nm). These attractive forces are stronger than repulsive forces at the shortest distances (Milichovsky 2010).

2.2 Lower Critical Solution Temperature (LCST)-Based Polymers

Until temperature-sensitive now, different polymers have been used for biomedical applications, each of which has its own advantages and disadvantages. For certain biomedical applications, we need to develop specific chemical functionalities or copolymers. Numerous researchers have investigated synthesis processes and thermodynamics of smart systems (Clark and Lipson 2012). The rate of reversible LCST transition, as a switching mechanism, is important to prepare these smart systems. This is particularly important for smart drug delivery purposes as the rate of this transition can alter the drug release kinetics and impact its biological effects.

Poly(N-alkyl substituted acrylamides) and poly(N-vinylalkylamides) are the main classes of temperature-sensitive polymers under consideration since their LCST values approximate the temperature of the human *body*. A number of polymers have different transition temperatures. For example, the LCST of poly(N-vinyl piperidine) is in the range of 4–5 °C (Chan et al. 2013).

Numerous attempts have been made to use temperature-sensitive polymer systems for drug delivery. The entrapment and release of drugs and biological molecules such as proteins, growth factors, and enzymes in smart hydrogels, especially thermo-responsive polymers, could be of interest for various drug delivery and biotechnological applications. For instance, thermoresponsive polymers that contain a certain drug could be injected or given orally and due to local conditions (pH and temperature values) could release the drug according to its own release profile (Milasinovic et al. 2010). A comprehensive review on responsive hydrogels for controlled drug delivery applications is given elsewhere (Naddaf et al. 2010).

Doxorubicin delivery by different formulations of temperature-sensitive polymeric systems has been reported for cancer therapy. Doxorubicin can covalently couple to the hydrophobic core of temperature-sensitive polymers. Since the necrotic areas of tumor lesions have temperatures above 37 °C, smart polymers that use different types of copolymers that have an LCST of around 40-42 °C have been successfully synthesized and include polyethylene glycol (PEG)-b-polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA), P (NIPAM)-b-PAAC, P(NIPAM)-co-acrylic acid (AA)-co-HEMA)-g-Polycaprolactone (PCL),poly(ethylene glycol)-b-poly [N-(2-hydroxypropyl)-methacrylamide-lactate], and poly(N-vinyl piperidine) (Ruiz-Hernandez et al. 2014). Table 1 shows the most important SRPs in biomedicine.

2.2.1 Poly(N-Isopropylmethacrylamide) (PNIPMAM)

PNIPMAM can be obtained through radical precipitation copolymerization or emulsion polymerization of N-isopropylmethacrylamide and N-(3-aminopropyl) methacrylamide hydrochloride (APMH). PNIPMAM hydrogels that contain high primary amine concentrations can be generated by optimizing salinity of the reaction or using ammonium persulfate (APS) as an anionic initiator. PNIPMAM is used in drug delivery, biosensors, tissue regeneration, and chemical separations (Hu et al. 2010).

2.2.2 Poly(N-Ethyl-N-Methylacrylamide)

Poly(N-ethyl-N-methylacrylamide) is another polymer with an LCST around 56 °C (Kuckling

No.	Polymer	Stimuli	References
1	Poly(N-isopropylmethacrylamide) (PNIPMAM)	Temperature	Hu et al. (2010)
2	Poly(N-ethyl-N-methylacrylamide)	Temperature	Hazot et al. (2002), Kuckling et al. (2012)
3	Poly (N,N-diethylacrylamide) (PDEAAM)	Glucose	Scherzinger et al. (2010, Reinelt et al. (2014)
4	Poly(N,N-dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate) (PDMAEMA)	Temperature	Traitel et al. (2000)
5	Poly(vinylcaprolactam) (PVCL)	Temperature	Rao et al. (2016), Pich et al. (2006)
6	Poly (vinylisobutyroamide)	Temperature	Yamamoto et al. (2003)
7	Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAM)	Temperature pH	Joshi et al. (2013), Naddaf et al. (2010), Trongsatitkul and Budhlall (2013)

 Table 1
 Some important stimuli-responsive polymers (SRPs)

et al. 2012). These particles are synthesized through the polymerization of N-ethyl methacrylamide. Ethylene glycol dimethacrylate and potassium persulfate have been used as hydrophobic cross-linkers and an initiator of this stable and monosized thermally sensitive hydrophilic microgel, respectively. The mentioned polymerization reaction was performed at a high temperature, and it has been reported that the yield of reaction for synthesis could be controlled by the type and concentration of the cross-linker (Hazot et al. 2002).

2.2.3 Poly(N,N-Diethylacrylamide) (PDEAAM)

The LCST of poly(N,N-diethylacrylamide) (PDEAAM) is around 32 °C (Kuckling et al. 2012) and it can be applied to control synthesis. It is used as a block copolymer (Scherzinger et al. 2010). Copolymers and block copolymers are usually used to design and synthesize new polymeric systems that have necessary and novel properties. Various amounts of the different copolymers can be used in polymer formulation to obtain a temperature-responsive polymer with a certain LCST.

In the case of PDEAAM, functional hydrophobic end-groups are achieved using thiolfunctionalized 4-alkylphenols. Various cloud point values or LSCT could be also obtained based on the degree of polymerization and concentration of the methylated β -cyclodextrin (RAMEB-CD) (Reinelt et al. 2014).

2.2.4 Poly(N,N-Dimethylaminoethyl Methacrylate) (PDMAEMA)

The LCST of PDMAEMA is approximately 50 °C and it can simultaneously respond to pH and temperature. PDMAEMA has shorter hydrophobic alkyl chains compared to poly(N, N-diethyl aminoethyl methacrylate) (PDEAEMA) and at high pH values it shows stronger hydrophobic interactions and forms a hyper-coiled conformation (Kuckling et al. 2012).

Traitel et al. synthesized a glucose-responsive insulin-controlled release system based on the poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate-co-*N*,*N*dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate) (HEMA-co-DMAEMA) hydrogel. The morphology of this polymer was modified by changing the crosslinking agent along with GOx and catalase, as well as insulin. They observed that these hydrogels were stable in water without a crosslinking agent. The sensitivity of this system to pH and glucose was higher than the chemically crosslinked hydrogels (Traitel et al. 2000).

2.2.5 Poly(Vinylcaprolactam) (PVCL)

The PVCL microgel has a LCST in the range of 32–34 °C and it exhibits temperature and pH-sensitive properties. Increasing the amount of vinylimidazole (VIm) as a functional group in the PVCL hydrogel structure results in an increased degree of swelling of the hydrogel under acidic conditions, and the volume phase transition temperature shifts to higher temperatures. The sedimentation behavior of

microgels are pH dependent, which makes this system suitable for controlled particle separation (Pich et al. 2006). PNVCL is an important temperature-sensitive polymer and is similar to PIPA. Advantages of PNVCL compared to PNIPAM include rapid coil to global transition. Moreover, PNVCL is both temperature and pH sensitive and can be used for various biomedical applications (Rao et al. 2016).

2.2.6 Poly(Vinylisobutyroamide) (PNVIBA)

Poly(vinylisobutyroamide) (PNVIBA) is similar to PNIPAM in terms of chemical composition, but the presence of the reversed amide linkage results in a higher LCST (up to 39 °C). Hydrolyzed copolymers that contain N-vinylformamide (NVF) and N-vinylisobutyroamide (NVIBA) exhibit dual temperature and pH responsiveness. The LCST of this system increases with the hydrophilic component of NVF in the copolymer structure. Poly Vinylamine-co-NVIBA) could be obtained by selective hydrolysis of the NVF units in poly (NVF-co-NVIBA) As mentioned before, various cloud point values or LSCT could be obtained with respect to the degree of polymerization and the presence of NVF and NVIBA (Yamamoto et al. 2003).

2.2.7 Poly(N-Isopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAM)

PNIPAM is the most important thermally responsive polymer. There have been numerous studies that used this smart polymer for biomedical applications (Chan et al. 2013). PNIPAM exhibits LCST behavior and has a sharp transition around physiological temperature (Adibfar et al. 2018). This reversible transition is a switching mechanism for the drug delivery application of PNIPAM. This polymer has attracted extensive attention because of its capability to be used in different tissue engineering applications (Lima et al. 2016; Marquardt and Heilshorn 2016; Xu et al. 2016). PNIPAM has been considered as a carrier of nucleic acids (Ozdemir et al. 2008), drugs (Rejinold et al. 2014; Sudhakar et al. 2017), and proteins (Joshi et al. 2013; Naddaf et al. 2010; Trongsatitkul and Budhlall 2013). A few studies have assessed delivery of growth factors via PNIPAM (Ertan et al. 2013; Garbern et al. 2010). PNIPAM microspheres combined with other materials such as poly Poly(Lactideco-Glycolide) acid (PLGA) and magnetic particles have been used to deliver biomacromolecules (Cheng et al. 2016; Dionigi et al. 2014; Tombácz et al. 2015). For example, magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) coated with poly (N-isopropylacrylamide-acrylamide-chitosan)

(PAC), which is simultaneously sensitive to magnetic fields, temperature, and pH have been developed for cancer drug delivery and the culture of human dermal fibroblasts and normal prostate epithelial cells (Khan and Tanaka 2017). Nevertheless, exact drug release kinetics and its corresponding biological effects have yet to be determined.

3 Applications

Until now, the results of numerous investigations of smart polymers along with several reviews have emphasized their potential use in biomedical applications (Alexander al. 2014) et (Schmaljohann 2006), including cell sheet engineering (Patel and Zhang 2013), drug delivery (Blackburn et al. 2009; Choi et al. 2002; Lee et al. 2008; Rejinold et al. 2014), biosensors (Kim et al. 2005, 2007; Zhang et al. 2006), tissue regeneration (Adibfar et al. 2018; Ertan et al. 2013; Joshi et al. 2013), and chemical separations (Grabstain and Bianco-Peled 2003). These materials can be combined with a variety of bioactive molecules such as proteins, nucleic acids, small molecules, and carbohydrates. Bioactive molecules are added to the smart polymeric systems through physical mixing, chemical conjugation or complexation reactions (Alexander et al. 2014). Despite the potential beneficial characteristics of smart polymeric systems, challenges exist for their biomedical applications and future clinical translation (Hoffman 2013). We intend to discuss some of these drawbacks in Sect. 4.

3.1 Cell Sheet Engineering

During the last few years, cell sheet engineering has been known as an innovative method for cell-based therapy. Viable and transplantable cell sheets for different tissue engineering applications can be fabricated by cell sheet harvest technology. Most cell sheet studies use temperature-sensitive systems to detach the cell sheet; however, it has been shown that pH and magnetic responsive systems have the potential for cell sheet harvesting (Wang et al. 2011; Patel and Zhang 2013). Plasma polymerization, electron beam, UV irradiation, solvent cast, and other fabrications approaches have been used to produce novel temperature-responsive surfaces for cell sheet engineering. This technology has a potential application as an engineered tissue (Tang et al. 2012).

3.2 Drug Delivery

Targeted and controlled drug delivery offers an appropriate strategy for cancer chemotherapy and numerous other medical applications. These new approaches have overcome the severe toxic side effects of conventional drug delivery methods. Until now, different smart polymers have been tested for delivery of drugs and macromolecules as therapeutic agents (Tang et al. 2018). Functionalized stimuli-responsive nanocarriers or the combination of these smart materials with other nanoparticles such as MNPs or liposomes have superior specificity for targeted and controlled drug delivery and might be responsive to multiple stimuli. In recent years, the use of numerous stimuli-responsive systems as drug delivery carriers have been investigated (Karimi et al. 2016; Ertan et al. 2013; Chen et al. 2012).

3.3 Biosensors

Stimuli-responsive biosensors are a new detection technique that can improve clinical diagnosis and treatment of various cancers and other diseases. These complex biosensor should be more sensitive for diagnostic applications. Functionalization of responsive polymers, surface modifications and the combination of stimuli-responsive biosensors with the proper materials (special copolymers) could improve precision and accuracy of the obtained data (Wang et al. 2018).

3.4 Tissue Engineering

SRPs can be used as tissue engineering scaffolds or to provide proper tissue conditions such as protein or growth factor release into a special tissue (Sood et al. 2016). These types of novel smart biomaterials respond to external stimuli and have the potential for tissue regeneration (Khan and Tanaka 2017).

Calejo et al. (2012) prepared a thermosresponsive polymer from the combination of ethyl (hydroxyethyl) cellulose (EHEC) and arginine-based surfactants, and evaluated its rheological and turbidity properties. These systems are appropriate candidates for injection into the human body, as they can be either a liquid or a gel form at low and high temperatures, respectively. Toxicity studies with HeLa cells have shown that these thermos-responsive hydrogels are suitable for human use because of the low toxicity of the precursors. More recently, we have synthesized VEGF loaded PNIPAM nanoparticles and a VEGF-PNIPAM nanoparticle loaded collagen hydrogel as VEGF delivery systems to increase vascularization in bone tissue engineering. The biological effects of the released VEGF on human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells (hBMSCs) were studied in vitro. The results showed that the prepared thermos-responsive hydrogel appeared to be a promising approach that could be applied to deliver biological molecules for tissue engineering applications (Adibfar et al. 2018).

Ertan et al. (Ertan et al. 2013) studied the effects of double growth factor release from PNIPAM particles on cartilage tissue engineering. They compared the release of IGF-I and TGF–b1 from PNIPAM and PLGA nanoparticles. It was observed that double growth factor

delivery yielded better results than single growth factor or growth factor-free applications in terms of collagen type II and aggrecan expression. In addition, samples that carried both nanoparticles had the best cartilage differentiation results on the scaffolds.

Smart biomaterials have also been used for patterned cell seeding and co-culture (Yamato et al. 2002), new cartilage tissue formation (Khan and Tanaka 2017), control of osteoblast adhesion and proliferation (Stile et al. 2003), protein/DNA intercellular delivery (Stayton et al. 2005), scaffolds for tissue engineering (Khan et al. 2009), fibroblast growth and proliferation (Kyle et al. 2012), and controlled drug and cell delivery (Zhao et al. 2011b).

4 Hybrid or Complex Systems

In recent years, the development of hybrid or composite biomaterials to attain superior and more beneficial properties compared with single composition has attracted much attention. Composite systems have better function and greater characteristics. Combinations of natural and synthetic polymers, as well as SRPs, with various other materials such as liposomes have been proposed to prepare new composite hydrogels that have increased their potential and applications (Leach 2008).

A temperature-responsive chitosan-g-poly (N-isopropylacrylamide) nanosystem has been developed by ionic cross-linking for delivery of curcumin. According to the obtained results, LCST increased with the increase in the chitosan grafted polymer. This nanocarrier above LCST has shown interesting properties such as prominent curcumin release and a specific toxicity on cancerous cells. This thermoresponsive system is biocompatible and biodegradable, which makes it a powerful nanovehicle for curcumin drug delivery (Rejinold et al. 2011).

Magnetic nanohydrogels are produced by hybridization of chitosan with poly (N-isopropylacrylamide) and iron oxide (Fe_3O_4) MNPs. Chitosan serves as a cross-linker agent during the free radical polymerization reaction. More importantly, chitosan can control the growth of the poly (N-isopropylacrylamide)chitosan based nanohydrogel. LCST would increase by increasing the chitosan weight ratio in the hybrid nanohydrogels. Encapsulation of Fe_3O_4 into this system caused an increase in LCST. Additionally, this magnetic nanohydrogel exhibited excellent cytocompatibility. Hence, it could be utilized as a potential candidate for hyperthermia treatment of cancer and for targeted drug delivery (Jaiswal et al. 2010). Other studies for hybridization of chitosan (Qi et al. 2014) or other natural polymers such as collagen (Adibfar et al. 2018) have been conducted.

Collagen is another natural polymer that has been used to design smart complex materials. The poor mechanical strength of collagen can be enhanced via chemical modification and crosslinking reactions. The combination of collagen with a temperature-responsive polymer such as PNIPAM can improve the mechanical properties of collagen. Addition of various concentrations of collagen could led to a different hydrogels that have shear moduli (102–105 Pa) compatible to soft tissues (Barnes et al. 2016).

PNIPAM and dansyl group-labeled pentapeptide (Gly-Arg-Lys-Phe-Gly-dansyl) were successfully conjugated through atom transfer radical polymerization. An average molar mass of 30,400 g/mol and molar mass dispersity of 1.14 were obtained. In an aqueous solution, increasing the temperature resulted in a phase transition mesoglobule (spherical and nanoparticles) formation. The external layer of the mesoglobule was formed by hydrophilic peptides. Incorporation of these peptides into the structure led to cleavage of the peptide sequence. Consequently, these systems are good candidates for peptide release applications (Trzebicka et al. 2013).

Another thermo-sensitive polymeric system that included alginate-graft-poly (N-isopropylacrylamide) (ALG-g-PNIPAM) and β -cyclodextrin (β -CD) was developed for the controlled release of 5-fluorouracil (5-FU). This thermo-sensitive polymeric system had hollow sphere structures and an LCST in the range of 35–37 °C. Due to the hydrophilic cavities, it had
high drug loading efficiency. Loading content and drug release kinetics depend on formulation and the initial composition of the mixtures, temperature, and pH. Acidic conditions or increasing temperatures above the LCST boost the drug release kinetics. These novel hollow particles are more convenient for intelligent drug delivery due to their good biocompatibility (Li et al. 2016).

A highly porous PNIPAM/hydroxyapatite (HAp) composite was produced by electrochemical polymerization for use in bone tissue regeneration. The swelling behavior could be controlled through the amount of HAp in the synthesized PNIPAM-HAp scaffolds. The antibiotic oxacillin was loaded into the scaffolds against *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (*P. aeruginosa*). The results of this study demonstrated that the combination of PNIPAM and calcium phosphates is a promising technique to prepare non-toxic and biocompatible PNIPAM-HAp scaffolds for bone tissue engineering (Ribeiro et al. 2017).

Grafting PNIPAM on a microcarrier surface for cell culture applications has been developed using grafting-to, grafting-from and graftingthrough techniques, along with non-covalent adsorption seeded polymerization and techniques. Microcarriers could release the cells by temperature adjustments in these systems. The PNIPAM grafting density might affect the molecular weight and molecular architecture of the whole system. Consequently, the efficiency of cell behavior such as cell attachment/detachment of the mentioned production techniques differ and can be optimized according to the applications. It is believed that cell culture systems based on a temperature-responsive microcarrier would be the next generation of large-scale cell culture approaches in biomedical applications (Zhang et al. 2015).

Liposomes are another example of a stimulisensitive system. Enzymes, light or pH could be selected as triggers in stimuli-sensitive liposomal systems. These systems possess the advantages of both smart and liposomal systems, and are important smart drug carriers (Liu et al. 2016). Although it is believed that these novel smart stimuli-responsive polymeric hydrogels may display better potentiality in future clinical applications, successful *in vivo* applications of these materials remain a challenge.

5 Challenges for Clinical Translation

There are several concerns in terms of stimuliresponsive polymeric systems for biomedical applications. Cellular toxicity of the smart polymers is the most controversial issue in this area (Hoffman 2013). Until now, the cyto- and genotoxicity of different smart polymers and co-polymers have been examined in different mammalian cell lines. Although many smart systems are composed of non-degradable, toxic acrylamide or acrylic acid polymers such as PNIPAM and PPAAc, no significant cyto- and genotoxicities have been observed in the necessary range for certain biomedical applications (Naha et al. 2010). For instance, no significant cyto- and genotoxicities (p ≤ 0.05) were detected in HaCaT and SW480 cells for PNIPAM nanoparticles after 96 h over concentration ranges from 25 to 1000 and 12.5 to 800 mg/l, respectively. It was demonstrated that the PNIPAM nanoparticles internalized in the mammalian cells and localized in the lysosomes. A non-ecotoxicological response of PNIPAM nanoparticles has been reported (Naha et al. 2010). Other studies have also confirmed that PNIPAM is non-toxic for different cell lines (Némethy et al. 2013; Kjoniksen et al. 2014; Wadajkar et al. 2008). Although these studies have investigated the wide range of PNIPAM nanoparticles, higher concentrations (especially 10 mg/mL) are not pharmacologically relevant (Wadajkar et al. 2008).

It should be taken into consideration that the NIPAM precursor is toxic, whereas the polymeric PNIPAM is not. Consequently, the remaining linear PNIPAM chains that result from destruction of the network structure through biodegradable cross-linkages are too large to be absorbed by living organisms and may not have toxic effects (Zhang et al. 2004). Good blood compatibility along with lack of cytotoxicity has been

observed for PNIPAM-g-poly(N-isopropylacrylamide-co-styrene) microspheres (PNNS-MSs). Grafting other materials such as styrene that have better hydrophilicity onto the PNIPAM structure would improve its biocompatibility (Zhu et al. 2013). It has been shown that PEGylated PNIPAM nanoparticles did not have any toxicity effects on J774 and L929 cell lines up to a concentration of 2 mg/ml. Meanwhile, no interactions were observed when nanoparticles were incubated with blood cells, which suggested their hemocompatibility (Gulati et al. 2010).

should be mentioned It that further considerations are needed to clarify the toxicity of these smart materials in the nanoscale dimension. Hazards and different aspects of toxicological human health risk assessments of engineered nanoparticles have been investigated (Radad et al. 2012). It has been reported that these polymers are not biodegradable and not readily excreted via the kidneys after drug delivery. As a result, they would tend to accumulate in the body. Thus, they have not been tested in clinical trials (Hoffman 2013).

The data presented here would suggest that these smart materials are biocompatible with mammalian cells; hence, they can be used in biomedicine applications. However, further studies are required to overcome these challenges.

6 Concluding Remarks and Future Trends

Smart polymers and their composites are potential candidates for many biomedical applications. These materials have superior properties and can be used either embedded in or attached to structural materials. They can be used in normal and cancerous tissues. Various smart polymers and different types of stimuli-sensitive polymers have been used for cell sheet engineering, drug delivery, biosensors, tissue regeneration, and chemical separations.

Maintaining safety without losing sensitivity to stimuli changes and biological properties during the treatment process, fabricating smart materials sensitive to multiple stimuli, designing proper copolymer systems to sense small variation of multiple stimuli as fast as possible, and scale-up of the process and production as well as purification in a cost-effective way along with efficient *in vivo* outcome are challenges to be overcome. These items could be divided into the rational design, fabrication, and process development, as well as discovery steps. Controlling the response of these biomaterials after implantation in the body is challenging and has not been clearly elucidated (Khan and Tanaka 2017).

In the future, smart polymers will play critical roles in cutting edge science. Additional studies are needed before these novel smart polymers that have certain transition temperatures and pH levels can be developed and introduced commercially.

References

- Adibfar A, Amoabediny G, Baghaban Eslaminejad M, Mohamadi J, Bagheri F, Zandieh Doulabi B (2018) VEGF delivery by smart polymeric PNIPAM nanoparticles affects both osteogenic and angiogenic capacities of human bone marrow stem cells. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 93:790–799. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.msec.2018.08.037
- Alexander A, Ajazuddin KJ, Saraf S, Saraf S (2014) Polyethylene glycol (PEG)-Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAAm) based thermosensitive injectable hydrogels for biomedical applications. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 88(3):575–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejpb.2014.07.005
- Al-Sabagh AM, Moustafa YM, Hamdy A, Killa HM, Ghanem RTM, Morsi RE (2018) Preparation and characterization of sulfonated polystyrene/magnetite nanocomposites for organic dye adsorption. Egypt J Pet 27(3):403–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpe. 2017.07.004
- Barnes AL, Genever PG, Rimmer S, Coles MC (2016) Collagen-poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) hydrogels with tunable properties. Biomacromolecules 17 (3):723–734. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biomac. 5b01251
- Blackburn WH, Dickerson EB, Smith MH, McDonald JF, Lyon LA (2009) Peptide-functionalized nanogels for targeted siRNA delivery. Bioconjug Chem 20 (5):960–968. https://doi.org/10.1021/bc800547c
- Cabane E, Zhang X, Langowska K, Palivan CG, Meier W (2012) Stimuli-responsive polymers and their applications in nanomedicine. Biointerphases 7 (1–4):9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13758-011-0009-3
- Calejo MT, Kjoniksen AL, Pinazo A, Perez L, Cardoso AM, de Lima MC, Jurado AS et al (2012) Thermoresponsive hydrogels with low toxicity from mixtures of

ethyl(hydroxyethyl) cellulose and arginine-based surfactants. Int J Pharm 436(1–2):454–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.07.018

- Chan A, Orme RP, Fricker RA, Roach P (2013) Remote and local control of stimuli responsive materials for therapeutic applications. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 65(4):497–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.07.007
- Chen S, Zhong H, Gu B, Wang Y, Li X, Cheng Z, Zhang L et al (2012) Thermosensitive phase behavior and drug release of in situ N-isopropylacrylamide copolymer. Mater Sci Eng C 32(8):2199–2204. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.msec.2012.05.052
- Cheng P, Zeng W, Li L, Huo D, Zeng L, Tan J, Zhou J et al (2016) PLGA-PNIPAM microspheres loaded with the gastrointestinal nutrient NaB ameliorate cardiac dysfunction by activating Sirt3 in acute myocardial infarction. Adv Sci (Weinh) 3(12):1600254. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/advs.201600254
- Choi SH, Yoon JJ, Park TG (2002) Galactosylated poly (N-isopropylacrylamide) hydrogel submicrometer particles for specific cellular uptake within hepatocytes. J Colloid Interface Sci 251(1):57–63. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcis.2002.8427
- Chu L-Y (2011) Glucose-responsive gating membranes. In: Smart membrane materials and systems. Advanced topics in science and Technology in China. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp 197–216. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-642-18114-6_9
- Chu LY, Li Y, Zhu JH, Wang HD, Liang YJ (2004) Control of pore size and permeability of a glucoseresponsive gating membrane for insulin delivery. J Control Release 97(1):43–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jconrel.2004.02.026
- Clark EA, Lipson JEG (2012) LCST and UCST behavior in polymer solutions and blends. Polymer 53 (2):536–545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2011. 11.045
- Dionigi C, Lungaro L, Goranov V, Riminucci A, Pineiro-Redondo Y, Banobre-Lopez M, Rivas J et al (2014) Smart magnetic poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) to control the release of bio-active molecules. J Mater Sci Mater Med 25(10):2365–2371. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10856-014-5159-7
- Ertan AB, Yilgor P, Bayyurt B, Calikoglu AC, Kaspar C, Kok FN, Kose GT et al (2013) Effect of double growth factor release on cartilage tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 7(2):149–160. https://doi.org/10. 1002/term.509
- Fathi M, Sahandi Zangabad P, Majidi S, Barar J, Erfan-Niya H, Omidi Y (2017) Stimuli-responsive chitosanbased nanocarriers for cancer therapy. Bioimpacts 7 (4):269–277. https://doi.org/10.15171/bi.2017.32
- Garbern JC, Hoffman AS, Stayton PS (2010) Injectable pH- and temperature-responsive poly(N-isopropylacrylamide-co-propylacrylic acid) copolymers for delivery of angiogenic growth factors. Biomacromolecules 11(7):1833–1839. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm100318z
- Grabstain V, Bianco-Peled H (2003) Mechanisms controlling the temperature-dependent binding of

proteins to poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) microgels. Biotechnol Prog 19(6):1728–1733. https://doi.org/10. 1021/bp034161t

- Gulati N, Rastogi R, Dinda AK, Saxena R, Koul V (2010) Characterization and cell material interactions of PEGylated PNIPAAM nanoparticles. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 79(1):164–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.colsurfb.2010.03.049
- Hathaway H, Alves DR, Bean J, Esteban PP, Ouadi K, Sutton JM, Jenkins AT (2015) Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide-co-allylamine) (PNIPAM-co-ALA) nanospheres for the thermally triggered release of Bacteriophage K. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 96:437–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.09.013
- Hazot P, Chapel JP, Pichot C, Elaissari A, Delair T (2002) Preparation of poly(N-ethyl methacrylamide) particles via an emulsion/precipitation process: the role of the crosslinker. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 40 (11):1808–1817. https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.10259
- Hoffman AS (2013) Stimuli-responsive polymers: biomedical applications and challenges for clinical translation. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 65(1):10–16. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.addr.2012.11.004
- Hu X, Tong Z, Lyon LA (2010) Synthesis and physicochemical properties of cationic microgels based on Poly(N-isopropylmethacrylamide). Colloid Polym Sci 289(3):333–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00396-010-2347-y
- Huang HY, Shaw J, Yip C, Wu XY (2008) Microdomain pH gradient and kinetics inside composite polymeric membranes of pH and glucose sensitivity. Pharm Res 25(5):1150–1157. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-007-9507-x
- Inoue H, Anzai J (2005) Stimuli-sensitive thin films prepared by a layer-by-layer deposition of 2-iminobiotin-labeled poly(ethyleneimine) and avidin. Langmuir 21(18):8354–8359. https://doi.org/10.1021/ la0508341
- Jaiswal MK, Banerjee R, Pradhan P, Bahadur D (2010) Thermal behavior of magnetically modalized poly (N-isopropylacrylamide)-chitosan based nanohydrogel. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 81 (1):185–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2010. 07.009
- Joshi RV, Nelson CE, Poole KM, Skala MC, Duvall CL (2013) Dual pH- and temperature-responsive microparticles for protein delivery to ischemic tissues. Acta Biomater 9(5):6526–6534. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.actbio.2013.01.041
- Karimi M, Ghasemi A, Sahandi Zangabad P, Rahighi R, Moosavi Basri SM, Mirshekari H, Amiri M et al (2016) Smart micro/nanoparticles in stimulus-responsive drug/gene delivery systems. Chem Soc Rev 45 (5):1457–1501. https://doi.org/10.1039/c5cs00798d
- Khan F, Tanaka M (2017) Designing smart biomaterials for tissue engineering. Int J Mol Sci 19(1):17. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms19010017
- Khan F, Tare RS, Oreffo RO, Bradley M (2009) Versatile biocompatible polymer hydrogels: scaffolds for cell

growth. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 48(5):978–982. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200804096

- Kim J, Nayak S, Lyon LA (2005) Bioresponsive Hydrogel Microlenses. J Am Chem Soc 127(26):9588–9592. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja0519076
- Kim J, Singh N, Lyon LA (2007) Displacement-induced switching rates of bioresponsive hydrogel microlenses. Chem Mater 19(10):2527–2532. https://doi.org/10. 1021/cm063086p
- Kjoniksen AL, Calejo MT, Zhu K, Cardoso AM, de Lima MC, Jurado AS, Nystrom B et al (2014) Sustained release of naltrexone from poly (n-isopropylacrylamide) microgels. J Pharm Sci 103 (1):227–234. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.23780
- Klotz BJ, Gawlitta D, Rosenberg A, Malda J, Melchels FPW (2016) Gelatin-Methacryloyl hydrogels: towards biofabrication-based tissue repair. Trends Biotechnol 34(5):394–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2016. 01.002
- Korth BD, Keng P, Shim I, Bowles SE, Tang C, Kowalewski T, Nebesny KW et al (2006) Polymercoated ferromagnetic colloids from well-defined macromolecular surfactants and assembly into nanoparticle chains. J Am Chem Soc 128(20):6562–6563. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ja0609147
- Kuckling D, Doering A, Krahl F, Arndt KF (2012) Stimuli-responsive polymer systems. In: Polymer science, pp 377–413. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-53349-4.00214-4
- Kyle S, Felton SH, McPherson MJ, Aggeli A, Ingham E (2012) Rational molecular design of complementary self-assembling peptide hydrogels. Adv Healthc Mater 1(5):640–645. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201200047
- Leach HEDAJK (2008) Hybrid and composite biomaterials in tissue engineering. In: Topics in multifunctional biomaterials and devices. Oulu university Press, Oulu [Finland], pp 1–26
- Lee C-F, Lin C-C, Chiu W-Y (2008) Thermosensitive and control release behavior of poly (N-isopropylacrylamide-co-acrylic acid) latex particles. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 46(17):5734–5741. https://doi.org/10. 1002/pola.22887
- Li G, Yu N, Gao Y, Tao Q, Liu X (2016) Polymeric hollow spheres assembled from ALG-g-PNIPAM and β-cyclodextrin for controlled drug release. Int J Biol Macromol 82(Supplement C):381–386. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2015.11.010
- Lima LH, Morales Y, Cabral T (2016) Poly-N-isopropylacrylamide (pNIPAM): a reversible bioadhesive for sclerotomy closure. Int J Retina Vitreous 2:23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40942-016-0048-5
- Liu F, Urban MW (2010) Recent advances and challenges in designing stimuli-responsive polymers. Prog Polym Sci 35(1–2):3–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. progpolymsci.2009.10.002
- Liu D, Yang F, Xiong F, Gu N (2016) The smart drug delivery system and its clinical potential. Theranostics 6(9):1306–1323. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.14858

- Maeda S (1966) Lower critical solution temperature (L.C. S.T.) of the systems, glycerin-polypropylenglycolether (GP), or glycerin-polyethylenglycol-ether (GEP) and water. Bull Pharm Res Inst 62:11–13
- Makhaeva EE, Tenhu H, Khokhlov AR (2002) Behavior of Poly(N-vinylcaprolactam-co-methacrylic acid) macromolecules in aqueous solution: interplay between coulombic and hydrophobic interaction. Macromolecules 35(5):1870–1876. https://doi.org/10. 1021/ma0105789
- Marquardt LM, Heilshorn SC (2016) Design of Injectable Materials to improve stem cell transplantation. Curr Stem Cell Rep 2(3):207–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40778-016-0058-0
- Milasinovic N, Kalagasidis Krusic M, Knezevic-Jugovic-Z, Filipovic J (2010) Hydrogels of N-isopropylacrylamide copolymers with controlled release of a model protein. Int J Pharm 383 (1–2):53–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2009. 09.001
- Milichovsky M (2010) Water—a key substance to comprehension of stimuli-responsive hydrated reticular systems. J Biomater Nanobiotechnol 1:17–30. https:// doi.org/10.4236/jbnb.2010.11003
- Naddaf AA, Tsibranska I, Bart HJ (2010) Kinetics of BSA release from poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) hydrogels. Chem Eng Process Process Intensif 49(6):581–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cep.2010.05.008
- Naha PC, Bhattacharya K, Tenuta T, Dawson KA, Lynch I, Gracia A, Lyng FM et al (2010) Intracellular localisation, geno- and cytotoxic response of polyNisopropylacrylamide (PNIPAM) nanoparticles to human keratinocyte (HaCaT) and colon cells (SW 480). Toxicol Lett 198(2):134–143. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2010.06.011
- Némethy Á, Solti K, Kiss L, Gyarmati B, Deli MA, Csányi E, Szilágyi A (2013) pH- and temperatureresponsive poly(aspartic acid)-l-poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) conetwork hydrogel. Eur Polym J 49 (9):2392–2403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj. 2013.02.015
- Ozdemir N, Tuncel A, Duman M, Engin D, Denkbas EB (2008) Poly(n-isopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAM) based nanoparticles for in vitro plasmid DNA delivery. In: Vaseashta A, Mihailescu IN (eds) Functionalized nanoscale materials, devices and systems. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 325–330. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8903-9_25
- Patel NG, Zhang G (2013) Responsive systems for cell sheet detachment. Organogenesis 9(2):93–100. https:// doi.org/10.4161/org.25149
- Pich A, Tessier A, Boyko V, Lu Y, Adler H-JP (2006) Synthesis and characterization of poly (vinylcaprolactam)-based microgels exhibiting temperature and pH-sensitive properties. Macromolecules 39 (22):7701–7707. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma060985q
- Qi M, Li G, Yu N, Meng Y, Liu X (2014) Synthesis of thermo-sensitive polyelectrolyte complex

nanoparticles from CS-g-PNIPAM and SA-g-PNIPAM for controlled drug release. Macromol Res 22(9):1004–1011. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13233-014-2134-6

- Qiu Y, Park K (2001) Environment-sensitive hydrogels for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 53(3):321–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-409x(01)00203-4
- Radad K, Al-Shraim M, Moldzio R, Rausch WD (2012) Recent advances in benefits and hazards of engineered nanoparticles. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 34 (3):661–672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2012.07.011
- Rao KM, Rao K, Ha CS (2016) Stimuli responsive Poly (Vinyl Caprolactam) gels for biomedical applications. Gels 2(1):6. https://doi.org/10.3390/gels2010006
- Rege NK, Phillips NFB, Weiss MA (2017) Development of glucose-responsive 'smart' insulin systems. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 24(4):267–278. https://doi.org/10.1097/MED.00000000000345
- Reinelt S, Steinke D, Ritter H (2014) End-groupfunctionalized poly(N,N-diethylacrylamide) via freeradical chain transfer polymerization: influence of sulfur oxidation and cyclodextrin on self-organization and cloud points in water. Beilstein J Org Chem 10:680–691. https://doi.org/10.3762/bjoc.10.61
- Rejinold NS, Sreerekha PR, Chennazhi KP, Nair SV, Jayakumar R (2011) Biocompatible, biodegradable and thermo-sensitive chitosan-g-poly (N-isopropylacrylamide) nanocarrier for curcumin drug delivery. Int J Biol Macromol 49(2):161–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2011.04.008
- Rejinold NS, Baby T, Chennazhi KP, Jayakumar R (2014) Dual drug encapsulated thermo-sensitive fibrinogengraft-poly (N-isopropyl acrylamide) nanogels for breast cancer therapy. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 114:209–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2013. 10.015
- Ribeiro CA, Martins MVS, Bressiani AH, Bressiani JC, Leyva ME, de Queiroz AAA (2017) Electrochemical preparation and characterization of PNIPAM-HAp scaffolds for bone tissue engineering. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 81:156–166. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.msec.2017.07.048
- Roy D, Cambre JN, Sumerlin BS (2010) Future perspectives and recent advances in stimuli-responsive materials. Prog Polym Sci 35(1–2):278–301. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.progpolymsci.2009.10.008
- Ruiz-Hernandez E, Hess M, Melen GJ, Theek B, Talelli M, Shi Y, Ozbakir B et al (2014) PEGpHPMAm-based polymeric micelles loaded with doxorubicin-prodrugs in combination antitumor therapy with oncolytic vaccinia viruses. Polym Chem 5:1674–1681. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3PY01097J
- Scherzinger C, Lindner P, Keerl M, Richtering W (2010) Cononsolvency of Poly(N,N-diethylacrylamide) (PDEAAM) and poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (PNIPAM) based microgels in water/methanol mixtures: copolymer vs core-shell microgel. Macromolecules 43(16):6829–6833. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/ma100422e

- Schmaljohann D (2006) Thermo- and pH-responsive polymers in drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 58:1655–1670
- Škvarla J, Zedník J, Šlouf M, Pispas S, Štěpánek M (2014) Poly(N-isopropyl acrylamide)-block-poly(n-butyl acrylate) thermoresponsive amphiphilic copolymers: synthesis, characterization and self-assembly behavior in aqueous solutions. Eur Polym J 61:124–132. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2014.10.002
- Sood N, Bhardwaj A, Mehta S, Mehta A (2016) Stimuliresponsive hydrogels in drug delivery and tissue engineering. Drug Deliv 23(3):748–770. https://doi.org/10. 3109/10717544.2014.940091
- Stayton PS, El-Sayed ME, Murthy N, Bulmus V, Lackey C, Cheung C, Hoffman AS (2005) 'Smart' delivery systems for biomolecular therapeutics. Orthod Craniofac Res 8(3):219–225. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1601-6343.2005.00336.x
- Stile RA, Shull KR, Healy KE (2003) Axisymmetric adhesion test to examine the interfacial interactions between biologically-modified networks and models of the extracellular matrix. Langmuir 19(5):1853–1860. https://doi.org/10.1021/la026256v
- Sudhakar K, Moloi SJ, Rao KM (2017) Graphene oxide/ poly(N-isopropyl acrylamide)/sodium alginate-based dual responsive composite beads for controlled release characteristics of chemotherapeutic agent. Iran Polym J 26(7):521–530. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13726-017-0543-z
- Takashi M, Tadashi U, Katsuhiko N (2002) Biomoleculesensitive hydrogels. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 54:79–98
- Tang Z, Akiyama Y, Okano T (2012) Temperatureresponsive polymer modified surface for cell sheet engineering. Polymers 4(3):1478–1498. https://doi. org/10.3390/polym4031478
- Tang Q, Yu B, Gao L, Cong H, Song N, Lu C (2018) Stimuli responsive nanoparticles for controlled anticancer drug release. Curr Med Chem 25 (16):1837–1866. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 0929867325666180111095913
- Theato P (2008) Synthesis of well-defined polymeric activated esters. J Polym Sci A Polym Chem 46 (20):6677–6687. https://doi.org/10.1002/pola.22994
- Tombácz E, Turcu R, Socoliuc V, Vékás L (2015) Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: recent trends in design and synthesis of magnetoresponsive nanosystems. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 468(3):442–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.08.030
- Traitel T, Cohen Y, Kost J (2000) Characterization of glucose-sensitive insulin release systems in simulated in vivo conditions. Biomaterials 21(16):1679–1687. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0142-9612(00)00050-8
- Trongsatitkul T, Budhlall BM (2013) Temperature dependence of serum protein adsorption in PEGylated PNIPAm microgels. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 103:244–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2012. 10.053
- Trzebicka B, Robak B, Trzcinska R, Szweda D, Suder P, Silberring J, Dworak A (2013) Thermosensitive

PNIPAM-peptide conjugate – synthesis and aggregation. Eur Polym J 49(2):499–509. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.eurpolymj.2012.11.005

- Valderrama-Garcia BX, Rodriguez-Alba E, Morales-Espinoza EG, Moineau Chane-Ching K, Rivera E (2016) Synthesis and characterization of novel polythiophenes containing pyrene chromophores: thermal, optical and electrochemical properties. Molecules 21(2):172. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21020172
- Wadajkar AS, Koppolu B, Rahimi M, Nguyen KT (2008) Cytotoxic evaluation of N-isopropylacrylamide monomers and temperature-sensitive poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) nanoparticles. J Nanopart Res 11 (6):1375–1382. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-008-9526-5
- Wang T, Liu D, Lian C, Zheng S, Liu X, Wang C, Tong Z (2011) Rapid cell sheet detachment from alginate semiinterpenetrating nanocomposite hydrogels of PNIPAm and hectorite clay. React Funct Polym 71(4):447–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2011.01.004
- Wang L, Liu L, Dong B, Zhao H, Zhang M, Chen W, Hong Y (2017) Multi-stimuli-responsive biohybrid nanoparticles with cross-linked albumin coronae selfassembled by a polymer-protein biodynamer. Acta Biomater 54:259–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. actbio.2017.03.009
- Wang X, Gu M, Toh TB, Abdullah NLB, Chow EK (2018) Stimuli-responsive Nanodiamond-based biosensor for enhanced metastatic tumor site detection. SLAS Technol 23(1):44–56. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 2472630317735497
- Wei M, Gao Y, Li X, Serpe MJ (2017) Stimuli-responsive polymers and their applications. Polym Chem 8 (1):127–143. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6py01585a
- Xiong Z, Peng B, Han X, Peng C, Liu H, Hu Y (2011) Dual-stimuli responsive behaviors of diblock polyampholyte PDMAEMA-b-PAA in aqueous solution. J Colloid Interface Sci 356(2):557–565. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2011.01.067
- Xu Y, Fu M, Li Z, Fan Z, Li X, Liu Y, Anderson PM et al (2016) A prosurvival and proangiogenic stem cell delivery system to promote ischemic limb regeneration. Acta Biomater 31:99–113. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.actbio.2015.12.021
- Yamamoto K, Serizawa T, Akashi M (2003) Synthesis and thermosensitive properties of Poly[(N-vinylamide)-co-

(vinyl acetate)]s and their hydrogels. Macromol Chem Phys 204(7):1027–1033. https://doi.org/10.1002/ macp.200390073

- Yamato M, Konno C, Utsumi M, Kikuchi A, Okano T (2002) Thermally responsive polymer-grafted surfaces facilitate patterned cell seeding and co-culture. Biomaterials 23(2):561–567. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0142-9612(01)00138-7
- Ye M, Zhang D, Han L, Tejada J, Ortiz C (2006) Synthesis, preparation, and conformation of stimulusresponsive end-grafted poly(methacrylic acid-g-ethylene glycol) layers. Soft Matter 2(3):243. https://doi. org/10.1039/b510894b
- Zhang X-Z, Sun G-M, Chu CC (2004) Temperature sensitive dendrite-shaped PNIPAAm/Dex-AI hybrid hydrogel particles: formulation and properties. Eur Polym J 40(9):2251–2257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj. 2004.04.021
- Zhang Y, Guan Y, Zhou S (2006) Synthesis and volume phase transitions of glucose-sensitive microgels. Biomacromolecules 7(11):3196–3201. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/bm060557s
- Zhang J, Cui Z, Field R, Moloney MG, Rimmer S, Ye H (2015) Thermo-responsive microcarriers based on poly (N-isopropylacrylamide). Eur Polym J 67:346–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2015.04.013
- Zhang J, Jiang X, Wen X, Xu Q, Zeng H, Zhao Y, Liu M et al (2019) Bio-responsive smart polymers and biomedical applications. J Phy Mater 2(3):032004. https:// doi.org/10.1088/2515-7639/ab1af5
- Zhao W, Zhang H, He Q, Li Y, Gu J, Li L, Li H et al (2011a) A glucose-responsive controlled release of insulin system based on enzyme multilayers-coated mesoporous silica particles. Chem Commun (Camb) 47(33):9459–9461. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c1cc12740c
- Zhao X, Kim J, Cezar CA, Huebsch N, Lee K, Bouhadir K, Mooney DJ (2011b) Active scaffolds for on-demand drug and cell delivery. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(1):67–72. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1007862108
- Zhu Q, Chen L, Zhu P, Luan J, Mao C, Huang X, Shen J (2013) Preparation of PNIPAM-g-P (NIPAM-co-St) microspheres and their blood compatibility. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 104:61–65. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.colsurfb.2012.12.004



Acute Lung Injury: Disease Modelling and the Therapeutic Potential of Stem Cells

Jie Lian, Juntang Lin, Norashikin Zakaria, and Badrul Hisham Yahaya

Abstract

Acute lung injury (ALI) is a severe clinical condition with high morbidity and mortality that usually results in the development of multiple organ dysfunction. The complex pathophysiology of ALI seems to provide a wide range of targets that offer numerous therapeutic options. However, despite extensive studies of ALI pathophysiology and treatment, no effective pharmacotherapy is available. Increasing evidence from both preclinical and clinical studies supports the preventive and therapeutic effects of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) for treating ALI. As cell-based therapy poses the risk of occlusion in microvasculature or

J. Lin

N. Zakaria and B. H. Yahaya (🖂)

unregulated growth, MSC-derived extracellular vesicles (MSC-EVs) have been extensively studied as a new therapeutic strategy for non-cell based therapy. It is widely accepted that the therapeutic properties of MSCs are derived from soluble factors with paracrine or endocrine effects, and EVs are among the most important paracrine or endocrine vehicles that can deliver various soluble factors with a similar phenotype as the parent cell. Therapeutic effects of MSCs have been reported for various delivery approaches, diverse doses, multiple origins, and different times of administration, and MSC-EVs treatment may include but is not limited to these choices. The mechanisms by which MSCs and MSC-EVs may contribute to ALI treatment remain elusive and need further exploration. This review provides an overview of preclinical studies that support the application of MSC-EVs for treating ALI, and it discusses emerging opportunities and their associated challenges.

Keywords

Acute lung injury · Animal model · Cell-free therapy · Extracellular vesicles · Intratracheal delivery · Mesenchymal stem cells · Pathophysiology

J. Lian

Lung Stem Cell and Gene Therapy Group, Regenerative Medicine Cluster, Advanced Medical and Dental Institute (IPPT), Universiti Sains Malaysia, SAINS@Bertam, Penang, Malaysia

Stem Cell and Biotherapy Technology Research Center of Henan Province, College of Life Science and Technology, Xinxiang Medical University, Xinxiang, Henan, China

Stem Cell and Biotherapy Technology Research Center of Henan Province, College of Life Science and Technology, Xinxiang Medical University, Xinxiang, Henan, China

Lung Stem Cell and Gene Therapy Group, Regenerative Medicine Cluster, Advanced Medical and Dental Institute (IPPT), Universiti Sains Malaysia, SAINS@Bertam, Penang, Malaysia e-mail: badrul@usm.my

Abbreviations

AEC I	Type I alveolar epithelial cells
AEC II	Type II alveolar epithelial cells
ALI	Acute lung injury
Amφ	Alveolar macrophages
ARDS	Acute respiratory distress syndrome
ATS	American thoracic society
BALF	Broncho-alveolar lavage fluid
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide
EBD	Evans blue dye
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complex
	required for transport
H&E	Hematoxylin and Eosin
hAD-	Human adipose-derived MSCs
MSCs	1
hBM-	Human bone marrow-derived MSCs
MSCs	
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
hMens-	Human menstrual blood-derived
MSCs	MSCs
hUC-	Huma umbilical cord-derived MSCs
MSCs	
i.t.	Intratracheal
i.v.	Intravenous
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MFGE8	Milk fat globule-EGF factor
	8 protein
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MISEV	Minimal information of studies of
	extracellular vesicles
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
MSC-EVs	MSC-derived extracellular vesicles
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells
PARDS	Pediatric ARDS
PDCD61P	Programmed cell death 6 interacting
	protein
PMN	Polymorphonuclear
qRT-PCR	Qualitative reverse transcriptase
	polymerase chain reaction
TSG101	Tumor susceptibility gene 101
	protein
TSPAN29	Tetraspanin 29
VILI	Ventilator-induced lung injury

1 Introduction

1.1 Acute Lung Injury

Acute lung injury (ALI) or its clinical manifestation, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), is an acute inflammatory lung injury that usually is responsible for high morbidity and mortality as well as the development of multiple organ dysfunction. ARDS was first proposed in 1967 (Ashbaugh et al. 1967); "A" originally was the abbreviation for adult, but it was later changed to acute. As our understanding of the condition grew, the definition changed from the American-European Consensus Conference Committee definition (Bernard et al. 1994) to the Berlin definition (Force et al. 2012; Ferguson et al. 2012). The latter classifies the severity of the condition from mild to severe. In addition, the pediatric ARDS (PARDS) definition was developed by the Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference in 2015 (Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference Group 2015). Although tremendous progress has been made both in therapy and nursing over the last half century, ALI is still a significant source of morbidity, mortality, and financial burden.

Over three million patients suffer from ARDS every year, and they constitute more than 10% of patients of intensive care units. Moreover, ARDS is likely to be underreported in low-income countries, as it is under-recognized even in highincome countries (Thompson et al. 2017; Villar et al. 2016). Bellani et al. (2016) studied 29,144 patients from 459 intensive care units in 50 countries across 5 continents and found that clinical recognition rates ranged from 51.3% for mild ARDS to 78.5% for severe ARDS, and the condition appeared to be a public health problem globally, with a very high mortality of approximately 40%. Even patients who survive from ALI are at high risk for long-term poor quality of life (Herridge et al. 2016; Biehl et al. 2015). Children are no exception, as another international study that involved 23,280 patients from 145 pediatric intensive care units in 27 countries found that PARDS occurs in approximately 3% of patients

but results in $\sim 17\%$ mortality (Khemani et al. 2019).

To date, there has been no comprehensive epidemiology study of ARDS in China, but the incidence, mortality, and risk factors for ARDS and PARDS in China are thought to be similar to those in Europe and the United States based on several relatively regional studies, which suggest that the annual number of cases in China is more than 670,000 patients (Song et al. 2014). However, health emergency related ALI is not included. During twenty-first century, there are three outbreaks of coronavirus infection around the world, including SARS (Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome) in 2002, 10 years later with MERS (Middle East Respiratory Syndrome) in 2012 and more recently from December 2019 with COVID19 (Corona Virus Disease). So far, there is no principle to follow for the therapy of COVID19 especially for severe patients because of absence of efficacious drugs and vaccines for SARS and MERS until now. Under the support of WHO (World Health Organization), several specific treatments were under investigation and would be tested through clinical trials, and cell therapy was included.

ALI is a public health problem and common complication in critically ill patient groups, with significantly high mortality and poor outcome. No effective pharmacotherapy exists, so it is necessary to further investigate its pathophysiology and try to find more effective treatments. The goals of this review are to summarize evidence from preclinical studies that supports more efficient therapy for ALI and to discuss emerging opportunities and their associated challenges. The use of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) has the potential to treat a variety of diseases, and MSC-derived extracellular vesicles (MSC-EVs) could be a future novel treatment strategy for pulmonary inflammatory disease via intratracheal delivery.

1.2 Pathogenesis of ALI

ALI originates from multiple factors, including direct and indirect lung injury (Table 1). Once triggered by infectious, chemical, or mechanical insult, the complex interaction between the immune system and the alveolar-capillary barrier gives rise to the pathophysiology of ALI (Lee et al. 2019). In addition, genetic studies in Chinese populations identified some genetic risk factors that might increase the development of ARDS, such as Toll-interleukin 1 receptor domain-containing adapter protein (Song et al. 2010) and the tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated factor 6 gene (Song et al. 2012). ALI is also a serious perioperative complication with crucial mortality and morbidity, and there are limited treatments available beyond conservative respiratory support (Jin et al. 2017).

Figure 1 shows the pathogenesis of ALI, including the exudative, proliferation, and fibrotic phases, and the difference between healthy and ALI alveoli (Thompson et al. 2017). The exudative phase usually takes place within 24 h of the

Direct lung injury insults	Indirect lung injury insults
Pneumonia ^a	Sepsis ^a
Gastric aspiration ^a	Major trauma
Pulmonary contusion	Non-cardiogenic shock
Pulmonary embolism	Pancreatitis
Inhalation injury	Severe burns
Near drowning	Multiple transfusion or transfusion-associated acute lung injury
	Cardiopulmonary bypass surgery
	Reperfusion edema after lung transplantation or embolectomy
	Drug overdose
	Genetic risk factors

 Table 1
 Conditions associated with ALI

^aPneumonia, gastric aspiration, and sepsis are the top three main triggers of ALI in recent clinical conditions



Fig. 1 The difference between a healthy and ALI alveolus. The hallmarks of ALI are disruption of alveolarcapillary barriers, recruitment of pro-inflammatory cells, formation of hyaline membranes, and flooding of proteinrich edema within the interstitium and alveolus. Injury begins with the disruption of alveolar-capillary integrity by either direct or indirect insults. Initially, resident alveolar macrophages are activated and polarized into M1-like

occurrence of insult; it is characterized by diffuse alveolar damage and represents innate cellmediated damage of the alveolar endothelial and epithelial barriers and accumulation of proteinrich edema fluid in the interstitium and alveolus. Resident alveolar macrophages ($Am\phi$) recognize microbial components or tissue injury via pattern recognition receptor signaling, which leads to NFkB-dependent polarization of $Am\phi$ into M1-like macrophages and the initiation of the exudative phase. M1-like macrophages secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines that contribute to accumulation of neutrophils and monocytes as well as to activation of alveolar epithelial cells and effector T cells, which

macrophages, which secrete pro-inflammatory factors that contribute to recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes to facilitate and maintain inflammation and tissue injury. Extensive damage to the alveolar epithelium directly increases the permeability of alveolar-capillary barriers, and apoptosis of AEC II weakens pulmonary surfactant secretion and alveolar fluid clearance, which aggravate protein-rich edema fluid in the interstitium and alveolus

promote and maintain inflammation and tissue (Aggarwal et al. 2014). Activated injury neutrophils contribute to lung injury by releasing pre-formed inflammatory mediators, reactive oxygen species, and proteinases and by the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps and highly injurious histones. The injured and activated endothelium and epithelium initiate tumor necrosis factor-mediated expression of tissue factor, which results in coagulation of dysregulated intra-vascular and intra-alveolar, platelet aggregation, micro-thrombi formation, and hyaline membrane formation. Extensive damage to the alveolar epithelium also leads to the loss of alveolar ion channels and weakens the

osmotic pressure for alveolar fluid clearance, which further promotes alveolar flooding. Endothelial activation and microvascular injury further facilitate alveolar-capillary barrier disruption as well as interstitial and intra-alveolar flooding in ALI. Alveolar flooding and collapse result in severely compromised gas diffusion and hypoxemia.

Impaired and extensive epithelial injury results in the proliferative phase of ALI, which is essential for host survival and is characterized by the transient expansion of resident fibroblasts, the formation of a provisional matrix, and proliferation of airway progenitor cells and differentiation from type II alveolar epithelial cells (AEC II) to type I alveolar epithelial cells (AEC I) (Vaughan et al. 2015). In adult humans, this phase usually occurs between 3 and 7 days following respiratory failure, whereas the timing was reported to be 1 week after injury for experimental animals (Matute-Bello et al. 2011; Beasley 2010). When epithelial integrity has been rebuilt, alveolar edema is reabsorbed and alveolar architecture and function are restored.

The final fibrotic phase does not occur in all ALI patients, but evidence suggests that this phase is related to prolonged mechanical ventilation and increased mortality. Patients in this phase are substantially related to the demand of mechanical ventilation, the development of interstitial and intra-alveolar fibrosis results from extensive basement membrane damage and inadequate or delayed re-epithelialization.

1.3 The Status of ALI Treatment

Lung disease research has shown that ALI is a syndrome characterized by substantial heterogeneity (Thompson et al. 2017). The complex pathophysiology of ALI seems to provide a wide range of targets that offer numerous therapeutic options, but to date there is no available pharmacotherapy based on the pathophysiology of ALI. Currently, ALI treatment is limited to primarily supportive care approaches, such as lungprotective ventilation (Beitler et al. 2016), the fluid conservative strategy (National Heart and B.I.A.R.D.S.C.T. Network 2006), and prone positioning (Fan et al. 2017). Unfortunately, supportive therapies for ARDS focus only on preventing further lung injury rather than actively accelerating tissue repair, and this is why the treatment effectiveness is so limited. In addition, current evidence from practice and research indicates that there is no safe tidal volume or airway pressure for ALI patients. Because the aerated lung volume decreases during the course of the disease, even normal tidal volumes delivered with airway pressure may induce regional overstretch, leading to further epithelium activation or injury and inflammation amplification. For patients who suffer from moderate-to-severe ARDS, ventilation while in the prone position is closely associated with decreased mortality, and this is currently recommended in clinical practice (Fan et al. 2017). Unfortunately, no pharmacologic therapy has been shown to decrease ARDS either short-term or long-term mortality. Therefore, new approaches to develop feasible therapies for ALI are needed.

2 Animal Models to Study ALI

2.1 Experimental Animal Models of ALI

Animal studies provide an experimental scenario that allows investigators to study underlying pathophysiological mechanisms and search for therapeutic approaches before translating them into humans. A good animal model should share similar anatomy and responses with humans so that it can be used to predict the feasibility of a therapeutic approach and provide a bridge from bench to bedside. However, no animal model can perfectly duplicate all human features when exposed to stimuli or treatments, and the ALI animal model is no exception. As recommended in the official documents of the American Thoracic Society (ATS), at least three of four main features of ALI should be present in an ALI animal model, including histological evidence of tissue injury, alteration of the alveolar capillary barrier, inflammatory response, and physiological dysfunction, which are specifically described in Table 2 (Matute-Bello et al. 2011). ATS documents also indicate that it is not necessary to establish a fully developed ALI animal model. In this regard, we previously summarized cellular mechanisms underlying lung regeneration and repair, and analyzed the role of stem cells both in small and large animal models (Yahaya 2012).

2.2 Evaluation of Common ALI Animal Models

For preclinical studies, numerous methods to develop animal models for ALI have been reported, including endotoxin (Wang et al. 2018; Zhu et al. 2017; Tang et al. 2017), bacteria (Monsel et al. 2015), ventilator (Hayes et al. 2015; Islam et al. 2019), and cecal ligation and puncture (Wang et al. 2015; Condor et al. 2016). According to these studies, neutrophils play an important role in the inflammatory response in ALI development in animal models, both for small and large animal.

Most ruminants, including goats and sheep, have segmented lungs, which means that many macrophages circulate in pulmonary vessels and that their pulmonary circulation tends to be sensitive to intravenous injection with endotoxin. Several studies reported that small doses of endotoxin induced increased pulmonary hypertension in these animals, and previous studies showed that smoke inhalation injury (Lange et al. 2012; Rehberg et al. 2013; Halim et al. 2019) and brushing injury (Yahaya et al. 2011; Kardia et al. 2018). Infiltration and accumulation of neutrophils were also reported to be the major feature in large animal models for ALI (Lange et al. 2012), but large animals are prone to microbial infection, so intravascular macrophages in these animals are easily augmented via stimulation of the local inflammatory reaction in response to microbe invasion.

In contrast, smaller animals and humans have fewer intravascular macrophages. Compared with large animals, small animals such as mice, rats, and rabbits are widely bred and very economical in terms of expenses. Numerous studies indicated that endotoxin-induced ALI in mice resulted in prominent inflammatory cell infiltration in the alveolar spaces, including neutrophils and macrophages, as well as interstitial edema and intra-alveolar septal thickening with fibrin and collagen deposition (Chen et al. 2014; Liou et al. 2017). The rat model showed a similar pattern of ALI characteristics following exposure to toxic chemicals such as sodium nitrate and naphthalene (Uriarte et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2016). Moreover, activated neutrophils were found to play a key role in initiating the inflammatory processes involved in the formation of hemorrhage or alveolar damage (Wang et al. 2018; Zhu et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2018). Murine lungs rarely develop hyaline membranes following ALI (Matute-Bello et al. 2011), whereas hyaline membranes in rabbit ALI models usually appear during the early exudative phase of ALI (Cao et al. 2012), which is consistent with the features in ALI patients. Moreover, gene sequence comparison analysis demonstrated that the rabbit shared a higher homology with the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) genes than mouse and rat, thus rabbit tissue is less likely to result in immune rejection of allotransplantation (Marche et al. 1985). Therefore, rabbits are commonly used in implantation and tissue engineering studies. However, the greater availability of specific reagents and genetically modified mice and rats make them popular for animal models.

The official ATS workshop report recommends the features and measurements of experimental ALI animal models and also describes the difference between ALI patients and several common ALI animal models in detail (Matute-Bello et al. 2011). Given the high frequency of use, we briefly summarized LPS, ventilator, and live bacteria-induced lung injury in Table 2. Almost all of the "very relevant" criteria are present in the top three most common animal models, so they can be used to further investigate the more efficient therapeutic approaches to treating ALI. The LPS-induced ALI mouse model is commonly used as a model of human ALI associated with severe pneumonia or sepsis because of its high efficiency. Intratracheal (i.t.) and intravenous (i.v.) delivery are commonly

Human patient		Measurement	Notes	LPS	VILI	Live bacteria
Histological evidence of tissue injury	Accumulation of neutrophils in the alveolar/interstitial space	H&E staining	Hyaline membranes are rarely observed in murine models	+	+	+
	Formation of hyaline membranes			+	+	+
	Proteinaceous debris in alveolar space			+	+	+
	Thickening of the alveolar wall			+	+	+
	Injury by a standardized histology score			+	+	+
Alteration of the alveolar	Increased extravascular lung water content	Wet-to-dry ratios	More errors for very small lungs	+	+	+
capillary barrier	Accumulation of protein/ tracer in airspaces/ extravascular space	EBD	Intravenous injection in advance	+	+	+
	Total BAL protein concentration	BALF-total protein	Technical challenges and difficult to	+	+	+
	BAL concentration of high molecular weight proteins	concentration, IgM	standardize	+	+	+
	(Micro-)vascular filtration coefficient $(K_{\rm f})$	Under machine testing	Only for isolated perfused lung	(+)	+	(+)
Inflammatory response	BAL total neutrophil counts	BALF-cytospin, Wright-Giemsa staining	Neutrophil number and percentage	+	+	+
	Lung MPO activity	ELISA kits or colorimetric assay	Cell-free BALF or whole lung homogenates	+	+	+
	Concentrations of cytokines	qRT-PCR or ELISA kits	mRNA or protein expression	+	(+)	+
Physiological	Hypoxemia	Under machine	Equipment limits	+	+	+
dysfunction	Increased alveolar-arterial oxygen difference	testing		+	+	+

Table 2 Presence of "very relevant" criteria in the top three common animal models of ALI

Notes: LPS lipopolysaccharide, VILI ventilator-induced lung injury, BALF broncho-alveolar lavage fluid, EBD Evans blue dye, MPO myeloperoxidase, RT-PCR reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction, H&E Hematoxylin and eosin, ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

+, the criterion was present in virtually all studies using this model

(+) the criterion was present in the majority of studies using this model

used to induce ALI in animal models in preclinical studies, but there are some differences between these two delivery approaches. The former is pulmonary administration, and the ALI model reveals how the alveolar epithelium structure in the lungs is injured, including by polymorphonuclear (PMN) cell infiltration in intraalveolar areas, diffuse alveolar edema, and mild changes in epithelial permeability. Use of i.v. delivery shows how the vascular endothelium structure in the lungs is injured, such as via PMN cell accumulation in capillaries and the interstitium with mild infiltration in intra-alveolar areas, presence of protein-rich alveolar edema, and mild changes in epithelial permeability. Just like in human patients, i.t. and i.v. delivery in animal models mimic direct and indirect insult, respectively. However, these animal models usually heal with few areas of fibrosis remaining, so investigators should adjust the time points in

preclinical studies, especially in therapeutic research (Lopes-Pacheco et al. 2019).

3 Stem Cell Therapy for ALI

Cell therapies are new potential treatments that aim to repair injured tissue and mitigate inflammation via regeneration by virtue of their multipotency as well as the release of and regulation by their soluble bioactive factors. In recent years, preclinical studies have shown the potential of cell therapies in treating lung diseases and critical illness, and they are likely to provide novel therapeutic candidates for general ARDS patients. In this context, our group has previously established an aerosol-based cell therapy using AECs for the treatment of ALI models, both in vivo and in vitro. The results indicated that AEC delivery remarkably accelerated the repair and regeneration of the respiratory airway (Kardia et al. 2017, 2018). Currently, adult stem cells have been regarded as a promising approach for ALI because of their ability to alleviate the major pathologies underlying ALI (Zhu et al. 2013). Stem cell therapy for ALI disease is recognized as a promising option not only for controlling symptoms but also for its potential benefit as a curative treatment regimen.

3.1 Cell Therapy Using MSCs

To date, MSCs may offer the best choice for clinical trials due to their multi-lineage differentiation capability, potent ability to modulate the inflammation process and immune system, diverse sources, ease of harvesting, and extensive preclinical studies (Kim and Park 2017). MSCs are non-hematopoietic multipotent stem cells derived from a variety of tissues such as bone marrow, adipose tissue, umbilical cord, placenta, dental pulp of deciduous baby teeth, menstrual blood, and several organs including the liver, spleen, and lung (Samsonraj et al. 2017). In vitro functional studies indicate multiple physiological roles of MSCs related to their heterogeneity and tissue location of origin (Sacchetti et al. 2016; Klimczak and Kozlowska 2016; Heo et al. 2016). The International Society of Cellular Therapy has defined MSCs as cells having these criteria: (1) They adhere to a plastic surface under standard tissue culture conditions; (2) they express certain cell surface markers, such as CD73, CD90, and CD105, but they must not express other markers, including CD45, CD34, CD14 or CD11b, CD79a, CD19, and HLA-DR; and (3) they are able to differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts under standard in vitro conditions (Dominici et al. 2006). Numerous studies have demonstrated the therapeutic potential of MSCs in multiple diseases, especially for tissue injury and degenerative and immunological diseases.

Halim et al. (Halim et al. 2019) previously investigated the effects of MSC treatment on asthma-related airway inflammation via aerosolization delivery, and the results demonstrated that MSC treatment relieved airway inflammation and reversed airway remodeling. Additionally, MSCs likely are able to elude clearance by the host immune system through a variety of mechanisms, including low expression of MHC I and II proteins and lack of the T-cell costimulatory molecules, CD80 and CD86; thus, they often are referred to as being 'immuno-privileged' (Lee et al. 2011). Past studies provide a powerful basis for exploring innovative approaches for the treatment of inflammatory diseases.

Several pilot clinical trials were conducted by research institutes or hospitals from all over the world, and they can be tracked on 'clinical trial. gov' (Table 3). The aim of most of the clinical trials was to assess the safety and efficiency of MSCs in patients with ALI/ARDS. Only three early-stage clinical trials have been completed with updated results, and they demonstrated that one dose of MSCs with intravenous delivery was safe for moderate to severe ARDS patients (Zheng et al. 2014; Wilson et al. 2015; Matthay et al. 2019). However, there are multiple challenges for evaluation of treatment efficiency, as dosage, time interval, delivery route, and illness severity must be considered and compared between MSC-treated and placebo groups. Currently, the optimum therapeutic dosage of MSCs

Table	3 Clinical trials	of MSC-base	ed therapies for	ALI/ARDS patients						
No.	D	Phase	Treatment	Intervention	Enrollment	Follow-up	Status	Results	Country	References
	NCT01902082	н	hAD-MSCs	1 million cells/kg, single dose, i.v.	12 (6/6)	28 days	Completed	MSC administration is safe and well tolerated, but significant difference on clinical outcome was weak	China	Zheng et al. (2014)
5	NCT01775774	I	hBM- MSCs	Dose-escalation: 1/5/10 million cells/kg, single dose, i.v.	9 (3/3/3)	12 months	Completed	All MSC dose levels were well tolerated, with no infusion-related adverse events	USA	Wilson et al. (2015)
ε	NCT02097641	Па	hBM- MSCs	10 million cells/ kg, single dose, i. v.	60 (40/20)	12 months	Completed	A trend for improvement in oxygenation index was observed in the MSC group, but it was not significant.	USA	Matthay et al. (2019) Extension of NCT01775774
4	NCT02804945	П	hBM- MSCs	3 million cells/kg, single dose, i.v.	20	60 days	Completed	No results posted	USA	No reference available
S	NCT02611609	IVI	MultiStem	Low/high dose, no details	36	12 months	Completed	No results posted	USA/ UK	No reference available
9	NCT03608592	Not applicable	hUC-MSCs	1 million cells/kg, single dose, i.v.	26	60 days	Recruiting	No results posted	China	No reference available
٢	NCT02444455	II/I	hUC-MSCs	0.5 million/kg, once daily for 3 days. i.v.	20	14 days	Unknown	No results posted	China	No reference available
×	NCT02095444	IVI	hMens- MSCs	10 million cells/ kg, twice a week for 2 weeks, i.v.	20	14 days	Unknown	No results posted	China	No reference available
6	NCT02112500	Π	hBM- MSCs	i.v., no details	10	28 days	Unknown	No results posted	Korea	No reference available
10	NCT03042143	II/I	hUC-MSCs	Dose-escalation: 100/200/ 400 million cells/ patient, single dose, i.v.	75	28 days	Recruiting	No results posted	UK	No reference available
=	NCT03807804	П	hBM- MSCs (MultiStem HLCM051)	900 million cells/ patient, single dose, i.v.	30	28 days	Recruiting	No results posted	Japan	No reference available
										(continued)

No.	D	Phase	Treatment	Intervention	Enrollment	Follow-up	Status	Results	Country	References
12	NCT02215811	Ι	hBM- MSCs	Not reported	10	12 months	Unknown	No results posted	Sweden	No reference available
13	NCT03552848	Not applicable	hUC-MSCs	1 million cells/kg, once every 4 days for 4 times, i.v.	60 (30/30)	24 months	Recruiting	No results posted	China	No reference available
14	NCT03818854	II þ	hBM- MSCs	10 million cells/ kg, single dose, i. v.	120 (60/60)	60 days	Not yet recruiting	No results posted	USA	Extension of NCT01775774 & NCT0209 7,641
A11 ini	ormation was tab	en from: http:	s-//clinicaltrials			-	-	-		

Table 3 (continued)

All information was taken from: https://clinicatirials.gov/ Notes: MSCs mesenchymal stem cells, BM bone marrow-derived, UC umbilical cord-derived, AD adipose-derived, Mens menstrual blood-derived, h human, i.v. intravenous

J. Lian et al.

for treating lung diseases is unknown. In addition, and perhaps more importantly, we do not know whether it is necessary to deliver multiple doses of MSCs to treat advanced ALI animal models or ARDS patients.

Although the precise therapeutic mechanisms by which MSCs alleviate ALI remain unclear, a number of important insights from recent preclinical studies have emerged (Fig. 2), and they include but are not limited to cell-to-cell interactions and secretion of soluble factors, such as growth factors, matrix proteins, cytokines and extracellular vesicles, as well as through mitochondrial transfer (Lee et al. 2019; Lopes-Pacheco et al. 2019; Zhu et al. 2013; Abraham and Krasnodembskaya 2019). MSCs have been proven to play crucial roles in anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic activities, to facilitate epithelial and endothelial cell restoration, and to increase microbial and alveolar fluid clearance, resulting in the improvement of lung and distal organ injury as well as survival (Lopes-Pacheco et al.

2019; Xiang et al. 2017; Pedrazza et al. 2017; Morrison et al. 2017; Ren et al. 2018).

In support of these findings, Halim et al. (Halim et al. 2018) demonstrated that MSC-secreted proteins facilitated airway epithelial repair by stimulating the regenerative ability and endogenous reparation of lung cells, and most of proteins were extracellular proteins. In addition, MSCs have been demonstrated to alleviate LPS-induced ALI through downregulation of miR-142a-5p, which mediates autophagy of pulmonary endothelial cells by increasing Beclin-1 protein (Zhou and You 2016). Additionally, the NF-kB, MAPK, and STAT3 signaling pathways are all thought to be involved in the effects of MSC treatment in the ALI animal model, but more studies are needed to elucidate the therapeutic mechanism. So far, our group has already explored the feasibility of cell therapy both in chronic (Halim et al. 2019) and acute lung disease (Kardia et al. 2018); the results were consistent with each other, which showed



Fig. 2 Mechanisms underlying the modulation of inflammation and lung tissue repair by MSCs in ALI. MSCs have been proven to facilitate tissue repair and relieve inflammation by cell-to-cell contact, mitochondrial transfer, and

paracrine or endocrine soluble factors, including growth factors, anti-inflammatory cytokines, and chemokines, as well as EVs

that MSCs or AECs reduced inflammation of the lung and airways and facilitated lung regeneration. In summary, all of these studies provided essential knowledge and data to support the therapeutic potential of MSCs to treat ALI conditions.

Nonetheless, cell-based therapy poses the risk of occlusion in microvasculature and unregulated growth in vivo. Among these concerns, the first is the risk of tumor formation. Additionally, extensive ex-vivo expansion are required for sufficient cell numbers in clinical protocols. Controversies about the stability of human derived MSCs (hMSCs) highlight the need to address hMSC stability in long-term cultures before use in clinical treatment (Bernardo et al. 2007; Meza-Zepeda et al. 2008; Rosland et al. 2009). A numbers of studies indicated that hMSCs may contribute to cancer development and progression either by acting as cancer-initiating cells or through interactions with stromal elements (Herberts et al. 2011). Lee and Hong (2017) demonstrated that MSCs have the ability to accelerate tumor growth due to their ability to migrate and home to the tumor site and alter its microenvironment, and they also can produce cytokines that stimulate tumor growth. However, although MSCs have the ability to induce tumor growth, there is no evidence from MSC clinical trials showing the involvement of MSCs in tumor development. Further research is needed before MSCs can be considered as a safe candidate for clinical treatment in patients.

Another issue related to MSC use is dose optimization in terms of number of cells in a single dose for testing in both preclinical and clinical experiments. High doses of MSCs are associated with several safety concerns; for example, a high dose by i.v. delivery could induce pulmonary embolism. Finally, MSCs are live cells, so particular care must be taken in their storage and transportation. DMSO is required as a preservative for MSC cryopreservation, and the process of cryopreserving and thawing reduce the viability of MSCs, which could have an adverse effect on their therapeutic efficacy in patients (Matthay et al. 2019). In view of these issues, there is an urgent need to find a safer cell-free therapeutic approach. It is widely accepted that the paracrine

effects of MSCs are due mainly to mediation by extracellular vesicles (EVs) secretion, so the therapeutic potential of MSC-derived EVs is being actively explored as an alternative approach to MSC-based treatments.

3.2 MSC-EVs as a Potential Therapeutic for ALI

Initially, the therapeutic effects of MSCs were thought to derive from their engraftment in the injury site and regeneration afterwards. However, subsequent experimental evidence demonstrated that most MSCs administered get trapped in capillary networks and are transient in injury sites, which indicates that engraftment plays little role in therapeutic action (Eggenhofer et al. 2014). Subsequent studies demonstrated that the therapeutic properties of MSCs are derived from soluble factors with paracrine or endocrine effects, including growth factors, anti-inflammatory cytokines, and antimicrobial peptides, which can facilitate alveolar epithelial proliferation and stabilize the alveolar-capillary barrier, regulate the inflammatory microenvironment, and enhance alveolar fluid clearance and decrease infection (Lee et al. 2011). These findings provided a sufficient theoretical basis for the usage of novel cellfree therapies. MSC-EVs would be one of the most compelling alternatives for cell-free therapy because of their lower risk of allogenic immune rejection, accessible preservation, and higher stability compared with MSCs. In addition, EVs can carry micro and messenger RNAs as well as lipids, proteins, and even organelles, which can be used to regulate the behavior of target cells and shift gene expression (Yáñez-Mó et al. 2015). EVs also can bypass the blood-brain barrier by transcytosis through the endothelial layers to deliver cargo biomolecules to the brain parenchyma (Chen et al. 2016). The therapeutic application of MSC-EVs remains promising, and recent studies have underlined the new potential role of EVs as a paracrine of endocrine vehicle to deliver multiple soluble factors with a similar phenotype as the parent cell (Zhu et al. 2014).

Additionally, compared to their parent cells, EVs can be safely stored without losing function.

EVs were first clearly described by Pan and Johnstone (1983). Initially, EVs were thought to be a disposal mechanism by which cells eliminate unwanted proteins and other molecules. Subsequent research showed that EV secretions are important mediators of cell-to-cell communication that is involved in normal physiological process but also plays a crucial role in the development and progression of diseases. EVs are classified based on their cellular origin, biological function, and biogenesis, and the three main classes recognized currently are exosomes, microvesicles, and apoptotic bodies (Table 4) (El Andaloussi et al. 2013). According to the guidelines from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles' minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018), EVs can be characterized by four distinct aspects (Théry et al. 2018). The first is quantification of EVs, both in terms of number of cell sources and the amount of EVs from a given number of cells; measurements can include the total levels of protein, lipids, or RNA. This aspect suggests that it would be informative to analyze at least one membrane bound (CD63, CD9, or CD81) and one cytosolic protein (TSG101 or ALIX) in EVs. The secondly aspect is the protein composition, specific markers in proteins, and non-protein components of EVs, and these can be analyzed

using Western blotting or PCR (Hartjes et al. 2019). Third, single vesicle analysis of EVs can be conducted using visualization techniques such as transmission electron microscopy (Shao et al. 2018). Finally, other EV-associated components can be evaluated by topology analysis.

Importantly, Ratajczak et al. (2012) reported that EVs secreted by stem cells contributed to their maintenance and plasticity; in other words, stem cell-derived EVs play a critical role in tissue regeneration after injury. For example, EVs from MSCs have been used to stimulate tissue repair following cardiovascular (Lai et al. 2011), kidney (Bruno et al. 2016; Song et al. 2017) and lung (Lee et al. 2011; Hayes et al. 2012; Monsel et al. 2016) injury. On the other hand, the effect of EVs on regulation of the immune response depends on the status of particular immune cells, as they might trigger adaptive immune responses or suppress inflammation in a tolerogenic manner (Robbins and Morelli 2014). Such wide-raging cellular and biological functions indicate that MSC-EVs, in virtue of their pleiotropic signaling, may have innate therapeutic potential for regenerative medicine and immunotherapy. Moreover, Phinney et al. (2015) reported that there are functionally active mitochondria and numerous miRNAs in MSC-EVs. This is an important finding because ALI always clinically results in multiple organ dysfunction syndrome, which is

Types	Origin	Size	Content	Markers
Exosomes	Endolysosomal pathway; intraluminal budding of multivesicular bodies and fusion of multivesicular body with cell membrane	40–120 nm	mRNA, miRNA, and other non-coding RNAs; cytoplasmic and membrane proteins including receptors and MHC molecules	Tetraspanins (TSPAN29 and TSPAN30), ESCRT components, PDCD61P, TSG101, flotillin, MFGE8
Microvesicles	Cell surface; outward budding of cell membrane	50–1,000 nm	mRNA, miRNA, non-coding RNAs, cytoplasmic proteins, and membrane proteins, including receptors	Integrins, selectins, CD40 ligand
Apoptotic bodies	Cell surface; outward blebbing of apoptotic cell membrane	500–2000 nm	Nuclear fractions, cell organelles	Extensive amounts of phosphatidylserine

Table 4 Classification and characterization of EVs

Notes: *ESCRT* endosomal sorting complex required for transport, *MFGE8* milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 protein, *PDCD61P* programmed cell death 6 interacting protein (also known as ALIX), *TSG101* tumor susceptibility gene 101 protein, *TSPAN29* tetraspanin 29

associated with mitochondrial dysfunction. Therefore, mitochondria-targeted strategies are increasingly being explored as a promising therapeutic approach for treating lung injury, and MSC-EV-mediated mitochondria transfer is one of the most exciting among them (Agrawal and Mabalirajan 2015).

Although preclinical studies of the therapeutic use of MSCs-EVs in ALI are still in their infancy, MSCs-EVs are thought to be as powerful as their parent cells in promoting remission in ALI and other inflammatory lung disease models because they pass their cargo to recipient cells, thus facilitating the therapeutic benefits. The application potential of EVs versus intact live cells is significant because: (1) they have no iatrogenic tumor risk because of their non-self-replicating property; (2) they can be stored at -80 °C without DMSO and without loss of biological activity; (3) they offer potential for multiple doses or a higher single dose without significantly affecting the patient's hemodynamic or respiratory variables; and (4) they do not express MHC antigens so they can be used for allogeneic transplantation. However, utilization of MSC-EVs will require large-scale production and standardization, which pose issues concerning identification, characterization, and quantification.

3.3 Routes of Cell Delivery and Their Therapeutic Impacts

The therapeutic benefits of MSCs for ALI summarized all relevant articles from 2007 to 2019 both for natural and modified/ preconditioned MSCs, and it demonstrated that many ALI models involved LPS by i.t. and i.v. challenge (Lopes-Pacheco et al. 2019). The preclinical studies of MSCs in ALI used various delivery approaches (systemic or local), diverse doses, multiple origins (bone marrow, umbilical cord, menstrual blood, adipose, or other tissues), and different schedules of administration (before or after challenge). However, bone marrow and umbilical cord are the more common sources of MSCs, and umbilical cord-derived MSCs are currently most popular for clinical application due to their accessibility and lack of ethical concerns (Li et al. 2012; Sun et al. 2011).

Several studies demonstrated the therapeutic efficacy and mechanism of action of human MSCs in a mouse ALI model induced by i.t. administration of LPS; i.v. delivery at 4 h (Zhang et al. 2018; He et al. 2015; Xu et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2018) and 6 h (Ren et al. 2018) after LPS challenge; or i.t. delivery at 4 h post-LPS challenge (Wang et al. 2018; Ionescu et al. 2012). In these studies, MSCs reduced alveolar inflammation and edema by decreasing the influx of inflammatory cells and total protein levels in the endotoxin-damaged alveolus. In addition, the therapeutic effects of the MSCs were comparable regardless of route of administration. Zhu et al. (2014) used the endotoxin-induced ALI mouse model to explore the therapeutic potential of MSC-EVs in ALI and reported that MSC-EVs decreased the influx of total inflammatory cells into the lung by 36% and the influx of neutrophils by 73%. Similarly, in another mouse model of hypoxia-induced hypertension, pulmonary i.v. injection of MSCs-EVs resulted in delayed pulmonary influx of macrophages and reduced production of pro-inflammatory mediators compared to injection of mouse lung fibroblastderived EVs (Lee et al. 2012).

MSC administration has been performed via either systemic or local routes in experimental models. Systemic administration (e.g., i.v.) is readily available in clinical practice and provides wide distribution throughout the whole body, but it also results in cell waste along the route. In contrast, local administration (e.g., i.t.) delivers cells to the lung directly, so this is the more straightforward route for treating lung disease. However, i.t. intubation is a more difficult technique, especially for small animals such as mice and rats, whereas the i.v. route is more easily accessible for animals. Although the pulmonary first-pass effect has been detected with i.v. administration (Fischer et al. 2009), which results from cell retention in the lung, this effect may be beneficial for lung repair.

4 Conclusions

In conclusion, ALI remains a severe clinical condition with high morbidity and mortality, both for adults and children, but no effective pharmacotherapy exists. However, MSC-EV therapy is likely to provide a promising option not only for controlling symptoms but also for its potential benefit as a curative treatment regimen. EVs can be readily isolated from MSCs from various sources, and MSC-EVs have shown prominent therapeutic benefits in a range of ALI animal models. MSC-EVs also are considered to be non-immunogenic and break through the bloodbrain barrier, so the therapeutic potency of MSC-EVs may be even better compared with their parental cells.

However, the dose, route, and time points of MSC-EV treatments vary substantially based on different preclinical animal studies, and the optimal treatment remains to be determined. Among the various delivery routes, intratracheal instillation seems to be the most straightforward approach to enhancing bacteria clearance, but for practical reasons it may not be feasible to instill MSCs or MSC-EVs for ALI patients (e.g., those who are hypoxemic). Thus, we need to balance efficiency and utility. Intratracheal intubation is the key technique for the pulmonaryinduced ALI animal model, and it must be verified before real animal experiments begin. Moreover, many issues need to be addressed before translation of MSC-EVs to clinical trials, including the standardization of MSC-EVs collection, appropriate assessments for MSC-EVs in ALI, and whether we need to extract one or two components from EVs. Nevertheless, MSC-EVs have great therapeutic potential for treating ALI, and this cell-free therapy should be studied further.

Acknowledgements This study was supported by the Universiti Sains Malaysia Research University Grant Scheme (1001/CIPPT/8012203) and the Fundamental Research Grant Scheme of the Ministry of Education, Malaysia (203/CIPPT/6711725). The authors declare that there is no potential conflict of interest.

References

- Abraham A, Krasnodembskaya A (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles for the treatment of acute respiratory distress syndrome: concise review. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10. 1002/sctm.19-0205
- Aggarwal NR, King LS, D'Alessio FR (2014) Diverse macrophage populations mediate acute lung inflammation and resolution. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 306(8):L709–L725. https://doi.org/10.1152/ ajplung.00341.2013
- Agrawal A, Mabalirajan U (2015) Rejuvenating cellular respiration for optimizing respiratory function: targeting mitochondria. Am J Phys Lung Cell Mol Phys 310(2):L103–L113
- Ashbaugh DG et al (1967) Acute respiratory distress in adults. Lancet 2(7511):319–323. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0140-6736(67)90168-7
- Beasley MB (2010) The pathologist's approach to acute lung injury. Arch Pathol Lab Med 134(5):719–727. https://doi.org/10.1043/1543-2165-134.5.719
- Beitler JR, Malhotra A, Thompson BT (2016) Ventilatorinduced lung injury. Clin Chest Med 37(4):633–646
- Bellani G et al (2016) Epidemiology, patterns of care, and mortality for patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome in intensive care units in 50 countries. JAMA 315(8):788–800
- Bernard GR et al (1994) The American-European Consensus Conference on ARDS. Definitions, mechanisms, relevant outcomes, and clinical trial coordination. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 149(3):818–824
- Bernardo ME et al (2007) Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells do not undergo transformation after long-term in vitro culture and do not exhibit telomere maintenance mechanisms. Cancer Res 67 (19):9142–9149
- Biehl M et al (2015) Six-month quality-of-life and functional status of acute respiratory distress syndrome survivors compared to patients at risk: a populationbased study. Crit Care 19:356. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13054-015-1062-y
- Bruno S, Porta S, Bussolati B (2016) Extracellular vesicles in renal tissue damage and regeneration. Eur J Pharmacol 790:83–91
- Cao JP et al (2012) Autologous transplantation of peripheral blood-derived circulating endothelial progenitor cells attenuates endotoxin-induced acute lung injury in rabbits by direct endothelial repair and indirect immunomodulation. Anesthesiology 116 (6):1278–1287. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN. 0b013e3182567f84
- Chen L et al (2014) Protective effect of p-cymene on lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury in mice. Inflammation 37(2):358–364
- Chen CC et al (2016) Elucidation of exosome migration across the blood-brain barrier model in vitro. Cell Mol

Bioeng 9(4):509–529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12195-016-0458-3

- Condor JM et al (2016) Treatment with human Wharton's jelly-derived mesenchymal stem cells attenuates sepsis-induced kidney injury, liver injury, and endo-thelial dysfunction. Stem Cells Transl Med 5 (8):1048–1057. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0138
- Dominici M et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8(4):315–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14653240600855905
- Eggenhofer E et al (2014) The life and fate of mesenchymal stem cells. Front Immunol 5:148. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00148
- El Andaloussi S et al (2013) Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12(5):347–357. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrd3978
- Fan E et al (2017) An official American Thoracic Society/European Society of Intensive Care Medicine/Society of Critical Care Medicine clinical practice guideline: mechanical ventilation in adult patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 195(9):1253–1263
- Ferguson ND et al (2012) The Berlin definition of ARDS: an expanded rationale, justification, and supplementary material. Intensive Care Med 38(10):1573–1582
- Fischer UM et al (2009) Pulmonary passage is a major obstacle for intravenous stem cell delivery: the pulmonary first-pass effect. Stem Cells Dev 18(5):683–692. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2008.0253
- Force ADT, Ranieri V, Rubenfeld G (2012) Acute respiratory distress syndrome. JAMA 307(23):2526–2533
- Halim NS, Aizat WM, Yahaya BH (2018) The effect of mesenchymal stem cell-secreted factors on airway epithelial repair. Regen Med 14(1):15–31
- Halim N et al (2019) Aerosolised mesenchymal stem cells expressing angiopoietin-1 enhances airway repair. Stem Cell Rev Rep 15(1):112–125
- Hartjes TA et al (2019) Extracellular vesicle quantification and characterization: common methods and emerging approaches. Bioengineering 6(7). https://doi.org/10. 3390/bioengineering6010007
- Hayes M et al (2012) Clinical review: stem cell therapies for acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome-hope or hype? Crit Care 16(2):205
- Hayes M et al (2015) Mesenchymal stromal cells are more effective than the MSC secretome in diminishing injury and enhancing recovery following ventilatorinduced lung injury. Intensive Care Med Exp 3(1):29
- He H et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 rescue lipopolysaccharide-induced lung injury. Cell Transplant 24(9):1699–1715
- Heo JS et al (2016) Comparison of molecular profiles of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, placenta and adipose

tissue. Int J Mol Med 37(1):115–125. https://doi.org/ 10.3892/ijmm.2015.2413

- Herberts CA, Kwa MS, Hermsen HP (2011) Risk factors in the development of stem cell therapy. J Transl Med 9:29. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-9-29
- Herridge MS et al (2016) Recovery and outcomes after the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in patients and their family caregivers. Intensive Care Med 42 (5):725–738
- Ionescu L et al (2012) Stem cell conditioned medium improves acute lung injury in mice: in vivo evidence for stem cell paracrine action. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 303(11):L967–L977. https://doi.org/10. 1152/ajplung.00144.2011
- Islam D et al (2019) Identification and modulation of microenvironment is crucial for effective mesenchymal stromal cell therapy in acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 199(10):1214–1224
- Jin Z, Chun Suen K, Ma D (2017) Perioperative "remote" acute lung injury: recent update. J Biomed Res 31 (3):197–212. https://doi.org/10.7555/JBR.31. 20160053
- Kardia E, Mohamed R, Yahaya BH (2017) Stimulatory secretions of airway epithelial cells accelerate early repair of tracheal epithelium. Sci Rep 7(1):11732
- Kardia E, Ch'ng E, Yahaya B (2018) Aerosol-based airway epithelial cell delivery improves airway regeneration and repair. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 12(2):e995– e1007
- Khemani RG et al (2019) Paediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome incidence and epidemiology (PAR-DIE): an international, observational study. Lancet Respir Med 7(2):115–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2213-2600(18)30344-8
- Kim HJ, Park JS (2017) Usage of human mesenchymal stem cells in cell-based therapy: advantages and disadvantages. Dev Reprod 21(1):1–10. https://doi. org/10.12717/DR.2017.21.1.001
- Klimczak A, Kozlowska U (2016) Mesenchymal stromal cells and tissue-specific progenitor cells: their role in tissue homeostasis. Stem Cells Int. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2016/4285215
- Lai RC, Chen TS, Lim SK (2011) Mesenchymal stem cell exosome: a novel stem cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disease. Regen Med 6(4):481–492
- Lange M et al (2012) Time profile of oxidative stress and neutrophil activation in ovine acute lung injury and sepsis. Shock 37(5):468–472. https://doi.org/10.1097/ SHK.0b013e31824b1793
- Lee HY, Hong IS (2017) Double-edged sword of mesenchymal stem cells: cancer-promoting versus therapeutic potential. Cancer Sci 108(10):1939–1946
- Lee JW et al (2011) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells for acute lung injury: role of paracrine soluble factors. Stem Cells 29(6):913–919. https://doi.org/10. 1002/stem.643
- Lee C et al (2012) Exosomes mediate the cytoprotective action of mesenchymal stromal cells on hypoxiainduced pulmonary hypertension. Circulation 126

(22):2601–2611. https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.112.114173

- Lee JH, Park J, Lee JW (2019) Therapeutic use of mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles in acute lung injury. Transfusion 59(S1):876–883
- Li J et al (2012) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells reduce systemic inflammation and attenuate LPS-induced acute lung injury in rats. J Inflamm (Lond) 9(1):33. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-9255-9-33
- Liou C-J et al (2017) Water extract of Helminthostachys zeylanica attenuates LPS-induced acute lung injury in mice by modulating NF-κB and MAPK pathways. J Ethnopharmacol 199:30–38
- Liu G et al (2018) Tracking of transplanted human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells labeled with fluorescent probe in a mouse model of acute lung injury. Int J Mol Med 41(5):2527–2534
- Lopes-Pacheco M et al (2019) Current understanding of the therapeutic benefits of mesenchymal stem cells in acute respiratory distress syndrome. Cell Biol Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10565-019-09493-5
- Marche PN et al (1985) Structure of a functional rabbit class I MHC gene: similarity to human class I genes. Immunogenetics 21(1):71–82
- Matthay MA et al (2019) Treatment with allogeneic mesenchymal stromal cells for moderate to severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (START study): a randomised phase 2a safety trial. Lancet Respir Med 7(2):154–162
- Matute-Bello G et al (2011) An official American Thoracic Society workshop report: features and measurements of experimental acute lung injury in animals. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 44(5):725–738. https://doi.org/ 10.1165/rcmb.2009-0210ST
- Meza-Zepeda LA et al (2008) High-resolution analysis of genetic stability of human adipose tissue stem cells cultured to senescence. J Cell Mol Med 12 (2):553–563. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934. 2007.00146.x
- Monsel A et al (2015) Therapeutic effects of human mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles in severe pneumonia in mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 192 (3):324–336. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201410-1765OC
- Monsel A et al (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell derived secretome and extracellular vesicles for acute lung injury and other inflammatory lung diseases. Expert Opin Biol Ther 16(7):859–871
- Morrison TJ et al (2017) Mesenchymal stromal cells modulate macrophages in clinically relevant lung injury models by extracellular vesicle mitochondrial transfer. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 196(10):1275–1286
- National Heart L, B.I.A.R.D.S.C.T. Network (2006) Comparison of two fluid-management strategies in acute lung injury. N Engl J Med 354(24):2564–2575
- Pan BT, Johnstone RM (1983) Fate of the transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro: selective externalization of the receptor. Cell

33(3):967–978. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(83)90040-5

- Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference Group (2015) Pediatric acute respiratory distress syndrome: consensus recommendations from the Pediatric Acute Lung Injury Consensus Conference. Pediatr Crit Care Med 16(5):428–439. https://doi.org/10.1097/PCC. 0000000000000350
- Pedrazza L et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cells improves survival in LPS-induced acute lung injury acting through inhibition of NETs formation. J Cell Physiol 232(12):3552–3564
- Phinney DG et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem cells use extracellular vesicles to outsource mitophagy and shuttle microRNAs. Nat Commun 6:8472. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ncomms9472
- Ratajczak M et al (2012) Pivotal role of paracrine effects in stem cell therapies in regenerative medicine: can we translate stem cell-secreted paracrine factors and microvesicles into better therapeutic strategies? Leukemia 26(6):1166
- Rehberg S et al (2013) Antithrombin attenuates vascular leakage via inhibiting neutrophil activation in acute lung injury. Crit Care Med 41(12):e439–e446. https:// doi.org/10.1097/CCM.0b013e318298ad3a
- Ren H et al (2018) Comparative effects of umbilical cordand menstrual blood-derived MSCs in repairing acute lung injury. Stem Cells Int 2018:7873625. https://doi. org/10.1155/2018/7873625
- Robbins PD, Morelli AE (2014) Regulation of immune responses by extracellular vesicles. Nat Rev Immunol 14(3):195–208. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3622
- Rosland GV et al (2009) Long-term cultures of bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells frequently undergo spontaneous malignant transformation. Cancer Res 69(13):5331–5339. https://doi.org/ 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4630
- Sacchetti B et al (2016) No identical "mesenchymal stem cells" at different times and sites: human committed progenitors of distinct origin and differentiation potential are incorporated as adventitial cells in microvessels. Stem Cell Rep 6(6):897–913
- Samsonraj RM et al (2017) Concise review: multifaceted characterization of human mesenchymal stem cells for use in regenerative medicine. Stem Cells Transl Med 6 (12):2173–2185
- Shao H et al (2018) New technologies for analysis of extracellular vesicles. Chem Rev 118(4):1917–1950
- Song Z et al (2010) Genetic variants in the TIRAP gene are associated with increased risk of sepsis-associated acute lung injury. BMC Med Genet 11(168). https:// doi.org/10.1186/1471-2350-11-168
- Song Z et al (2012) Genetic variation in the TNF receptorassociated factor 6 gene is associated with susceptibility to sepsis-induced acute lung injury. J Transl Med 10 (1):166
- Song Y et al (2014) Acute respiratory distress syndrome: emerging research in China. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 190(10):1090–1093

- Song Y et al (2017) Exosomal miR-146a contributes to the enhanced therapeutic efficacy of interleukin-1β-primed mesenchymal stem cells against Sepsis. Stem Cells 35 (5):1208–1221
- Sun J et al (2011) Intrapulmonary delivery of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells attenuates acute lung injury by expanding CD4+ CD25+ Forkhead Boxp3 (FOXP3)+ regulatory T cells and balancing anti-and pro-inflammatory factors. Cell Physiol Biochem 27(5):587–596
- Tang XD et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell microvesicles attenuate acute lung injury in mice partly mediated by Ang-1 mRNA. Stem Cells 35 (7):1849–1859
- Théry C et al (2018) Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. J Extracell Vesicles 7(1):1535750. https://doi.org/10. 1080/20013078.2018.1535750
- Thompson BT, Chambers RC, Liu KD (2017) Acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 377 (6):562–572. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1608077
- Uriarte SM et al (2013) Inhibition of neutrophil exocytosis ameliorates acute lung injury in rats. Shock 39 (3):286–292. https://doi.org/10.1097/SHK. 0b013e318282c9a1
- Vaughan AE et al (2015) Lineage-negative progenitors mobilize to regenerate lung epithelium after major injury. Nature 517(7536):621–625. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature14112
- Villar J, Blanco J, Kacmarek RM (2016) Current incidence and outcome of the acute respiratory distress syndrome. Curr Opin Crit Care 22(1):1–6
- Wang Y et al (2015) Non-cultured dermal-derived mesenchymal cells attenuate sepsis induced by cecal ligation and puncture in mice. Sci Rep 5:16973. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep16973
- Wang C et al (2018) Interleukin-10-overexpressing mesenchymal stromal cells induce a series of regulatory effects in the inflammatory system and promote the survival of endotoxin-induced acute lung injury in mice model. DNA Cell Biol 37(1):53–61. https://doi. org/10.1089/dna.2017.3735
- Wilson JG et al (2015) Mesenchymal stem (stromal) cells for treatment of ARDS: a phase 1 clinical trial. Lancet Respir Med 3(1):24–32
- Xiang B et al (2017) Transplantation of menstrual bloodderived mesenchymal stem cells promotes the repair of

LPS-induced acute lung injury. Int J Mol Sci 18(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18040689

- Xu XP et al (2018) Genetic modification of mesenchymal stem cells overexpressing angiotensin II type 2 receptor increases cell migration to injured lung in LPS-induced acute lung injury mice. Stem Cells Transl Med 7 (10):721–730. https://doi.org/10.1002/sctm.17-0279
- Yahaya B (2012) Understanding cellular mechanisms underlying airway epithelial repair: selecting the most appropriate animal models. Sci World J 2012. https:// doi.org/10.1100/2012/961684
- Yahaya B et al (2011) Analysis of airway epithelial regeneration and repair following endobronchial brush biopsy in sheep. Exp Lung Res 37(9):519–535. https://doi.org/10.3109/01902148.2011.605513
- Yáñez-Mó M et al (2015) Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. J Extracell Vesicles 4(1):27066. https://doi.org/10. 3402/jev.v4.27066
- Zhang Y et al (2016) Discovery of new MD2 inhibitor from chalcone derivatives with anti-inflammatory effects in LPS-induced acute lung injury. Sci Rep 6 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep25130
- Zhang S et al (2018) Nrf2 transfection enhances the efficacy of human amniotic mesenchymal stem cells to repair lung injury induced by lipopolysaccharide. J Cell Biochem 119(2):1627–1636
- Zheng G et al (2014) Treatment of acute respiratory distress syndrome with allogeneic adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: a randomized, placebo-controlled pilot study. Respir Res 15(1):39
- Zhou Z, You Z (2016) Mesenchymal stem cells alleviate LPS-induced acute lung injury in mice by MiR-142a-5p-controlled pulmonary endothelial cell autophagy. Cell Physiol Biochem 38(1):258–266
- Zhu YG et al (2013) Adult stem cells for acute lung injury: remaining questions and concerns. Respirology 18 (5):744–756
- Zhu YG et al (2014) Human mesenchymal stem cell microvesicles for treatment of Escherichia coli endotoxin-induced acute lung injury in mice. Stem Cells 32(1):116–125. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem. 1504
- Zhu H et al (2017) Therapeutic effects of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells in acute lung injury mice. Sci Rep 7:39889. https://doi.org/10. 1038/srep39889



COVID-19 and Mesenchymal Stem Cell Treatment; Mystery or Not

Tunc Akkoc 💿

Abstract

On December 31, 2019, novel SARS-CoV2 spread from Wuhan China to more than 200 territories around world and the World Health Organization declared a COVID-19 pandemic on January 30, 2020. At this time there is no particular therapy, drug or vaccine available to deal with COVID-19. Today actual data indicates that about 17% of closed COVID-19 cases died. Health care professionals, ministry of health in countries and the public are trying to read the runes to see when the COVID-19 pandemic will be over. Although mild cases of COVID-19 can be controlled with antiviral, anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory treatment, severe cases may need intensive care unit support and ventilation. Cytokine storms cause high inflammatory responses and pneumonia in severe cases. Mesenchymal stem cells are immunomodulatory and they have regenerative capacity. In this sense, mesenchymal stem cells may improve the patient's clinical and immunological response to COVID-19.

Keywords

COVID-19 · Cytokine storm · Mesenchymal stem cells · Multiorgan failure · SARS CoV-2

T. Akkoc (🖂)

Marmara University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey e-mail: tuncakkoc@gmail.com

Abbreviations

ACE2	angiotensin-converting enzyme 2
ARDS	acute respiratory distress
	syndrome
CLR	C-type lectin receptor
CoV	Corona viruses
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019
СР	convalescent plasma
CRP	C-reactive protein
CRS	cytokine release syndrome
СТ	Chest computerized tomography
GGOs	ground glass opacities
HCQ	Hydroxychloroquine
HIV	human immunodeficient virus
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IP-10 or	human interferon-inducible pro-
CXCL10	tein 10
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant pro-
	tein-1
MERS-CoV	middle East respiratory syn-
	drome-coronavirus
MIP-lα	macrophage inflammatory
	protein-1 alpha
MOD	multiorgan dysfunction
N	nucleocapsid protein
NOD	Nod-like receptor
PAMPs	pathogen associated molecular
	patterns
Rt-PCR	reverse transcriptase-polymerase
	chain reaction

Department of Pediatric Allergy and Immunology,

spike p	rotein		
severe	acute	respiratory	syn-
drome of	coronav	irus	
tumor n	ecrosis	factor alpha	
	spike prosent severe drome of tumor n	spike protein severe acute drome coronav tumor necrosis	spike protein severe acute respiratory drome coronavirus tumor necrosis factor alpha

1 Introduction

As of May 9, 2020, 4,032,763 million cases of Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) have been reported worldwide. A total of 212 countries and territories are affected around the world. Within closed cases, about 1,399,718 patients recovered (83%) and 276,677 died (17%) (worldometers.info). Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), a novel coronavirus, is the responsible causative virus for the infection and it spread worldwide dramatically in a short time. On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared the outbreak to be a Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC). Subsequently, on March 11th, it was declared a pandemic as it had spread to 113 countries (who.int).

COVID-19 shows complexity with different clinical outcomes. Patients may remain asymptomatic or show mild to severe symptoms up to pneumonia or not. The most important symptoms are fever, fatigue and dry cough. Other accompanying symptoms include vomiting, nausea, dyspnea, chest tightness, myalgia and diarrhea (Dong et al. 2020). With findings of viral pneumonia images and multiple bilateral groundglass opacities on chest computerized tomography (CT) scans, mechanical ventilation and intensive care unit (ICU) support may be needed. In the advanced stage with cytokine storm and lymphopenia, multiorgan and systemic clinical manifestations such as sepsis, septic shock, and multiorgan dysfunction (MOD) syndrome and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) are an inevitable ending (Wu and McGoogan 2020; Wang et al. 2020a). Still there is no specialized therapeutic options for SARS-CoV-2 and new innovations are urgently required. Most of the patients benefit clinically from many known drugs which are used commonly as antiviral,

immunomodulator and anti-inflammatory agents (Kruse 2020). But we still need a way to understand the viral properties and specific target points to stop this SARS-CoV-2 s from entering tissue, replicating in cells and surviving in the human body.

Currently, there is no defined antiviral treatment option for active COVID-19 and also specific vaccine development will take more than 6 months looking on the bright side. Recent studies of cellular therapies with mesenchymal stem cells for COVID-19 indicate good prognosis for patients who are in the middle of cytokine storm and require mechanical ventilation (Bari et al. 2020). This review focuses on recent therapeutic approaches for COVID-19 and mesenchymal stem cells as an probable option.

2 Coronaviruses

The coronavirus family belongs to Nidovirales and involves positive sense, enveloped, extraordinarily large single-stranded RNA viruses 26–32 kilobases in length and they are characterized by club-like spikes that project from their surface (Fehr and Perlman 2015). The origin of CoVs displays differences such as birds, livestock, and also mammals like camels, bats, palm civets, mice, dogs and cats. Phylogenetically, the Coronaviridae family further divides into two subfamilies of Letovirinae and Orthocoronavirinae.

There are four *Orthocoronavirinae* genera including alpha-, beta-, gamma- and deltacoronavisuses. Alpha- and betacoronaviruses transmit disease only in mammals, whereas gamma- and deltacoronaviruses infect avian species and sometimes mammals (Cui et al. 2019). There are seven coronavirus species that cause disease in humans. Alphacoronaviruses (229E and NL63) and betacoronaviruses (OC43 and HKU1) infect humans and cause the common cold with mild symptoms (Corman et al. 2018). Other CoVs (SARS-CoV, Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS) CoV and SARS-CoV2) are all betacoronaviruses and a major threat for human health. SARS-CoV was responsible for the first CoVs outbreak in China from November 2002 to January 2004 (Zhong et al. 2003). SARS-CoV first originated in bats and intermediate transmission was suggested to occur via bats to palm civet (Guan et al. 2003). Although viral transmission from animals to humans is still debated, direct contact with the intermediary host might be a possible route. Once SARS-CoV is transmitted to humans then nosocomial transmission is defined from person to person (Guan et al. 2003). MERS-CoV was responsible for the second outbreak of CoVs in 2012 in Saudi Arabia and remained regional. The origin of MERS-CoV is bats and the intermediate host was the dromedary camel in the Arabian Peninsula (Chowell et al. 2015). Nosocomial transmission is main transmission route for this virus. SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV induce lifethreatening severe pneumonia in patients (Wang et al. 2018).

SARS-CoV-2 was described recently as the seventh Coronavirus that infects human and is globally referred as novel-HCoV-19 (Zhou et al. 2020). The first data about human infection caused by SARS-CoV-2 emerged in Wuhan, Hubei province, China in December 2019. HcoV-19 was isolated and the genomic structure was identified in China between 7 and 10 Jan (who.int) (Virological.org.). The clinical picture of patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 substantially resembles viral pneumonia and the disease was named as Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (Virological.org.). Although viral transmission history from animals to human is still a mystery, early cases were reported around Hunan Seafood market where several wild animals such as bats are on sale as well as aquatic animals. After first transmission of the virus into humans, rapid transmission occurred between humans via droplets, contact and fomites which further leads to pneumonia diagnosed with CT scan or chest X-ray (Chan et al. 2020). The most common symptoms of COVID-19 include fever, cough, and fatigue. The incubation period is approximately 3-7 days. One of the prominent features of SARS-CoV-2 is more efficient tendency to infect the human lung and higher duplication time than SARS-CoV. Indeed SARS-CoV- 2 replicates 3.20-fold faster than SARS-CoV in infected lung tissue (Chu et al. 2020). Genetically SARS-CoV-2 is constructed on four structural proteins as spike (S), membrane (M), envelope (E), and nucleocapsid (N) proteins. Spread of the virus is accomplished by high affinity of S proteins to angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors that are expressed in human organs, principally in lung alveolar epithelial cells and enterocytes of the small intestine (Peiris et al. 2003).

COVID-19 patients show diversity in clinical manifestations from asymptomatic to mild and severe symptoms accompanied with or without pneumonia. This wide range of clinical tableau may be related to viral load, advanced age, immune response of individuals and comorbid diseases such as hypertension, coronary disease, diabetes and renal disease (Zhang 2020). Based on recent research, varying laboratory results such as negative or positive SARS-CoV-2 realtime reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), total cell blood count, C-reactive protein (CRP), serum amyloid A (SAA), and procalcitonin (PCT) and radiological images such as CT are present. Also, clinical and demographic data such as symptoms (fever, cough, sore throat, chest tightness, shortness of breath, loss of appetite, myalgia, fatigue, diarrhea, dizziness), age and gender show diversity within patients (Dong et al. 2020).

3 Immune Response to SARS-CoV-2

Actually, we have limited data about SARS-CoV-2 and the immune response of the COVID-19 patients so far. To understand the mechanism of the disease and immune reaction against SARS-CoV-2, it is better to analyze the pathway which the virus follows. Briefly, after reaching the airway epithelium, SARS-CoV-2 binds to epithelial ACE-2 with high tendency via its S protein. Viral entrance is the first step and this is followed by replication of virus with the help of the host genome. Then the virus is released from the host cell leaving damage. So, it continues to spread to

other cells that express ACE-2. During all these stages, the innate and adaptive immune responses are active against the virus. Some data basically reported increased total neutrophils, reduced lymphocyte count, enhanced serum IL-6 levels and increased CRP levels in the disease state (Wu et al. 2020; Huang et al. 2020). COVID-19 severity seems to be correlated with increased leucocytes, neutrophils, procalcitonin, serum ferritin and CRP and decreased lymphocyte and monocyte numbers (Qin et al. 2020). Although most of those values are in the normal range except for lymphocytes, serum ferritin, CRP, and procalcitonin they tend to increase compared to non-severe conditions. For lymphocytes, while the number of total CD3⁺CD4⁺T cell decreases in severe cases under normal range, the percent ratio of naïve Th cells (CD3+CD4+CD45RA+) to Th cells increases in severe cases and percent ratio of CD28⁺ Ts cells (CD3⁺CD8⁺CD28⁺) to Th cells decreases in severe cases compared to non-severe subjects. Also, T reg levels are under normal range in severe cases (Qin et al. 2020). A healthy and coordinated immune response is essential to SARS-CoV-2 as for all viral infections, we have some limited input to understand the immune recovery process to this special virus. This data clearly shows the need for more studies in order to speculate further.

The innate immune response to RNA viruses such as SARS-CoV-2 starts with recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) as viral genomic RNAs by pathogen recognition receptors (PRR) such as TLR8, TLR7, RIG-I-like receptors (RLR), NOD-like receptors (NOD), and C-type lectin-like receptor (CLRs) (Li et al. 2020). Activation of innate immune system with PAMP-PRR stimulates production of inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF-a and IL-1) and chemokines like CCL2 and CXCL8. Besides these, the preventive type I IFNs response is suppressed in SARS-CoV-2 (Rokni et al. 2020).

Anti-viral immunoglobulin M (IgM), IgG, and IgA antibodies neutralize antibodies. Detection of SARS-CoV-2 specific neutralizing antibodies is helpful to confirm developed immune response against COVID-19. Indeed, sometimes the RT-PCR results for SARS-CoV-2 fall on the negative side, so it is important to clarify the virus has affected patients with antibody levels for epidemiological and surveillance studies. Recent data also declare that the first antibody specific to SARS-CoV-2 is IgA and it increases up into 3 weeks and persists about 38 days while IgM is still at moderate levels (Padoan et al. 2020). So mucosal immune responses, characterized first by the production of secretory IgA, are established, then systemic antibodies occur later (Zhao et al. 2020).

4 Current Therapeutic Approach

Many protocols have been recommended to cure COVID-19 from countries that are globally affected. Up to now, there is no conductive therapies available or protective vaccines. But nowadays therapies focus on treatments that already exist in the medical agenda which is specific to viral infections and pneumonia. So antiviral agents, immunomodulatory and antiinflammatory agents are taken off the shelf. Also, other approaches like vaccines specific for SARS-CoV-2 for active immunization (Amanat and Krammer 2020), convalescent plasma (CP) for neutralizing the virus for passive immunization (Roback and Guarner 2020) and mesenchymal stem cell therapies to suppress cytokine storm and to prevent tissue damage and enhance alveolar tissue regeneration (Golchin et al. 2020) are still current issues.

Antiviral agents which are specific normally to treatment of human immunodeficient virus (HIV), hepatitis and flu symptoms are in the treatment protocol for COVID-19 patients. Among antivirals; lopinavir/ritonavir (Cao et al. 2020a), remdesivir (Wang et al. 2020b) and favipiravir (Khambholja and Asudani 2020) ameliorate the clinical circumstances of patients.

Clinical and laboratory observations of COVID-19 patients clearly show disturbed immune activity and increased inflammatory process, especially in the lungs. Current immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory treatment approaches are also medicinal. Many trials have been carried out about hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) as a treatment option for COVID-19 patients. A recent systemic review and metaanalysis (Sarma et al. 2020) showed some benefits like body temperature and cough days with HCQ but less improvement per case was observed for radiological progression of the lung. Also, days spent in hospital reduce with HCQ treatment (Gautret et al. 2020). The combination therapy of HCQ with azithromycin turned PCR positivity to negative and looks helpful and safe (Saleh et al. 2020). Many COVID-19 patients are highly affected by the cytokine storm and their progression worsens. Anticytokine therapy seems to be effective to control the inflammatory response by controlling the cytokine release syndrome (CRS). For this purpose, tocilizumab, an interleukin-6 (IL-6) receptor antagonist, was used for COVID-19 patients. Although some conflicting results were found (Radbel et al. 2020), tocilizumab will be useful in the early stages of COVID-19 and prevents the hyperactivation pathway, oxygen requirements, CT lesions, alleviates CRP levels and average hospitalization days (Xu et al. 2020).

5 Convalescent Plasma Therapy

German scientists in 1893 described serotherapy to treat patients who suffered from diphtheria. This is the first declared trial with plasma from animals immunized against diphtheria to cure patients stricken with diphtheria (Dunmire). Plasma therapy contains plasma from early actively immunized or convalescent patients. First person to person transferal of convalescent plasma therapy was used around 1917-1918 during the A/H1N1 Spanish flu (Luke et al. 2006) and about 100 years later from 2005–2015 during the A/H5N1 flu epidemics (Zhou et al. 2007), the 2009–2010 A/H1N12009p flu epidemics (Hung et al. 2011) and around 2013-2015 during the Ebola virus outbreak in West Africa (Burnouf and Seghatchian 2014). Since the outbreak of COVID-19 has rapidly spread globally, viral specific therapy protocols or medications cannot be found. But old-fashioned CP therapy turned the

light on for severe COVID-19 patients. Until now there are numerous practices which have been performed and are encouraging. One of these is CP derived from convalescent patients and transfused to 10 severe patients who need maximal supportive in intensive care and also receive antiviral treatment. The results of therapy with CP indicates that it is well tolerated, clinical symptoms improved with increased oxyhemoglobin saturation within 3 days, increased absolute lymphocyte counts, normalized CRP levels and neutralized viremia (Duan et al. 2020). Another descriptive study also supports the effectiveness of CP therapy for COVID-19 (Ye et al. 2020). They transfused CP to 6 patients and 5 of them had obviated ground glass opacities (GGOs). Additionally, CP purified intravenous globulin (IVIg) also assists COVID-19. At the time of initiation of respiratory distress syndrome, highdose intravenous globulin (IVIg) was used intravenously for 3 COVID-19 patients in China and resulted in convincing clinical and radiographic recovery (Cao et al. 2020b). In order to transfer CP infusion into practice, some important limitations should be considered. Both antibody and neutralization activity should be tested in convalescent patients' plasma. Previous to CP collection, host eligibility and donor qualifications must be debated. For safe use of CP in the SARS-CoV2 pandemic, we still need time to determine optimal dose and intervals for infusion with controlled clinical trials.

6 Vaccine

More than 100 centers around the world are focused on the urgent need for a vaccine against COVID-19 as a prophylactic and preventive approach (Gao et al. 2020) (Eyal et al. 2020). With the sequencing of SARS-CoV-2, different approaches have been used including small molecules targeting RNA polymerase, 3C-like protease, and RNA endonuclease. Among them, mRNA-127 (NCT04283461) is a synthetic strand of mRNA which encodes the viral spike protein was developed by Moderna and phase I trials are ongoing. The University of Oxford created a non-replicating adenovirus vector and the genetic sequence of the S protein of SARS-CoV-2 in a vaccine named ChAdOx nCoV-19. This non-replicating adenoviral virus may also be safe for children and has also entered phase I/II clinical trials (NCT04324606). Other trials area bout stabilizing subunit vaccines and nanoparticlebased vaccines. It is believed that a vaccine target for COVID-19 would save many lives in this current pandemic. But indeed, we need time to develop a safe and effective vaccine based on bioethical issues and clinical trials and also risks and benefits should be considered.

7 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

It is now well known that SARS-CoV-2 induces a scary cytokine storm especially in the lungs with the early response of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-6 and IL1 β . Also, other inflammatory cytokines like IL-2, IL-7, GSCF, IP10, MCP1 and MIP1 α are involved in the process. Those cytokines lead to dramatic edema, air exchange dysfunction, acute respiratory distress syndrome, acute cardiac injury, secondary infection and catastrophic effects on tissues and organs which may lead to death (Huang et al. 2020).

MSCs are non-specialized multipotent cells that have self-renewal and differentiation capacity into diverse cell types such as adipose, chondrocyte and osteocyte cells. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are multipotent cells and can be isolated from several sources mainly from bone marrow, peripheral blood, adipose tissue (abdominal fat, bucal fat and infrapatellar fat pad), human placental tissue, umbilical cord, Wharton's jelly and dental tissues and further they have the ability to differentiate into various lineages of cell types (Al-Nbaheen et al. 2013). MSCs have high capacity to modulate immune responses. Basically, they suppress T cell proliferation and regulate the balance of Th1 (autoimmunity related)/Th2 (allergic disease related). On the other hand, they regulate the immune response with T regulatory cells and control antigen presentation of dendritic cells (Akkoc 2019; Duman et al. 2019; Genc et al. 2019). All of these modulatory effects are important to control cytokine storm disease. Further MSCs are involved in regenerative processes for damaged tissues and organs. Patients with COVID-19 pneumonia are faced with severely destroyed alveolar lung tissue and this leads to dysfunction of the lung which will end in death. After the intravenous transplantation of MSCs, cells accumulate in the lung and are activated because of the proinflammatory stimulus of the environment. Once MSCs are stimulated with proinflammatory cytokines, they become immunomodulatory cells and are further programmed to protect alveolar epithelial cells, prevent pulmonary fibrosis, and reverse lung dysfunction. However, currently, there are no approved MSC-based therapies for COVID-19 patients but there are some trials about MSC and COVID-19 ongoing.

Pathogenesis and current therapeutic approach. The role of MSCs are summarized

Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), nitric oxide (NO), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF)

ClinicalTrials.gov Search Results 05/05/2020. Clinical trials conducted with MSC therapy for COVID-19

The Asian lineage avian influenza A (H7N9) virus, with outbreak reported between 2013-2017 in China, shares similar clinical outcomes like ARDS, lung failure, pneumonia and further multi-organ dysfunction in severe cases. The first clinical study related to MSC transplantation for H7N9 infected patients with ARDS ended up with lower mortality compared to the control group. In that study allogenic menstrual bloodderived MSCs were transplanted to 17 patients with H7N9-induced ARDS, while 44 patients with the same criteria were included as a control group. MSC therapy reduced CRP, procalcitonin, serum creatinine, and creatine kinase levels. Mortality seemed to be lower in the MSC treated group (17.6%) compared to controls (54.5%) (Chen et al. 2020). Regarding clinical observations, there are high similarities for ARDS and lung failure and further multi-organ dysfunctions between H7N9 and COVID-19.

Thereby, MSC-based cellular therapy may be an encouraging alternative for COVID-19 in severe cases.

It was shown that the administration of ACE-2 negative MSCs (free from COVID-19) improved functional outcomes in COVID-19 patients. Regarding that study, patients enrolled with COVID-19 pneumonia (Seven SARS-CoV- 2^{+} patients) and received 1×10^{6} MSC cells per kilogram of weight in 100 ml saline intravenously. Two days after MSC transplantation they observed improved pulmonary functions and symptoms. MSC therapy lead to increased peripheral lymphocytes which normally decreased in severe cases. TNF- α and CRP are other signature markers of inflammation and they increased dramatically especially in severe COVID-19 cases. They showed clearly that MSCs reversed this and decreased TNF- α and CRP levels to the normal range. IL-10 is an important cytokine for immunomodulatory activity and suppresses the inflammatory response. MSC transplantation also enhances IL-10 levels and controls the cytokine storm. One of the attractive results is disappearance of overactivated cytokine-secreting immune cells of CXCR3⁺ CD4⁺ T cells, CXCR3⁺ CD8⁺ T cells and NK CXCR3⁺. CD14⁺ Additionally, CD11c⁺ CD11bmid regulatory DC cell populations also increased dramatically (Leng et al. 2020). Similarly, Liang and colleagues transplanted 5×10^7 umbilical cord MSCs three times (every 3 days) intravenously to a 65-year-old female with COVID-19 pneumonia. After the second infusion, vital signs were improved, the trachea cannula was removed and serum bilirubin, C-reactive protein (CRP) and alanine transaminase/aspartate transaminase (ALT/AST) gradually reduced. Also, CT images improved (Bing et al. 2020). All these results indicate the safety and treatment options for MSC in COVID-19. Beside MSCs themselves, MSC-secretomes may also function in immunomodulation and silence the cytokine storm in COVID-19 disease (Bari et al. 2020). In this regard, two Chinese clinical trials recently appeared on http://www.clinicaltrials.gov (last access: 01/04/2020) investigating inhaled secretome for the treatment of COVID-19 pneumonia (NCT04276987) and its tolerance in healthy volunteers (NCT04313647).

As of May 6, 2020, 33 clinical trials are being conducted with MSCs therapy for COVID-19. All of them are summarized in. When we researched these trials, researchers chose different sources of MSCs such as Wharton's jelly, umbilical cord, adipose tissue, dental pulp and company-produced MSC. After completion of these studies, we will be able to obtain scientific results about the therapeutic intervention of MSC in COVID-19 disorder. Also, a lot of questions about therapy for COVID-19 with MSCs regarding the route of administration, dose, source of stem cells, safety of use and clinical outcomes, as well as ethical issues, will be clarified.

8 Conclusion

SARS CoV2 has spread to more than two hundred countries and territories. It has become a pandemic and affects people mostly with chronic disease, comorbidities and older age. Patients suffer from pneumonia which leads to ARDS and sepsis with multi organ dysfunction in severe cases. Although there are no confirmed treatment protocols, mild patients benefit from antiviral, immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory therapies. But in severe cases, the situation worsens. Severe pneumonia and ARDS are real clinical pictures because of the inflammatory cytokine storm. After this, patients need intensive care unit support and ventilation. Recently, the literature showed that convalescent plasma infusion helps to control viremia. We also need remarkable time to develop a vaccine that is specific to COVID-19. Studies in recent years clearly showed the beneficial effect of mesenchymal stem cells for autoimmune and allergic disease, as well as regenerative and immunomodulatory impact. Since COVID-19 is noted for cytokine storm and high inflammation in lungs, MSC seems to be a treatment option. Although there are limited studies to that end, clinical and laboratory improvements with MSCs were declared. There are about 33 clinical trials ongoing to date. Additional studies about stem cell-based therapies in larger groups of COVID-19 patients are needed to further validate this therapeutic intervention.

References

- Akkoc T (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells in asthma. Adv Exp Med Biol. https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2019_ 460
- Al-Nbaheen M, Vishnubalaji R, Ali D, Bouslimi A, Al-Jassir F, Megges M, Prigione A, Adjaye J, Kassem M, Aldahmash A (2013) Human stromal (mesenchymal) stem cells from bone marrow, adipose tissue and skin exhibit differences in molecular phenotype and differentiation potential. Stem Cell Rev Rep 9 (1):32–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-012-9365-8
- Amanat F, Krammer F (2020) SARS-CoV-2 vaccines: status report. Immunity 52(4):583–589. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.immuni.2020.03.007
- Bari E, Ferrarotti I, Saracino L, Perteghella S, Torre ML, Corsico AG (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cell secretome for severe COVID-19 infections: premises for the therapeutic use. Cell 9(4). https://doi.org/10. 3390/cells9040924
- Bing LJC, Tao L, Haiying W, Wenjie Y, Yanjiao L, Jianchun L, Congtao Y, Fangang N, Zhaoxia M et al (2020) Clinical remission of a critically ill COVID-19 patient treated by human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells. ChinaXiv 2020:0200084v1
- Burnouf T, Seghatchian J (2014) Ebola virus convalescent blood products: where we are now and where we may need to go. Transfus Apher Sci 51(2):120–125. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.transci.2014.10.003
- Cao B, Wang Y, Wen D, Liu W, Wang J, Fan G, Ruan L, Song B, Cai Y, Wei M, Li X, Xia J, Chen N, Xiang J, Yu T, Bai T, Xie X, Zhang L, Li C, Yuan Y, Chen H, Li H, Huang H, Tu S, Gong F, Liu Y, Wei Y, Dong C, Zhou F, Gu X, Xu J, Liu Z, Zhang Y, Li H, Shang L, Wang K, Li K, Zhou X, Dong X, Qu Z, Lu S, Hu X, Ruan S, Luo S, Wu J, Peng L, Cheng F, Pan L, Zou J, Jia C, Wang J, Liu X, Wang S, Wu X, Ge Q, He J, Zhan H, Qiu F, Guo L, Huang C, Jaki T, Hayden FG, Horby PW, Zhang D, Wang C (2020a) A trial of Lopinavir-ritonavir in adults hospitalized with severe Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(19):1787–1799. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001282
- Cao W, Liu X, Bai T, Fan H, Hong K, Song H, Han Y, Lin L, Ruan L, Li T (2020b) High-dose intravenous immunoglobulin as a therapeutic option for deteriorating patients with coronavirus disease 2019. Open Forum Infect Dis 7(3):ofaa102. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/ofid/ofaa102
- Chan JF, Yuan S, Kok KH, To KK, Chu H, Yang J, Xing F, Liu J, Yip CC, Poon RW, Tsoi HW, Lo SK, Chan KH, Poon VK, Chan WM, Ip JD, Cai JP, Cheng VC, Chen H, Hui CK, Yuen KY (2020) A familial cluster of pneumonia associated with the 2019 novel

coronavirus indicating person-to-person transmission: a study of a family cluster. Lancet 395 (10223):514–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30154-9

- Chen J, Hu C, Chen L, Tang L, Zhu Y, Xu X, Chen L, Gao H, Lu X, Yu L, Dai X, Xiang C, Li L (2020) Clinical study of mesenchymal stem cell treating acute respiratory distress syndrome induced by epidemic Influenza A (H7N9) infection, a hint for COVID-19 treatment. Engineering (Beijing). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.eng.2020.02.006
- Chowell G, Abdirizak F, Lee S, Lee J, Jung E, Nishiura H, Viboud C (2015) Transmission characteristics of MERS and SARS in the healthcare setting: a comparative study. BMC Med 13:210. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12916-015-0450-0
- Chu H, Chan JF, Wang Y, Yuen TT, Chai Y, Hou Y, Shuai H, Yang D, Hu B, Huang X, Zhang X, Cai JP, Zhou J, Yuan S, Kok KH, To KK, Chan IH, Zhang AJ, Sit KY, Au WK, Yuen KY (2020) Comparative replication and immune activation profiles of SARS-CoV-2 and SARS-CoV in human lungs: an ex vivo study with implications for the pathogenesis of COVID-19. Clin Infect Dis. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa410
- Corman VM, Muth D, Niemeyer D, Drosten C (2018) Hosts and sources of endemic human coronaviruses. Adv Virus Res 100:163–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/ bs.aivir.2018.01.001
- Cui J, Li F, Shi ZL (2019) Origin and evolution of pathogenic coronaviruses. Nat Rev Microbiol 17(3):181–192. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0118-9
- Dong X, Cao YY, Lu XX, Zhang JJ, Du H, Yan YQ, Akdis CA, Gao YD (2020) Eleven faces of coronavirus disease 2019. Allergy. https://doi.org/10.1111/all. 14289
- Duan K, Liu B, Li C, Zhang H, Yu T, Qu J, Zhou M, Chen L, Meng S, Hu Y, Peng C, Yuan M, Huang J, Wang Z, Yu J, Gao X, Wang D, Yu X, Li L, Zhang J, Wu X, Li B, Xu Y, Chen W, Peng Y, Hu Y, Lin L, Liu X, Huang S, Zhou Z, Zhang L, Wang Y, Zhang Z, Deng K, Xia Z, Gong Q, Zhang W, Zheng X, Liu Y, Yang H, Zhou D, Yu D, Hou J, Shi Z, Chen S, Chen Z, Zhang X, Yang X (2020) Effectiveness of convalescent plasma therapy in severe COVID-19 patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(17):9490–9496. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.2004168117
- Duman DG, Zibandeh N, Ugurlu MU, Celikel C, Akkoc T, Banzragch M, Genc D, Ozdogan O, Akkoc T (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells suppress hepatic fibrosis accompanied by expanded intrahepatic natural killer cells in rat fibrosis model. Mol Biol Rep 46 (3):2997–3008. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11033-019-04736-4
- Dunmire GB (1893) Some observations on treating cases of diphtheria. Read in the Section on Diseases of Children, at the Forty-fourth Annual Meeting of the American Medical Association. G. Benson Dunmire, A.M., M.D. JAMA XXI(23):853–857. https://doi.org/10. 1001/jama.1893.02420750023002g

- Eyal N, Lipsitch M, Smith PG (2020) Human challenge studies to accelerate coronavirus vaccine licensure. J Infect Dis. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiaa152
- Fehr AR, Perlman S (2015) Coronaviruses: an overview of their replication and pathogenesis. Methods Mol Biol 1282:1–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2438-7 1
- Gao Q, Bao L, Mao H, Wang L, Xu K, Yang M, Li Y, Zhu L, Wang N, Lv Z, Gao H, Ge X, Kan B, Hu Y, Liu J, Cai F, Jiang D, Yin Y, Qin C, Li J, Gong X, Lou X, Shi W, Wu D, Zhang H, Zhu L, Deng W, Li Y, Lu J, Li C, Wang X, Yin W, Zhang Y, Qin C (2020) Rapid development of an inactivated vaccine candidate for SARS-CoV-2. Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/sci ence.abc1932
- Gautret P, Lagier JC, Parola P, Hoang VT, Meddeb L, Sevestre J, Mailhe M, Doudier B, Aubry C, Amrane S, Seng P, Hocquart M, Eldin C, Finance J, Vieira VE, Tissot-Dupont HT, Honore S, Stein A, Million M, Colson P, La Scola B, Veit V, Jacquier A, Deharo JC, Drancourt M, Fournier PE, Rolain JM, Brouqui P, Raoult D (2020) Clinical and microbiological effect of a combination of hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin in 80 COVID-19 patients with at least a six-day follow up: a pilot observational study. Travel Med Infect Dis:101663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101663
- Genc D, Zibandeh N, Nain E, Arig U, Goker K, Aydiner EK, Akkoc T (2019) IFN-gamma stimulation of dental follicle mesenchymal stem cells modulates immune response of CD4(+) T lymphocytes in Der p1(+) asthmatic patients in vitro. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 47(5):467–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aller.2018. 12.005
- Golchin A, Seyedjafari E, Ardeshirylajimi A (2020) Mesenchymal stem cell therapy for COVID-19: present or future. Stem Cell Rev Rep. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12015-020-09973-w
- Guan Y, Zheng BJ, He YQ, Liu XL, Zhuang ZX, Cheung CL, Luo SW, Li PH, Zhang LJ, Guan YJ, Butt KM, Wong KL, Chan KW, Lim W, Shortridge KF, Yuen KY, Peiris JS, Poon LL (2003) Isolation and characterization of viruses related to the SARS coronavirus from animals in Southern China. Science 302 (5643):276–278. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1087139
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, Zhang L, Fan G, Xu J, Gu X, Cheng Z, Yu T, Xia J, Wei Y, Wu W, Xie X, Yin W, Li H, Liu M, Xiao Y, Gao H, Guo L, Xie J, Wang G, Jiang R, Gao Z, Jin Q, Wang J, Cao B (2020) Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 395 (10223):497–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736 (20)30183-5
- Hung IF, To KK, Lee CK, Lee KL, Chan K, Yan WW, Liu R, Watt CL, Chan WM, Lai KY, Koo CK, Buckley T, Chow FL, Wong KK, Chan HS, Ching CK, Tang BS, Lau CC, Li IW, Liu SH, Chan KH, Lin CK, Yuen KY (2011) Convalescent plasma

treatment reduced mortality in patients with severe pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 virus infection. Clin Infect Dis 52(4):447–456. https://doi.org/10. 1093/cid/ciq106

- Khambholja K, Asudani D (2020) Potential repurposing of Favipiravir in COVID-19 outbreak based on current evidence. Travel Med Infect Dis:101710. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101710
- Kruse RL (2020) Therapeutic strategies in an outbreak scenario to treat the novel coronavirus originating in Wuhan, China. F1000Res 9:72. https://doi.org/10. 12688/f1000research.22211.2
- Leng Z, Zhu R, Hou W, Feng Y, Yang Y, Han Q, Shan G, Meng F, Du D, Wang S, Fan J, Wang W, Deng L, Shi H, Li H, Hu Z, Zhang F, Gao J, Liu H, Li X, Zhao Y, Yin K, He X, Gao Z, Wang Y, Yang B, Jin R, Stambler I, Lim LW, Su H, Moskalev A, Cano A, Chakrabarti S, Min KJ, Ellison-Hughes G, Caruso C, Jin K, Zhao RC (2020) Transplantation of ACE2(-) mesenchymal stem cells improves the outcome of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Aging Dis 11(2):216–228. https://doi.org/10.14336/AD. 2020.0228
- Li G, Fan Y, Lai Y, Han T, Li Z, Zhou P, Pan P, Wang W, Hu D, Liu X, Zhang Q, Wu J (2020) Coronavirus infections and immune responses. J Med Virol 92 (4):424–432. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25685
- Luke TC, Kilbane EM, Jackson JL, Hoffman SL (2006) Meta-analysis: convalescent blood products for Spanish influenza pneumonia: a future H5N1 treatment? Ann Intern Med 145(8):599–609. https://doi.org/10. 7326/0003-4819-145-8-200610170-00139
- Padoan A, Sciacovelli L, Basso D, Negrini D, Zuin S, Cosma C, Faggian D, Matricardi P, Plebani M (2020) IgA-Ab response to spike glycoprotein of SARS-CoV-2 in patients with COVID-19: a longitudinal study. Clin Chim Acta 507:164–166. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cca.2020.04.026
- Peiris JS, Yuen KY, Osterhaus AD, Stohr K (2003) The severe acute respiratory syndrome. N Engl J Med 349 (25):2431–2441. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMra032498
- Qin C, Zhou L, Hu Z, Zhang S, Yang S, Tao Y, Xie C, Ma K, Shang K, Wang W, Tian DS (2020) Dysregulation of immune response in patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. Clin Infect Dis. https:// doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa248
- Radbel J, Narayanan N, Bhatt PJ (2020) Use of tocilizumab for COVID-19-induced cytokine release syndrome: a cautionary case report. Chest. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chest.2020.04.024
- Roback JD, Guarner J (2020) Convalescent plasma to treat COVID-19: possibilities and challenges. JAMA. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.4940
- Rokni M, Ghasemi V, Tavakoli Z (2020) Immune responses and pathogenesis of SARS-CoV-2 during an outbreak in Iran: comparison with SARS and MERS. Rev Med Virol. https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv. 2107

- Saleh M, Gabriels J, Chang D, Kim BS, Mansoor A, Mahmood E, Makker P, Ismail H, Goldner B, Willner J, Beldner S, Mitra R, John R, Chinitz J, Skipitaris N, Mountantonakis S, Epstein LM (2020) The effect of chloroquine, hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin on the corrected QT interval in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCEP.120. 008662
- Sarma P, Kaur H, Kumar H, Mahendru D, Avti P, Bhattacharyya A, Prajapat M, Shekhar N, Kumar S, Singh R, Singh A, Dhibar DP, Prakash A, Medhi B (2020) Virological and clinical cure in COVID-19 patients treated with hydroxychloroquine: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Virol. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jmv.25898
- Virological.org. Initial genome release of novel coronavirus. http://virological.org/t/initial-genome-release-ofnovel-coronavirus/319
- Wang Y, Sun J, Zhu A, Zhao J, Zhao J (2018) Current understanding of middle east respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection in human and animal models. J Thorac Dis 10(Suppl 19):S2260–S2271. https://doi. org/10.21037/jtd.2018.03.80
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, Wang B, Xiang H, Cheng Z, Xiong Y, Zhao Y, Li Y, Wang X, Peng Z (2020a) Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.1585
- Wang M, Cao R, Zhang L, Yang X, Liu J, Xu M, Shi Z, Hu Z, Zhong W, Xiao G (2020b) Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. Cell Res 30 (3):269–271. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41422-020-0282-0
- who.int https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novelcoronavirus-2019
- worldometers.info https://www.worldometers.info/corona virus/#countries
- Wu Z, McGoogan JM (2020) Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA. https://doi.org/10. 1001/jama.2020.2648

- Wu F, Zhao S, Yu B, Chen YM, Wang W, Song ZG, Hu Y, Tao ZW, Tian JH, Pei YY, Yuan ML, Zhang YL, Dai FH, Liu Y, Wang QM, Zheng JJ, Xu L, Holmes EC, Zhang YZ (2020) A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China. Nature 579(7798):265–269. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-020-2008-3
- Xu X, Han M, Li T, Sun W, Wang D, Fu B, Zhou Y, Zheng X, Yang Y, Li X, Zhang X, Pan A, Wei H (2020) Effective treatment of severe COVID-19 patients with tocilizumab. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2005615117
- Ye M, Fu D, Ren Y, Wang F, Wang D, Zhang F, Xia X, Lv T (2020) Treatment with convalescent plasma for COVID-19 patients in Wuhan, China. J Med Virol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25882
- Zhang Y (2020) Vital surveillances: the epidemiological characteristics of an outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus diseases (COVID-19) — China, 2020. China CDC Wkly 2(8):113–122
- Zhao J, Yuan Q, Wang H, Liu W, Liao X, Su Y, Wang X, Yuan J, Li T, Li J, Qian S, Hong C, Wang F, Liu Y, Wang Z, He Q, Li Z, He B, Zhang T, Fu Y, Ge S, Liu L, Zhang J, Xia N, Zhang Z (2020) Antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 in patients of novel coronavirus disease 2019. Clin Infect Dis. https://doi.org/10. 1093/cid/ciaa344
- Zhong NS, Zheng BJ, Li YM, Poon XZH, Chan KH, Li PH, Tan SY, Chang Q, Xie JP, Liu XQ, Xu J, Li DX, Yuen KY, Peiris GY (2003) Epidemiology and cause of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) in Guangdong, People's Republic of China, in February, 2003. Lancet 362(9393):1353–1358. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0140-6736(03)14630-2
- Zhou B, Zhong N, Guan Y (2007) Treatment with convalescent plasma for influenza A (H5N1) infection. N Engl J Med 357(14):1450–1451. https://doi.org/10. 1056/NEJMc070359
- Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, Si HR, Zhu Y, Li B, Huang CL, Chen HD, Chen J, Luo Y, Guo H, Jiang RD, Liu MQ, Chen Y, Shen XR, Wang X, Zheng XS, Zhao K, Chen QJ, Deng F, Liu LL, Yan B, Zhan FX, Wang YY, Xiao GF, Shi ZL (2020) A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature 579(7798):270–273. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7



PCDH19 Pathogenic Variants in Males: Expanding the Phenotypic Spectrum

Kristy L. Kolc, Rikke S. Møller, Lynette G. Sadleir, Ingrid E. Scheffer, Raman Kumar, and Jozef Gecz

Electronic Supplementary Material: The online version of this chapter (https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2020_574) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

K. L. Kolc and R. Kumar

Adelaide Medical School, the University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Robinson Research Institute, the University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

R. S. Møller

Department of Epilepsy Genetics and Personalized Medicine, The Danish Epilepsy Centre, Dianalund, Denmark

Department for Regional Health Research, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark

L. G. Sadleir

Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, University of Otago, Wellington, New Zealand

I. E. Scheffer

Department of Medicine, Epilepsy Research Centre, The University of Melbourne, Austin Health, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Department of Paediatrics, Royal Children's Hospital, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

The Florey and Murdoch Institutes, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

J. Gecz (🖂)

Adelaide Medical School, the University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Robinson Research Institute, the University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

Healthy Mothers and Babies, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, Adelaide, SA, Australia e-mail: jozef.gecz@adelaide.edu.au

Abstract

Protocadherin-19 (*PCDH19*) pathogenic variants cause an infantile onset epilepsy syndrome called Girls Clustering Epilepsy due to the vast majority of affected individuals being female. This syndromic name was developed to foster early recognition and diagnosis in infancy. It has, however, sparked debate, as, there are rare males with postzygotic somatic, and therefore, mosaic, PCDH19 pathogenic variants with similar clinical features to females. Conversely, "transmitting" males with germline inherited PCDH19 variants are considered asymptomatic. To date, there has been no standardized neuropsychiatric assessment of males with PCDH19 pathogenic variants. Here, we studied 15 males with PCDH19 pathogenic variants (nine mosaic and six transmitting) aged 2 to 70 years. Our families completed a survey including standardized clinical assessments: Social Responsiveness Scale, Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function, and Dimensional Obsessive-Compulsive Scale. We identified neuropsychiatric abnormalities in two males with germline PCDH19 possibly pathogenic variants. One had a prior history of a severe encephalopathic illness, which may have been unrelated. We also describe a non-penetrant somatic mosaic male with mosaicism confirmed in blood, but not identified in skin fibroblasts. Our data suggest that transmitting hemizygous

males are generally unaffected, in contrast to males with postzygotic somatic mosaic variants who show a similar neuropsychiatric profile to females who are naturally mosaic, due to X-chromosome inactivation. The penetrance of *PCDH19* pathogenic variants has been estimated to be 80%. Like females, not all mosaic males are affected. From our small sample, we estimate that males with mosaic *PCHD19* pathogenic variants have a penetrance of 85%. With these insights into the male phenotypic spectrum of *PCDH19* epilepsy, we propose the new term Clustering Epilepsy (CE). Both affected females and males typically present with infantile onset of clusters

Keywords

of seizures.

Epilepsy · Mosaic · Neuropsychiatric · Pathogenic variant · PCDH19

Abbreviations

ADHD	attention-deficit hyperactiv	vity
	disorder	
ASD	autism spectrum disorder	
BRIEF	Behavior Rating Inventory of Exe	cu-
	tive Functioning	
CE	clustering epilepsy	
DNA	deoxyribose nucleic acid	
DOCS	Dimensional Obsessive-Compuls	sive
	Scale	
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual	l of
	Mental Disorders, 5th edition	
EEG	electroencephalogram	
EQ	Epilepsy Questionnaire	
FIRES	febrile infection-related epile	psy
	syndrome	
ID	intellectual disability	
OCD	obsessive-compulsive disorder	
PCDH19	protocadherin-19	
SDQ	Strengths and Difficulties Questi	on-
	naire extended version	
SRS-2	Social Responsiveness Scale, seco	ond
	edition	

1 Introduction

Pathogenic variants in PCDH19, encoding Protocadherin-19, cause an infantile onset epilepsy syndrome called Girls Clustering Epilepsy, as it typically presents in girls with clusters of seizures. Affected females often have intellectual disability (ID), executive dysfunction, and a range of psychiatric disorders including autism spectrum disorder (ASD), obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (Juberg and Hellman 1971; Kolc et al. 2019; Scheffer et al. 2008). Mosaicism describes an individual with two or more populations of cells and can develop at any point following fertilization (Vadlamudi et al. 2010). With regard to PCDH19 epilepsy, all females are effectively mosaic due to inactivation of one of their two X chromosomes, resulting in some cells expressing wild-type PCDH19 and some expressing variant PCDH19. Males are typically hemizygous having only one X chromosome, however, when they have a postzygotic variant of PCDH19 they also become mosaic and are phenotypically similar to affected females. Twelve males with postzygotic somatic PCDH19 variants (de Lange et al. 2017; Depienne et al. 2009; Liu et al. 2019; Perez et al. 2017; Terracciano et al. 2016; Thiffault et al. 2016) and one male with Klinefelter syndrome and a heterozygous PCDH19 pathogenic variant (Romasko et al. 2018) have been identified with a similar phenotype to females. Although the reported clinical features of mosaic males are similar to affected females (Kolc et al. 2020), there has been no standardized neuropsychiatric assessment of males with PCDH19 pathogenic variants.

Males who inherit a germline loss-of-function *PCDH19* variant are generally asymptomatic and referred to as "transmitting" males (Fabisiak and Erickson 1990; Juberg and Hellman 1971; Ryan et al. 1997; Scheffer et al. 2008). However, there have been four transmitting males reported with neuropsychiatric abnormalities (Van Harssel et al. 2013; Piton et al. 2011; Tarpey et al. 2009). One
male with High Functioning ASD (previously known as Asperger's syndrome), inherited his probably damaging missense variant from his asymptomatic mother (Van Harssel et al. 2013), another male with ASD had unknown inheritance of his probably damaging missense variant (Piton et al. 2011), and two males with ID (Tarpey et al. 2009). With such a small number of reported males, it is unclear if these clinical features are caused by the germline PCDH19 variant. Here, we report the phenotypic profile of 15 mosaic and transmitting males with PCDH19 pathogenic variants using standardized assessments conducted in conjunction with our PCDH19 survey (Kolc et al. 2020).

2 Method

2.1 Participants

Our 15 male participants were ascertained through the international PCDH19 survey (Kolc et al. 2020). This cohort comprised 9 mosaic males (#1, #2, #3, #4, #5, #6, #7, #8, #9), with an age range of 2 to 41 years (Median = 5.00, M = 9.67, SD = 12.2) and 6 transmitting males (#10, #11, #12, #13, #14, #15), with an age range of 16–70 years (Median = 46.00, M = 44.0, SD = 21.5).) Participants were included if they had a confirmed likely pathogenic PCDH19 variant. Two transmitting males were recruited directly through the community (#10 & #11), while the remaining four transmitting males (#12, #13, #14, & #15) were ascertained as they were the fathers of affected females. English speaking participants were from Ireland (#1), Argentina (#2), Republic of Moldova (#3), United States (#4, #10, & #14), United Kingdom (#5), Israel (#8), Denmark (#9 & #13), Netherlands (#11), and Australia (#12). Three participants from Italy (#6, #7, & #15) spoke Italian and no English. Thirteen were Caucasian, with the remaining two Hispanic (#4) or Africana (#6). Variant pathogenicity was determined by gnomAD (http://gnomad.broadinstitute.org/) frequency and *in silico* assessment CADDv1.3, including PolyPhen2, GPP, MutPred, MutationAssessor, PROVEAN, and SIFT (Choi and Chan 2015; Kircher et al. 2014; Li et al. 2009; Reva et al. 2011; Traynelis et al. 2017; Vaser et al. 2016) through the web-based ANNOVAR (http://wannovar.wglab.org/).

2.2 PCDH19 Survey

The PCDH19 survey was developed and scored as previously described (Kolc et al. 2020) and incorporated the following: Social Responsiveness Scale, second edition (SRS-2) (Constantino and Gruber 2012) for the assessment of ASD-related symptoms, Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire extended version (SDQ) (Goodman 1997) for the assessment of ADHD-related symptoms, Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Functioning (BRIEF) (Gioia et al. 2000) for the assessment of executive dysfunction, and Dimensional Obsessive-Compulsive Scale (DOCS) (Abramowitz et al. 2010) for the assessment of OCD-related symptoms. Demographic, development, variant, medication, and seizure information was captured using the Epilepsy Questionnaire (EQ) (Kolc et al. 2020). Participants or parents responding on behalf of their child or adult child with ID were contacted to clarify or obtain additional information. Where possible, the treating clinician was also consulted to verify reported information. Italian translation of the EQ, survey scripts, and study material were performed and checked by either a professional translator or by an individual familiar with GCE and fluent in the relevant languages. Published authorized translations of the SRS-2, BRIEF, and DOCS were utilized. License agreements were obtained to reproduce assessments in an online format. Electronic informed consent was obtained from all participants or their parents or legal guardians in the case of minors or those with ID.

3 Results

3.1 Males with Mosaic PCDH19 Pathogenic Variants

Five of the nine mosaic males (#2, #3, #5, #6, #8) harbored novel PCDH19 variants (Table 1). These included two nonsense (p.Glu574*; p.Tyr516*) and three missense (p.Arg198Pro, p.Asp230His, p.Asn340Lys) variants affecting the extracellular domain, which is a highly conserved region of the PCDH19 protein (Depienne et al. 2011). All five variants were predicted to be pathogenic or likely pathogenic by in silico assessment and comparison with ClinVar (Table 1 and Supplementary Table 1). variants The remaining were previously published and included: nonsense (1, individual #1), missense (2, individuals #7 and #9), and splice-site (1, individual #4) PCDH19 pathogenic or likely pathogenic variants. Genetic segregation showed that the PCDH19 variant arose de novo in eight males and the relevant information was not available for one individual (#8; Table 1).

Seizures presented in clusters for eight of the nine mosaic males. For the eight mosaic males with seizures, the median age at seizure onset was 10 months. One male (#8) experienced seizure onset at 8 years of age. This is the latest seizure onset recorded for an individual with PCDH19 CE. His seizures occurred in clusters for an average of 1 day, with approximately 5 seizures per day in a cluster, according to parent report. His seizures remain ongoing at 12 years of age. The mosaic nature of this variant was confirmed in saliva and predicted to be pathogenic.

One mosaic male (#9) had never had a seizure and no prior neuropsychiatric diagnoses. This male harbors a missense variant (c.1240G > A; p.Glu414Lys) that was transmitted to his daughter, who is affected (#28 in (Kolc et al. 2020)). We tested the blood DNA of this male and detected the *PCDH19* variant allele in approximately the same ratio as the wild-type allele, that is 50:50. The daughter of this male displayed the typical features associated with *PCDH19* pathogenic variants, with seizure onset at 8 months of age, normal early development, autistic features, and mild ID. This variant is recurrent and has been reported in a female with seizures between 14 months and 5 years of age, aggression, and ID (Liu et al. 2017). The variant was inherited from an asymptomatic mother and was predicted to be deleterious/likely pathogenic by three independent *in silico* tools (Liu et al. 2017).

3.2 Transmitting Males with Germline PCDH19 Pathogenic Variants

Six males with inherited PCDH19 variants were included. Four scored in the normal range on all neuropsychiatric measures (Table 1). Two males had neuropsychiatric abnormalities. The first male (#11) was a 23-year-old with mild ID, ASD, and impulsive behavior. His parent reported first behavioural concerns at 12 months. He had no seizures. His parent and physician report that, despite his severe ASD, he has well-developed language skills. Our assessment revealed a global executive composite score that was greater than 99% of scores from the standardization sample of 18-29 year-olds, indicative of an executive functions deficit. Although all domains were affected, the shift domain was especially elevated. Such inflexibility and rigidity are common in ASD and would therefore be expected given his severe ASD. Scores on the SRS-2 supported the presence of ASD, with a total score in the moderate range. Elevation was also observed in the two DSM-5 equivalent domains; social communication and interaction and restricted interests and repetitive behavior. This male was reported to have a de novo frameshift variant (c.2341dup; p. I781Nfs*3). This recurrent variant has been previously reported in a female with refractory seizure clusters and attention-deficit features (Cappelletti et al. 2015; Marini et al. 2012).

The second male was 16 years old. The following medical information was gained from parental report. He was a healthy boy with normal development until 9.5 years of age when he developed febrile infection-related epilepsy syndrome

	General		Seizures						Neurops	vchiatric	comorbi	idities						PCDH19 Variant				
Pt	Age	Zygosity	Onset	SE	Clusters	Isolated	Hosp.	ICU	a	ED	EP	CoP ,	ADHD	PP	SD	ASD	ocp	cDNA; Protein	Type (loc)	Inheritance	Novel	In silico Prediction & ClinVar
-	2.5y	Mosaic	22 m	1	+	1	Once	Yes	N	No.	Av	Mild	Mild	Sev	Sev	No	NC	c.2656C > T; p. Arg886*	Non (CP)	De novo	1	Pathogenic (Depienne et al. 2011; Van Harssel et al. 2013)
5	2y	Mosaic	8 m	1	+	1	Twice	No	No	No	Av	Sev	Mild	Av	Mild	No	NC	c.1720G > T; p. Glu574*	Non (EC6)	De novo	+	Pathogenic
e	5y	Mosaic	5 m	1	+	+	5+	Yes	Sev	Sev	Sev	pow	Mod	Sev	Sev	Sev	NC	c.593G > C; p. Arg198Pro	Miss (EC2)	De novo	+	Likely pathogenic
4	10y	Mosaic	11 m	1	+	1	5+	No	Sev	Sev	Av	Mild	Mod	Sev	Sev	Sev	NC	c.2147 + 2 T > C; p.?	(ex/Int1)	De novo	I	Pathogenic (Perez et al. 2017)
s	5y	Mosaic	8 m	1	+	1	5+	Yes	No	No	Av	Av	Mild	Mod	Sev	Mild	NC	c.688G > C; p. Asp230His	Miss (EC2)	De novo	+	Likely pathogenic
9	2.5y	Mosaic	5 m	1	+	1	5+	No	Mild	Mod	Av	Av	Sev	Mod	Sev	Sev	NC	c.1020 T > A; p. Asn340Lys	Miss (EC3)	De novo	+	Likely pathogenic
7	7y	Mosaic	10 m		+	1	5+	Yes	No	No	Av	Av	Av	Av	Mild	No	NC	c.1352C > T; p. Pro451Leu	Miss (EC4)	De novo	I	Likely pathogenic (Terracciano et al. 2016)
~	12y	Mosaic	96 m	1	+	+	5+	No	Bord	Mod	. poM	Av	Av	Sev	Sev	pom	NC	c.1548C > A; p. Tyr516*	Non (EC5)	Unknown	+	Pathogenic
6	41y	Mosaic	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	No	No	NC	NC	NC	NC	NC	boM	No	c.1240G > A; p. Glu414Lys	Miss (EC4)	De novo	I	Likely pathogenic (Liu et al. 2017)
10	16y	Hemi	114 m	I	+	+	Once	Yes	No	No	. poM	Av	Av	Mod	Av	Mild	NC	c.1672G > C; p. Asp558His	Miss (EC5)	Maternal	I	Likely pathogenic (Lindy et al. 2018)
Ξ	23y	Hemi	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Mild	Sev	L L	NC	NC	NC	NC	Mod	NC	c.2341dup; p. Ile781Asnfs*3	F/S (CP)	Maternal	I	Pathogenic (Cappelletti et al. 2015; Marini et al. 2012)
12	63y	Hemi	NA	NA	NA	AN	NA	NA	No	No	NC	NC	NC	NC	NC	No	No	c.1671C > G; p. Asn557Lys	Miss (EC5)	Unknown	I	Pathogenic (Dibbens et al. 2008; Hynes et al. 2010)
13	70y	Hemi	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	No	No	NC	NC	NC	NC	NC	No	aNo	c.370G > A; p. Asp124Asn	Miss (EC1)	Maternal	I	Likely pathogenic (Liu et al. 2017)
14	41y	Hemi	ΝA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	No	No	NC	NC	NC	NC	NC	No	No	c.1683_1696del; p.Val562Thrfs*4	F/S (EC5)	Unknown	I	Pathogenic (Lindy et al. 2018)

 Table 1
 Clinical characteristics of PCDH19 males

(continued)

Table 1 (continued)

	silico Prediction ClinVar	kely pathogenic
	In avel &	
	л 26	+
	Inheritan	Unknown
	Type (loc)	Miss (EC5)
PCDH19 Variant	cDNA; Protein	c.1463 T > A; p. Val488Asp
	оср	No
	ASD	No
	SD	Ŋ
	ΡP	УС
	ADHD	NC
rbidities	CoP	NC
ric como	EP	УС
psychiat	ED	No.
Neuro	Ð	N0
	ICU	NA
	Hosp.	NA
	Isolated	NA
	Clusters	νv
Seizures	SE	NA
	Onset	NA
	Zygosity	Hemi
Genera	Age	51y
	Pt.	15

disability, Int intron, isolated single seizures, loc location, m months, Miss missense, Mod moderate, NA not applicable, NC not covered, Non nonsense, NP not provided, OCD obsessive Abbreviations: ADHD attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder, ASD autism spectrum disorder, Av average, Bord borderline, CoP conduct problems, CP cytoplasmic domain, EC extracellular domain, ED executive dysfunction, EP emotional problems, Ex exon, F/S frameshift, Hemi hemizygous, Hosp. hospitalizations, ICU Intensive Care Unit admissions, ID intellectual compulsive disorder, PP peer problems, Pt participant, SD social deficits, SE status epilepticus, Sev severe, + present, - absent

^aOCD score just below the clinical threshold (18 or higher)

(FIRES) (Van Baalen et al. 2010). Following a prodromal illness he presented with rapidly escalating tonic-clonic seizures requiring a phenobarbital induced coma for a month. Serial MRI scans showed progressive atrophy. Investigations for infectious and autoimmune etiologies were negative. Following the acute illness, he was left with motor and cognitive neurological sequelae, as well as pharmaco-resistant focal epilepsy. It took more than a year for him to regain walking and he remains ataxic with foot drop. He has almost monthly focal seizures consisting of a visual aura which can progress to a bilateral tonic-clonic seizure despite felbamate and phenytoin. EEGs showed multifocal epileptiform discharges. Our neuropsychiatric assessment found normal executive function, mild ASD symptoms, and no other behavioral disturbances. This profile is consistent with a diagnosis of FIRES and may not relate to the PCDH19 variant. This male was reported to have a missense *PCDH19* variant (c.1672 G > C; p.Asp558His) inherited from his unaffected mother. The variant is located in the calciumbinding domain (important for protein structure/ folding). There is a previous report of this variant as likely pathogenic in a commercial gene company series (GeneDx) so this may be the same individual (Lindy et al. 2018).

3.3 Neuropsychiatric Profile

Executive dysfunction occurred in 44% (4/9) mosaic males and one transmitting male (#11). All five individuals had a diagnosis of ID. As the SDQ is only available to individuals 18 years or younger, results from this measure were obtained for 8/9 mosaic and 1/6 transmitting males. This one transmitting male scored in the moderate range for emotional and peer problems and in the average range for all other measures. Emotional problems were recorded for 25% (2/8), conduct problems for 50% (4/8), inattention/ hyperactivity for 75% (6/8), peer problems for 75% (6/8), and social deficits were recorded for all eight mosaic males. Sixty seven percent of mosaic males (6/9) including the non-penetrant male (#9) and two transmitting males (#10, #11) scored in the ASD clinical range. DOCS scores were all in the normal range, however, one male (#13) attained a total score just below the clinical threshold for OCD. Elevation in the harm, thoughts, and order domains were reported by this individual. The remaining transmitting males (#12, #14, and #15) scored within the normal range on all relevant measures. The neuropsychiatric profile of our mosaic males was similar to affected females (Fig. 1) (Kolc et al. 2020).

Our mosaic male (#9) without seizures had an SRS-2 score in the moderate range. Scores in this range indicate deficiencies in reciprocal social behavior that are clinically significant and lead to substantial interference with everyday social interactions. This finding was supported by an elevated score on the BRIEF shift domain and a slightly elevated score on the DOCS order domain, which indicates concerns in the area of mental flexibility and a need for order/symmetry, respectively. Sanger sequencing of blood-derived DNA showed somatic mosaicism of his *PCDH19* wariant (c.1240G > A), however, *PCDH19* mosaicism could not be detected in fibroblast-derived DNA (Fig. 2).

4 Discussion

We compared males with somatic and germline PCDH19 pathogenic variants and systematically describe their phenotypic spectrum. The clinical features of the mosaic males in our cohort concur with previous case reports (Depienne et al. 2009; Terracciano et al. 2016; Thiffault et al. 2016). We describe four new penetrant cases, expanding the number of reported PCDH19 mosaic male cases to 17. We show that mosaic males have a neuropsychiatric profile that includes executive dysfunction, ADHD, and ASD; a clinical profile comparable to that reported for females who are naturally mosaic (Kolc et al. 2020). We also systematically assessed males with germline PCDH19 variants. Previous reports are limited, however, germline males are generally asymptomatic apart from four reported with ASD (Piton et al. 2011; Van Harssel et al. 2013) and



Fig. 1 Neuropsychiatric profile of males with pathogenic *PCDH19* variants based on average (± 2 SEM) SRS-2 total and BRIEF total and subscale *t* scores. Males compared to the females from our previous publication (Kolc et al. 2020) illustrating the similar clinical profile between mosaic (penetrant) males and heterozygous (penetrant) females. Hemizygous (transmitting)

males) and heterozygous (non-penetrant) females exhibit a clinical profile within the normal range. Green shaded region represents the normal range; yellow, mildly elevated; orange, moderately elevated; and red represents severely elevated *t* scores. *ASD* autism spectrum disorder, *ED* executive dysfunction, *PO* plan/organize, *WM* working memory



Fig. 2 gDNA Sanger sequence illustrating the A. absence of mosaicism in skin fibroblasts and B. presence of mosaicism in blood for the non-penetrant

ID (Tarpey et al. 2009). Here we describe two males with germline *PCDH19* variants and neuropsychiatric abnormalities. However, one had FIRES at 9.5 years, an acute encephalopathy with status epilepticus and fever which presents in

mosaic male (#9). Sequences were generated using a reverse primer (CGTATATGTCGCCTGAGTT)

previously normal children (Van Baalen et al. 2010). Most patients have cognitive, motor, and behavioral sequelae and epilepsy. Based on molecular grounds alone, there is compelling evidence for his *PCDH19* variant. However, when

his clinical profile and family history are considered, it is more likely that FIRES explains the neuropsychiatric abnormalities we detected, and they are unrelated to his *PCDH19* variant. The clinical distinction between FIRES and CE can be subtle, the key differences being the later seizure onset, male predominance, and viral illness preceding onset in FIRES (Specchio et al. 2011). We believe the hallmark features of PCDH19 CE in males to be threefold: (1) seizure clusters, often triggered by fever; (2) seizure onset before 2 years of age; and (3) comorbid social deficits.

We also describe a PCDH19 mosaic male with moderate ASD but no seizures. It is possible that his autistic features are due to other genetic or environmental factors; however, it may also be due to neuronal PCDH19 mosaicism. To our knowledge, there have only been two non-penetrant mosaic males reported (Liu et al. 2019). PCDH19 somatic mosaicism was confirmed in multiple tissues for both individuals. Interestingly, their skin fibroblasts were not tested. Based on cellular interference, it was proposed that asymptomatic mosaic males have skewed neuronal mosaicism in favour of either wild-type or variant allele. Given that we were unable to identify mosaicism in the skin fibroblasts of our mosaic male, it is possible that a low level of mosaicism was present that was not detectable via Sanger Sequencing. Future studies should utilize more sensitive techniques (i.e., microdroplet PCR) for detection of PCDH19 mosaicism. The penetrance of PCDH19 variants in females has been estimated to be 80% (Kolc et al. 2019). There has been no estimate with respect to mosaic males. With the addition of our non-penetrant mosaic male, there have been three non-penetrant males reported in the literature. With our four additional penetrant males, there have been 17 penetrant mosaic males out of the 20 mosaic males described. PCDH19 pathogenic or likely pathogenic variant penetrance is difficult to estimate accurately as it ultimately depends on the overall number of the patients identified and their ascertainment. Notwithstanding these limitations, we estimate the penetrance of PCDH19 variants in mosaic males to be 85%.

4.1 Conclusion

While PCDH19 variants predominantly affect females, published and our current evidence suggest that PCDH19 variants also result in a spectrum of phenotypes in males, albeit less frequently. The phenotypic profile for somatic mosaic males resembles that of heterozygous affected females. We identified neuropsychiatric abnormalities in two males with germline PCDH19 variants, however, the PCDH19 variant in each case is likely serendipitous and our data suggest that transmitting males are generally unaffected. We also describe a non-penetrant somatic mosaic male with mosaicism confirmed in blood, but not identified in skin fibroblasts. We suggest microdroplet PCR for more sensitive detection of PCDH19 somatic mosaicism.

Acknowledgements We thank the patients and family members who took the time to complete this survey. We also wish to thank Francesca Squillante, Maria Avellino, and Fabio Cec for their assistance with the Italian translations. A special thanks to all the clinicians, researchers, and PCDH19 community groups who were integral in disseminating the *PCDH19* survey to the *PCDH19* community.

Conflict of Interest Ingrid Scheffer serves/has served on the editorial boards of the Annals of Neurology, Neurology and Epileptic Disorders; may accrue future revenue on pending patent WO61/010176 (filed: 2008): Therapeutic Compound; has a patent for SCN1A testing held by Bionomics Inc. and licensed to various diagnostic companies; she has a patent molecular diagnostic/theranostic target for benign familial infantile epilepsy (BFIE) [PRRT2] 2011904493 & 2012900190 and PCT/AU2012/001321 (TECH ID:2012-009) with royalties paid. She has served scientific advisory boards for UCB, Eisai, on GlaxoSmithKline, BioMarin, Nutricia, Rogcon and Xenon Pharmaceuticals; has received speaker honoraria from GlaxoSmithKline, Athena Diagnostics, UCB, BioMarin, Biocodex and Eisai; has received funding for travel from Athena Diagnostics, UCB, Biocodex, GlaxoSmithKline, Biomarin and Eisai. She receives/has received research support from the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia, Health Research Council of New Zealand, CURE, March of Dimes and NIH/NINDS.

The remaining authors declare no conflict of interest.

Ethical Approval The project was approved by the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee (H-2016-184).

References

- Abramowitz JS, Deacon BJ, Olatunji BO, Wheaton MG, Berman NC, Losardo D et al (2010) Assessment of obsessive-compulsive symptom dimensions: development and evaluation of the dimensional obsessivecompulsive scale. Psychol Assess 22(1):180. https:// doi.org/10.1037/a0018260
- Cappelletti S, Specchio N, Moavero R, Terracciano A, Trivisano M, Pontrelli G et al (2015) Cognitive development in females with PCDH19 gene-related epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav 42:36–40. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.yebeh.2014.10.019
- Choi Y, Chan AP (2015) PROVEAN web server: a tool to predict the functional effect of amino acid substitutions and indels. Bioinformatics 31(16):2745–2747. https:// doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btv195
- Constantino J, Gruber C (2012) Social responsiveness scale–second edition (SRS-2). Western Psychological Services, Torrance
- de Lange I, Rump P, Neuteboom RF, Augustijn PB, Hodges K, Kistemaker A et al (2017) Male patients affected by mosaic PCDH19 mutations: five new cases. Neurogenetics 18(3):147–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10048-017-0517-5
- Depienne C, Bouteiller D, Keren B, Cheuret E, Poirier K, Trouillard O et al (2009) Sporadic infantile epileptic encephalopathy caused by mutations in PCDH19 resembles Dravet syndrome but mainly affects females. PLoS Genet 5(2):e1000381. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000381
- Depienne C, Trouillard O, Bouteiller D, Gourfinkel-An I, Poirier K, Rivier F et al (2011) Mutations and deletions in PCDH19 account for various familial or isolated epilepsies in females. Hum Mutat 32(1):E1959– E1975. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.21373
- Dibbens LM, Tarpey PS, Hynes K, Bayly MA, Scheffer IE, Smith R et al (2008) X-linked protocadherin 19 mutations cause female-limited epilepsy and cognitive impairment. Nat Genet 40(6):776. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/ng.149
- Fabisiak K, Erickson RP (1990) A familial form of convulsive disorder with or without mental retardation limited to females: extension of a pedigree limits possible genetic mechanisms. Clin Genet 38(5):353–358. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0004.1990.tb03594.x
- Gioia GA, Isquith PK, Guy SC, Kenworthy L (2000) Test review behavior rating inventory of executive function. Child Neuropsychol 6(3):235–238. https://doi.org/10. 1076/chin.6.3.235.3152
- Goodman R (1997) The strengths and difficulties questionnaire: a research note. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 38(5):581–586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610. 1997.tb01545.x
- Hynes K, Tarpey P, Dibbens LM, Bayly MA, Berkovic SF, Smith R et al (2010) Epilepsy and mental retardation limited to females with PCDH19 mutations can present de novo or in single generation families. J Med

Genet 47(3):211–216. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmg. 2009.068817

- Juberg RC, Hellman CD (1971) A new familial form of convulsive disorder and mental retardation limited to females. J Pediatr 79(5):726–732. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0022-3476(71)80382-7
- Kircher M, Witten DM, Jain P, O'roak BJ, Cooper GM, Shendure J (2014) A general framework for estimating the relative pathogenicity of human genetic variants. Nat Genet 46(3):310. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2892
- Kolc KL, Sadleir LG, Scheffer IE, Ivancevic A, Roberts R, Pham DH et al (2019) A systematic review and metaanalysis of 271 PCDH19-variant individuals identifies psychiatric comorbidities, and association of seizure onset and disease severity. Mol Psychiatry 24 (2):241–251. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0066-9
- Kolc KL, Sadleir LG, Depienne C, Marini C, Scheffer IE, Møller RS et al (2020) A standardized patient-centered characterization of the phenotypic spectrum of PCDH19 Girls Clustering Epilepsy. Transl Psychiatry 10(1):127. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-0803-0
- Li B, Krishnan VG, Mort ME, Xin F, Kamati KK, Cooper DN et al (2009) Automated inference of molecular mechanisms of disease from amino acid substitutions. Bioinformatics 25(21):2744–2750. https://doi.org/10. 1093/bioinformatics/btp528
- Lindy AS, Stosser MB, Butler E, Downtain-Pickersgill C, Shanmugham A, Retterer K et al (2018) Diagnostic outcomes for genetic testing of 70 genes in 8565 patients with epilepsy and neurodevelopmental disorders. Epilepsia 59(5):1062–1071. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/epi.14074
- Liu A, Xu X, Yang X, Jiang Y, Yang Z, Liu X et al (2017) The clinical spectrum of female epilepsy patients with PCDH19 mutations in a Chinese population. Clin Genet 91(1):54–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.12846
- Liu A, Yang X, Yang X, Wu Q, Zhang J, Sun D et al (2019) Mosaicism and incomplete penetrance of PCDH19 mutations. J Med Genet 56(2):81–88. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2017-105235
- Marini C, Darra F, Specchio N, Mei D, Terracciano A, Parmeggiani L et al (2012) Focal seizures with affective symptoms are a major feature of PCDH19 gene– related epilepsy. Epilepsia 53(12):2111–2119. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03649.x
- Perez D, Hsieh DT, Rohena L (2017) Somatic mosaicism of PCDH19 in a male with early infantile epileptic encephalopathy and review of the literature. Am J Med Genet A 173(6):1625–1630. https://doi.org/10. 1002/ajmg.a.38233
- Piton A, Gauthier J, Hamdan F, Lafreniere R, Yang Y, Henrion E et al (2011) Systematic resequencing of X-chromosome synaptic genes in autism spectrum disorder and schizophrenia. Mol Psychiatry 16(8):867. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2010.54
- Reva B, Antipin Y, Sander C (2011) Predicting the functional impact of protein mutations: application to

cancer genomics. Nucleic Acids Res 39(17):e118e118. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkr407

- Romasko EJ, DeChene ET, Balciuniene J, Akgumus GT, Helbig I, Tarpinian JM et al (2018) PCDH19-related epilepsy in a male with Klinefelter syndrome: additional evidence supporting PCDH19 cellular interference disease mechanism. Epilepsy Res 145:89–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2018.06.008
- Ryan SG, Chance PF, Zou C-H, Spinner NB, Golden JA, Smietana S (1997) Epilepsy and mental retardation limited to females: an X-linked dominant disorder with male sparing. Nat Genet 17(1):92. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng0997-92
- Scheffer IE, Turner SJ, Dibbens LM, Bayly MA, Friend K, Hodgson B et al (2008) Epilepsy and mental retardation limited to females: an under-recognized disorder. Brain 131(4):918–927. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/ awm338
- Specchio N, Fusco L, Vigevano F (2011) Acute-onset epilepsy triggered by fever mimicking FIRES (febrile infection–related epilepsy syndrome): the role of protocadherin 19 (PCDH19) gene mutation. Epilepsia 52(11):e172–e175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03193.x
- Tarpey PS, Smith R, Pleasance E, Whibley A, Edkins S, Hardy C et al (2009) A systematic, large-scale resequencing screen of X-chromosome coding exons in mental retardation. Nat Genet 41(5):535. https://doi. org/10.1038/ng.367
- Terracciano A, Trivisano M, Cusmai R, De Palma L, Fusco L, Compagnucci C et al (2016) PCDH 19-related epilepsy in two mosaic male patients.

Epilepsia 57(3):e51–e55. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi. 13295

- Thiffault I, Farrow E, Smith L, Lowry J, Zellmer L, Black B et al (2016) PCDH19-related epileptic encephalopathy in a male mosaic for a truncating variant. Am J Med Genet A 170(6):1585–1589. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajmg.a.37617
- Traynelis J, Silk M, Wang Q, Berkovic SF, Liu L, Ascher DB et al (2017) Optimizing genomic medicine in epilepsy through a gene-customized approach to missense variant interpretation. Genome Res 27(10):1715–1729. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.226589.117
- Vadlamudi L, Dibbens LM, Lawrence KM, Iona X, McMahon JM, Murrell W et al (2010) Timing of de novo mutagenesis—a twin study of sodium-channel mutations. N Engl J Med 363(14):1335–1340. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0910752
- Van Baalen A, Häusler M, Boor R, Rohr A, Sperner J, Kurlemann G et al (2010) Febrile infection–related epilepsy syndrome (FIRES): a nonencephalitic encephalopathy in childhood. Epilepsia 51(7):1323–1328. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2010.02535.x
- Van Harssel J, Weckhuysen S, Van Kempen M, Hardies K, Verbeek N, De Kovel C et al (2013) Clinical and genetic aspects of PCDH19-related epilepsy syndromes and the possible role of PCDH19 mutations in males with autism spectrum disorders. Neurogenetics 14(1):23–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10048-013-0353-1
- Vaser R, Adusumalli S, Leng SN, Sikic M, Ng PC (2016) SIFT missense predictions for genomes. Nat Protoc 11 (1):1. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2015.123

Index

A

Acute lung injury (ALI), 149–163 Adibfar, A., 133–144 Adipose-derived stem cells, 23–37 Akkoc, T., 167–174 Alagl, A., 92 Aldonyte, R., 43–65 Alexander, A., 93 Alexanian, A.R., 36 Alqahtani, Q., 92 Altinova, H., 36 Amand, F.K., 54 Anil-Inevi, M., 105–128 Animal model, 48, 64, 153–156, 159, 163 Apelin, 1–11 Apelin receptor, 1–11

B

Baghaban Eslaminejad, M., 133–144
Bellani, G., 150
Biomaterials, 25, 36, 45, 56, 57, 63, 64, 81, 84, 85, 89, 133, 134, 141, 142, 144
Biomatrices, 43–65
Bironaite, D., 43–65
Boateng, S.Y., 54
Bonsignore, G., 17–20
Brain injuries, 24, 28, 33
Brizuela, C., 89
Bryant, S.J., 54
Budhlall, B.M., 139
Buravkova, A., 126
Buravkova, L., 118, 126

С

Calejo, M.T., 141 Cardiac muscle, 5, 46, 64 Cell-free therapy, 160, 163 Chang, J., 95 Chen, J., 119 Chen, Y.J., 88 Chen, Z., 120 Chiu, B., 111 Choi, J.R., 62 Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), 167–174 Costache, M., 23–37 Cytokine storm, 168, 172, 173

D

Dai, Z.-Q., 118 D'Aniello, C., 9, 10 Davis, D.R., 54 Dental pulp, 80–96, 113, 156, 173 Dentin, 80–96 Dentistry, 79–97 Development, 1–11, 25, 26, 29, 32, 33, 36, 37, 45, 57, 59, 63, 64, 80, 83, 86, 87, 90, 91, 93, 110, 112, 136, 142, 150, 151, 153, 154, 160, 161, 168, 179, 180 Devic, E., 9 Dinescu, S., 23–37 Dissanayaka, W.L., 88 Doğan, A., 1–11 Dunnwald, M., 19

Е

Edmondson, R., 54 Elabela (Ela), 2, 11 el Ashiry, E.A., 89 el Kalla, I.H., 92 El Nasser, A.K.A., 92 Epigenetic control, 35–36 Epilepsy, 178–180, 183–185 Ertan, A.B., 141 Eschenhagen, T., 54 Esmaeili, A., 54 Extracellular vesicles (EVs), 34, 159–163

F

Fiarresga, A., 54 Forte, G., 54 Freyer, L., 7, 9

G

Gandaglia, A., 54 Gecz, J., 177–185 Gershovich, J., 118 Gershovich, P., 125, 126

H

Halim, N., 156 Halim, N.S., 159 Hatab, A.T., 88 Hata, H., 54 Hazot, P., 139 He, L., 125 Hilkens, P., 89 Ho, L., 11 Hong, I.S., 160 Hosseini, S., 133-144 Huang, S.X., 54 Huang, Y., 118 Huebsch, N., 54 Hu, F., 33 Hu, X., 139 Hwang, Y.-S., 111

I

Ikonen, L., 54
Intratracheal delivery, 151, 154
In vitro model, 4, 10, 19, 20, 27, 29, 31, 33, 37, 43–65, 86, 90, 92, 96, 106–117, 134, 136, 141, 156
Iohara, K., 88
Ishida, J., 9

J

Jahan-Abad, A.J., 25 Jang, S., 33 Jin, F., 124 Johnstone, R.M., 161 Joshi, R.V., 139

K

Kandemir Demirci, G., 93 Kang, L.H., 54, 62 Kang, Y., 9 Kawahara, Y., 111 Kizilkaya, M., 105–128 Koç, A., 124 Koivisto, J.T., 54 Kolc, K.L., 177–185 Kuckling, D., 139 Kulvinskiene, I., 43–65 Kumar, R., 177–185

L

LaNasa, S.M., 54 Lee, H.Y., 160 Lei, X-h., 112 Lian, J., 149–163 Li, L., 127 Li, M.-H., 125 Lin, J., 149–163 Liu, F., 137 Liu, Y., 111 Li, Z.Q., 54 Luo, W., 124

\mathbf{M}

Macadangdang, J., 54 Majumder, S., 112 Mao, X., 121 Marconato, K., 17-20 Martinotti, S., 17-20 Masumoto, H., 54 Matthay, M.A., 157 Mayer-Wagner, S., 125 McAuliffe, C., 111 Menasche, P., 54 Meng, R., 127 Merzlikina, N., 118 Mese, G., 105-128 Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), 26, 34-36, 46, 47, 50-52, 55, 58, 60, 61, 81, 83, 89, 90, 95, 96, 110, 113–116, 118, 125, 151, 156–160, 162, 167–174 Mesoderm, 1-11, 18, 35, 49 Meyers, V.E., 123 Meza, G., 89 Miksiunas, R., 43-65 Mitsuhara, T., 122 Mittal, N., 93 Mobasheri, A., 43-65 Møller, R.S., 177-185 Monfaredi, S., 126 Mosaic, 178-181, 183-185 Moshksayan, K., 54 Multiorgan failure, 168

Ν

Naddaf, A.A., 139 Nakashima, M., 89, 95 Na, S., 89 Nerve trauma, 25, 31, 32, 34, 37 Neuron-like cells, 27, 32–35 Neuropsychiatric, 178, 180–185 Nishikawa, M., 121 Nosrat, A., 92

0

Orbay, H., 31 Ostby, B.N., 91 Otsuka, T., 122 Ozcivici, E., 105–128

P

Palma, P.J., 92 Pan, B.T., 161 Parashar, V., 93 Pathogenic variant, 178–185 Pathophysiology, 151, 153 PCDH19, 178–185 Phinney, D.G., 161 Pich, A., 139 Plett, P.A., 111 Priya, M.H., 92 Protocadherin-19 (*PCDH19*), 178–185

Q

Qin, Y.-X., 119

R

Ranzato, E., 17–20 Rao, K.M., 139 Ratajczak, M., 161 Ratushnyy, A., 127 Ratushnyy, A.Y., 126 Ravichandran, R., 54 Regeneration, 17, 24, 43, 81, 106, 138, 154, 170 Regenerative medicine, 17–20, 25, 34, 49, 80, 96, 134 Reinelt, S., 139 Remodeling, 48, 49, 58, 60, 88, 121 Rizk, H.M., 92 Roballo, K.C.S., 34

S

Sadleir, L.G., 177-185 Sarigil, O., 105-128 Scheffer, I.E., 177-185 Scherzinger, C., 139 Schwann cell (SCs), 25, 29–31, 33, 34 Scott, I.C., 9 Selaru, A., 23-37 Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), 168-172 Sheyn, D., 124 Shi, D., 127 Shinde, V, 111 Shivashankar, V.Y., 92 Simulated microgravity (MG), 106-128 Şişli, H.B., 1-11 Smart polymers, 133-144 Soares, C.P., 54 Soonpaa, M.H., 54 Stem cells, 3, 17, 25, 45, 81, 106, 151 Stimuli-responsive polymers (SRPs), 133, 134, 137-139, 141 - 143Sun, L., 123 Suzuki, T., 88

Т

Tekin, H.C., 105–128
Temperature-responsive polymers, 63, 134, 136, 137, 139, 142
Tissue engineering (TE), 25–27, 29, 36–37, 45, 52, 56, 58, 61–64, 83–85, 89, 93, 112, 114, 117, 134, 140–142
Tomer, D.A.K., 92
Torabinejad, M., 92

Traitel, T., 139 Trongsatitkul, T., 139

U

Uddin, S.M., 119 Ulusoy, A.T., 93

V

van den Akker, F., 54 Versari, S., 126 Vodyanik, M.A., 9, 10

W

Wang, N., 122 Wang, Y., 88, 111 Weiss, W.M., 125 Wilson J.G., 157 Wollert, K.C., 54 Wound repair, 18–19 Wu, X., 124

Х

Xie, S., 30 Xuan, K., 89 Xue, L., 121 Xu, J.Y., 54

Y

Yahaya, B.H., 149–163 Yamamoto, K., 139 Yamashita, J.K., 54 Yang, L., 34 Yan, M., 120 Yoshpe, M., 93 Yu, B., 124 Yuge, L., 121, 122

Ζ

Zakaria, N., 149–163 Zayzafoon, M., 123 Zeng, X.X.I., 9 Zhang, J.H., 54 Zhang, X., 112, 119 Zheng, G., 157 Zheng, Q., 123 Zhu, X., 88, 89 Zhu, Y.G., 162 Zuppinger, C., 54